

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis 2020:45

Persistent organic pollutants and effects on developmental and functional processes in mice

Persistente organiske forbindelser og effekter på utviklings- og funksjonsprosesser i mus

Silje Modahl Johanson

Persistent organic pollutants and effects on developmental and functional processes in mice

Persistente organiske forbindelser og effekter på utviklingsog funksjonsprosesser i mus

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis

Silje Modahl Johanson

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences

Oslo, 2020



Thesis number 2020:45 ISSN 1894-6402 ISBN 978-82-575-1710-6

© Silje Modahl Johanson, 2020

Series of dissertations at the

Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Thesis number 2020:45

ISSN 1894-6402

ISBN 978-82-575-1710-6

All rights reserved

Printed by Andvord Grafisk AS

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	5		
Abbreviations	7		
List of papers	9		
Summary			
Sammendrag (summary in Norwegian)			
1 Introduction	15		
1.1 History	15		
1.2 Persistent organic pollutants	16		
1.2.1 Chemical properties, categorization and use	16		
1.2.2 Human exposure	19		
1.2.3 Mixed exposures	21		
1.2.4 Metabolism			
1.3 Health effects of POPs			
1.3.1 Endocrine disruption			
1.3.2 Reproductive dysfunction			
1.3.3 Cancer			
1.4 Methods for studying health effects of POPs			
1.4.1 History of toxicity studies			
1.4.2 Animal models for studying health effects in humans.			
1.4.3 Histological techniques in effect evaluation	41		
1.4.4 Omics technologies in effect evaluation			
2 Aims of the study	47		
3 Methodological considerations			
3.1 The POP mixture			
3.2 Ethical considerations			
3.3 Murine models	51		
3.4 Exposure regimes	51		
3.5 Chemical analysis			
3.6 Histological techniques	53		
3.7 CYP activity	54		
3.8 Surface microscopy	54		

	3.9	Om	ics techniques	55	
	3.9.	1	Metabolomics	55	
	3.9.	2	16S rRNA sequencing	56	
	3.10	Stat	istical methods	56	
4	Res	ults:	summary of papers	60	
5	Dis	Discussion		63	
	5.1	Con	ifirmation of exposure	63	
	5.2	Maı	mmary gland development and ovarian folliculogenesis	66	
	5.3	Live	er morphology and function	69	
	5.4	Col	orectal cancer, intestinal microbiota and metabolome	72	
	5.5	Met	thodological issues	78	
	5.5.	1	The POP mixture	78	
	5.5.	2	Murine models	79	
	5.5.	3	Exposure regimes	81	
	5.5.	4	Histological techniques	83	
	5.5.	5	CYP activity	85	
	5.5.	6	Omics techniques	86	
	5.5.	7	Statistical methods	87	
	5.6	Mo	use-to-human translation	90	
6	Ger	neral	conclusions	93	
7	7 Future perspectives				
R	eferen	ces		95	
A	ppendi	ix: Pa	aper I-III	129	

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the previous and current Head of Department at the Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Irma Oskam and Olav Reksen, for providing me with the opportunity to complete this PhD. I would also like to thank all animal caretakes at the section for Experimental Biomedicine, Christer W. Johnsen, Harry Hjelmseth, Arturas Kavaliauskis, Carina Berentsen, Andrea J. Eickstedt and all weekend staff (as well as Eirill Ager-Wick and Veslemøy S. Oma), for excellent support during the animal experiments, for providing a very nice lunch spot and for creating a good working environment.

Thank you Gudrun S. Boge, Ruth Halsne and Tina (Cathrine) Trangerud for conducting the animal experiment and initial analysis in Paper I. Furthermore, I would like to thank Kristine E. Aa. Hansen for incorporating me into the interpretation and writing process of Paper II.

This PhD would not have been completed without the guidance, motivation, support and inspiration from my excellent team of supervisors, Erik Ropstad, Jan Erik Paulsen, Karin E. Zimmer and Steven Verhaegen. I would also like to direct an additional thank you to my main supervisor Erik Ropstad for believing in me, for providing me with a great start on the PhD, for the quick replies and for always having a door open to answer whatever questions I might have. I'm also deeply grateful for the opportunities that Erik and Jan Erik have provided me and for including me in research projects other than my own. This has aroused my curiosity and increased my interest into several fields of research in which I'm hoping to continue to work with in the future. Thank you, Steven, for sharing your knowledge with me and for teaching me how to work with cells even though this ended up not to be included in my project. And thank you, Karin, for always helping me and answering whatever questions I might have.

I would like to thank Hanne F. Berntsen and Karin E. Zimmer for creating the POP mixture, Jan L. Lyche and Mette H. B. Müller for assisting in the chemical analysis and interpretation of results, Galia Zamaratskaia for conducting the CYP activity analysis, Özgün C. O. Umu for conducting the analysis and statistical tests on microbiota, Mona Aleksandersen for conducting histology and histopathological examinations and Gunn C. Østby for excellent help during sampling of mice, preparation of samples, initial analysis of mammary gland development and evaluation of ovarian follicles. I would also like to send a species thanks to Jonathan R. Swann and his research group at Imperial College London for allowing me to conduct metabolomics

analysis in an esteemed and very inspiring research environment. Without the knowledge and help for you, Jon, I would have been lost in the complexity of metabolomics. In addition, thanks to Eckbos Legat for founding my stay in London.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for all their love, encouragements and support, for listening, for showing an interest and for giving me advise. A special thanks to Kine Øren for triggered my interest into climbing and for continuing to be my friend even after you stopped working at NMBU. And thank you, Maria Christou, for being my good friend, for introducing me to Freddo Cappuccino and Frappé, for always listening and for always making me laugh. I'm also very happy that you introduced me to more PhD Candidates at the Veterinary School so that I got to know Helene Midttun, Mariella E. Guere Calderon, Giulia Malachin and 'the Italians'. This made the lunches, coffee breaks and everyday PhD life a lot more fun and it was great to know more people in the same PhD situation as myself. Thank you, Ajay Yaday, for inspiring me to work hard. And thank you, Mette H. B. Müller, for being the fantastic, energetic and enthusiastic person that you are and for inspiring me to pursue a carrier in academia. To my parents; Mette and Lennart, and to my aunt, Hanne, thank you for always showing an interest in my research and for the support and encouragement during this PhD. Thank you, Guri Odden, for being my very good friend and for always being there when I need someone to talk to. And most importantly, thank you to my husband, Morten, for being so understanding and patient, for always listening, for showing an interest and for being a wonderful boyfriend. Without you I would not have completed this PhD.

Abbreviations

ACF	Aberrant crypt foci
AHR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AOM	Azoxymethane
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
ASV	Amplicon sequence variant
BFR	Brominated flame retardant
CAR	Constitutive and rostane/activated receptor
CRC	Colorectal cancer
СҮР	Cytochrome P450
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DMH	1,2-dimethylhydrazine
EDC	Endocrine disrupting compound
EDI	Estimated daily intake
FAP	Familial adenomatous polyposis
GEM	Genetically engineered mouse
HBB	Hexabromobiphenyl
HBCD	Hexabromocyclododecane
HCB	Hexachlorobenzene
HCBD	Hexachlorobutadiene
НСН	Hexachlorocyclohexane
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin
LOD	Limit of detection
Min	Multiple intestinal neoplasia
MS	Mass spectrometry
NMBU	Norwegian University of Life Sciences
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
OCP	Organochlorine pesticide

OPLS-DA	Orthogonal projections to latent structures discriminant analysis		
OTU	Operational taxonomic units		
PBDE	Polybrominated diphenyl ether		
PCA	Principal components analysis		
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyl		
PCDD	Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin		
PCDF	Polychlorinated dibenzofuran		
PCN	Polychlorinated naphthalene		
PCoA	Principle coordinate analysis		
РСР	Pentachlorophenol		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PeCB	Pentachlorobenzene		
PFAS	Perfluoroalkylated substance		
PFDA	Perfluorodecanoic acid		
PFHxS	Perfluorohexane sulfonic acid		
PFNA	Perfluorononanoic acid		
PFOA	Perfluorooctanoic acid		
PFOS	Perfluorooctane sulfonic acid		
PFUnDA	Perfluoroundecanoic acid		
POP	Persistent organic pollutant		
PXR	Pregnane X receptor		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
SCCP	Short-chain chlorinated paraffin		
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin		
TEB	Terminal end bud		
WHO	World Health Organization		
WT	Wild type		

List of papers

Paper I:

<u>S. M. Johanson</u>, E. Ropstad, G. C. Østby, M. Aleksandersen, G. Zamaratskaia, G. S. Boge, C. Trangerud, R. Halsne, J. L. Lyche, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, S. Verhaegen

Perinatal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants: Effects on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver in CD-1 mice.

Manuscript.

Paper II:

K. E. Aa. Hansen, <u>S. M. Johanson</u>, C. Steppeler, M. Sødring, G. C. Østby, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, M. Aleksandersen, J. E. Paulsen, E. Ropstad.

A mixture of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model.

Chemosphere. 2019. 214:534-542. DOI: 10.3945/jn.117.251082

Paper III:

<u>S. M. Johanson</u>, J. R. Swann, Ö. C. O. Umu, M. Aleksandersen, M. H. B. Müller, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, G. C. Østby, J. E. Paulsen, E. Ropstad.

Maternal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants reduces colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice.

Chemosphere. 2020. 252:126484. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126484

Summary

Initial exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) occurs by placental and lactational transfer during fetal and neonatal life and continues during the adult stage through ingestion, inhalation and dermal absorption. Many POPs have functional groups that resemble endogenous molecules rendering them with the potential for endocrine disruption during sensitive periods of organ development and function. Thus, adverse health effects may arise from exposure to POPs such as cancer and dysfunction of the endocrine, immune, reproductive, developmental or neurological systems.

Mice are extensively used in research related to human health and disease as they are small animals with short generation time and high genetic similarity to humans. In addition, transgenic and knockout technology has led to the development of murine models with high phenotypic similarity to human disease. However, several differences between humans and mice are present in the absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, sensitivity and susceptibility to POPs. Furthermore, attention has recently shifted from assessing the toxicity of single compounds or well-defined chemical mixtures to evaluating large and environmentally relevant mixtures of POPs.

The present study utilized two mouse models (CD-1 and A/J Min) and two exposure regimes (dietary or perinatal) to explore the effects of a human relevant mixture of POPs on female mammary gland development and ovarian folliculogenesis, liver morphology and function, and colorectal cancer development, intestinal microbiota and metabolome. The mixture composition was based on chemicals present in Scandinavian food products and the individual compound concentrations were adjusted to 0x (Control), 5 000x (Low) or 100 000x (High) human estimated daily intake levels for the general Scandinavian population.

As shown previously, the present study also demonstrated gestational and lactational transfer of POPs from mothers to offspring. Furthermore, the results showed absorption, distribution, accumulation and persistence of POPs in murine tissues. The Low dose resulted in human relevant concentrations (for some chemicals) and can be considered at least partly human relevant in both its composition and concentration.

Perinatal exposure to the mixture restricted mammary gland development and led to a premature arrest of gland growth in female CD-1 mice. In addition, it decreased ovarian follicle maturation and possibly also increased follicle atresia. Together this indicated potential endocrine disruption. Furthermore, the mixture caused persistent hepatocellular hypertrophy in CD-1 mice, but not in A/J Min mice. Thus, a strain-dependent difference in hepatic sensitivity was illustrated and, together with the induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes, indicated that the mixture may cause hepatotoxicity in sensitive strains.

The two exposure regimes, dietary and perinatal, resulted in contradictory effects on colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min mice. Dietary exposure moderately increased cancer development while perinatal exposure reduced carcinogenesis. The increase was synergistically enhanced when combined with one injection of azoxymethane. Interestingly, perinatal POP exposure modulated the biochemical and microbial environment of the intestine possibly to reduce colorectal carcinogenesis in the predetermined cancer model.

In conclusion, the human relevant mixture of POPs affected several developmental and functional processes in mice. The results of the present study can facilitate future mechanistic investigations into how human relevant chemical mixtures may affect biological development and function.

Sammendrag (summary in Norwegian)

Eksponering for persistente organiske forbindelser (POPs) starter i foster- og neonatalstadiet igjennom morkaken og brystmelk, og fortsetter videre igjennom matinntak, innånding og dermal absorpsjon. Mange POPs har funksjonelle grupper som etterligner endogene molekyler, noe som gir kjemikaliene et potensiale for endokrine forstyrrelser i løpet av sensitive perioder for organutvikling og funksjon. Alvorlige helseeffekter kan dermed oppstå som følge av eksponering, slik som kreft og dysfunksjon av ulike kroppsfunksjoner.

Mus er mye brukt i forskning på human helse og sykdommer fordi de er små dyr med kort generasjonstid og har høy genetisk likhet til mennesker. I tillegg har transgen- og knockoutteknologi ført til utvikling av musemodeller med høy fenotypisk likhet til humane sykdommer. Likevel finnes det flere ulikheter mellom mennesker og mus, blant annet når det gjelder absorpsjon, distribusjon, metabolisme og ekskresjon av POPs. Videre har oppmerksomheten skiftet fra å studere toksisiteten av enkeltstoffer eller veldefinerte mikser av kjemikalier til å undersøke store og miljørelevante sammensetninger av POPs.

I denne avhandlingen ble det brukt to musemodeller (CD-1 og A/J Min) og to eksponeringsregimer (diett og perinatal) til å undersøke effektene av en humanrelevant miks av POPs på hunnlig brystutvikling og utvikling av follikler i ovariene, levermorfologi og funksjon. Forekomst av tykktarmskreft, sammensetning av tarmmikrobiota og metabolom i tarminnhold og tarmvev ble også undersøkt. Miksen hadde en sammensetning av stoffer basert på kjemikalier som er tilstede i Skandinaviske matprodukter og konsentrasjonene av de individuelle stoffene ble justert til 0x (Kontroll), 5 000x (Lav) eller 100 000x (Høy) nivået av estimert humant daglig inntak for den generelle Skandinaviske populasjonen.

I likhet med tidligere studier viste også dette studiet at POPs overføres fra mor til barn igjennom graviditet og amming. Videre viste resultatene absorpsjon, distribusjon, akkumulasjon og persistens av POPs i vev fra mus. Lav eksponeringsdose resulterte i konsentrasjoner (for noen av kjemikaliene) som var humanrelevante og kan delvis vurderes til å være humanrelevant i både sin komposisjon og konsentrasjon.

Perinatal eksponering for miksen begrenset brystutviklingen og førte til en prematur stans i kjertelveksten i CD-1 hunnmus. Videre førte eksponeringen til en reduksjon i follikkelmodningen

og mulig også en økning av follikkelatresi i ovariene. Til sammen indikerte dette en mulig endokrin forstyrrelse. Miksen førte også til persistent hypertrofi av leverceller i CD-1 mus, men ikke i A/J Min mus. Dette tydet på forskjeller i leversensitivitet mellom musemodeller og, sammen med en induksjon av cytokrom P450 enzymer, indikerte dette at miksen kunne føre til levertoksisitet i høysensitive mus.

De to eksponeringsregimene, igjennom diett og perinatal overføring, førte til motstridende effekter på tarmkreft i A/J Min mus. Eksponering igjennom dietten førte til en moderat økning av kreft, mens perinatal eksponering reduserte karsinogenesen. Økningen ble synergistisk forsterket i kombinasjon med én injeksjon av azoxymetan. Perinatal POP-eksponering modulerte det biokjemiske og mikrobielle miljøet i tarmen, noe som mulig reduserte tarmkreftutviklingen i den forutbestemte kreftmodellen.

Vi konkluderer med at den humanrelevante miksen av POPs påvirket utviklingen og funksjonen til flere kroppsfunksjoner i mus. Disse resultatene gir et godt grunnlag for videre forskning knyttet til hvordan humanrelevante blandinger av POPs kan påvirke utvikling og helse hos dyr og mennesker.

1 Introduction

1.1 History

Synthetic chemicals for use in agriculture and industry were introduced as far back as in the 1920s and increasingly used during the 1940s and '50s. The insecticide dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) became famous during World War II for its ability to control vectors of malaria and typhus, However, guided by the book 'Silent Spring' by Rachel Carson (Carson 1962), questions were raised about the widespread use of DDT and other chemicals prior to investigation of their adverse effects on humans and wildlife. DDT was linked to drastic decreases in populations of predatory birds due to eggshell thinning and subsequent reproductive failure (Peakall 1970). Furthermore, evidence showed that chemicals such as DDT had the ability to accumulate to high concentrations in animals at the top of the food chain and cause unexpected adverse effects (Woodwell 1967). In 1972, the use of DDT in agriculture was put under strict regulations and a phase-out process of DDT and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) was started. During the coming years, regulations were expanded to include more synthetic chemicals with toxic effects in wildlife and humans, and in 2004 the Stockholm Convention¹ on Persistent Organic Pollutants was endorsed by 172 countries to ban or heavily restrict the use of 12 ('the dirty dozen') pesticides, industrial chemicals and by-products (Table 1). By 2017, an additional 16 persistent organic pollutants (POPs) had been incorporated into the Stockholm Convention due to their persistent, accumulative and toxic nature, and the treaty was ratified by 181 countries (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2017). The Stockholm Convention, together with other international agreements that also aim to protect human health and the environment from potential harm from synthetic chemicals and hazardous waste (e.g. the Basel² and Rotterdam³ Conventions), has resulted in a drastic reduction in the production and use of POPs. However, despite being under heavy restrictions for almost 50 years, POPs are still ubiquitous in the environment and human exposure is, thus, inevitable.

¹ www.pops.int

² www.basel.int

³ www.pic.int

Initial 12 POPs	POPs included by 2017	Under consideration
Aldrin ¹	α-HCH ^{1,3}	Dechlorane Plus ²
Chlordane ¹	β-HCH ^{1,3}	Dicofol ¹
DDT^{1}	Chlordecone ¹	Methoxychlor ¹
Dieldrin ¹	DecaBDEs ²	PFHxS ²
Endrin ¹	Endosulfan ¹	PFOA ²
Heptachlor ¹	HBB ²	
HCB ^{1,2,3}	HBCD ²	
Mirex ¹	Hexa- and heptaBDEs ²	
Toxaphene ¹	HCBD ³	
PCBs ^{2,3}	Lindane ¹	
PCDDs ³	PeCB ^{1,2,3}	
PCDFs ³	PCP ^{1,2}	
	PFOS ²	
	PCN ²	
	Tetra- and pentaBDEs ²	
	SCCPs ²	

Table 1. POPs included or under consideration to be included in the Stockholm Convention.

¹Pesticides; ²Industrial chemicals; ³By-products. See abbreviations for full chemical names.

1.2 Persistent organic pollutants

1.2.1 Chemical properties, categorization and use

All POPs consist of a carbon backbone where one or more carbon atoms are bound to one or more halogen atoms, thus forming chlorinated, brominated or fluorinated compounds (Figure 1). Because of the strength of the covalent carbon-halogen bond, POPs have a high chemical stability, which causes them to resist degradation by biological systems and results in long elimination half-lives in animals, humans and the environment (O'Hagan 2008, Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2017). For instance, the half-life of PCB-153 has been reported to be 14.4 years in humans (Ritter *et al.* 2011).



Figure 1. Chemical structures of selected POPs including polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), hexachlorobenzene (HCB), perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA).

The halogen atoms have a low capacity to form hydrogen bonds (hydrophobic) and tend to be attracted to lipids (lipophilic), although there are exceptions such as for the fluorinated compounds. POPs with high lipophilicity can readily cross over cell membranes by passive diffusion and accumulate in adipose tissues of living organisms (bioaccumulation). Furthermore, many of these compounds have functional groups that resemble those of endogenous molecules (e.g. hormones). Thus, a variety of POPs can disrupt the hormonal system and homeostasis in the body (Diamanti-Kandarakis *et al.* 2009, Gore *et al.* 2015).

POPs used as pesticides are directly emitted into the atmosphere by spraying. Other POPs are semi-volatile and are released to air by volatilization. Thus, the atmosphere contributes greatly to the long-range transport of POPs (Bogdal *et al.* 2013). Through biological processes of airwater exchange such as snow or rain, POPs are conveyed to large bodies of water and can be globally distributed with ocean currents. In addition, POPs can be transported in polluted organisms through migration and by the export of e-waste (discarded electronic and electrical equipment) to developing areas (Breivik *et al.* 2016). Consequently, POPs have a widespread

distribution and are found in remote areas far away from industrial or agricultural cites with direct release of the chemicals (AMAP 1997, Bogdal *et al.* 2013).

As put forth by the Stockholm Convention, POPs can be categorized as pesticides, industrial chemicals or by-products. However, categorization by the type of halogen atom (chlorine, bromine or fluorine) is also possible.

In the chlorinated category we find the organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) such as DDT and hexachlorocyclohexanes (HCHs). These compounds were used worldwide for disease vector control and for controlling pests on agricultural crops in the 1940s. The Stockholm Convention still allows the use of DDT to control diseases such as malaria in regions that do not have other cost-efficient alternatives (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2019a). Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE) is a metabolite of DDT and, because of its persistent nature, is considered a major environmental pollutant (Faroon and Harris 2002). Other examples of chlorinated POPs are hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and the class of PCBs. HCB is primarily a fungicide that was much used from 1945, but it is also a by-product from the production of other halogenated compounds (van Ommen and van Bladeren 1989). The class of PCBs consists of 209 isomers that were widely used from the 1930s in heat transfer fluids, in electric transformers and as additives in paint, paper and plastics (Safe 1993). Despite being under heavy restrictions and bans since the 1970s and -80s, HCB and PCBs are still detected in humans, animals and the environment worldwide.

Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) and the polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) are among the brominated POPs. These are flame retardant chemicals that were highly used from the 1950s to reduce the flammability of plastics, textiles, electronics and synthetic building materials (Segev *et al.* 2009). As these brominated flame retardants (BFRs) are lipophilic and highly persistent, they accumulate in human adipose tissue and breast milk (Hites 2004). The commercial mixtures of octa- and pentaBDE (with hexa- and heptaBDE, and tetra- and pentaBDE as main components, respectively) were included in the Stockholm Convention and banned from use in 2004. DecaBDE was banned in 2009 and HBCD was put under heavy restrictions in 2013.

The only fluorinated POP listed in the Stockholm Convention by 2017 is perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS). However, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS) are under consideration for inclusion in the treaty due to their persistent and toxic nature.

These compounds are among the perfluoroalkylated sustances (PFASs) and have been much used in textile impregnation, wax, lubricants and firefighting foam from the 1950s due to their unique surface tension properties (Renner 2001). In addition to PFOA and PFHxS, hundreds of other PFASs are widely produced and used today including perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA), perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA), perfluoroundecanoic acid (PFUnDA).

1.2.2 Human exposure

Humans are exposed to POPs through ingestion, inhalation and dermal contact (WHO 2010). For the general population, ingestion of contaminated food is the main route of exposure, especially for PCBs, OCPs and (partly) PFASs (Djien Liem *et al.* 2000, Trudel *et al.* 2008). Through long-range transport and due to the highly persistent nature of these compounds, POPs end up in low concentrations in fruits, vegetables and grains, and in higher concentrations in meat, fish and dairy products. Because of this increase in concentration with increasing trophic level (biomagnification), animals at the top of the food chains, including predatory animals and humans, accumulate high concentrations of POPs (WHO 2010). Chronic high-level POP exposure is well documented in indigenous human populations of the Arctic region with traditional diets consisting largely of local wildlife such as sea mammals (AMAP 2015a). Other routes of exposure, particularly to BFRs, are through inhalation of indoor dust and ambient air (Lorber 2008).

Occupational use of pesticides or industrial chemicals often lead to additional POP exposures. Furthermore, unusual chemical accidents or releases may lead to acute high-level exposure and potentially have devastating consequences on human health. For instance, the accidental exposures of Japanese (in 1968) and Taiwanese (in 1978 to -79) residents to rice oil contaminated with PCBs and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) were later associated with adverse effects on pregnancy and cognitive development of prenatally exposed children (Chen *et al.* 1992, Tsukimori *et al.* 2008). Another example is the spraying of herbicides such as Agent Orange by the United States military forces during the Vietnam War (1961-1971) with the aim to remove vegetation that could be used as cover by the North Vietnamese forces. This extensive use of herbicides was later linked to an increased risk of birth defects both in and outside of Vietnam (Ngo *et al.* 2006).

POPs residing in the blood of pregnant women are known to cross the placental barrier and, thus, initiate exposure prenatally (Vizcaino *et al.* 2014, Winkens *et al.* 2017). After birth, POPs stored in maternal lipid tissues are mobilized and redistributed to the lipid-rich breast milk, which continues to expose the infants during the breast-feeding period. This mobilization has also been considered a route for excretion of POPs in mothers (Schecter *et al.* 1996). DDT was the first pollutant to be reported in human breast milk as early as in 1951 (Laug *et al.* 1951). Recently, a large variety of POPs were reported in breast milk from Norwegian mothers (Iszatt *et al.* 2019, Lenters *et al.* 2019). In addition, inhalation of dust and air containing POPs and ingestion of other substances than breast milk (mostly due to the frequent hand-to-mouth behavior) are considered important additional exposure routes of POPs in infants and young children (Johnson-Restrepo and Kannan 2009).

Critical periods of development

Exposure to POPs starts *in utero* and continues throughout the postnatal periods from infancy to childhood and puberty, all of which are periods of rapid growth and development (WHO 2010). The rate of growth and development of bodily functions peaks at around 27-28 weeks of gestation followed by a steady decline throughout the first 3 years of life. Birth only has a minor effect on this decline, which reaches a plateau around 4 years of age (Hindmarsh 2012). During development, several periods can be critical as they include vital processes occurring at molecular, cellular, organ or organism level. As organ systems develop at different rates, the critical periods of development can differ in length and time. It is the difference in these critical periods (between themselves and compared to the general development) together with the duration and concentration of exposure that define the severity of the disturbance (WHO 2010). Thus, developing humans and animals are particularly sensitive to stimuli from harmful agents such as POPs during development. Multiple studies have shown both acute (such as fetal death, growth restriction and birth defects) and chronic effects (revealed later in life such as neurological disorders, cardiovascular and infectious diseases and cancer) to be associated with exposure to POPs during critical periods of development (as reviewed in Winans et al. (2011), Fenton and Birnbaum (2015), Gore et al. (2015) and Heyer and Meredith (2017)).

1.2.3 Mixed exposures

By monitoring chemicals in the environment, evidence has shown that humans and animals are exposed to a number of chemicals at different combinations via food, water, air and consumer products. Generally, the toxicity of chemicals including POPs have been evaluated in studies using single chemicals at relatively high doses. This is partly due to the theoretical and practical challenges with assessing the toxicity of mixtures as the chemicals may interact and cause effects not seen in single chemical studies. However, attention has recently shifted to evaluating the effects of more realistic exposure scenarios with multiple chemicals, also at relatively low doses (Kortenkamp 2014).

Chemical interaction may occur in different ways. The simplest way is in the form of no interaction where the chemicals act by dose addition or independent action to produce the effect. Dose addition is expected when the chemicals interact with the same biological site and by the same molecular mechanism (mechanism of action), while independent action is predicted when chemicals act by different mechanisms at different sites (IGHRC 2009, Reffstrup *et al.* 2010). According to dose addition, effects can be expected at chemical doses that individually are below those required to cause effects in single chemical studies (the threshold of effect). On the other hand, independent action does not anticipate an effect when the individual chemical doses are below the threshold of effect (Kortenkamp 2014).

However, if the effect of a mixture deviates from the effect predicted by dose addition or independent action, it may be caused by (IGHRC 2009):

- Direct chemical-chemical interaction that creates a chemical complex with a different effect compared to the original chemicals;
- Modification of the absorption, distribution, metabolism or elimination of the chemicals;
- Competition between chemicals that bind to the same biological site;
- Alterations in the responsiveness of the target (cell or tissue);
- Chemicals having functionally competing effects on the target.

Where chemical interaction arises, there is the possibility of potentiation, synergism, inhibition or antagonism on the overall effect. Potentiation occurs when one chemical enhances the toxicity of another chemical without changing its own toxicity, while synergism describes the situation where the toxicities of both chemicals are enhanced. Oppositely, inhibition or antagonism occurs when one chemical reduces the toxicity of another chemical without itself being affected or by also reducing its own toxicity, respectively (IGHRC 2009, Reffstrup *et al.* 2010).

The nature of the chemical interaction may change with the dose and duration of exposure, as well as the discovery of more sensitive endpoints. Furthermore, the threshold of effect may be difficult to predict due to variance around the baseline (background noise) and the possibility for non-monotonic dose-response relationships (Vandenberg *et al.* 2012, Kortenkamp 2014). Thus, it is difficult to assess the overall effect of chemical mixtures from studies using single chemicals only.

1.2.4 Metabolism

After POPs have entered the body through ingestion, inhalation or dermal absorption, they are distributed to all tissues via the lymphatic and circulatory systems. The ability of tissues to take up POPs from the blood is dependent on the partition coefficient of the chemical between blood and lipid, the lipid content of the organ and the blood flow (Morgan and Roan 1971). The liver has a central role in the metabolism of xenobiotics and is considered a common target organ for POP exposure. The metabolism of xenobiotics including POPs can be divided into phase I and phase II reactions (Williams 1947).

The cytochrome P450 (CYP) mixed function oxidases are responsible for 70-80% of the phase I reactions and oxygenates the xenobiotic to a more polar compound with the purpose to increase the hydrophilic properties of the chemical. This more polar compound can further be metabolized by phase II enzymes, such as uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase, glutathione S-transferase and sulphotransferase, which conjugate the newly formed compound with an endogenous molecule resulting in an even more hydrophilic compound. This polar conjugated xenobiotic can either be further metabolized (by phase III reactions) or directly excreted from the cell through active transport by membrane transporters (Nebert and Dalton 2006). However, metabolism by phase I enzymes such as CYPs can activate procarcinogens or generate reactive metabolites and by-products (such as reactive oxygen species (ROS)), which could be more toxic than the original xenobiotic (Bondy and Naderi 1994, Nebert and Dalton 2006).

The expression of CYP enzymes is regulated by nuclear receptors such as the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), the pregnane X receptor (PXR) and the constitutive androstane/activated

receptor (CAR) (Waxman 1999, Tolson and Wang 2010). Due to the ability of POPs to passively diffuse over cell membranes, exposure to these chemicals have been shown to activate nuclear receptors and subsequently increase the expression of CYPs (Sanders *et al.* 2005, Pacyniak *et al.* 2007, Szabo *et al.* 2008, van der Ven *et al.* 2008). Upregulation of hepatic CYP expression at early life stages has been stated as an early indicator of liver toxicity and carcinogenicity (Dunnick *et al.* 2018). In addition, reduced xenobiotic metabolism has been reported as justification for the relatively high susceptibility to POPs in fetuses and neonates (Milsap and Jusko 1994, Damstra 2002).

PFASs have a lower lipophilicity than the other POPs due to the high electronegativity of the fluorine atoms (O'Hagan 2008). Thus, these compounds bind to proteins and accumulate in protein-rich tissues such as the liver (Klevens and Ellenbogen 1954, Han *et al.* 2003, Qin *et al.* 2010). The metabolism of PFASs is not well known, however, substantial differences in metabolic and excretion rates have been reported between humans and other species (e.g. PFOA has an elimination half-life of 3.8 years in humans and 17-19 days in mice (Lau *et al.* 2007)). Despite the low lipophilicity of PFASs, these compounds can still be transferred from mothers to offspring through the placenta and breast milk (Fromme *et al.* 2010).

1.3 Health effects of POPs

In 1995, the increasing evidence of toxicity by POPs in humans and wildlife led the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) to start the discussions about implementing international agreements and regulations of these chemicals. Consequently, the Stockholm Convention on POPs was adopted in 2001 (and entered into force in 2004) with the aim to protect human health and the environment from persistent, globally distributed and accumulative chemicals (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2019b).

The importance of using evidence on health effects in wildlife to forecast the risk of health effects in humans was emphasized by the World Health Organization (WHO) and indicated that POPs can cause endocrine, immune, reproductive, developmental or neurological dysfunction (Ross and Birnbaum 2001). Epidemiological studies have also found positive associations between POPs and various types of cancers such as colorectal (Howsam *et al.* 2004), breast (Høyer *et al.* 2000, Arrebola *et al.* 2015, Morgan *et al.* 2016), ovarian (Sharma *et al.* 2015) and testicular cancer (McGlynn *et al.* 2008, Purdue *et al.* 2009, Giannandrea *et al.* 2011).

In 2004, the WHO defined the term 'adverse effect' for use in chemical risk assessment as a:

'change in the morphology, physiology, growth, development, reproduction, or life span of an organism, system, or (sub)population that results in an impairment of functional capacity, an impairment of the capacity to compensate for additional stress, or an increase in susceptibility to other influences.' (page 10 in IPCS (2004)).

A weight-of-evidence (WOE) approach is usually taken to determine if a chemical can have an adverse effect on the environment, wildlife and humans. This approach is of great value when aiming to understand more about the relationship between the dose or time of exposure and the affected endpoint. Some endpoints are straight forward adverse as they fulfill one or more of the abovementioned criteria. However, the adversity of other endpoints may be more complicated to assess such as when the adverse effect (e.g. breast cancer) is caused by exposure during a critical period of development but does not manifest until adult life (Fenton 2009, Fenton and Birnbaum 2015).

1.3.1 Endocrine disruption

Physiological processes and homeostatic function are maintained and regulated by hormones that are produced by the endocrine glands (such as the thyroid, mammary, ovarian, testicular or adrenal glands; Figure 2) and distributed throughout the body via the circulatory system. Multiple of these processes are vital for development, health and disease. Endocrine disruption is the interruption of the ability of a cell or organ to communicate with other cells or organs through the use of endogenous molecules (mostly hormones). Endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) are either natural or synthetic compounds which alter the hormonal and homeostatic systems within an organism by interfering with the synthesis, secretion, transport, binding action, metabolism or elimination of hormones (Diamanti-Kandarakis *et al.* 2009). Many POPs are well-known EDCs (Gore *et al.* 2015). Endocrine disruption by POPs may occur through multiple mechanisms including interaction with nuclear hormone receptors (e.g. estrogen, androgen, progesterone and thyroid receptors), non-steroid receptors (e.g. neurotransmitter receptors) or orphan receptors (e.g. aryl hydrocarbon receptor), and pathways involving the biosynthesis and metabolism of hormones (Diamanti-Kandarakis *et al.* 2009). Depending on the timing of exposure and the dose of the EDC, endocrine disruption can leave permanent changes in the

physiology, morphology or behavior of the organism, which further may affect organ development and function, or increase the susceptibility to disease (Gore *et al.* 2015).



Figure 2. The female (left) and male (right) endocrine glands. These glands produce signaling molecules (hormones) that are distributed throughout the body by the circulatory system and regulate and maintain development, physiological processes and homeostatic functions. Reprinted from Gore *et al.* (2015) with permission from Oxford University Press (license number: 4853621324365).

1.3.2 Reproductive dysfunction

EDCs may influence the reproductive ability of animals and humans by affecting the development and function of the reproductive organs (Gore *et al.* 2015). Both the female and male reproductive systems require correct development of intricate structures, such as the ovary, testis and mammary gland, in order to reach optimal reproductive function. This development, as well as the overall function of the reproductive organs, are regulated by hormones. In females, studies have shown that exposure to EDCs affect ovarian and mammary gland development, structure and function (including impaired follicle formation, inhibited follicle growth, increased follicle atresia, increased sensitivity to carcinogens and lactational impairment). This may further cause adverse effects such as infertility, premature menopause and cancer (Macon and Fenton 2013, Gore *et al.* 2015). In males, exposure to EDCs has been linked to a range of reproductive disorders caused by disruption of hormonal systems during the development of the reproductive organs including cryptorchidism, hypospadias, poor semen quality and increased risk of developing testicular germ cell cancer (Gore *et al.* 2015).

Effects on the ovary

The primary function of the adult ovary is to differentiate an ovarian follicle and to release a mature oocyte for fertilization and reproduction. Furthermore, as an endocrine gland the ovary produces steroid hormones that support pregnancy and causes the development of secondary sexual characteristics. The number of primordial follicles (the ovarian follicle pool) that can develop into mature oocytes is fixed at the time around birth. Most of these primordial follicles are maintained in a resting state for months or years. However, some follicles are initially recruited and develop from primordial to primary, from primary to pre-antral and from pre-antral to antral follicles. Most antral follicles undergo atresia (degeneration and resorption). However, after puberty and under optimal hormonal stimulation (from follicle stimulating hormones), a subset of antral follicles escapes atresia and one dominant follicle continues the development into a mature oocyte, which is released during ovulation (Figure 3). The remaining theca and granulosa cells transform into the corpus luteum (McGee and Hsueh 2000).



Figure 3. Schematic overview of ovarian follicle development. The germ cell nest breaks down around birth and results in the fixed pool of primordial follicles. The primordial follicles continue their growth to primary, pre-antral, antral and pre-ovulatory follicles. The oocyte within the pre-ovulatory follicle further matures and is released during ovulation. The remaining theca and granulosa cells form the corpus luteum. Adapted from Gore *et al.* (2015) with permission from Oxford University Press (license number: 4853621324365).

Follicle formation, maturation and, ultimately, the female reproductive ability is under strict regulation by the endocrine system (including local paracrine factors, steroid hormones and gonadotropins). POPs with endocrine disrupting properties may disturb this regulation by modulating hormone levels (e.g. by interacting with nuclear receptors) that are vital for folliculogenesis (Uzumcu and Zachow 2007). In addition, POPs may impact ovarian function through the production of ROS (which may initiate atresia) and alterations in DNA methylation patterns (Vabre *et al.* 2017). Studies have shown that exposures to POPs may have multiple detrimental effects on the ovary which could result in infertility, premature ovarian insufficiency or abnormal production of sex steroid hormones (reviewed in Vabre *et al.* (2017) and Patel *et al.* (2015)). Furthermore, exposure to EDCs during fetal and neonate development (when the primordial follicles are formed) may not only lead to adult health effects but may also cause alterations that can be transmitted to the next generation (Uzumcu and Zachow 2007).

Effects on the mammary gland

The mammary gland serves as the primary organ of energy transfer from mothers to infants and undergoes most of its development postnatally. The developmental process is regulated by hormones, growth factors and stromal factors, which does not yield a fully developed and differentiated gland until late in pregnancy. This developmental process is similar between humans and rodents and starts with the epithelial bud forming around the nipple (at 6-7 days before birth in rodents) (Fenton 2006, Rudel *et al.* 2011). After birth, the gland epithelium grows at the same pace as the body and extends towards the lymph node. In the mouse, the highly proliferative terminal end buds (TEBs) are formed after post-natal day 14 and leads the way for future epithelial branching until the entire mammary fat pad has been filled (Figure 4). After this, the TEBs differentiate into terminal structures (at around post-natal day 63 in the mouse) and are no longer present in the mature gland (Watson and Khaled 2008).



Figure 4. The fourth mammary gland in 6-week-old female CD-1 mice. Terminal end buds (TEBs) are present and lead the way for further branching of gland epithelium and extension throughout the fat pad away from the nipple area and lymph node.

Three phases have been suggested as critical for the development of a fully functioning mammary gland. These are when 1) the primary epithelial duct forms (coincident with the nipple) during prenatal development, 2) when the mammary gland grows exponentially (with the use of TEBs) around the time of puberty, and 3) when the gland prepares itself for functional lactation during

pregnancy. Interference by POPs with endocrine disrupting properties during these phases of development may alter the timing of developmental events, alter the sensitivity to toxic or carcinogenic compounds or cause lactational insufficiency during pregnancy (Fenton 2006). For instance, the highly proliferative and undifferentiated TEBs are considered particularly vulnerable to chemicals with carcinogenic properties and exposures that restrict TEB differentiation could drastically increase the risk of breast cancer (Russo and Russo 1996, Fenton 2006).

1.3.3 Cancer

Cancer is defined as abnormal cell growth and is one possible end-product of somatic cell evolution where the cell accumulates positive ('driver') mutations that makes it capable of avoiding regulation of cell proliferation, invading other tissues and spreading throughout the body (Martincorena *et al.* 2017). Cancer cells have several characteristic features (Figure 5) including the ability of unlimited proliferation, to avoid growth-suppressing signals and apoptosis, to sustain growth by angiogenesis (the creation of new blood vessels), to modify cellular metabolism and to evade recognition and destruction by the immune system (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).



Figure 5. The hallmarks of cancer proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) which shows the characteristics of most (if not all) cancers. Sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, enabling replicative immortality, activating invasion & metastasis, inducing angiogenesis and resisting cell death were proposed as hallmark functional capabilities for cancer development in 2000 (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). An increasing body of research suggested to include an additional two hallmarks (deregulating cellular energetics and avoiding immune destruction) as well as two enabling characteristics (tumor-promoting inflammation and genome instability & mutation) in 2011. Adapted from Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) with permission from Elsevier (license number: 4853630237043).

The multistep theory of carcinogenesis was first developed by Armitage and Doll (1954) and can be divided into three stages: initiation, promotion and progression. During initiation, cells acquire irreversible alterations in DNA (mutations) (Barrett 1993). A single exposure to a mutagenic/genotoxic chemical may be enough for initiation if the mutations occur in a protooncogene or a tumor-suppressor gene. When activated by mutation, a proto-oncogene causes proliferation of the cell. In contrast, a tumor-suppressor gene must be deactivated to result in uncontrolled cell growth. Multiple proto-oncogenes and tumor-suppressor genes are usually altered (mutationally or epigenetically) in common human cancers such as breast and colorectal (Boyd and Barrett 1990). During the second stage, promotion, the initiated cell clonally expands into a benign lesion. Here, the promotor may be a non-genotoxic chemical that provides a growth advantage for the lesion by inducing inflammation, oxidative stress or immune deficiency. Furthermore, promotion might be reversible up to a certain point (De Flora and Ferguson 2005). During the final stage, progression, the benign lesion develops into a malignant neoplasm that is self-sufficient in growth and can invade other tissues (Barrett 1993).

Generally, cancer susceptibility is governed by both genetic defects and environmental factors. Among the genetic defects are inherited mutations in tumor-suppressor genes such as *breast cancer gene 1 (BRCA1)* and *adenomatous polyposis coli (APC)*, which increases the risk of breast and colorectal cancer, respectively (Fearnhead *et al.* 2001, Campeau *et al.* 2008). Only about 5-10% of cancer cases are caused by genetic defects. Thus, environmental (or unknown) factors account for up to 95% of cases. Environmental factors include lifestyle choices such as diet, alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking, occupation, radiation (solar or ionization), the use of hormones and reproductive history (Anand *et al.* 2008). Exposures to POPs can be incorporated into multiple of these environmental factors for cancer susceptibility, and the WHO and the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) have estimated that somewhere between 7 and 19% of all cancer cases are caused by toxic environmental exposures (Straif 2008, WHO 2009).

Most POPs are considered not to be directly genotoxic and may cause carcinogenesis indirectly through mechanisms such as the generation of ROS, the modulation of DNA repair pathways or by epigenetic modification (EFSA Panel on Contaminats in the Food Chain (CONTAM) 2011, Goodson *et al.* 2015, IARC 2017). In addition, some chemicals (e.g. the lower chlorinated PCBs) might be bioactivated to more reactive intermediate compound that can directly cause DNA mutations (Ludewig and Robertson 2013). Already in 1979, Ames (1979) suggested to test both natural and man-made chemicals in the human diet and environment for their ability to damage DNA. This led to a scientific and regulatory emphasis on the mutagenic ability of single or well-

defined mixtures of chemicals. On the other hand, the carcinogenic potential of complex and environmentally relevant chemical mixtures was not pursued.

The advances made in understanding cancer biology has revealed weaknesses in risk assessment practices that only investigate the carcinogenic potential of individual chemicals. Here, chemical interaction that causes an originally non-genotoxic chemical (when tested on its own) to become genotoxic, or that affects the responsiveness of the cell or tissue in ways that promote carcinogenesis, would not be considered. Furthermore, non-monotonic dose-response relationships could cause unanticipated effects at low doses. Thus, the carcinogenic risk of mixtures would potentially be underestimated (Vandenberg *et al.* 2012, Goodson *et al.* 2015).

Colorectal cancer

The colon is the lower part of the intestinal tract that extends from the caecum to the rectum. The surface of the colon is relatively flat compared to the finger-like structures (villi) covering the surface of the small intestine. Surrounding the villi in the small intestine and covering the surface of the colon are invaginations of the epithelial lining, called crypts of Lieberkühn. At the bottom of each crypt resides the stem cells. These stem cells produce transit-amplifying cells that migrate up the crypt (and further up the villi in the small intestine) towards the intestinal lumen and differentiates into distinct cell types (Figure 6). All intestinal epithelial cells are renewed every 3-5 days in the small intestine and every 5-7 days in the colon of mice (Barker 2014).



Figure 6. Structure of the small intestinal (A) and colonic (B) epithelium. Images on the left are taken by scanning electron microscopy (originally from Magney *et al.* (1986)). Stem cells reside on the bottom of each crypt and produce proliferating transit-amplifying (TA) cells, which migrate up the crypt and differentiate into distinct cell types (goblet cells, tuft cells, enteroendocrine cells and enterocytes) with various functions. Adapted from Barker (2014) with permission from Springer Nature (License Number: 4853631015848).

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common type of cancer in humans worldwide and accounted for 9.3 and 10.2% (males and females, respectively) of all cancer cases diagnosed in Norway in 2017 (Cancer Registry of Norway 2018). CRC can be divided into either sporadic or hereditary, where approximately 30% of cases are in patients with a family history of CRC.

Furthermore, approximately 5% of all CRC cases are caused by syndromes such as Lynch syndrome (also called hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer) and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) syndrome, which have well-characterized mutations in germline DNA (Jasperson *et al.* 2010).

Colorectal carcinogenesis develops through the stages of initiation, promotion and progression in which intestinal epithelium is transformed from normal tissue, via benign lesions (adenomas), into malignant carcinomas (Figure 7) (Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996, Sancho *et al.* 2004). Initiation is achieved by mutation of the tumor-suppressor gene *APC*, which takes place in approximately 80% of sporadic CRC cases and is responsible for the FAP syndrome (Fearnhead *et al.* 2001, Fodde 2002). Promotion and progression is further accomplished by mutations in other tumor-suppressor genes, such as *TRP53* (*transformation related protein 53*) and *TGFBR2* (*transforming growth factor beta receptor 2*), and (proto-) oncogenic mutations of *RAS* (most commonly of *KRAS* (*Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog*)), *BRAF* (*v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B*) and *PI3KCA* (*phosphatidylinositol-4,5-Bisphosphate 3kinase catalytic subunit alpha*) (Markowitz and Bertagnolli 2009).



Figure 7. The progression of CRC from normal epithelium, via dysplastic aberrant crypt foci (ACF) and early, intermediate and late adenoma stages, to carcinoma and metastasis. Mutation in *APC* initiates carcinogenesis and promotion is a result from mutations in other genes such as *KRAS*, *BRAF*, *TGFBR2*, *TRP53* and *PIK3CA*.
In addition, colorectal carcinogenesis is influenced by other factors such as dietary components (including POPs) and bacteria (Zackular *et al.* 2013, Louis *et al.* 2014). The colon and small intestine contain a vast population of bacteria; the gut microbiome. These bacteria rely on host nutrient intake and energy and return effects that are beneficial for the host including improvement of immune function, protection against pathogens and maintenance of intestinal barrier integrity and physiology (Rooks and Garrett 2016). However, the gut microbiota has also been shown to negatively affect the host by modulating the immune system, activating procarcinogenic chemicals in the diet (such as POPs) or inducing oxidative stress and inflammation (Gagnière *et al.* 2016).

1.4 Methods for studying health effects of POPs

1.4.1 History of toxicity studies

The study of toxic effects of chemicals was initiated by Paracelsus (1493-1541) as early as in the start of the 1500s and expanded to show specific organ damage caused by toxins in the early 1800s (by Mathieu Orfila, 1787-1853). The use of animals to study the lethality of chemicals (finding a 50% lethal dose) started in 1920. Shortly after, a method for testing skin and eye irritation of chemicals and pharmaceuticals using rabbits was established. In the 1960s, long-term bioassays testing the chronic toxicity and carcinogenic potential of chemicals were developed for use on rats, mice and rabbits. At the same time, the devastating consequences of the chemical thalidomide (marketed as a cure for morning sickness in pregnant women) were revealed as the infant mortality rate and the number of babies born with birth defects skyrocketed. Thus, regulatory agencies introduced the need for risk assessment of all pharmaceuticals and chemicals already available or being introduced into the market. Formal risk assessment procedures were introduced by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) at the start of the 1980s (Parasuraman 2011, OECD 2014). In 2001, a Mode of Action framework for chemical carcinogenesis was published by the International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS) with the purpose to increase the ability of translating tumor responses from bioassays into cancer risk in humans (Sonich-Mullin et al. 2001). This framework has later been extended (Boobis et al. 2006, Boobis et al. 2008, Meek et al. 2014) and the OECD guidelines for testing the potential effects of chemicals on human health and the environment are continuously updated and expanded⁴.

1.4.2 Animal models for studying health effects in humans

When chemical exposures (e.g. from accidents) are linked to documented health effects in humans, the cause-and-effect relationship and clarification of the mechanism and mode of action is derived from experimental studies using animal-based models. Furthermore, adverse health effects of pesticides, pharmaceuticals and industrial chemicals in humans is generally studied in animals. In order to predict the responses to exposure most accurately, animals with high similarity to humans are preferred (OECD 2014). However, these animals are only models and have strengths and weaknesses when translating the effects onto humans. For instances, thalidomide did not show any adverse effects in mice. However, later investigations revealed vital differences in the thalidomide metabolism and susceptibility between mice and humans. Thus, the toxicity studies conducted on mice failed to reveal the devastating consequences this chemical could have when administered to pregnant women (Rehman *et al.* 2011).

Several considerations must be made when selecting the correct animal to be used as a model for human effects. These include interspecies differences in absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, sensitivity, susceptibility, and critical periods of development (Patisaul *et al.* 2018). Furthermore, excellent animal care standards are needed to conduct high quality research on animal models (Workman *et al.* 2010). In order to accompany these standards, practical considerations including housing availability and cost arise. Thus, the use of larger and more demanding species (e.g. sheep, mini pig, dogs, ferrets, rabbits, hamsters, guinea pig and nonhuman primates) in research is rare. Other species such as zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), *Daphnia Magna, Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Drosophila melanogaster* have also been used to study the health effects of EDC exposures (mostly for chemical screening, genetic effects and in neuroscience). Although these organisms have led to significant discoveries, there are concerns about their translational ability of health effects onto humans (Patisaul *et al.* 2018).

Along with the scientific progress has come the development of *in vitro* and *ex vivo* methods and techniques for expanding the knowledge on mechanisms behind the observed health effects.

⁴ www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/testing/oecdguidelinesforthetestingofchemicals.htm

However, the complexity of interactions, feedback loops, endocrine systems and disease progression in the whole organism is not adequately replicated using such methods. Thus, animal models allow for the investigation of chemically induced effects at the phenotypic, physiological, behavioral and molecular levels that have a higher translational value compared to *in vitro* and *ex vivo* techniques (Patisaul *et al.* 2018).

Mice are extensively used in research on human health and disease. For instance, up to 95% of research on cancer development and response to treatment was conducted on mice in 2008 in the UK (Workman *et al.* 2010). The use of mice in human health research has several advantages including a 99% similarity in genes, a small size and short generation time compared to larger mammals, and a detailed understanding of the mouse biology and genetics acquired from their long-time use as research animals. Multiple strains of laboratory mice are available for purchase and the use of transgenic and knockout technology has led to the development of mouse models with characteristics that mimic a wide range of human diseases and health problems (e.g. diabetes and cancer). However, differences in metabolism, life expectancy, environment and genetic variability (and more) between mice and humans should not be forgotten (European Commision 2010).

Murine models for Apc-driven colorectal cancer

Genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models are mice with alterations in specific genes, such as oncogenes or tumor-suppressor genes, that mimic human disease. These mice have numerous benefits including testing of safe and effective chemicals for human application, studying mechanisms and pathways of disease and facilitating the development of targeted treatments. GEM models with activation or deactivation of oncogenes or tumor-suppressor genes, respectively, develop tumors in the setting of an intact immune system and have several similarities to their human disease counterparts. Thus, these models can be studied for their response in tumor formation after treatment with chemicals such as POPs (Hansen and Khanna 2004, Sharpless and DePinho 2006).

The *APC/Apc* tumor-suppressor gene has a homology of 86% at the nucleotide level, and 90% at the amino acid level after protein formation, between humans and mice (Su *et al.* 1992). This gene has a central role in colorectal carcinogenesis as it participates in multiple cellular functions such as proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, adhesion and migration. For instance, *APC* is a

vital component in the β -catenin destruction complex that facilitated the phosphorylation of β catenin and marks it for further degradation. β -catenin is an onco-protein and accumulation of β catenin within the cell nucleus, as a result of *APC* dysfunction, leads to transcription (with the help of T cell and lymphoid enhancer factors) of *Wnt* (*wingless-type MMTV integration site family*) target genes (e.g. the oncogenes *c-myc* and *cyclin D1*) and increased cell proliferation (Reya and Clevers 2005). *APC* is further involved in the distribution of β -catenin and E-cadherin within the cell and, thus, has a central role in controlling cell adhesion. Furthermore, *APC* regulates cell polarity and migration through binding to actin filaments, it interacts directly with the microtubule cytoskeleton and it is involved in mitosis through spindle formation (Fearnhead *et al.* 2001, Fodde 2002).

Because of the high similarity in the APC/Apc gene between humans and mice, and the critical role of APC in CRC development, GEM models with mutations in this gene are of interest. Multiple mouse models with either germline or conditional mutations in Apc have been developed for studying Apc function in CRC and the susceptibility of colorectal lesions to environmental factors (Zeineldin and Neufeld 2013). The multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min) mouse model is a commonly used GEM model with a heterozygous nonsense mutation at codon 850 of the Apc gene, which leads to the truncation of the Apc protein (Su et al. 1992). This model has a great phenotypic and genetic similarity to humans with the FAP syndrome and was discovered by a coincidence after treating C57BL/6 mice with the mutagen ethylnitrosourea, which resulted in the development of multiple adenomas throughout the intestines (Moser et al. 1990). In both Min mice and patients with FAP, only one allele of Apc is originally mutated (Min/+), and the gene function is retained in the cell by the non-mutated allele (+). Mutation or silencing of the wild type (WT) allele, and consequently loss of heterozygosity (LOH), is required for cancer initiation. This mutation occurs spontaneously and becomes the 'second hit' in the two-hit hypothesis by Knudson (2001). Initiation results in the formation of multiple intestinal lesions, some of which will continue the progression to malignancy (Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996).

As *Apc* encodes a large multi-functional protein, other mouse models have been developed with a truncated Apc protein that is longer (e.g. Apc^{1638N} , Apc^{1309} and Apc^{1322T}) or shorter (e.g. $Apc^{\Delta 242}$, $Apc^{\Delta 474}$, $Apc^{\Delta 580}$, $Apc^{\Delta 14}$ and $Apc^{\Delta 716}$) than that of the Min mouse. Other murine models

have also been developed with complete deletion of the Apc gene (Apc^{$\Delta e1-15/$}), with alterations of the Apc protein (Apc^{mNLS} and Apc^{$\Delta SAMP$}) or with changed expression levels of Apc (Apc^{NeoF} and Apc^{NeoR}) (Zeineldin and Neufeld 2013). Collective traits for most of these models with germline mutations in Apc is a relatively short lifespan and lethality of the homozygous embryo. Thus, models with conditional Apc mutations have been developed with mutations manifesting only at specific developmental stages and/or in specific organs (Sansom 2009). These models use the CRE recombinase enzyme to catalyze site-specific recombination of DNA between two *loxP* sites, and subsequent excision of the in-between DNA. In conditional models, the *loxP* sites have been inserted into introns of the Apc gene, which causes a frameshift mutation and truncation of Apc in the presence of CRE (Zeineldin and Neufeld 2013).

Many of the models for *Apc*-driven colorectal carcinogenesis have different genetic backgrounds. Thus, different phenotypes of cancer development may occur. The traditional Min mouse model with the C57BL/6J strain background mostly develops lesions in the small intestine (Møllersen *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, the adenomas that develop only rarely progress into carcinomas (Rosenberg *et al.* 2009). In contrast, the A/J Min mouse model (with the A/J genetic background) develops numerous lesions in the colon and displays a continuous transition from early preneoplastic lesions (flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF)) to carcinomas (Figure 8). Thus, it has been argued that the A/J Min mouse model may reflect human colorectal carcinogenesis more closely than the traditional Min model as patients with CRC develop lesions mostly in the colon and rectum (Sødring *et al.* 2016).



Figure 8. The A/J Min mouse (A: photo by A. J. Eickstedt) which develops intestinal lesions with a continuous transition from one or two dysplastic crypts (B), via aggregates of dysplastic crypts (C: medium and D: large flat ACF), to large adenomas and carcinomas (E). Pictures are taken at 4-fold magnification (scale bar = 100μ m) of colon stained with methylene blue from a 20-week-old A/J Min mouse.

Methods for inducing colorectal cancer

To accelerate carcinogenesis in GEM models and, thus, reduce the time for cancer to develop, treatment with known carcinogenic chemicals is common. Azoxymethane (AOM) is frequently used for inducing sporadic and hereditary CRC in rodent models such as the Min mouse. AOM is a potent carcinogen which initiates cancer by alkylating DNA and facilitating base mispairings. Initially, the precursor compound 1,2-dimethylhydrazine (DMH) was used. However, the downstream metabolite AOM has proved to be a more potent carcinogen and has a higher stability in solutions, thus, replacing DMH in cancer studies (Neufert *et al.* 2007).

After injection (usually administered intraperitoneally or subcutaneously), AOM needs a stepwise activation to exert its final potential as a carcinogen. Firstly, AOM is hydroxylated by CYP enzymes (mostly CYP2E1) in the liver. This creates the metabolite methylazoxymethanol

(MAM) (Sohn *et al.* 2001), which is excreted in the bile and further metabolized by microbiota (or microbial components) before it interacts with the DNA of the intestinal epithelial cells (Papanikolaou *et al.* 1998). AOM mainly acts as an initiating agent in CRC formation, however, some tumor-promoting activity has been recorded (Bissahoyo *et al.* 2005). In addition, laboratory mice with different genetic backgrounds have shown distinct differences in their susceptibility to AOM-induced CRC. For instance, the A/J mouse is highly sensitive, while the C57BL/6 mouse is generally more resistant, to tumor initiation by AOM. However, differences in AOM susceptibility has also been reported between different sublines of the C57BL/6 strain (Bissahoyo *et al.* 2005, Rosenberg *et al.* 2009).

1.4.3 Histological techniques in effect evaluation

Histological techniques are frequently utilized to visualize microscopic features of tissues or cells and to recognize specific changes associated with disease. These techniques all include fixation, sectioning, staining and examination under a microscope and most of them were first described in the 19th century (Slaoui and Fiette 2011). Fixation, commonly using neutral buffered formalin, is conducted to preserve the natural structure of the tissue and to avoid cell degradation. However, it has been found to destroy DNA, RNA and proteins. Various methods of processing may be conducted before embedding the tissue in paraffin wax and sectioning it into thin sections (usually 3-10 μ m thick). Furthermore, staining is performed to highlight important features and to enhance the contrast of the tissue (Alturkistani *et al.* 2015). The Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stains have been regularly used in the study of diseased tissue (histopathology). Hematoxylin highlights the nuclear details in the cells while the counterpart eosin distinguishes between the nuclei and cytoplasm. Before the development of H&E staining, the Carmine stain was much used to study tissue structures (Titford 2009).

Although the histological techniques are relatively old, they are still much used in evaluating how exposure or disease alters cells or tissues by comparing treated groups with non-treated controls. For instance, the carmine stain is regularly used when studying developmental alterations in the rodent mammary gland after exposure to EDCs (Fenton *et al.* 2002, Foster *et al.* 2008, Kodavanti *et al.* 2010, White *et al.* 2011, Tucker *et al.* 2015, Tucker *et al.* 2018). Furthermore, several advanced stains and techniques have significantly improved the field of histopathology, including immunohistochemistry, antibody binding and electron microscopy (Titford 2009).

1.4.4 Omics technologies in effect evaluation

The omics technologies study the complete system at different layers of biomolecular organization including DNA (genomics), gene expression (transcriptomics), protein expression (proteomics) and metabolite expression (metabolomics/metabonomics) (Figure 9). Genomics was the first of the omics to be developed and it is now understood as the determination of the entire DNA of an organism including a detailed genetic mapping (Gubb and Matthiesen 2010). With the complete sequencing of the human genome by the Human Genome Project (first published in 2001 (McPherson et al. 2001, Sachidanandam et al. 2001, Venter et al. 2001)) a new era of hypothesis-driven whole system approach to research was initiated using high-throughput tools for the analysis of information at many levels of biomolecular organization (Hood and Galas 2003). This project was initiated in 1990 as an international collaborative research program with the aim to map and completely sequence the human genome (Gubb and Matthiesen 2010). The whole system approach allows for the study of responses to genetic modification or environmental factors. Such environmental factors may come from xenobiotics, dietary components, gut microbiota or lifestyle choices, which all have effects on the organism and require intricate interactions between internal processes to maintain the physiological homeostasis (Claus and Swann 2013).



Figure 9. The biological system is under constant influence by external (exposome) or lifestyle factors and an intricate interaction between RNA, proteins and metabolites are required to maintain physiological homeostasis. The external factors include diet, activity of the gut microbiota and xenobiotics (including pharmaceuticals and pollutants), while lifestyle includes factors such as physical activity, brain stimulation and stress. The genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics technologies are useful when studying responses to genetic stimuli or environmental disturbance. Reprinted from Claus and Swann (2013) with permission from Annual Review, Inc (license ID: 1043279-1).

The Human Microbiome Project was launched as an extension of the Human Genome Project to understand the microbiome in relation to human genetic and physiological diversity (Turnbaugh *et al.* 2007). Within this project, the genomics technology was utilized to identifying and classifying microorganisms in tissues and organs (e.g. the gut microbiota). The composition and homeostasis of bacterial communities are important for human health and the imbalance of microbes (dysbiosis) in the gut has been linked to various conditions such as inflammatory bowel diseases, Parkinson's disease, obesity and an increased risk of cancer (Mulak and Bonaz 2015, Wlodarska *et al.* 2015, Gérard 2016, Sun and Kato 2016). The profiling of microbial communities

is generally conducted by sequencing the small ribosomal subunit of RNA organization (16S rRNA). This 16S region is found in all prokaryotes and consists of highly variable regions flanked by highly conserved regions that can be used for RNA amplification with polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Wang and Qian 2009). The variable regions serve as identifiers of distinct microbes and the results are compared to known genetic sequences in a database (Kim and Chun 2014).

However, not all genes are transcribed simultaneously in an organism, tissue or cell. Thus, functional genomics aims to understand normal and abnormal gene regulation and expression patterns. Incorporated into this field is the transcriptomic technology, which studies the expression levels of mRNA in the organism, tissue or cell in question (Gubb and Matthiesen 2010). One key method in transcriptomics is the use of microarrays and the resulting gene expression profiles can be compared to find differences in transcription regulation under different conditions (e.g. chemical exposures) or developmental periods (Gibson 2003).

Moving one layer up in biomolecular organization, the proteomic technology studies the protein structure, function and composition in an organism or tissue. Proteomics is highly complex as the protein composition is constantly changing and varies with different developmental periods, tissues, cell types and environmental factors. Furthermore, the protein concentration and composition are affected by regulation or modification of transcription, translation, post-translation, transport or activity. Although complex, the development and improvement of mass spectrometry (MS), tandem MS and protein microarray techniques has ensured that the proteomic technology is highly successful (Gubb and Matthiesen 2010).

Small alterations in the proteome of an organism can often result in much more dramatic changes in the small molecule metabolites present (the metabolome). Furthermore, the product of the gene-protein-metabolite cascade can be more accurately assessed by measuring the metabolites and, thus, the biological state of the organism (Claus and Swann 2013). Alterations in metabolite composition and concentration reflect the diet, lifestyle and environmental factors affecting the organism and is useful for identifying biomarkers of disease (Gubb and Matthiesen 2010). Metabolomics aims to quantify and characterize all small molecule metabolites (< 1500 Da) in a specific tissue or organism (Wishart *et al.* 2007). When studying the metabolic response of an organism to stimuli or genetic manipulation, the term 'metabonomics' is much used. However,

both metabolomics and metabonomics have identical analytical and modelling procedures and the terms are often used interchangeably (Nicholson and Lindon 2008). Metabonomics/metabolomics is useful for determining the final metabolic alterations of a chemical exposure, for broadening the understanding of chemical toxicity and for connecting a chemical exposure to an observed health effect (Bouhifd *et al.* 2013).

The most commonly used analytical techniques for metabolomics are MS and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. To simultaneously measure multiple metabolites with the MS technique, metabolite separation by liquid chromatography (LC), gas chromatography (GC) or capillary electrophoresis (CE) is required prior to spectrometry. When separation has been conducted, MS allows for the detection of metabolites with a high sensitivity and precision (Bouhifd *et al.* 2013). On the other hand, the NMR technique has the advantage of a simple and rapid sample preparation, reproducibility and a high robustness (Claus and Swann 2013).

For all omics technologies, statistical tools and advanced analyses are applied to interpret and visualize the complex data sets obtained. For metabolomics, different chemometric and pattern-recognition techniques are generally used. Depending on the hypotheses to be tested or questions to be answered, different statistical analyses are available which can identify biomarkers of disease or classify discrete differences between treatment groups (Nicholson and Lindon 2008, Claus and Swann 2013).

2 Aims of the study

The assessment of chemical mixtures for regulatory purposes is only partly covered by current guidelines as these mostly include the evaluation of individual chemicals or defined chemical mixtures. Thus, research on the health effects of large and human relevant mixtures of POPs is highly needed. Furthermore, the developmental processes of various organs are controlled by complex signaling pathways and are dependent on stimuli from endogenous molecules at specific time intervals to achieve their optimal function. Hence, disturbance by chemicals with endocrine disrupting properties, particularly during critical periods of development, may disrupt vital processes and possibly lead to adverse health effects.

The overall aim of the PhD study was to expand the current knowledge on effects of human relevant mixtures of POPs on several developmental and functional processes in mice. The study included the use of a mixture of POPs relevant for the Scandinavian population as its composition reflected the overall composition of POPs in human food and its concentration was based on estimated daily intake (EDI) levels for the human population. To further accompany the wish for human relevancy, the mixture was administered through the diet to mice and mouse dams during gestation and lactation anticipating maternal transfer of POPs.

The overall aim was achieved by using two mouse models, one outbred strain regularly used in toxicity assessment (the CD-1 mouse) and one GEM model for CRC development (the A/J Min mouse). The exposure regimes and mouse models allowed for the evaluation of effects of the POP mixture on several biological processes and led to the identification of three sub-aims:

- 1. Assess effects on female mammary gland development and ovarian folliculogenesis (Paper I).
- 2. Describe effects on liver morphology and function (Papers I, II and III).
- 3. Investigate effects on CRC development, intestinal microbiota and metabolome (Papers II and III).

3 Methodological considerations

This section encompasses a short description of the methods used in Papers I, II and III. For more details see materials and methods in the individual papers.

3.1 The POP mixture

The POP mixture (Table 2) was designed and created by Berntsen et al. (2017) and is described briefly in Papers I, II and III. The mixture contained 29 different chlorinated, brominated and fluorinated POPs and aimed to model an environmental mixture relevant for human consumption. Compounds reported in studies published between 2004 and 2012 to occur at the highest levels in food products ingested by the Scandinavian population were included. Estimated daily intake (EDI) levels of the 29 compounds were identified for humans and adapted to a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g of feed/day. However, due to differences in xenobiotic metabolism between humans and mice (Walton et al. 2001, Martignoni et al. 2006) and possible background exposure of POPs in regular mouse feed, the EDI levels were upwards adjusted 5 000-fold (creating the Low dose) to achieve exposure levels more relevant to humans. This resulted in POP concentrations similar to the maximum allowed levels by feed companies. For the High dose, a 20-fold higher level of all compounds was chosen, resulting in 100 000xEDI concentrations. Interestingly, the individual level of each POP was mostly lower than the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL), where these levels were available. Furthermore, Berntsen et al. (2017) estimated the levels of POPs in the Low dose to be mostly higher than the tolerable daily intake (TDI) concentrations used by regulatory agencies at the time of mixture preparation (ATSDR 2005, EFSA 2005, Health-Canada 2007, EFSA 2008).

	Human	Mouse	Nominal	Measured	Nominal	Measured
Compounds	average EDI	adapted EDI	Low	Low	High	High
PCBs						
PCB-28	10	3.5	5.8	3.1	117	46
PCB-52	23	8.3	13.8	15.0	275	182
PCB-101	39	14.0	23.3	25.4	467	377
PCB-118	68	24.3	40.4	37.2	808	612
PCB-138	97	34.5	57.5	53.8	1150	957
PCB-153	97	34.5	57.5	61.4	1150	981
PCB-180	26	9.3	15.4	17.4	308	263
Σ7PCBs	360	128.4	213.7	213.3	4275	3418
OCPs						
HCB	84	30.0	50.0	37.4	1000	588
α-chlordane	63	22.5	37.5	45.0	750	723
Oxychlordane	21	7.5	12.5	9.8	250	297
Trans-nonachlor	21	7.5	12.5	14.9	250	264
α-НСН	36	13.0	21.7	21.2	433	421
β-НСН	29	10.5	17.5	22.3	350	398
γ-HCH (Lindane)	40	14.3	23.8	31.4	475	435
Σ7OCPs	294	105.3	175.5	182.0	3508	3126
<i>p,p</i> '-DDE	201	71.8	119.6	136.0	2392	2390
Dieldrin	126	45.0	75.0	70.4	1500	1470
BFRs						
BDE-47	68	24.3	40.4	39.7	808	642
BDE-99	13	4.8	7.9	8.6	158	126
BDE-100	11	3.8	6.3	5.6	125	91
BDE-153	2	0.8	1.3	1.5	25	22
BDE-154	4	1.5	2.5	2.8	50	38
ΣBDE-47-154	98	35.2	58.4	58.2	1166	919
BDE-209	105	37.5	62.5	64.8	1250	1141
HBCD	21	7.5	12.5	9.9	250	203
PFASs						
PFHxS	1.2	0.4	4.9	1.7	98	42
PFOS	18	6.5	10.8	3.2	217	74
PFOA	31	11.0	18.3	6.0	367	121
PFNA	9.5	3.5	5.8	2.1	117	42
PFDA	13	4.8	7.9	3.1	158	57
PFUnDA	6.7	2.4	4.0	1.6	80	28
ΣPFASs	79.4	28.6	51.7	17.7	1037	364

Table 2. Composition and concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs in the POP mixture.

Human average EDI levels (ng/day) for a 70 kg human were based on a literature review of Scandinavian EDI values and adapted to a 25 g mouse (pg/day). The mixture was incorporated into AIN-93G mouse feed, estimating a consumption of 3 g feed/day, at one Low (5 000xEDI) and one High (100 000xEDI) dose. Nominal and measured concentrations are reported as ng/g in feed. Adapted from Berntsen *et al.*

The POPs were dissolved in appropriate solvent (acetone for all BFRs except BDE-209, cyclohexane for all PCBs, OCPs (except HCB and β -HCH) and PFASs, or chloroform for HCB and β -HCH) and added to corn oil. BDE-209 did not dissolve in any solvents used and was added directly to the oil. Corn oil was chosen to replace the more generally used soybean oil, as corn oil would be more relevant for human consumption. The solvents were evaporated under N₂ flow at room temperature and the oil containing POPs was incorporated into AIN-93G mouse feed at the Low or High doses. A control dose was also made where the corn oil only contained the solvents remaining after evaporation. Furthermore, a reference diet was created using AIN-93G mouse feed and corn oil.

All chlorinated and brominated compounds in the mixture are included in the Stockholm Convention. PFOS and PFOA were included in the treaty in 2009 and 2019, respectively. Furthermore, PFHxS was acknowledged for its persistence, global distribution and potential risk to humans and the environment by the Persistent Organic Pollutants Review Committee in 2018 and the committee recommended to list this chemical in Annex A of the Convention during their fifteenth meeting in October 2019⁵. However, at the time of this PhD, this chemical has still not been fully incorporated into the treaty. The remaining PFASs (PFNA, PFDA and PFUnDA) are not included or proposed for inclusion in the treaty.

3.2 Ethical considerations

All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at NMBU and the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (Paper I: application ID FOTS 7722, Paper II: application ID FOTS 8127, Paper III: application ID FOTS 11549). They were conducted in accordance with The Norwegian Regulation on Animal Experimentation at the section for Experimental Biomedicine, NMBU, in Oslo, Norway. The section is licensed by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority⁶. All mice were kept under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions and followed a health-monitoring program recommended by the Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Association (FELASA)⁷.

⁵ chm.pops.int/TheConvention/POPsReviewCommittee/Meetings/POPRC15/Overview/tabid/8052/Default.aspx

⁶ www.mattilsynet.no

⁷ www.felasa.eu

3.3 Murine models

The outbred CD-1 mouse strain was chosen as a model for effects of the POP mixture on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver (Paper I), as this model produces large litters and has an excellent maternal behavior (Patisaul *et al.* 2018). Timed-pregnant CD-1 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, USA) and gave rise to the CD-1 dietary exposed females, as well as the males used for breeding with the dietary exposed females.

To study the effect of the mixture on CRC (Papers II and III), the A/J Min mouse model was chosen as it spontaneously develops intestinal lesions. Embryos homozygous for the Min trait (Min/Min) are not viable (Moser *et al.* 1995). Thus, the Min mouse model used in Papers II and III is heterozygous for the Min trait (Min/+). These mice were bred in-house at the section for Experimental Biomedicine by mating A/J Min/+ males with A/J WT (+/+) females. Allele-specific PCR on DNA extracted from ear punch samples (with the product visualized by gel electrophoresis) was necessary for determination of offspring with the Min/+ genotype (Dietrich *et al.* 1993). The A/J Min mouse model was created at the National Institute of Public Health by transferring the Min trait from the C57BL/6L Min mouse to the A/J mouse strain and backcrossing for > 12 generations to secure the status as inbred (Moen *et al.* 2016).

3.4 Exposure regimes

The animal experiment in Paper I was conducted by G. S. Boge, C. Trangerud and R. Halsne in 2015. The F1 females born from the timed-pregnant dams were administered the mixture of POPs through the diet from weaning (at 3 weeks of age). A total of 75 mice of the CD-1 strain were randomly assigned to either the Control, Low or High dose of POPs. Mice continued to receive POPs through the diet during one round of mating, pregnancy and lactation, which resulted in offspring exposed to the mixture of POPs *in utero* and through lactation. After weaning, the perinatally exposed offspring were given the reference diet to ensure an identical nutrient and oil composition as in the POPs diets. Furthermore, female offspring were sacrificed at 3 (weaning), 6 (pubertal) and 9 (adult) weeks of age, while male offspring were sacrifices at 9 and 30 weeks of age. Dietary exposed dams were sacrificed during pregnancy (on gestation day 17) or at 21 days post-partum.

The animal experiment in Paper II was conducted by K. E. Aa. Hansen in 2016. A total of 87 A/J Min mice were used, divided between two experimental sections. In the first section, 66 mice were randomly assigned to either the Control, Low or High dose of the mixture at weaning. After completion, mice were incorporated into the second experimental section and received one subcutaneous injection of AOM (8.5 mg/kg) during the second week after birth. After AOM treatment, a total of 21 A/J Min mice were randomly assigned to one of the three doses. Mice in both experimental sections were sacrificed at 13 weeks of age after 10 weeks of dietary exposure to the POP mixture. The relatively low number of mice in the second section of the experimental section was caused by a high mortality of pups after AOM injection. Thus, breeding for this experimental section was terminated prior to completion due to animal welfare reasons.

The animal experiment in Paper III was conducted by the PhD Candidate in 2017-2018. Female A/J WT mice (54 in total) were randomly assigned to a Control or Low dose of the mixture at weaning and exposed throughout 3 consecutive rounds of mating, pregnancy and lactation with A/J Min/+ males. The resulting Min/+ offspring were given the reference diet from weaning until euthanasia at 20 weeks of age.

In all animal experiments, feed and water were available *ad libitum* and mice were housed in groups in either open type III cages or closed type III individually ventilated cages (IVC) with standard aspen bedding, red polycarbonate houses and cellulose nesting material.

3.5 Chemical analysis

The concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs were analyzed in pooled liver samples from dietary exposed CD-1 dams and their perinatally exposed female offspring in Paper I, and in individual liver (only PFASs) or adipose (PCBs, OCPs and BFRs) samples from perinatally exposed A/J Min mice in Paper III. The analysis was conducted by laboratory technicians at the Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology at NMBU, which is accredited by the Norwegian Accreditation for testing POPs in biological material according to the requirements of the NS-EN ISO/IEC 17025 (TEST 137). This accreditation requires strict routines and quality control measures including repeatability, reproducibility, procedural blanks and local, interlaboratory and international reference material and tests. The analytical method for PCB, OCP and BFR quantification is based on Brevik (1978) and Polder *et al.* (2014). The analysis of PFASs,

described by Grønnestad *et al.* (2017), is not included in this accreditation but is validated according to the same quality control measures and procedures.

The resulting concentrations of the lipid-soluble POPs can either be presented as wet weight (i.e. compound weight/volume of sample) or as lipid weight (i.e. compound weight/lipid concentration). However, presentation as lipid weight is recommended as this describes a standardized body burden estimation and allows for the comparison of compound concentrations between different tissues and with levels reported in other studies (Bernert *et al.* 2007). PFASs have a lower lipophilicity than other POPs and, thus, lipid adjustment is not recommended for these compounds.

For POP concentrations detected in more than 60% of liver and adipose tissues in Paper III, levels below the limit of detection (LOD) were replaced with the LOD values for the respective compound and included in the statistical tests.

3.6 Histological techniques

Whole mounts are useful when evaluating alterations in the developing rodent mammary gland as they allow for the evaluation of epithelial extension throughout the fat pad and the presence or absence of TEBs (Rudel *et al.* 2011). This histological technique does not involve sectioning and the carmine stain is generally used. Furthermore, image analysis using imaging software (e.g. ImageJ) can be utilized to quantitatively assess morphological features in the glands. Paper I included the evaluation of mammary gland development in perinatally exposed female CD-1 offspring using whole mounts and the modified Sholl analysis for quantification of epithelial branching density (Stanko *et al.* 2015, Stanko and Fenton 2017). Imaging software was also utilized on fixed, sectioned and H&E stained mammary glands to measure the amount of glandular tissue occupying the fat pad.

Furthermore, every tenth H&E stained section from one randomly chosen ovary of perinatally exposed female CD-1 offspring in Paper I was used for counting the numbers of healthy follicles including primordial, primary, pre-antral and antral follicles. In addition, histopathological examination was conducted on H&E stained liver sections from dams, female and male CD-1 offspring in Paper I, and from A/J Min offspring in Paper III using standardized nomenclature guidelines (Thoolen *et al.* 2010).

Swiss rolls were made of the intestines from A/J Min mice in Papers II and III according to the procedure originally described by Moolenbeek and Ruitenberg (1981) and modified by Sødring *et al.* (2016). H&E stained sections at three depths (top, middle and bottom) were evaluated for pre-neoplastic lesions (with hyperplastic and/or dysplastic cells), adenomas (cancerous lesions restricted to the mucosa) and carcinomas (cancerous lesions with infiltrative growth through mucosa into the submucosa).

All histopathological examinations, as well as the analysis of mammary glandular tissue, were conducted blinded to dose by a board-certified pathologist (M. Aleksandersen). The overall developmental evaluation of the mammary glands, including the number of TEBs, was conducted by G. S. Boge, R. Halsne and G. C. Østby. The ovarian follicle numbers were counted by G. C. Østby. The PhD Candidate conducted the Sholl analysis on mammary gland whole mounts and prepared histological sections of liver and intestines (in Papers I and III).

3.7 CYP activity

The activities of CYP1A1, CYP1A, CYP2B10, CYP3A11, CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 were analyzed in liver samples from perinatally exposed female CD-1 offspring in Paper I. The analysis was conducted at the Department of Molecular Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, in Uppsala, Sweden by G. Zamaratskaia. The method of hepatic microsome preparation has been described by Rasmussen *et al.* (2011) and the enzymatic activity quantifications were conducted as explained by Zamaratskaia *et al.* (2010) (for CYP1A1, CYP1A and CYP2B10), Pilipenko *et al.* (2017) (for CYP3A11) and Zamaratskaia *et al.* (2009) (for CYP2E1 and CYP2A5). Protein concentrations for adjusting the final enzymatic activities was measured using a commercially available kit and bovine serum albumin as a standard.

3.8 Surface microscopy

The effect of dietary (Paper II) or maternal (Paper III) exposure to the mixture of POPs on CRC in the A/J Min mouse model was analyzed by surface microscopy on intestines stained with methylene blue. The method has previously been described by Sødring *et al.* (2016). The methylene blue stain enables the visualization of flat ACF in the colon. These lesions were first identified by Paulsen *et al.* (2000) in C57BL/6J Min mice and, in contrast to the original ACF (first described by Bird (1987)), flat ACF lies flat against the surrounding epithelium (Paulsen *et*

al. 2000, Paulsen *et al.* 2005, Paulsen *et al.* 2006). Furthermore, they appear bright blue-green when stained and have increased or deformed crypts with elongated luminal openings (see Figure 8 B, C and D). Importantly, unlike classical ACF that only show signs of mild dysplasia, the flat ACF have more severe dysplastic features already from the mono-crypt stage. This provides evidence of a direct relationship between the small flat ACFs and the larger adenomas and carcinomas (Paulsen *et al.* 2001, Sødring *et al.* 2016).

Transillumination was used to count and measure the diameter of the lesions in the colon and small intestine of A/J Min mice. Lesion load was identified as the total intestinal area covered by lesions. In the colon, lesions were identified as either flat ACF or tumors, where tumors have a crypt multiplicity of more than 30 aberrant crypts (covering more than approximately 0.4 mm²). One crypt has previously been measured to cover an area of approximately 0.002 mm² and the smallest lesions include only 1-4 crypts. Lesion size classes have also been defined previously for the A/J Min mouse model using a logarithmic scale starting with the smallest flat ACFs at 0.002-0.008 mm² (Sødring *et al.* 2016). The small intestine does not contain flat ACF and, thus, all aberrant crypt aggregations were defined as lesions.

The identification of intestinal lesions was conducted by K. E. Aa. Hansen for Paper II and by the PhD Candidate for Paper III.

3.9 Omics techniques

3.9.1 Metabolomics

Metabolomic analysis was conducted by the PhD Candidate on cecal tissue and content from dietary (Paper II) and perinatally (Paper III) exposed A/J Min mice at Imperial College London, UK. ¹H NMR spectroscopy was done on extracts of tissue and content according to the protocol by Beckonert *et al.* (2007) and the description in Paper III. Some data treatment was necessary to prepare the ¹H NMR metabolic spectra for statistical analysis and metabolite identification. This included digitalization into spectral regions, removal of internal standard, water and outliers, alignment (using the recursive segment-wise peak alignment algorithm (Veselkov *et al.* 2009)) and normalization (using a probabilistic quotient-based approach) of spectra. Metabolites were identified using Chenomx NMR Suite⁸ with the Profiler module and a database developed at

⁸ www.chenomx.com/products/

Imperial College. Metabolic pathways were identified based on the KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) database (Kanehisa and Goto 2000)⁹.

3.9.2 16S rRNA sequencing

The analysis of microbiota was conducted on feces from A/J Min mice perinatally exposed to the mixture of POPs in Paper III. Following DNA extraction by Ö. C. O. Umu at the Department of Food Safety and Infection Biology, NMBU in Oslo, sequencing of 16S rRNA was conducted by Eurofins Genomics using amplification of the V3-V4 region with the primers 347F (5'-TACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and 800R (5'-CCAGGGTATCTAATCC-3') creating two 300 base pair paired-end reads. These paired-end reads were processed, analyzed and joined using Qiime2 (Bolyen *et al.* 2019) with the VSEARCH plug-in (Rognes *et al.* 2016), and the remaining sequences were denoised using Deblur (Amir *et al.* 2017). The reads were then clustered into amplicon sequence variants (ASV) and ASVs that were present in 3 or more samples were aligned using MAFFT program (Katoh *et al.* 2002) to create a phylogenetic tree (using FastTree (Price *et al.* 2010)). The differences between the identified ASVs were visualized by generating an unweighted UniFrac distance metric (Lozupone and Knight 2005). The bacterial diversity (alpha diversity) and composition (beta diversity) was computed and taxonomic classification was made using q2-feature-classifier plug-in (Bokulich *et al.* 2018) and Greengenes 16S rRNA gene database (McDonald *et al.* 2012).

3.10 Statistical methods

In Papers I and II, the statistical analyses were conducted by E. Ropstad in JMP Pro®. Plots were created (by the PhD Candidate for Paper I and by C. Steppeler and K. E. Aa. Hansen for Paper II) in R studio (with the packages 'ggplot2' and 'ggpubr') and in Microsoft Excel®. A p-value \leq 0.05 was considered statistically significant for all tests.

The weight measures (body, liver and combined ovaries and uterus) and intestinal length were normally distributed and with a satisfactory homogeneity in variances between doses. Thus, these data were analyzed using multivariate linear regression by standard least square personality, which generated least square mean values that were further analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

⁹ www.genome.jp/kegg/pathway.html

In Paper I, the regression models were computed within each sampling time and included the explanatory variables:

- dose (Control, Low or High),
- weight at weaning (only for dam body weight),
- number of offspring per litter (only for offspring body weight) or
- body weight (only for liver and ovaries + uterus weight).

In Paper II, the overall model was as follows:

 $Y=\mu+G_i+E_j+e$

Where:

Y = observation of body or relative liver weight, relative colon or small intestine length.

 μ = overall mean body or relative liver weight, relative colon or small intestine length.

 G_i = effect of sex, where i = male or female.

 E_j = effect of dose, where j = Control, Low or High.

e = error.

Furthermore, in Paper I the numbers of TEBs in female CD-1 offspring at 3 and 6 weeks of age, as well as the mammary gland branching density (for 3, 6 and 9 weeks), were normally distributed and with homogenic variances. Thus, these data were also analyzed by multivariate linear regression within each sampling time and with dose and body weight as explanatory variables.

In Paper I, a contingency table analysis was conducted on the ratio between male and female CD-1 offspring, and the severity scores of hepatic histopathology within each sampling time and using the Steel-Dwass method to compare doses. An ANOVA followed by Dunnett's or Tukey HSD (honestly significant difference) test was used to investigate differences between doses within each sampling time in the number of live fetuses and offspring, and the number of ovarian follicles. The numbers of TEBs (9 weeks only) and mammary epithelial intersections, the epithelial area and length, the percentage of the fat pad covered by glandular tissue, and the hepatic CYP activities were not normally distributed (even after log-transformation) and were non-parametrically analyzed for differences between doses within each sampling time using the Steel or Steel-Dwass methods.

In Paper II, lesion numbers (from surface microscopy and histopathology), size and load were not normally distributed. Log-transformation granted some improvement, which allowed for the

evaluation of the effect of gender. Only small differences were noted between the genders and, thus, this variable was excluded, and the final analysis was conducted as a non-parametric test investigating the differences between doses using the Steel method.

In Paper III, all statistical analyses (except for 16S rRNA sequencing data) were conducted by the PhD Candidate using R (with the package 'ggplot2') or MATLAB (with scripts developed at Imperial College London). Due to randomness, only 3 A/J Min male offspring were obtained in the Control group and genders were pooled for further analysis. The threshold for significance was set to 0.05.

The concentrations of POPs were analyzed for differences between doses (Control and Low) using Welch two-sample t-test for compounds with a normal distribution (after log-transformation) and Mann-Whitney U test for those not achieving normality. The liver and cecal weights, and the colon or small intestine length were analyzed relative to the body weight. One outlier was removed from the cecal weight data (due to a large tumor in the cecum). After this, all weight and length data were normally distributed and with a satisfactory homogeneity in variances and analyzed for differences between doses using Welch test. Only 3 variables in the data from lesion identification by surface microscopy (flat ACF number and size, and lesion load in the small intestine) became normally distributed after log-transformation and were analyzed by Welch test. The remaining variables, including lesion numbers from the histopathological examination, were investigated for differences between doses by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test.

Orthogonal projections to latent structures discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) was performed on mean centered ¹H NMR spectral data obtained from perinatally exposed A/J Min mice with spectra as the feature matrix and dose (Control or Low) as the predictor matrix. The OPLS-DA is a supervised method that allows for sample classification (Claus and Swann 2013). On the other hand, principal components analysis (PCA) is an unsupervised method that requires no *a priori* knowledge of the sample class (or dose). However, this method can be used to investigate similarities between groups and to detect outliers in the data, as was done for the ¹H NMR spectral data in Paper III. In addition, OPLS regression models were built (separately for each dose) to investigate possible correlations between spectra and intestinal lesion or bacterial data. For OPLS-DA and OPLS regression, a model predictive performance (Q²Y) was determined by 7-

fold internal cross-validation and the validity and robustness was assessed through permutation testing (1000 permutations) (Westerhuis *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, coefficient plots were created from the models and used to identify distinct metabolites that differed between the doses.

Statistical analyses of 16S rRNA sequencing data were conducted by Ö. C. O. Umu. The distance metric created between the identified ASVs from the 16S rRNA sequencing of fecal bacteria was visualized by principle coordinate analysis (PCoA) and analyzed by permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) to investigate the difference in bacterial composition between the Control and Low doses (Paper III). Differences in microbial diversities were explored using the Alpha group significance method in Qiime2. Furthermore, differences in bacterial relative abundances were checked using analysis of composition of microbiomes (ANCOM) at different taxonomic levels (Mandal *et al.* 2015).

4 Results: summary of papers

Paper I

Perinatal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants: Effects on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver in CD-1 mice.

S. M. Johanson, E. Ropstad, G. C. Østby, M. Aleksandersen, G. Zamaratskaia, G. S. Boge, C. Trangerud, R. Halsne, J. L. Lyche, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, S. Verhaegen.

Manuscript.

The study aimed to investigate the effects of perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs on mammary gland development, ovarian follicle maturation and liver morphology and function in CD-1 mice. Dams were exposed from weaning, throughout mating, gestation and lactation to the mixture at Control, Low or High doses. Chemical analysis revealed efficient uptake of POPs from the diet and distribution to the hepatic tissue in dams. Furthermore, all compounds in the mixture (except PCB-52 and HBCD) were transferred to the offspring during gestation and lactation. After end of lactational exposure, the compounds decreased in concentration with increasing age of offspring.

Overall, perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs modulated mammary gland development in female CD-1 offspring. Weaning offspring (3 weeks of age) showed restricted gland development (only High dose) compared to control. Furthermore, pubertal (6 weeks) and adult (9 weeks) offspring exhibited a premature arrest of gland growth by reducing branching density, epithelial area and length. Ovarian folliculogenesis was also affected by perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs, as evident by a reduced number of primary and antral follicles in weaning offspring indicating a delayed rate of follicle maturation and possibly an increased rate of follicle atresia.

Dietary exposure to the High dose increased the liver weight of dams and pubertal female offspring. Furthermore, a persistently increased severity of hepatocellular hypertrophy (centrilobular) was seen in both dams and offspring, in addition to a dose-dependent induction of hepatic CYPs (in female offspring). Thus, the mixture of POPs may potentially induce oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in CD-1 mice.

Paper II

A mixture of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model.

K. E. Aa. Hansen, <u>S. M. Johanson</u>, C. Steppeler, M. Sødring, G. C. Østby, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, M. Aleksandersen, J. E. Paulsen, E. Ropstad.

Chemosphere (2018).

The study aimed to investigate whether dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs could affect colorectal carcinogenesis alone or in combination with a single treatment with the carcinogenic chemical AOM. The mixture of POPs was given to A/J Min mice at Control, Low or High doses through the diet for 10 weeks and mice in the second section of the study were administered one subcutaneous injection of AOM during the second week after birth.

The High dose had an adverse effect on the mice independent of AOM treatment by decreasing the body weight and increasing the liver weight. Dietary POP exposure caused moderate and dose-dependent increases in colorectal carcinogenesis as the High dose initiated the formation of new lesions while the Low dose promoted the growth of already existing lesions. AOM alone showed a promoting effect on colorectal carcinogenesis by stimulating lesion growth without initiating lesion formation. On the other hand, when combining AOM treatment with dietary POP exposure, a synergistic increase in lesion formation was seen in the colon, and to a smaller extent in the small intestine. Furthermore, combined treatment also promoted carcinogenesis and resulted in a severe lesion burden for mice given AOM and the High dose. Histopathological evaluations further demonstrated this synergistic effect by showing increased numbers of preneoplastic lesions, adenomas and carcinomas in the colon. These results emphasize the importance of anticipating interacting effects when assessing the carcinogenic potential of chemical mixtures.

Paper III:

Maternal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants reduces colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice.

<u>S. M. Johanson</u>, J. R. Swann, Ö. C. O. Umu, M. Aleksandersen, M. H. B. Müller, H. F. Berntsen, K. E. Zimmer, G. C. Østby, J. E. Paulsen, E. Ropstad.

Chemosphere (2020).

The study aimed to investigate the effect of perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs on CRC, intestinal metabolite composition and microbiota in the A/J Min mouse model. Mice were exposed to the mixture *in utero* and through lactation at the Control or Low doses and sacrificed at 20 weeks of age. Chemical analysis revealed maternal transfer, accumulation and persistence of POPs in adipose and liver tissues of mice. Furthermore, the lipid-adjusted concentrations were 2-35x higher than the average plasma concentrations reported in the Scandinavian population, thus, proving that the Low dose could be considered relevant to humans.

Weight measures or hepatic morphology were not affected by perinatal exposure. Although the exposure increased the size of flat ACF, it reduced the formation and growth of colonic tumors, indicating a restriction of colorectal carcinogenesis by perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs. In addition, histopathological evaluation showed more carcinomas and adenomas in the small intestine and colon, respectively, of control mice. Furthermore, alterations caused by perinatal exposure were seen in the composition of metabolites associated with the metabolism of amino acids, lipids, glycerophospholipids and energy in intestinal (cecal) tissue. Indications were also present of an exposure-modulated renal xenobiotic excretion and hepatic metabolism (by alcohol dehydrogenase). The microbial composition in feces was altered by perinatal POP exposure, which manifested as a change in the core microbiome and the relative abundance of one *Unclassified Sutterella* species (phylum *Proteobacteria*). However, no changes were seen in the bacterial diversity. These results highlighted that early-life exposure to the mixture of POPs could reduce colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min mice by modulating the intestinal microbial and biochemical environment.

5 Discussion

The result presented herein aid in the clarification of chemical mixture effects on several developmental and functional processes in mice. The female reproductive organs, liver and intestinal biochemical environment proved sensitive to developmental exposure. In addition, dietary exposure to chemical mixtures may increase the risk of CRC, particularly when combined with other cancer-promoting agents. This discussion will address the relevance of the obtained results in a broader context followed by an elaboration of some important methodological issues.

5.1 Confirmation of exposure

The levels of POPs measured in mice confirmed that the chemicals were taken up from the diet, distributed to the hepatic tissue and transferred from mothers to offspring. Many of the chemicals were also persistent in hepatic and adipose tissues and, thus, the effects seen in mammary glands, ovaries, livers and gut could have been caused by a combination of early-life exposure and a chronic disturbance from the most persistent POPs.

The lipid-adjusted POP concentrations measured in livers of dams dietary exposed to the Low dose (Paper I) were much higher for most compounds than the lipid-adjusted blood levels reported for humans by Berntsen et al. (2017) (up to 757 and 2450x for PCB-138 and BDR-209, respectively), with the exception of PFHxS, PFOS and γ -HCH (which were only 3, 3 and 7x higher in mice, respectively). When comparing the concentrations of chlorinated and brominated POPs in CD-1 dams to blood concentrations in women from the Arctic regions (highly exposed human populations (AMAP 2015a)), p,p'-DDE, trans-nonachlor and BDE-153 had only 2-8x higher levels in mice compared to humans (AMAP 2015b, Long et al. 2015, Bravo et al. 2019). Three studies reporting the POP concentrations in blood from pregnant Norwegian or Danish women showed 18-25x lower levels of p, p'-DDE in humans compared to pregnant mice (Veyhe et al. 2015, Caspersen et al. 2016, Bjerregaard-Olesen et al. 2017). Furthermore, p,p'-DDE was only 3-fold lower in blood of Norwegian women with Type 2 diabetes compared to dietary exposed CD-1 mice (Rylander et al. 2015). For the fluorinated POPs, the wet weight concentrations of PFHxS and PFOS were only 5-6x lower in blood of Swedish mothers (3 weeks post-partum) compared to pregnant mice (Gyllenhammar et al. 2018). Thus, dietary exposure to the Low dose of POPs resulted in at least partly human relevant concentrations in CD-1 mice (Paper I).

The PCBs and OCPs seemed to be more efficiently transferred to offspring during late gestation and lactation, compared to BFRs (particularly BDE-209) and PFASs, as these compounds had 2-3x higher concentrations in weaning CD-1 offspring compared to post-pregnant dams (Paper I). This may have been caused by a high rate of lactational transfer and/or a low metabolic capacity in fetuses and neonates (Milsap and Jusko 1994).

The levels of γ -HCH, PFHxS and PFOS in weaning mice were similar (with an 1-2-fold difference) to the human blood levels reported by Berntsen *et al.* (2017). However, all other compounds were up to 789x higher in mice than in humans. Furthermore, weaning mice also had higher levels than those reported in blood from 3-year-old Norwegian children (Caspersen *et al.* 2016). Interestingly, the levels of *p*,*p*'-DDE decreased fairly rapidly in CD-1 offspring, which resulted in only 3x higher levels in pubertal offspring compared to 6-11-year-old Danish and 3-year-old Norwegian children. In addition, adult mice (9 weeks of age) had a 4-5-fold lower *p*,*p*'-DDE concentration than Danish and Norwegian children (Mørck *et al.* 2014, Caspersen *et al.* 2016, Knudsen *et al.* 2017). *p*,*p*'-DDE was chosen to represent DDT and its metabolites in the mixture of POPs as this compound had the greatest contribution to the sum of DDTs in human food, blood and breast milk (Berntsen *et al.* 2017). The concentration of *p*,*p*'-DDE did not differ between 20-week-old A/J Min mice perinatally exposed to the Control or Low doses (Paper III), which together with the results from Paper I demonstrated a possible metabolism and excretion of this compound in mice. To the authors knowledge, metabolism of *p*,*p*'-DDE in mice has not been reported previously.

The chemical analysis in Paper I was conducted on only one pooled sample of liver tissue from each sampling time and dose. Thus, individual variation could not be identified, and statistical tests were not conducted. Furthermore, all compounds were measured in liver tissue even though the more lipophilic chemicals accumulate to a higher extent in lipid-rich tissues.

In Paper III, analysis was conducted on individual samples from perinatally exposed A/J Min mice, and the lipid-soluble PCBs, OCPs and BFRs were measured in adipose tissue while the PFASs were measured in liver tissue. Here, all compounds (except for PCB-52, α -chlordane and HBCD) were detected and 20 (of the 29) POPs in the mixture had significantly higher concentrations (up to 136x) in 20-week-old A/J Min mice perinatally exposed to the Low dose compared to controls. This confirmed the persistent nature and accumulative potential of most

chemicals and showed indications of possible metabolism and/or excretion of the lower chlorinated PCBs (PCB-28, -52 and -101), *p*,*p*'-DDE, α -chlordane, α - and γ -HCH, BDE-47 and HBCD (de Wit 2002, Grimm *et al.* 2015, Wacławek *et al.* 2019).

Of the PCBs, OCPs and BFRs with significantly different concentrations between the Low and Control doses (Paper III) the lipid-adjusted levels in mice were 2-35x higher than the human blood levels reported in Berntsen *et al.* (2017). Furthermore, PCB-118 and HCB had only 3 and 5x higher levels in A/J Min mice compared to 3-year-old Norwegian children, respectively (Caspersen *et al.* 2016), the concentration of β -HCH was 8x higher in mice compared to 6-11year-old Danish children (Mørck *et al.* 2014) and BDE-99 had 4x higher levels in mice compared to Danish children (Knudsen *et al.* 2017). Of the PFASs, the concentrations of PFOS and PFOA were only 2-fold higher in A/J Min mice than in human blood and PFHxS had 3x higher levels in humans than in mice (Berntsen *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, the level of PFOA in mice was equivalent to the level reported in blood from 2-4 months old Swedish infants, and the concentrations of PFHxS was 2-fold higher in infants compared to A/J Min mice (Gyllenhammar *et al.* 2018). As the fluorinated POPs have a relatively low lipophilicity (O'Hagan 2008), lipid adjustment was not conducted. However, this prevented accurate comparison with other tissues and studies.

Notably, all detected POPs had higher concentrations in mice dietary or perinatally exposed to the High dose compared to mice given the Low dose (Paper I). Furthermore, many chemicals were detected in the Control dosed CD-1 and A/J Min mice. However, concentrations in the controls were 44-573x and 11-452x lower than in Low for CD-1 dams and weaning offspring, respectively. Berntsen *et al.* (2017) only detected HCB in the Control and reference feed. Thus, there seemed to be a low level of background contamination possibly originating from the laboratory animal environment.

Overall, the detection of POPs in mice confirmed that the mixture was absorbed, distributed, transferred and accumulated. The Low dose resulted in human relevant concentrations in murine tissues for a few compounds and, thus, it can be argued that this dose may be relevant to humans in both its concentration and composition. The High dose resulted in considerably higher tissue concentrations and can only be considered relevant to humans in its composition. Lastly, the

present study showed evidence of murine metabolism and/or excretion of p,p'-DDE and contamination with POPs in the environment of laboratory animals.

5.2 Mammary gland development and ovarian folliculogenesis

The sensitivity of the developing mammary gland, particularly during late-gestational exposure to chemicals, has been established previously (Fenton *et al.* 2002, White *et al.* 2007, White *et al.* 2009). Qualitative assessment of mammary gland development in female CD-1 offspring did not reveal any effects of perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs (Paper I). However, 3-week-old mice exposed to the High dose had fewer TEBs compared to controls. The number of TEBs vary with age and are only apparent when the glandular tissue expands throughout the fat pad (Watson and Khaled 2008). Thus, alterations in the number of TEBs is coincident with an alteration in gland differentiation. In addition, as TEBs have a great number of proliferating cells, any modification in the presence of TEBs changes the susceptibility to carcinogenic stimuli and may increase the risk of cancer development (Fenton 2006, Osborne *et al.* 2015). In mice, TEBs are developed at 2 weeks of age (Watson and Khaled 2008) and weaning mice should, therefore, have TEBs present in their developing mammary glands. Hence, a reduced number of TEBs in exposed compared to control mice indicate a decreased rate of proliferation and a restriction of gland development.

The number of TEBs present is also coincident with the number of epithelial ducts in the mammary gland. A gland with a high branching density will, thus, have a higher amount of TEBs (Rudel *et al.* 2011). Although the number of TEBs was not affected by perinatal exposure at 6 and 9 weeks, the High dose increased the branching density of mammary gland epithelium significantly in pubertal and non-significantly in adult mice. This suggested a retention of TEBs causing more epithelial branching and a continuation of the developmental restriction observed in weaning mice. Furthermore, perinatal exposure to the Low dose decreased the epithelial expansion throughout the fat pad resulting in a shorter and smaller gland in pubertal and adult mice. This indicated that the restricted gland development observed in mice perinatally exposed to the High dose manifested as a premature arrest of gland development could reduce milk production and, thus, delay the development and maturation of the next generation (White *et al.* 2011).

Multiple studies have previously reported restriction of mammary gland growth in female CD-1 mice due to developmental PFOA exposure (White *et al.* 2007, White *et al.* 2009, Macon *et al.* 2011, White *et al.* 2011, Tucker *et al.* 2015). Furthermore, perinatal exposure to DE-71 (a mixture of pentaBDEs) or *in utero* exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD), atrazine metabolites or bisphenol A (BPA) also delayed gland development in both mice and rats (Markey *et al.* 2001, Fenton *et al.* 2002, Enoch *et al.* 2007, Kodavanti *et al.* 2010, Filgo *et al.* 2016). On the other hand, no alterations have been reported after perinatal exposure to dieldrin in female BALB/c mice (Foster *et al.* 2008), gestational exposure to BPA analogues accelerated mammary gland development and caused inflammation, non-neoplastic mammary lesions and spontaneous adenocarcinoma formation in CD-1 mice (Tucker *et al.* 2018), and HCB exposure increased the formation of hyperplastic mammary ducts and modulated gland development in an AHR-dependent manner in C57BL/6 mice (Miret *et al.* 2017).

The effects of chemical mixtures on mammary gland development have not been thoroughly investigated. Only a few studies have been conducted and report no modulations of gland development in Sprague-Dawley rats following neonate or *in utero* exposure to mixtures of chemicals based on POP exposures documented in the Canadian population (Desaulniers *et al.* 2001, Foster *et al.* 2004) or a mixture of PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs (Desaulniers *et al.* 2004). In addition, differences between murine strains in gland sensitivity and response have been demonstrated (Yang *et al.* 2009, Tucker *et al.* 2015), which emphasizes that caution should be taken when assessing the effects of environmental pollutants using a single strain.

Moreover, histological assessment revealed a reduction in the number of primary ovarian follicles caused by perinatal exposure to the Low dose in weaning CD-1 mice (Paper I). In addition, the numbers of antral follicles were reduced by perinatal exposure to both doses in weaning mice and non-significantly in adult mice. This suggested a delayed rate of follicle maturation, from primordial to primary and from pre-antral to antral follicles, caused by perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs.

Previous evidence has suggested that POPs can disrupt ovarian folliculogenesis by directly affecting the ovary or by modulating endocrine pathways such as signaling along the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis (Lilienthal *et al.* 2006, Talsness *et al.* 2008). After primordial follicle assembly, the initial recruitment is triggered by stimulation from intraovarian

and/or unknown factors which promotes primordial follicles growth into primary follicles (McGee and Hsueh 2000). Once triggered, the follicle continues to develop until it either undergoes atresia or reaches the preovulatory stage. The later stages of initial follicle recruitment are completely dependent on gonadotropins (e.g. luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone) secreted by the anterior pituitary in response to stimulation by gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) from the hypothalamus. In addition, the gonadotropins stimulate the production of ovarian steroid hormones, which regulates GnRH secretion and creates a negative feedback loop tightly regulating follicle maturation (Yamaji *et al.* 1972, McGee and Hsueh 2000). Due to the endocrine disrupting properties of many POPs (Gore *et al.* 2015), it is likely that perinatal exposure to the mixture disturbed the hormonal regulation of ovarian folliculogenesis (Uzumcu and Zachow 2007). However, hormone levels were not measured in the present study and, thus, the effects of the mixture directly on the endogenous signals could not be determined.

The reduced number of antral follicles could also suggest an increased rate of follicle atresia. However, the number of atretic follicles were not quantified in the present study. An increased number of atretic follicles has previously been reported following perinatal exposure to a mixture of PCB-101 and -118 in CD-1 mice (Pocar *et al.* 2011) and *in utero* exposure to PCB-126 in Sprague-Dawley rats (Muto *et al.* 2003). Increased follicle atresia can result in an acceleration of ovarian reserve depletion, induce premature ovarian failure and early onset of menopause, shortening the reproductive lifespan (Vabre *et al.* 2017, Ge *et al.* 2019). In humans, multiple OCPs, PCBs and BFRs have been associated with premature menopause (Cooper *et al.* 2002, Akkina *et al.* 2004, Knox *et al.* 2011, Taylor *et al.* 2014, Grindler *et al.* 2015). In addition, a disruption of the ovarian reserve formation, resulting in a deficient ovarian follicle pool and a reduced number of primordial follicles, can also reduce the reproductive lifespan.

Exposure to γ -HCH during the period of ovarian reserve formation reduced the number of oocytes in CD-1 fetuses (La Sala *et al.* 2009) and gestational exposure to BDE-99 or perinatal exposure to HBCD reduced the number of primordial follicles in adult rats (Lilienthal *et al.* 2006, Ema *et al.* 2008). Several studies exposing rats to single chemical (including TCDD, PCB-126, BDE-99, BDE-47, PFOA and PFOS) during early development have reported delays in ovarian follicle maturation (Heimler *et al.* 1998, Muto *et al.* 2003, Lilienthal *et al.* 2006, Shirota *et al.* 2006, Talsness *et al.* 2008, Du *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, *in utero* exposure to a mixture of PCBs (Aroclor 1016) decreased the number of preantral and antral follicles in weaning Long-Evan rats (Baldridge *et al.* 2003). On the other hand, gestational exposure to another mixture of PCBs (Aroclor 1254) increased the number of antral follicles in adult Long-Evans rats, suggesting a prolongation of this phase by postponement of atresia (Lilienthal *et al.* 2006). Increased numbers of pre-antral and antral follicles were also seen in pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to a mixture of BFRs (including PBDEs and HCBD) (Lefevre *et al.* 2016).

Altogether, the present study demonstrated possible endocrine disruption by the mixture of POPs manifesting as a restriction of mammary gland development and an alteration of ovarian folliculogenesis and possibly also follicle degeneration. Premature arrest of mammary gland growth can lead to belated or limited milk production and reduced development in offspring. Modulations of gland development may also increase the risk of cancer development. Furthermore, alterations of ovarian follicle maturation and degeneration can reduce the reproductive lifespan by inducing premature ovarian failure and menopause.

5.3 Liver morphology and function

Enhanced liver weights were seen after dietary exposure to the High dose of the POP mixture both in CD-1 (Paper I) and A/J Min mice (Paper II). However, perinatal exposure only increased the liver weights significantly in 6-week-old female offspring (Paper I, High dose only). Dietary or perinatal exposure to the Low dose did not affect the liver weights in mice (Papers I, II and III).

Histopathological assessment was conducted on liver tissue from CD-1 and A/J Min mice in Papers I and III. No pre-neoplastic or neoplastic lesions were found in either mouse strains. However, both dietary and perinatal exposure to the mixture caused a significant increase in the severity of centrilobular hepatocellular hypertrophy in CD-1 mice (Paper I). Interestingly, this pathological condition was not seen in A/J Min mice following perinatal exposure (Paper III). However, as the samples in Paper III were taken at 20 weeks of age (17 weeks after weaning and end of lactational exposure) hypertrophy of the liver cells may have been present at an earlier age but reversed prior to sampling. Normally, hepatocellular effects such as hypertrophy are resolved when the chemical causing the effect has been metabolized and excreted from the system (Maronpot *et al.* 2010). However, chemical analysis in A/J Min mice showed persistence of most POPs. A/J Min mice were only exposed to the Control and Low doses of the mixture, which may

have had too low chemical concentrations to cause hypertrophy in this strain. Interestingly, hepatocellular hypertrophy was still present in 30-week-old male CD-1 mice (27 weeks after weaning) perinatally exposed to the Low dose. Thus, the present study demonstrated strain differences in the sensitivity to perinatal POP exposure.

The ability of A/J Min mice to metabolize xenobiotics has not been characterized and, to the authors knowledge, no studies have yet been published on the difference in hepatic metabolism of POPs between WT and Min mice. However, the contribution of the *Wnt*/ β -catenin pathway to the hepatic expression of CYP isoforms including CYP1A2, CYP2A5 and CYP2E1 has been shown (Gerbal-Chaloin *et al.* 2014) and transgenic mice knockout for the *Ctnnb1* gene (encoding β -catenin) exhibit loss of or lower basal expression of CYPs (Sekine *et al.* 2006, Tan *et al.* 2006, Braeuning *et al.* 2009). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the capacity of A/J Min mice to metabolize POPs varied from that of the CD-1 mice, which may have contributed to the strain-dependent differences observed.

Furthermore, dose-dependent increases in the activities of hepatic CYP enzymes were seen after perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs in female CD-1 mice (Paper I). Of the enzymes analyzed, the enhanced activities of CYP1A1, CYP3A11 and CYP2B10 indirectly indicate activation of nuclear receptors (particularly AHR, PXR and CAR) in liver tissue. The dosedependent inductions were less prominent with time corresponding to the temporal decline in measured hepatic POP concentrations. Interestingly, the activities of CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 did not follow the same pattern of increase and were (at some points) lower in perinatally exposed mice compared to controls. This may have been caused by a reduced capacity for xenobiotic metabolism after exposure during early development, which could predispose animals to hepatotoxicity and other adverse effects at times where CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 are required for detoxification. In addition, CYP2E1 is known to generate toxic metabolites and by-products during its metabolism of xenobiotics with low molecular weights (Ioannides and Lewis 2004, Bieche et al. 2007, Porubsky et al. 2008). Thus, a reduced enzymatic capacity and metabolism of POPs by CYP2E1 may have contributed to the observed hepatocellular hypertrophy. The physiological consequences of reduced xenobiotic capacities by CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 should be further investigated.
Previously, dose-dependent induction of CYP enzymes, proteins and transcripts have been shown in rats after perinatal exposure to a mixture of PBDEs (DE-71) (Zhou *et al.* 2002, Szabo *et al.* 2008, Dunnick *et al.* 2018), a mixture of PCBs (Bonfanti *et al.* 2014), a mixture of POPs and methylmercury simulating blood levels in the Canadian Arctic population (Chu *et al.* 2008) or a mixture of POPs based on blood levels in women from the Great Lakes/St. Lawrence region (Chu *et al.* 2005). Some of these mixtures also induced hepatocellular hypertrophy (Chu *et al.* 2005, Chu *et al.* 2008, Dunnick *et al.* 2018).

Enhanced xenobiotic metabolism by CYP enzymes can generate metabolites or by-products (e.g. ROS) that are toxic to the hepatic tissue and, thus, can induce hepatotoxicity (Bondy and Naderi 1994, Ioannides and Lewis 2004, Zangar *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, hepatotoxicity may occur when liver enlargement due to hepatocellular hypertrophy and/or hyperplasia exceeds the adaptive response of enzymes (Maronpot *et al.* 2010). The hepatic effects observed after perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs (in CD-1 mice) have the characteristics of an adaptive liver response as defined by Maronpot *et al.* (2010) including dose-dependency and reversibility. However, a complete reversibility of effects was not seen in the present study and, thus, hepatotoxicity may occur at both the High and Low doses.

Hepatic carcinogenesis is another possible endpoint of perinatal exposure to the mixture as prolonged hypertrophy can favor the development of cancer. However, hypertrophy should not be considered the only predictor of cancer and, as proven by Allen *et al.* (2004), only 45% of rats exhibiting chemically induced liver hypertrophy developed cancer during a period of two years. Thus, increased enzymatic activities and hepatocellular hyperplasia are used as additional predictors of liver carcinogenesis (Allen *et al.* 2004, Maronpot *et al.* 2010). The activity of hepatic CYP enzymes was only measured in female offspring up to 9 weeks of age and no measurements of enzymatic induction was conducted on 30-week-old male offspring. Furthermore, hepatocellular hyperplasia was not seen in any of the CD-1 or A/J Min mice. Thus, it is debatable if perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs can induce hepatic carcinogenesis.

Notably, the centrilobular location of the hypertrophy seen in CD-1 mice can be explained by the zonation of CYP enzymes in liver tissue, which is highest in hepatocytes located close to the perivenous region (central vein) (Oinonen and Lindros 1998, Maronpot *et al.* 2010). Thus, this further indicated that the hypertrophy was induced by CYP metabolism of POPs.

Overall, CD-1 mice showed a higher hepatic sensitivity to the mixture of POPs compared to A/J Min mice. Furthermore, dietary exposure caused hepatocellular hypertrophy and liver enlargement while perinatal exposure caused induction of CYP enzymes and persistent hepatocellular hypertrophy leading to a concern for hepatotoxicity and possible carcinogenesis.

5.4 Colorectal cancer, intestinal microbiota and metabolome

Dietary exposure to the High dose of the POP mixture increased the number of flat ACFs in the colon of A/J Min mice (Paper II) indicating an initiation for colorectal carcinogenesis. On the other hand, the Low dose increased the number of colonic tumors suggesting a growth stimulation of already existing lesions (promotion).

The mechanisms by which POPs can initiate and/or promote CRC are many including the induction of DNA mutations (directly or indirectly), the modulation of DNA repair pathways and the induction of oxidative stress (Ludewig and Robertson 2013, IARC 2017). Song *et al.* (2014) showed CRC promotion by *p*,*p*'-DDT through the production of ROS, by inhibiting detoxifying enzymes and by reducing antioxidants levels in intestinal cells. The resulting oxidative stress prevented degradation of β -catenin and, thus, increased cell proliferation and CRC growth. Hong *et al.* (2017) also concluded that POPs can cause CRC through increasing cell proliferation and reducing antioxidant levels contributing to accumulation of ROS, oxidative stress and inflammation. However, no investigation was conducted to directly study the mechanisms of CRC initiation and promotion following dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs in the present study. Thus, further studies into the mechanistic basis of colorectal carcinogenesis by chemical mixtures are needed.

Mixtures of PCBs have been shown to induce liver and lung carcinogenesis in mice and rats alone (Ito *et al.* 1973, Mayes *et al.* 1998) or after lesion initiation by NDMA (N-nitrosodimethylamine) or 1-NP (1-Nitropropane) (Anderson *et al.* 1986, Anderson *et al.* 1994, Nakanishi *et al.* 2001). However, the effects of chemical mixtures on CRC in rodents have been very scarcely investigated and only one study demonstrated an increased formation of pre-neoplastic intestinal lesions (ACFs) in Sprague-Dawley rats (Hong *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, p,p'-DDT exposure promoted colorectal carcinogenesis in BALB/c mice injected with a suspension of the human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line DLD1 (Song *et al.* 2014). On the other hand, no CRC initiation or promotion was shown after gestational exposure to PFOS or PFOA in C57BL/6J

Min mice (Ngo *et al.* 2014). In addition, PFOS reduced intestinal tumor burden and growth in C57BL/6J Min mice and in a xenograft mouse model implanted with human colorectal lesions (Wimsatt *et al.* 2016, Wimsatt *et al.* 2018). In humans, some OCPs and PCBs have been positively correlated with CRC risk (Howsam *et al.* 2004, Lee *et al.* 2018, Abolhassani *et al.* 2019). However, no association between POP concentration and CRC was found in Egyptian patients (Abdallah *et al.* 2017).

Due to the promoting effect of the Low dose seen in Paper II, as well as the more humanly relevant POP concentrations in this dose compared to the High dose, the effect of the Low dose on CRC was investigated after perinatal exposure using A/J Min mice (Paper III). Perinatal exposure reduced the number, size and total intestinal area covered by colonic tumors indicating a decreased colorectal carcinogenesis. In addition, the exposure reduced the formation of adenomas in the colon and carcinomas in the small intestine. To the authors knowledge, this is the first study to show reduced CRC due to perinatal exposure to a mixture of POPs.

The multistep process of colorectal carcinogenesis is affected by various external factors including microbiota and intestinal metabolites. Furthermore, acquiring a diverse and balanced microbial community early in life is crucial for the development of a healthy immune system (Gagnière et al. 2016). With the advances made in omics technology, growing evidence suggest that dysbiosis of intestinal microbiota can promote chronic inflammatory conditions and produce possible carcinogenic metabolites (Sun and Kato 2016). Furthermore, the physiological changes that occur during CRC (such as changes in the intestinal barrier function and rupture of the intestinal epithelium) alter the local microbial and biochemical environment (Hirayama et al. 2009, Tjalsma et al. 2012). The presence of gut microbiota has been shown to play a vital role in the formation of CRC in Min mice (Li et al. 2012). In addition, exposures to various chemicals have been linked to microbial dysbiosis and the perturbation of multiple metabolic pathways increasing the risk of cancer development (Zackular et al. 2013, Jin et al. 2017, Zhang et al. 2017). However, there is limited understanding about the long-term effects of alterations in microbiota and metabolite composition in relation to CRC development following early-life exposure to large chemical mixtures. Thus, omics technologies were utilized in Paper III to eluate the role of microbiota and intestinal metabolites in CRC development after perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs.

Although the bacterial diversity was not affected by the POP mixture, perinatal exposure altered the composition of microbiota and metabolites in the intestine of 20-week-old A/J Min mice. The altered bacterial composition could be displayed as a significant difference in the core microbiome between control and perinatally exposed mice, as well as a difference in the relative abundance of one *Unclassified Sutterella* species. The phylum *Proteobacteria* (including the *Unclassified Sutterella* species) had a higher abundance in human adenomas and rats with DMH-induced CRC (Shen *et al.* 2010, Zhu *et al.* 2014). This species was found at a higher abundance in controls compared to perinatally exposed mice and may have been partly responsible for the higher tumor burden seen in control mice.

Furthermore, the difference in core microbiome between controls and perinatally exposed mice was visualized as a difference in ASVs between doses. The exposed mice had one ASV affiliated to the *Bilophila* genus (phylum *Proteobacteria*), one ASV affiliated to each of the *Peptococcaceae* and *Mogibacteriaceae* families, and one ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* genus that were not present in the controls. Unfortunately, identification at lower classification levels was not possible due to poor resolution of the 16S rRNA data. The *Bilophila* genus contains the bacterial species *Bilophila wadsworthia*, which may contribute to cancer initiation and promotion as it produces hydrogen sulfide that damages the intestinal barrier and causes oxidative stress (Attene-Ramos *et al.* 2006, Louis *et al.* 2014, Dahmus *et al.* 2018). However, as mice perinatally exposed to the mixture of POPs showed reduced CRC promotion, it may be possible this ASV belonged to another bacterial species within the *Bilophila* genus.

The *Peptococcaceae* and *Mogibacteriaceae* families are classified in the order *Clostridiales*, which has been shown to have a negative association with intestinal lesion burden in humans (Baxter *et al.* 2014). This association may partly be caused by the production of butyrate, the preferred source of energy by intestinal epithelial cells, by bacteria in this order. Butyrate-producing species are considered indicators of a diverse and healthy microbiota and humans with advanced CRC have less butyrate-producing bacteria compared to healthy controls (Louis *et al.* 2014, O'Keefe 2016). Thus, the ASVs affiliated to the *Clostridiales* order may have contributed to the lower colonic tumor burden observed in perinatally exposed mice.

However, butyrate may also stimulate aberrant cell proliferation under certain conditions (Roediger 1982, O'Keefe 2016). One ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* genus was seen in

perinatally exposed mice, but not in controls. This genus belongs to the subclass *Coriobacteridae*, which was shown to have a higher relative abundance in human CRC tissue (Marchesi *et al.* 2011). Furthermore, mice with a higher relative abundance of this ASV had higher levels of butyrate and trimethylamine (TMA), which both have been linked to increased CRC development (Xu *et al.* 2015, O'Keefe 2016, Thomas *et al.* 2019). Thus, the ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* genus may have contributed to the only increase in colorectal carcinogenesis observed in perinatally exposed mice, namely a larger average size of flat ACFs.

To the authors knowledge, no studies have yet been published showing long-term effects of perinatal exposure to large mixtures of POPs on gut microbiota. However, perinatal exposure to a mixture of 12 PCBs induced dysbiosis and altered the bacterial composition in 4-week-old Sv129:C57BL/6 mice (Rude *et al.* 2019). In addition, alterations of bacterial composition and function in 1-month-old human infants was associated with several POPs in breast milk (e.g. PCB-167, BDE-28, PFOS and PFOA) (Iszatt *et al.* 2019). Various mixtures of PCBs modulated microbial diversity and/or community composition in mice following direct exposure (Choi *et al.* 2013, Cheng *et al.* 2018). Furthermore, multiple studies using single POPs (including PCB-126, PCB-153, BDE-47, BDE-99, *p*, *p*'-DDE, β -HCH or PFOS) have found changes in gut microbiota that can be linked to inflammation and altered intestinal metabolism in mice (Li *et al.* 2017, Liu *et al.* 2017, Chi *et al.* 2018a, Chi *et al.* 2018b, Lai *et al.* 2018, Li *et al.* 2018, Petriello *et al.* 2018).

Notably, as gut microbiota is a complex and diverse community, it is unlikely that single bacteria are responsible for driving carcinogenesis or that a defined bacterial composition would be found in all CRC patients. On the other hand, as suggested by Zackular *et al.* (2013), an effect on the overall community involving alterations in bacterial populations and their general metabolic function may play a critical role in CRC development. Thus, modulation of whole microbial communities can dramatically alter lesion burden.

The change in intestinal metabolite composition in A/J Min mice perinatally exposed to the Low dose of POPs was visualized as an increase or decrease in specific metabolites relative to the controls. By pathway identification, the altered metabolites were connected to modulations in the metabolism of amino acids, lipids, glycerophospholipids and energy in the intestinal tissue. Alterations in the same metabolic pathways have previously been found in humans with CRC

(Zhang *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, the metabolic profiles revealed changes in essential cell membrane components and a possible perturbation of hepatic metabolism by alcohol dehydrogenase and renal xenobiotic excretion in perinatally exposed mice. Previous studies in humans and rodents have associated exposure to POPs with effects on cell membranes (O'Kane *et al.* 2013, Carrizo *et al.* 2017, Pikkarainen *et al.* 2019). The modulation of xenobiotic metabolism and excretion observed in the present study may indicate that early-life POP exposure can predispose animals to deleterious effects from chemicals that require alcohol dehydrogenase and optimal renal function.

However, it should be noted that the predictive performance of the OPLS-DA model revealing a difference in the metabolic profiles of cecal tissue between control and perinatally exposed mice should be considered relatively low ($Q^2Y = 0.1127$). This can be explained by only a small difference between doses. Consequently, if a larger difference had been found, a higher predictive performance of the model would have been obtained. However, permutation testing revealed a significant p-value (p = 0.028) and the difference in metabolite composition was accepted as valid.

Dietary exposure to a mixture of PCBs (Aroclor 1254) affected cell membranes, altered fatty acid metabolism and caused mitochondrial dysfunction in rats (Lu *et al.* 2010, O'Kane *et al.* 2013). In addition, combined PCB and phthalate (DEHP) exposure perturbed lipid, tryptophan and phenylalanine metabolism in Kunming mice (Zhang *et al.* 2012). Sprague-Dawley rats exhibited long-lasting and dose-dependent alterations in the metabolism of glycerophospholipids, amino acids and carnitines following perinatal PCB-180 exposure (Pikkarainen *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, neonate or adult exposure to BDE-209 modulated the metabolism of amino acids, carbohydrates, lipids and energy in mice and rats (Yang *et al.* 2014, Eguchi *et al.* 2016, Jung *et al.* 2016). In addition, the metabolism of energy, lipids and amino acids was altered in adult or 10-days-old C57BL/6 mice following exposure to HBCD (Wang *et al.* 2016, Szabo *et al.* 2017). Thus, previous studies have shown effects on multiple metabolic pathways due to POP exposure.

Interestingly, metabolomics was conducted on identical samples from dietary exposed A/J Min mice in Paper II and did not show any difference between the metabolic profiles of the Control and Low doses. Thus, this proved the higher sensitivity of early developmental periods, compared to exposure from weaning until adulthood, to disturbance by chemical mixtures.

After cancer induction by AOM in the second experimental section of Paper II, the initiation and promotion of colonic lesions (both flat ACF and tumors) was dramatically increased by dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs. Histopathological examinations also revealed more preneoplastic lesions, adenomas and carcinomas in the colon and cancer initiation in the small intestine. This initiation and promotion were particularly severe for mice receiving the High dose, however, a numerical increase (non-significant) from controls was seen in the Low dosed mice.

Compared to the relatively moderate effect on colorectal carcinogenesis by POPs alone, the dramatic increase in initiation and promotion indicated a synergistic interaction between AOM and the mixture. Both AOM and POPs are metabolized by CYPs (mainly in the liver), which could have resulted in an enhancement of the carcinogenic ability of both components due to alterations in the balance between detoxification and activation (Hernández *et al.* 2017). After metabolization of AOM in the liver and excretion in the bile, MAM interacts with microbiota in the intestine (Papanikolaou *et al.* 1998, Sohn *et al.* 2001). As the mixture of POPs was administered through the diet, it could also have interacted with microbiota and the intestinal biochemical environment (Jin *et al.* 2017), which could further disrupt homeostasis and cause favorable conditions for cancer initiation and promotion. However, neither CYP induction or microbial alterations were investigated in Paper II and further studies should explore the possible interactions between individual POPs and between POPs and carcinogenic compounds in the human diet and environment.

The results presented in Paper II emphasize that adverse health effects can arise from synergistic interaction between carcinogenic chemicals and POPs present in Scandinavian food products. Interestingly, AOM treatment alone showed only a promoting effect on CRC and did not initiate the formation of new lesions. A strain-dependent tumor promoting ability of AOM has been shown previously (Bissahoyo *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, the mice receiving AOM treatment and the High dose of the POP mixture had a severe lesion burden at 13 weeks of age, which may have reduced the absorption of nutrients over the intestinal wall and caused the reduction in body weight observed.

Altogether, dietary exposure to the human relevant mixture of POPs showed a modest ability to initiate and promote CRC in A/J Min mice. On the other hand, perinatal exposure to the mixture reduced colonic lesion burden possibly due to modulations of the microbial community and

intestinal metabolite composition. When combining a single treatment of AOM with the mixture of POPs, a synergistic increase in colorectal carcinogenesis was seen highlighting the possibility of adverse effects from chemical mixtures. Furthermore, early developmental periods were sensitive to disturbances from POPs, however, this may not always lead to adverse health effects later in life.

5.5 Methodological issues

5.5.1 The POP mixture

The selection of POPs for inclusion in the mixture has been described and discussed in detail by Berntsen *et al.* (2017). Importantly, POPs were chosen based on which chemicals had the highest concentrations in human food products ingested by the general Scandinavian population. Some chlorinated chemicals (including polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDD), PCDFs and the most dioxin-like PCBs (except PCB-118)) were deliberately excluded from the mixture because of their relatively high toxicity at low doses, which would have reduced the utilization of the mixture especially at the High dose. Other compounds (such as toxaphenes and endosulfan) were excluded due to limited studies on the levels of these compounds in the Scandinavian population.

The mixture aimed to include compound ratios that reflected those found in Scandinavian food products and was not based on the mode of action (MOA) of the individual chemicals. If the study population had been another than the Scandinavian population, a different composition of POPs would have been achieved as populations differentiate in their exposure to POPs by having different diets and regulations of past and present agricultural use. Furthermore, the EDI levels varied between the reported studies due to differences in sampling time (year, season etc.), diet, inclusion of food items, collection methods, questionnaires and analytical procedures. Thus, the inclusion of more studies in the concentration estimation (if available) would probably have resulted in different levels of the POPs. In addition, the strictly regulated and banned POPs have shown declining concentrations in human blood and breast milk during the last decades (Polder *et al.* 2008, Darnerud *et al.* 2015, Gebbink *et al.* 2015, Bjerregaard-Olesen *et al.* 2016, Bjerregaard-Olesen *et al.* 2017). Consequently, several EDI levels may be lower at present time compared to the time of mixture creation.

Differences in xenobiotic metabolism between humans and mice may confound extrapolation of mixture effects onto human health (Walton *et al.* 2001, Martignoni *et al.* 2006, European Commision 2010). Furthermore, Berntsen *et al.* (2017) discovered that feed companies allow for the use of relatively high POP concentrations in rodent feed. Thus, the EDI levels were increased with 5 000x for the Low dose. This dose was again increased 20-fold to create a High dose that would distinguish from the Low dose in murine tissues. Financial limitations restricted the creation of more doses. Importantly, other studies using similar POP mixtures also encounter the same problems when choosing compounds and concentrations. Thus, no estimated human relevant mixture will ever completely portray the complex exposure scenarios and continuously varying mixture concentrations to the best of their abilities. In addition, the mixture of POPs included a relatively large number of compounds, making it more humanly relevant compared to mixtures with less POPs. Hence, without forgetting the weakness of mixture estimation, it should be considered relevant to humans.

Furthermore, Berntsen *et al.* (2017) analyzed the chemical concentrations in the Control, Low and High doses to verify the presence or absence, as well as the levels of POPs, in feed. The measured concentrations varied from the desired nominal concentrations due to loss of chemicals during preparation or analytical difficulty in chemical analysis. In addition, HCB was detected in the Control dose and the reference feed possibly due to contamination of corn oil (Berntsen *et al.* 2017). Lastly, the POP mixture was incorporated into mouse feed formulated by the American Institute of Nutrition (AIN) in 1993 (AIN-93G) for gestating and growing rodents (Reeves *et al.* 1993). Thus, the nutrient and energy composition of feed was ideal for studies involving perinatal or developmental exposures.

5.5.2 Murine models

As previously mentioned, mice are commonly used when studying a large variety of chemically induced health effects and multiple outbred and inbred strains with different characteristics are available. However, when the goal is to extrapolate the effects onto humans, it is important to consider the dissimilarities in metabolism, sensitivity, mechanism of action, latency period and environment between mice and humans (European Commision 2010, Patisaul *et al.* 2018).

Furthermore, the value of results should be weighed against the use of laboratory animals and excellent care standards are needed to optimize results (Workman *et al.* 2010).

The CD-1 mouse

As an outbred strain, the CD-1 mouse yield results with a relatively large variability. However, this strain produces large litters and has an excellent maternal behavior enabling the survival of most, if not all, pups (Patisaul *et al.* 2018). Furthermore, it has been much used to study the effects of EDCs on mammary gland development (White *et al.* 2007, White *et al.* 2009, Macon *et al.* 2011, White *et al.* 2011, Tucker *et al.* 2015, Tucker *et al.* 2018) and the similarities and dissimilarities between murine and human mammary gland development have been established previously (IBCERCC 2013). The CD-1 mouse strain has also been used to study the effects on reproductive and developmental health of early-life exposure to single chemicals or mixtures of POPs (Lau *et al.* 2003, Thibodeaux *et al.* 2003, Lau *et al.* 2006, Wolf *et al.* 2007, Pocar *et al.* 2011). Moreover, this strain was relatively sensitive to developmental PFOA exposure compared to the inbred C57BL/6 strain (Tucker *et al.* 2015) and, thus, it was chosen to explore the effects of the mixture of POPs on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver in Paper I.

The A/J Min mouse

GEM models with germline mutations in the *Apc* gene are of interest when studying the risk and susceptibility of CRC to environmental factors (Zeineldin and Neufeld 2013) and several models have been developed (including the Min mouse model (Moser *et al.* 1990, Sødring *et al.* 2016)). The germline *Apc* mutation in the Min mouse is particularly relevant for humans with FAP. However, this GEM model can also be used to study sporadic CRC as mutations in *Apc* is apparent in approximately 80% of cases (Fearnhead *et al.* 2001, Fodde 2002). The A/J strain with a germline mutation in *Apc* develops intestinal lesions with a phenotype similar to humans. In addition, the A/J Min mouse has a longer life expectancy, compared to the traditional C57BL/6 Min mouse model, and carcinomas develop in 100% of animals (Sødring *et al.* 2016). Both the A/J and the C57BL/6 strains are inbred and the use of inbred laboratory mice in cancer research is favorable due to a high homozygosity of gene loci (a minimum of 98.6% at 20 generations of inbreed), which decreases variability and increases reproducibility of results (Beck *et al.* 2000). The A/J Min mouse model has previously been used to study the effects of dietary fibers, various

meats and hemin (with or without nitrite) on colorectal carcinogenesis (Sødring *et al.* 2015, Moen *et al.* 2016, Steppeler *et al.* 2017). However, no studies have yet investigated the effects of POPs on CRC in this model.

5.5.3 Exposure regimes

Administration of POPs through diet *ad libitum* is a non-invasive method of exposure that causes little stress to the animals. In addition, it is a realistic exposure scenario for humans as the main route of POP exposure occurs through ingestion (Djien Liem *et al.* 2000, Trudel *et al.* 2008). Administration of chemicals by gavage would have secured equal dosing of animals, however, gavage induces stress that can negatively affect sensitive strains. The A/J Min mouse appeared sensitive to stress during breeding, which resulted in bad maternal behavior and cannibalism of pups. Thus, administration through diet was favorable compared to more invasive methods of exposure. However, as no determination of feed intake was conducted, individual mice may have consumed unequal doses of the POP mixture, which may further have resulted in a high variability of results. Thus, large group sizes were required to detect differences between doses and minor effects may have been overlooked.

POPs are known to be transferred from mothers to offspring, thus, enabling the possibility of a combined *in utero* and lactational exposure scenario. Oral gavage of neonate mice with the mixture of POPs could have been conducted in Papers I and III to ensure identical exposure levels. However, perinatal exposure was considered a more realistic scenario in which exposure would occur during multiple critical periods of development. Notably, the competition between offspring for milk resulted in an earlier start of solid food intake for some pups and, thus, POP exposure may have occurred partly by nibbling to feed prior to weaning.

Furthermore, it is important to note that the inclusion of more than one round of mating, gestation and lactation on the dietary exposed A/J WT dams in Paper III may have contributed to a higher exposure concentration of POPs with long half-lives for offspring produced by the second and third rounds, compared to offspring born from the first mating. However, due to unknown factors, the first round of mating produced very few offspring with the Min/+ genotype and the decision was made to include additional rounds of mating, pregnancy and lactation on the dietary exposed A/J WT dams to increase the number of replicates. In Paper I, only one round of mating was included on the CD-1 dams. However, the dose of POPs transferred from mothers to offspring is dependent on both maternal concentration and litter size. A standardization of the litter size could have been conducted shortly after birth to reduce variance in individual POP exposure through lactation. However, this would have reduced the overall number of replicates within each dose and was, therefore, not conducted.

As the High dose of the mixture alone increased the liver weight and decreased the body weight of A/J Min mice in Paper II, and because the Low dose represented a more realistic human exposure scenario compared to the High dose, only the Low and Control doses were used in Paper III. However, this limited the confidence in results and, thus, it can be argued that the High dose should also have been included in Paper III. Moreover, only a limited number of perinatally exposed offspring was obtained in Paper III, which by randomness did not show an even distribution between genders within the Min/+ and +/+ traits. The decision to pool genders was made to provide a larger number of replicates within each dose and because previous studies have shown no differences between genders in the formation or progression of CRC in the A/J Min mouse model (Sødring et al. 2016, Steppeler et al. 2017). However, the colonic tumor load was higher in males compared to female A/J Min mice in the study by Moen *et al.* (2016) and, thus, the pooling of genders within doses could have concealed gender-specific differences in CRC in Papers II and III. Furthermore, the response in intestinal metabolite composition to POP exposure has been shown to vary between genders (Merhi et al. 2010, Zhang et al. 2012, Pikkarainen et al. 2019). Hence, future studies should include more replicates as to enable the investigation of effects in males and females separately.

Moreover, the development of a microbial community is dependent on maternal effects and may vary between cages and litters (Goodrich *et al.* 2014). Thus, randomization of pups should have been conducted shortly after birth to reduce confounding effects in microbiota (of particular interest in Paper III). However, as some murine strains are easily stressed during nursing, randomization could also have resulted in bad maternal behavior and reduced the number of replicates.

In Paper II, the exposure regime included a non-random division of mice between the two experimental sections. This prevented statistical analysis between sections and future studies should completely randomize recruitment into untreated and AOM-treated groups. In addition, all groups not treated with AOM should receive an injection of saline solution as to inflict the

same amount of stress onto all mice. AOM was used to decrease the latency period of CRC development in A/J Min mice of the second experimental section. A high mortality was observed shortly after AOM injection and 1-2 weeks prior to starting on the POPs diet. Thus, mortality was not caused by the mixture. Previous studies have used two consecutive injections of AOM at doses up to 10 mg/kg in young A/J Min mice (Paulsen *et al.* 2006, Moen *et al.* 2016). As only one injection of 8.5 mg AOM/kg body weight was included in Paper II, the cause of the high lethality is unknown. A higher number of replicates in the second experimental section would have been preferred and would possibly have resulted in a significant difference in CRC between the Control and Low doses.

5.5.4 Histological techniques

Evaluation of mammary glands

Mammary gland development is typically evaluated through basic measurements including counting of structures (e.g. TEBs) and observations of morphological characteristics (scoring of development). These measurements vary with the experience and interpretation of the evaluator and are not properly blinded to treatment as a baseline for gland development needs to be established prior to evaluation. In Paper I, mammary gland development was initially conducted by two evaluators, each repeating the evaluation three times for each whole mount. However, as the evaluators were not initially blinded to the Control dose and had little experience in mammary gland assessment the results should be interpreted with caution.

Stanko *et al.* (2015) emphasized that standardized methods for assessing rodent mammary gland development were needed in order to accurately compare results from different laboratories and research groups, and a method for quantifying branching density on 2D images of mammary gland whole mounts from rodents was established (Stanko *et al.* 2015, Stanko and Fenton 2017). This method is based on the Sholl method originally developed for assessing the branching patterns in dendritic cells (Sholl 1953). However, as mammary glands display the same tree-like structure as neurons, Stanko *et al.* (2015) proposed that this method could also be used for measuring mammary epithelial branching. The Sholl analysis uses skeletonized images in ImageJ (Schindelin *et al.* 2012) and a plugin that counts the number of intersections occuring in a series of concentric rings streching out from a predefined center (the mammary gland base). Epithelial

branching density is calculated by dividing the number of intersections by the epitheial area (not including the lymph node).

The Sholl analysis is a suitable method for quantitatively assessing the mammary epithelial branching in rodents in response to EDC exposure and origianlly described for the peripubertal rat mammary gland (Stanko et al. 2015). However, the method has also been conducted on mammary glands from CD-1 mice (Tucker et al. 2018) and does not require specialized microscopy equipment or expensive imaging software. In Paper I, a Sholl analysis was used on mammary gland whole mounts blinded to dose. It was important that the entire gland epithelium was present and equally stretched onto the charged microscope slide. Thus, torn or damaged whole mounts were not included in the analysis and an inexperience in whole mount preparation may have obscured the results. Additional quality assurance aspects described in Stanko et al. (2015) were followed and the method of whole mount preparation was conducted in accordance with Davis and Fenton (2013). As murine mammary glands do not grow as dense as rat glands, Stanko et al. (2015) proposed that the method could be used on whole mounts from mice at all ages. However, Tucker et al. (2018) found it very difficult to perform the method on mammary glands from CD-1 mice of > 3 months of age due to an extensive growth and density of the epithelium. The whole mounts from 9-week-old mice in the present study exhibited complex and sometimes very dense epithelial structures. Thus, more time had to be invested in the image processing, but it was possible to conduct the analysis.

To the authors knowledge, other standardized methods for qualitatively assessing mammary gland development without the use of commercial software and/or specialized microscopy equipment are lacking. Thus, the Sholl analysis was chosen due to its low cost and the availability of a detailed description (Stanko *et al.* 2015, Stanko and Fenton 2017). However, this method was conducted by a different evaluator than those assessing mammary gland development and counting the number of TEBs. Thus, differences in results could have been achieved due to personal differences in evaluation.

Evaluation of ovarian follicles

When investigating alterations in ovarian folliculogenesis, it was important to count the number of follicles blinded to dose. Furthermore, the final follicle numbers were relative to the counting procedure and did not represent the total number of follicles in the ovaries of female CD-1 mice

in Paper I. Thus, caution should be taken when comparing the follicle counts in the present study to those reported in other studies using different procedures. It can be argued that the fractionator technique (Gundersen *et al.* 1988) should have been applied to estimate a total number of follicles per examined ovary (as conducted in Pocar *et al.* (2011) and Tomic *et al.* (2002)). However, as this technique would involve multiplying all counts with the same number, the overall difference between doses would be the same as by not applying the technique.

In the present study, the ovarian follicles were categorized as described by Flaws *et al.* (2001). Other methods of follicle categorization are possible, such as by determining the follicle category based on granulosa cell numbers (Pedersen and Peters 1968) rather than follicle appearance, or by classifying the pre-antral and antral follicles according to size (Heimler *et al.* 1998, Baldridge *et al.* 2003). In addition, pre-antral and antral follicles have been defined as secondary and tertiary follicles, respectively (Lilienthal *et al.* 2006, Du *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, atretic follicles or corpus luteum were not counted in the present study, and no measures were taken to promote estrous cycle homogeneity in offspring. Thus, future studies should include an assessment of atretic follicles and corpus luteum, vaginal cytology and necropsy of mice in estrus, and the evaluation of both ovaries from all mice.

5.5.5 CYP activity

The analysis of CYPs can be conducted on mRNA, protein or activity corresponding to the transcriptional, translational or catalytical levels, respectively. As mRNA is the source of protein content and enzymatic activity, similarities in response to xenobiotic exposure could be expected. However, discrepancies between mRNA and CYP activity levels have been shown previously (Li *et al.* 2017) and can be caused by post-transcriptional modification that inhibits mRNA translation into protein. The catalytic activity using model substrates is commonly used to determine modulation in CYP activity caused by xenobiotic exposure. However, this method is vulnerable to overlapping substrates, which makes it difficult to select a substrate that is exclusively metabolized by only one CYP enzyme. For instance, pentoxyresorufin can be used as a substrate for CYP2B10 in mice and CYP2B6 in humans, and methoxyresorufin is catalyzed by both CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 in mice (reviewed in Hrycay and Bandiera (2009)). Furthermore, differences in CYP expression patterns, regulation and activity has been documented between mouse strains (Hrycay and Bandiera 2009). In the present study, substrates were chosen to

investigate differences between doses for CYP enzymes known to be involved in murine xenobiotic metabolism and commonly used as biomarkers for AHR, CAR and PXR activation (Whitlock 1990, Hrycay and Bandiera 2009, Tolson and Wang 2010). However, comparisons between results at different biochemical levels and between different strains and species should be conducted with caution.

5.5.6 Omics techniques

Metabolomics

Metabolomics/metabonomics provides a 'top-down' approach to the biochemical environment of a complex organism and monitors the global outcome of all influences on the system (Nicholson and Lindon 2008). As previously described, NMR spectroscopy and MS are the analytical techniques most commonly used in metabolomics. These techniques can be considered complimentary, rather than alternatives, with the ability to extract large amounts of information from a small volume of sample (Claus and Swann 2013). ¹H NMR spectroscopy measures all molecules containing hydrogen in a sample and yields NMR spectra containing a vast amount of information. This can be done without any prior knowledge of metabolite composition or concentration, and with only minor treatment of the sample prior to analysis. On the other hand, MS is generally more sensitive than NMR. However, some metabolites may give varying responses between experiments, which can be misleading. Furthermore, the metabolite separation in MS disrupts the molecular structures and interactions between molecules in the sample cannot be identified (Nicholson and Lindon 2008). Thus, the NMR technique was chosen for the present study. However, MS could possibly have been conducted as an additional measurement to confirm metabolites identified by NMR.

The NMR analysis utilized in the present study was able to detect relative differences in metabolite composition between perinatally exposed and control mice. Unfortunately, this method is relatively insensitive for metabolites in the ranges just about the detection limit and large degrees of spectral overlap could occur (Claus and Swann 2013). Thus, several metabolites may not have been identified as their presence was masked by baseline noise or other spectral peaks. Furthermore, NMR spectroscopy was conducted on cecal tissue and content, which may have had a different metabolite composition compared to the colon and small intestine. However, as the other parts of the intestine were fixated in formalin and used for surface microscopy,

metabolomics was only possible on the remaining intestinal tissue; the cecum. Thus, the metabolic differences seen in cecal tissue should be further confirmed in samples from colon and small intestine.

Gut microbiota

In addition to 16S rRNA gene sequencing, 'shotgut' metagenomic sequencing can be conducted to study the collective microbial genome. Metagenomics sequences the whole genome in all microorganisms without selecting for a particular gene (Scholz *et al.* 2016). This method yields a more detailed overview of the target environment compared to 16S rRNA sequencing. However, it requires a high read count and a reference genome for classification, it may incorrectly identify reads from the host, and it is relatively expensive (Breitwieser *et al.* 2019, Wang *et al.* 2019). On the other hand, 16S rRNA gene sequencing is a fast and cost-effective method that identifies numerous bacteria. Even though this method has some amplification bias, which may prevent identification at low taxonomic levels, it is desirable due to rRNA databases (such as Greengenes) that contain genes from millions of bacterial species (Breitwieser *et al.* 2019). Thus, 16S rRNA gene sequencing was used in the present study.

Following 16S rRNA sequencing, the reads were clustered into ASVs. The traditional method of 16S rRNA clustering is by categorization in operational taxonomic units (OTUs). The OTU method selects a radius of typically 3% variation in sequences that is assumed to be caused by noise (error) or variability within the taxonomic group. All sequences within this 3% radius are clustered as the same OTU (Caruso *et al.* 2019). On the other hand, clustering into ASVs does not make any assumptions about the variability of sequences. Instead, the method attempts to model the error and to cluster reads consistently with the error model. Thus, ASVs can improve the sensitivity and specificity of 16S rRNA gene sequences and can cluster sequences into units that vary with only one base pair (Callahan *et al.* 2017, Caruso *et al.* 2019).

5.5.7 Statistical methods

As several of the replicates in the present study cannot be considered completely independent (mainly due to litter effects), statistical methods should have taken this possible clustering effect into account. Furthermore, correlations between variables may have been overlooked and, thus, regression models (also including random effects) could potentially have been conducted on more

of the data. In addition, it was important to choose methods that corrected for the overall experiment wise error rate (type I error).

During the evaluation of effects on CRC, it was important to choose an experimental period that avoided type II errors during statistical analyses. A prolongation of the period may have led to larger differences between groups. However, this would have raised ethical concerns for animal welfare. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, the replicate numbers should have been increased to account for the high variability observed and to increase statistical power.

In Papers I and III, chemical concentrations below LOD were replaced with LOD for inclusion in the sums and statistical analysis. This may have resulted in an overestimation of the chemicals present, which further could have led to an overestimation of the descriptive statistics (mean, median, etc.). Other approaches for replacement of LOD values includes replacement with a distribution, ¹/₂ LOD or 0, however, the latter of these methods will lead to underestimation of the chemical concentrations (Baccarelli *et al.* 2005, Donders *et al.* 2006). Importantly, non-detectable levels are connected to a high degree of uncertainty and the method of replacement should be evaluated and described for each data set.

Multivariate methods for metabolomics

Metabolomics captures an extensive amount of molecular information from one sample and, thus, multivariate statistical methods are needed to extract latent metabolic information (Eriksson *et al.* 2004, Claus and Swann 2013). These techniques fall into two groups: the unsupervised clustering methods and the supervised methods. The unsupervised methods do not need any information about the data prior to analysis and includes PCA, which attempts to find a small set of variables that explains most of the variation in the data set. PCA further summarizes the multidimensional data into a few principal components that can be visualized to identify trends, groupings, outliers and metabolites (Trygg *et al.* 2007).

On the other hand, the supervised methods use information about the group membership of each sample to make predictions about the data set. One commonly used supervised technique is the partial least squares (PLS) analysis. This is a regression extension of PCA that includes two matrices (X and Y) in which it aims to estimate individually and to quantify the relationship between. In addition, PLS can be used in discriminant analysis (DA) where the Y matrix contains information about treatment, group or gender, depending on the question to be answered. Thus,

PLS-DA can be used to separate the multidimensional data into classes by focusing on maximum separation ('discrimination') rather than maximum variation (Eriksson *et al.* 2004, Trygg *et al.* 2007). However, the PLS model is affected by systematic variation in X that is not related to the Y matrix, which may make the interpretation of metabolites from model plots problematic. Thus, the OPLS-DA method was developed as a modification of the PLS technique where it separates the systematic variation in X into variation that is either linearly related or unrelated (orthogonal) to Y. Only the linearly related variation is then used for modelling Y. Hence, the OPLD-DA model can separate variation between classes from the variation within classes, something PLS-DA is not able to do (Trygg *et al.* 2007).

PCA is recommended as a starting point for multivariate analysis as it rapidly provides an overview of the data set and, thus, it was applied in the present study. Furthermore, as the metabolomics data could be classified into exposed and control samples, OPLS-DA was used to simplify interpretation and to find differentially abundant metabolites. As this method is not sensitive to systematic variation, it was the recommended technique in the present two-class problem.

However, all these multivariate techniques must be able to cope with noise, correlations and missing data as well as biological and experimental variation. Variability in NMR peak shifts may cause problems for the statistical analysis. Thus, peak alignment was conducted (Trygg *et al.* 2007). Other methods for pre-processing data prior to statistical analysis are also available and include centering, scaling, transforming, expanding and correcting signals. Furthermore, prior to any data treatment, the experiment should be designed in the most optimal way to extract the information needed to answer the questions asked (Eriksson *et al.* 2004).

Methods for analyzing microbial diversity

Microbial diversity can be estimated within (i.e. alpha diversity) and between samples (i.e. beta diversity). The beta diversity is considered relatively robust to issues of low sequence counts and noise and may reveal differences in microbial communities where alpha diversity does not show a difference (Goodrich *et al.* 2014). In the present study, the beta diversity was assessed using the qualitative unweighted UniFrac method which was purely based on the calculated distances between samples in their ASV composition. The distance metric generated by the UniFrac method can be further subjected to statistical testing. In addition, PCoA is commonly used on

microbial data sets and summarizes the beta diversity relationships (community compositional differences) between samples (Goodrich *et al.* 2014). Lastly, statistical tests can be conducted on the relative abundances of bacterial species, genera, families, orders, classes and phyla. However, as the abundances sum up to 1, standard statistical tests (e.g. t-test and ANOVA) are not appropriate and an ANCOM test should be used instead (Mandal *et al.* 2015).

5.6 Mouse-to-human translation

When determining human causality between a presumed cause and an observed effect, human data is considered the most valid metric (Guzelian *et al.* 2005, James *et al.* 2015). Only when human data is insufficient to answer the specific question, regulatory risk assessment could derive their health-protective guidelines from animal studies. However, when human causality is only based on non-human data, an unknown degree of uncertainty is introduced into the hazard and risk estimations. Thus, animal data should only be judged cautiously and not as the tipping point when reaching a conclusion on human causation (James *et al.* 2015).

The question of whether results acquired from animal-based models are predictive of adverse effects in humans is very important. As put forth in the evidence-based toxicology framework, animal data should be used as supporting information when identifying the mechanisms linking cause and effect (the Hill criteria of plausibility (Hill 1965)) and to facilitate future epidemiological and mechanistic studies (James *et al.* 2015). Thus, the results presented herein should be used to inspire future research on chemical mixture effects, preferably at low and human relevant concentrations, and to facilitate mechanistic investigations into the complex process of colorectal carcinogenesis.

During animal-to-human translation, the translational success rate can be determined by the construct, internal and external validity. The construct validity refers to the ability of the test to measure what it claims to be measuring, which is dependent on the disease in question, the animal model and the animal welfare during the experiment (Bailoo *et al.* 2014). In the present study, murine models were chosen based on their high sensitivity to endocrine disturbances during mammary gland development and their high similarity in CRC development to humans. However, the intrinsic differences in physiology, genetics, epigenetics and molecular biology between humans and mice should not be forgotten.

Internal validity focuses on optimizing the study design, conduct, analysis and reporting to eliminate the possibility of bias (Bailoo et al. 2014). Thus, the translation success rate of the present study was affected by the suboptimal experimental designs discussed previously. Lastly, external validity extends beyond the experimental setting and wish to generalize the results to other environmental conditions and other species of animals (including humans). The present study did not include a systematic variation in murine characteristics and environmental conditions and was, thus, not designed to optimize the external validity (Bailoo et al. 2014, Pound and Ritskes-Hoitinga 2018). Instead, the present study wished to follow the golden standard of experimental design by keeping all factors constant except for the independent variable under investigation. The murine models chosen were generally uniform (at the same age and weight) and other environmental conditions were kept as constant as possible. However, this homogenization compromised the external validity and consequently also the translational success rate. Furthermore, questions should be raised regarding the reproducibility of results as highly standardized and homogenized conditions may reveal conclusions that are only valid under the specific conditions and laboratory environment used (Richter et al. 2009, Bailoo et al. 2014). Thus, the mouse-to-human translational ability of the present study is debatable and further studies are needed to increase the external validity and reproducibility of results.

6 General conclusions

This thesis expands current knowledge on effects of POP mixtures relevant for human consumption. After absorption, distribution, maternal transfer and accumulation, the human relevant mixture of POPs restricted female mammary gland development, decreased ovarian follicle maturation and possibly increased ovarian follicle atresia in CD-1 mice. Strain-dependent differences in hepatic response to exposure was seen between CD-1 and A/J Min mice and sensitive murine strains may be inclined to develop hepatotoxicity due to prolongation of cellular hypertrophy and enzymatic induction. Dietary exposure moderately increased colorectal carcinogenesis in the A/J Min mouse model. Interestingly, contradictory effects were seen after perinatal exposure where the mixture reduced carcinogenesis possibly by modifying the intestinal biochemical and microbial environment. Thus, POP exposure during early development reduced the adversity of the predetermined cancer condition. Lastly, dietary exposure after AOM treatment resulted in a synergistic interaction between AOM and POPs which drastically increased cancer development. Overall, the results of the present study can facilitate future mechanistic investigations into how human relevant chemical mixtures may affect biological development and function.

7 Future perspectives

The present study provides a basis for future studies into the mechanistic basis of colorectal carcinogenesis and developmental effects caused by exposure to chemical mixtures. However, the fact that mixture composition and chemical concentrations is highly complex in the context of human exposure presents an extensive challenge when defining what is human relevant and to find animal models with sufficiently high validity and translational value.

There is a need for the use of *in vitro* models to elucidate the mechanistical aspects of colorectal carcinogenesis in relation to chemical exposure. These models may include organoids derived from murine or human intestinal stem cells which generate self-organizing 3D structures that mimic the architecture, function and genetic signature of the original tissue (Sato *et al.* 2009, Sato *et al.* 2011, Dutta *et al.* 2017). Colorectal carcinogenesis can be modelled in organoids using gene manipulation techniques, such as CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing that introduce mutations into *APC*, *KRAS*, *TRP53* or *PIK3CA*, or by generating organoids from cancerous tissue (Sachs and Clevers 2014, Matano *et al.* 2015). Thus, the effects of POPs directly on the cancer process can be examined in intestinal organoids. Furthermore, direct chemical interaction (possibly leading to synergism) between individual POPs or between POPs and other carcinogenic agents can be studied directly on the target tissue.

To further study the possible beneficial effects of microbiota and metabolome on the intestinal health, specific bacteria or bacteria-derived metabolites can be introduced into the *in vitro* organoid environment. However, studying the effects of anaerobic microbes on organoids is challenging as organoids growth under oxygenated conditions. In addition, organoids do not encompass the total environment of the *in vivo* intestine including a complex microbial community and interactions with stroma, muscle, blood and immune cells (Dutta *et al.* 2017). Thus, specific bacteria can also be introduced into the intestinal environment of germfree mice. Both these *in vitro* and *in vivo* models can further be treated with human relevant chemical mixtures during microbial modulation to investigate the interaction between microbiota and POPs on intestinal health.

Lastly, it would be of interest to study how exposures to POPs during early life may have physiological consequences for xenobiotic metabolism and chemical sensitivity, and to characterize the basal enzymatic expression patterns of A/J Min compared to WT mice.

References

Abdallah, M. A.-E., Zaky, A. H. and Covaci, A. (2017). Levels and profiles of organohalogenated contaminants in human blood from Egypt. *Chemosphere* **176**: 266-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.02.139

Abolhassani, M., Asadikaram, G., Paydar, P., Fallah, H., Aghaee-Afshar, M., Moazed, V., Akbari, H., Moghaddam, S. D. and Moradi, A. (2019). Organochlorine and organophosphorous pesticides may induce colorectal cancer; a case-control study. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **178**: 168-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.04.030

Akkina, J. E., Reif, J. S., Keefe, T. J. and Bachand, A. M. (2004). Age at natural menopause and exposure to organochlorine pesticides in Hispanic women. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* 67: 1407-1422. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490483845

Allen, D. G., Pearse, G., Haseman, J. K. and Maronpot, R. R. (2004). Prediction of rodent carcinogenesis: an evaluation of prechronic liver lesions as forecasters of liver tumors in NTP carcinogenicity studies. *Toxicologic Pathology* **32**: 393-401. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230490440934

Alturkistani, H. A., Tashkandi, F. M. and Mohammedsaleh, Z. M. (2015). Histological stains: a literature review and case study. *Global Journal of Health Science* **8**: 72-79. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v8n3p72

AMAP. (1997). Arctic pollution issues: a state of the arctic environment report. Arctic monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. xii+188 pp.

AMAP. (2015a). Summary for policy-makers: arctic pollution issues 2015. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. 1-12 pp.

AMAP. (2015b). AMAP Assessment 2015: Human Health in the Arctic. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. 1-165 pp.

Ames, B. N. (1979). Identifying environmental chemicals causing mutations and cancer. *Science* **204**: 587-593. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.373122

Amir, A., McDonald, D., Navas-Molina, J. A., Kopylova, E., Morton, J. T., Zech Xu, Z., Kightley, E. P., Thompson, L. R., Hyde, E. R., Gonzalez, A. and Knight, R. (2017). Deblur rapidly resolves single-nucleotide community sequence patterns. *mSystems* **2**: e00191-00116. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00191-16

Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A. B., Sundaram, C., Harikumar, K. B., Tharakan, S. T., Lai, O. S., Sung, B. and Aggarwal, B. B. (2008). Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmaceutical Research* **25**: 2097-2116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9661-9

Anderson, L. M., Logsdon, D., Ruskie, S., Fox, S. D., Issaq, H. J., Kovatch, R. M. and Riggs, C. M. (1994). Promotion by polychlorinated biphenyls of lung and liver tumors in mice. *Carcinogenesis* **15**: 2245-2248. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/15.10.2245

Anderson, L. M., Ward, J.-O. M., Fox, S. D., Isaaq, H. J. and Riggs, C. W. (1986). Effects of a single dose of polychlorinated biphenyls to infant mice on N-nitrosodimethylamine-initiated lung and liver tumors. *International Journal of Cancer* **38**: 109-116. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910380118

Armitage, P. and Doll, R. (1954). The age distribution of cancer and a multi-stage theory of carcinogenesis. *British Journal of Cancer* 8: 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.1954.1

Arrebola, J. P., Belhassen, H., Artacho-Cordón, F., Ghali, R., Ghorbel, H., Boussen, H., Perez-Carrascosa, F. M., Expósito, J., Hedhili, A. and Olea, N. (2015). Risk of female breast cancer and serum concentrations of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls: a case–control study in Tunisia. *Science of The Total Environment* **520**: 106-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.045

ATSDR. (2005). Toxicological profile for alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and delta-hexachlorocyclohexane. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp43.pdf

Attene-Ramos, M. S., Wagner, E. D., Plewa, M. J. and Gaskins, H. R. (2006). Evidence that hydrogen sulfide is a genotoxic agent. *Molecular Cancer Research* **4**: 9-14. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-05-0126

Baccarelli, A., Pfeiffer, R., Consonni, D., Pesatori, A. C., Bonzini, M., Patterson, D. G., Bertazzi, P. A. and Landi, M. T. (2005). Handling of dioxin measurement data in the presence of non-detectable values: overview of available methods and their application in the Seveso chloracne study. *Chemosphere* **60**: 898-906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.01.055

Bailoo, J. D., Reichlin, T. S. and Würbel, H. (2014). Refinement of experimental design and conduct in laboratory animal research. *ILAR Journal* **55**: 383-391. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar/ilu037

Baldridge, M. G., Stahl, R. L., Gerstenberger, S. L., Tripoli, V. and Hutz, R. J. (2003). Modulation of ovarian follicle maturation in Long-Evans rats exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) *in-utero* and lactationally. *Reproductive Toxicology* **17**: 567-573. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0890-6238(03)00095-9

Barker, N. (2014). Adult intestinal stem cells: critical drivers of epithelial homeostasis and regeneration. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **15**: 19-33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3721

Barrett, J. C. (1993). Mechanisms of multistep carcinogenesis and carcinogen risk assessment. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **100**: 9-20. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.931009

Baxter, N. T., Zackular, J. P., Chen, G. Y. and Schloss, P. D. (2014). Structure of the gut microbiome following colonization with human feces determines colonic tumor burden. *Microbiome* **2**: 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-2618-2-20 Beck, J. A., Lloyd, S., Hafezparast, M., Lennon-Pierce, M., Eppig, J. T., Festing, M. F. W. and Fisher, E. M. C. (2000). Genealogies of mouse inbred strains. *Nature Genetics* 24: 23-25. https://doi.org/10.1038/71641

Beckonert, O., Keun, H. C., Ebbels, T. M., Bundy, J., Holmes, E., Lindon, J. C. and Nicholson, J. K. (2007). Metabolic profiling, metabolomic and metabonomic procedures for NMR spectroscopy of urine, plasma, serum and tissue extracts. *Nature Protocols* **2**: 2692-2703. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.376

Bernert, J. T., Turner, W. E., Patterson, D. G. and Needham, L. L. (2007). Calculation of serum "total lipid" concentrations for the adjustment of persistent organohalogen toxicant measurements in human samples. *Chemosphere* **68**: 824-831. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.02.043

Berntsen, H. F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E. and Zimmer, K. E. (2017). The design of an environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* **80**: 1002-1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1354439

Bieche, I., Narjoz, C., Asselah, T., Vacher, S., Marcellin, P., Lidereau, R., Beaune, P. and de Waziers, I. (2007). Reverse transcriptase-PCR quantification of mRNA levels from cytochrome (CYP)1, CYP2 and CYP3 families in 22 different human tissues. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* **17**: 731-742. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e32810f2e58

Bird, R. P. (1987). Observation and quantification of aberrant crypts in the murine colon treated with a colon carcinogen: preliminary findings. *Cancer Letters* **37**: 147-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3835(87)90157-1

Bissahoyo, A., Pearsall, R. S., Hanlon, K., Amann, V., Hicks, D., Godfrey, V. L. and Threadgill, D. W. (2005). Azoxymethane is a genetic background-dependent colorectal tumor initiator and promoter in mice: effects of dose, route, and diet. *Toxicological Sciences* **88**: 340-345. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi313

Bjerregaard-Olesen, C., Bach, C. C., Long, M., Ghisari, M., Bossi, R., Bech, B. H., Nohr, E. A., Henriksen, T. B., Olsen, J. and Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. C. (2016). Time trends of perfluorinated alkyl acids in serum from Danish pregnant women 2008–2013. *Environment International* **91**: 14-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.02.010

Bjerregaard-Olesen, C., Long, M., Ghisari, M., Bech, B. H., Nohr, E. A., Uldbjerg, N., Henriksen, T. B., Olsen, J. and Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. C. (2017). Temporal trends of lipophilic persistent organic pollutants in serum from Danish nulliparous pregnant women 2011–2013. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **24**: 16592-16603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8992-7

Bogdal, C., Scheringer, M., Abad, E., Abalos, M., van Bavel, B., Hagberg, J. and Fiedler, H. (2013). Worldwide distribution of persistent organic pollutants in air, including results of air monitoring by passive air sampling in five continents. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* **46**: 150-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2012.05.011 Bokulich, N. A., Kaehler, B. D., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., Huttley, G. A. and Gregory Caporaso, J. (2018). Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome* **6**: 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z

Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J. E., Bittinger, K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C. J., Brown, C. T., Callahan, B. J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A. M., Chase, J., Cope, E. K., Da Silva, R., Diener, C., Dorrestein, P. C., Douglas, G. M., Durall, D. M., Duvallet, C., Edwardson, C. F., Ernst, M., Estaki, M., Fouquier, J., Gauglitz, J. M., Gibbons, S. M., Gibson, D. L., Gonzalez, A., Gorlick, K., Guo, J., Hillmann, B., Holmes, S., Holste, H., Huttenhower, C., Huttley, G. A., Janssen, S., Jarmusch, A. K., Jiang, L., Kaehler, B. D., Kang, K. B., Keefe, C. R., Keim, P., Kelley, S. T., Knights, D., Koester, I., Kosciolek, T., Kreps, J., Langille, M. G. I., Lee, J., Ley, R., Liu, Y.-X., Loftfield, E., Lozupone, C., Maher, M., Marotz, C., Martin, B. D., McDonald, D., McIver, L. J., Melnik, A. V., Metcalf, J. L., Morgan, S. C., Morton, J. T., Naimey, A. T., Navas-Molina, J. A., Nothias, L. F., Orchanian, S. B., Pearson, T., Peoples, S. L., Petras, D., Preuss, M. L., Pruesse, E., Rasmussen, L. B., Rivers, A., Robeson, M. S., Rosenthal, P., Segata, N., Shaffer, M., Shiffer, A., Sinha, R., Song, S. J., Spear, J. R., Swafford, A. D., Thompson, L. R., Torres, P. J., Trinh, P., Tripathi, A., Turnbaugh, P. J., Ul-Hasan, S., van der Hooft, J. J., Vargas, F., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Vogtmann, E., von Hippel, M., Walters, W., Wan, Y., Wang, M., Warren, J., Weber, K. C., Williamson, C. H. D., Willis, A. D., Xu, Z. Z., Zaneveld, J. R., Zhang, Y., Zhu, Q., Knight, R. and Caporaso, J. G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nature Biotechnology 37: 852-857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9

Bondy, S. C. and Naderi, S. (1994). Contribution of hepatic cytochrome P450 systems to the generation of reactive oxygen species. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **48**: 155-159. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(94)90235-6

Bonfanti, P., Comelli, F., Assi, L., Casati, L., Colciago, A., Villa, S., Santagostino, A., Costa, B. and Colombo, A. (2014). Responsiveness of hepatic and cerebral cytochrome P450 in rat offspring prenatally and lactationally exposed to a reconstituted PCB mixture. *Environmental Toxicology* **29**: 856-866. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.21812

Boobis, A. R., Cohen, S. M., Dellarco, V., McGregor, D., Meek, M. E., Vickers, C., Willcocks, D. and Farland, W. (2006). IPCS framework for analyzing the relevance of a cancer mode of action for humans. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* **36**: 781-792. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408440600977677

Boobis, A. R., Doe, J. E., Heinrich-Hirsch, B., Meek, M. E., Munn, S., Ruchirawat, M., Schlatter, J., Seed, J. and Vickers, C. (2008). IPCS framework for analyzing the relevance of a noncancer mode of action for humans. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* **38**: 87-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408440701749421

Bouhifd, M., Hartung, T., Hogberg, H. T., Kleensang, A. and Zhao, L. (2013). Review: toxicometabolomics. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **33**: 1365-1383. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2874

Boyd, J. A. and Barrett, J. C. (1990). Genetic and cellular basis of multistep carcinogenesis. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* **46**: 469-486. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-7258(90)90028-Z

Braeuning, A., Sanna, R., Huelsken, J. and Schwarz, M. (2009). Inducibility of drug-metabolizing enzymes by xenobiotics in mice with liver-specific knockout of *Ctnnb1*. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* **37**: 1138-1145. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.108.026179

Bravo, N., Grimalt, J. O., Chashchin, M., Chashchin, V. P. and Odland, J.-Ø. (2019). Drivers of maternal accumulation of organohalogen pollutants in Arctic areas (Chukotka, Russia) and 4,4'-DDT effects on the newborns. *Environment International* **124**: 541-552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.049

Breitwieser, F. P., Lu, J. and Salzberg, S. L. (2019). A review of methods and databases for metagenomic classification and assembly. *Briefings in Bioinformatics* **20**: 1125-1136. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx120

Breivik, K., Armitage, J. M., Wania, F., Sweetman, A. J. and Jones, K. C. (2016). Tracking the global distribution of persistent organic pollutants accounting for e-waste exports to developing regions. *Environmental Science & Technology* **50**: 798-805. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04226

Brevik, E. M. (1978). Gas chromatographic method for the determination of organochlorine pesticides in human milk. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* **78**: 281-286. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01685799

Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J. and Holmes, S. P. (2017). Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. *The Isme Journal* **11**: 2639-2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.119

Campeau, P. M., Foulkes, W. D. and Tischkowitz, M. D. (2008). Hereditary breast cancer: new genetic developments, new therapeutic avenues. *Human Genetics* **124**: 31-42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-008-0529-1

Cancer Registry of Norway. (2018). Cancer in Norway 2017 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. Oslo, Norway. https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/cancer-in-norway/2017/cin-2017.pdf

Carrizo, D., Chevallier, O. P., Woodside, J. V., Brennan, S. F., Cantwell, M. M., Cuskelly, G. and Elliott, C. T. (2017). Untargeted metabolomic analysis of human serum samples associated with exposure levels of persistent organic pollutants indicate important perturbations in sphingolipids and glycerophospholipids levels. *Chemosphere* **168**: 731-738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.11.001

Carson, R. (1962). Silent spring. Boston, Houghton Mifflin.

Caruso, V., Song, X., Asquith, M. and Karstens, L. (2019). Performance of microbiome sequence inference methods in environments with varying biomass. *mSystems* **4**: e00163-00118. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00163-18

Caspersen, I. H., Kvalem, H. E., Haugen, M., Brantsæter, A. L., Meltzer, H. M., Alexander, J., Thomsen, C., Frøshaug, M., Bremnes, N. M. B., Broadwell, S. L., Granum, B., Kogevinas, M. and Knutsen, H. K. (2016). Determinants of plasma PCB, brominated flame retardants, and organochlorine pesticides in pregnant women and 3 year old children in the Norwegian mother and child cohort study. *Environmental Research* **146**: 136-144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.12.020

Chen, Y.-C. J., Guo, Y.-L., Hsu, C.-C. and Rogan, W. J. (1992). Cognitive development of Yu-Cheng ('oil disease') children prenatally exposed to heat-degraded PCBs. *JAMA* **268**: 3213-3218. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1992.03490220057028

Cheng, S. L., Li, X., Lehmler, H.-J., Phillips, B., Shen, D. and Cui, J. Y. (2018). Gut microbiota modulates interactions between polychlorinated biphenyls and bile acid homeostasis. *Toxicological Sciences* **166**: 269-287. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfy208

Chi, Y., Lin, Y., Lu, Y., Huang, Q., Ye, G. and Dong, S. (2018a). Gut microbiota dysbiosis correlates with a low-dose PCB126-induced dyslipidemia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Science of The Total Environment* **653**: 274-282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.387

Chi, Y., Lin, Y., Zhu, H., Huang, Q., Ye, G. and Dong, S. (2018b). PCBs-high-fat diet interactions as mediators of gut microbiota dysbiosis and abdominal fat accumulation in female mice. *Environmental Pollution* **239**: 332-341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.001

Choi, J. J., Eum, S. Y., Rampersaud, E., Daunert, S., Abreu, M. T. and Toborek, M. (2013). Exercise attenuates PCB-induced changes in the mouse gut microbiome. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **121**: 725-730. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306534

Chu, I., Bowers, W. J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Pulido, O., Yagminas, A., Wade, M. G., Moir, D., Gill, S. and Mueller, R. (2005). Toxicological effects of gestational and lactational exposure to a mixture of persistent organochlorines in rats: systemic effects. *Toxicological Sciences* **88**: 645-655. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi335

Chu, I., Bowers, W. J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Wade, M. G., Yagminas, A., Li, N., Moir, D., El Abbas, L., Hakansson, H., Gill, S., Mueller, R. and Pulido, O. (2008). Toxicological effects of *in utero* and lactational exposure of rats to a mixture of environmental contaminants detected in Canadian Arctic human populations. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* **71**: 93-108. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390701612811

Claus, S. P. and Swann, J. R. (2013). Nutrimetabonomics: applications for nutritional sciences, with specific reference to gut microbial interactions. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology* **4**: 381-399. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-food-030212-182612

Cooper, G. S., Savitz, D. A., Millikan, R. and Kit, T. C. (2002). Organochlorine exposure and age at natural menopause. *Epidemiology* **13**: 729-733. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.EDE.0000032362.42083.9E

Dahmus, J. D., Kotler, D. L., Kastenberg, D. M. and Kistler, C. A. (2018). The gut microbiome and colorectal cancer: a review of bacterial pathogenesis. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology* **9**: 769-777. https://doi.org/10.21037/jgo.2018.04.07

Damstra, T. (2002). Potential effects of certain persistent organic pollutants and endocrine disrupting chemicals on the health of children. *Journal of Toxicology: Clinical Toxicology* **40**: 457-465. https://doi.org/10.1081/CLT-120006748

Darnerud, P. O., Lignell, S., Aune, M., Isaksson, M., Cantillana, T., Redeby, J. and Glynn, A. (2015). Time trends of polybrominated diphenylether (PBDE) congeners in serum of Swedish mothers and comparisons to breast milk data. *Environmental Research* **138**: 352-360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.02.031

Davis, B. and Fenton, S. (2013). Chapter 61 - Mammary gland. *Haschek and Rousseaux's Handbook of Toxicologic Pathology (Third Edition)*. Boston, Academic Press: 2665-2694. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-415759-0.00061-3

De Flora, S. and Ferguson, L. R. (2005). Overview of mechanisms of cancer chemopreventive agents. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis* **591**: 8-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2005.02.029

de Wit, C. A. (2002). An overview of brominated flame retardants in the environment. *Chemosphere* 46: 583-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00225-9

Desaulniers, D., Leingartner, K., Musicki, B., Cole, J., Li, M., Charbonneau, M. and Tsang, B. K. (2004). Lack of effects of postnatal exposure to a mixture of aryl hydrocarbon-receptor agonists on the development of methylnitrosourea-induced mammary tumors in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* 67: 1457-1475. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490483818

Desaulniers, D., Leingartner, K., Russo, J., Perkins, G., Chittim, B. G., Archer, M. C., Wade, M. and Yang, J. (2001). Modulatory effects of neonatal exposure to TCDD, or a mixture of PCBs, *p*,*p*'-DDT, and *p*-*p*'-DDE, on methylnitrosourea-induced mammary tumor development in the rat. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **109**: 739-747. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.01109739

Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J.-P., Giudice, L. C., Hauser, R., Prins, G. S., Soto, A. M., Zoeller, R. T. and Gore, A. C. (2009). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an endocrine society scientific statement. *Endocrine Reviews* **30**: 293-342. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2009-0002

Dietrich, W. F., Lander, E. S., Smith, J. S., Moser, A. R., Gould, K. A., Luongo, C., Borenstein, N. and Dove, W. (1993). Genetic identification of *Mom*-1, a major modifier locus affecting *Min*-induced intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. *Cell* **75**: 631-639. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90484-8

Djien Liem, A. K., Furst, P. and Rappe, C. (2000). Exposure of populations to dioxins and related compounds. *Food Additives & Contaminants* **17**: 241-259. https://doi.org/10.1080/026520300283324

Donders, A. R. T., van der Heijden, G. J. M. G., Stijnen, T. and Moons, K. G. M. (2006). Review: a gentle introduction to imputation of missing values. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* **59**: 1087-1091. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.01.014

Du, G., Hu, J., Huang, Z., Yu, M., Lu, C., Wang, X. and Wu, D. (2019). Neonatal and juvenile exposure to perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS): advance puberty onset and kisspeptin system disturbance in female rats. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **167**: 412-421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.10.025

Dunnick, J. K., Shockley, K. R., Pandiri, A. R., Kissling, G. E., Gerrish, K. E., Ton, T. V., Wilson, R. E., Brar, S. S., Brix, A. E., Waidyanatha, S., Mutlu, E. and Morgan, D. L. (2018). PBDE-47 and PBDE mixture (DE-71) toxicities and liver transcriptomic changes at PND 22 after *in utero*/postnatal exposure in the rat. *Archives of Toxicology* **92**: 3415-3433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-018-2292-y

Dutta, D., Heo, I. and Clevers, H. (2017). Disease modeling in stem cell-derived 3D organoid systems. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* **23**: 393-410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2017.02.007

EFSA (2005). Opinion of the scientific panel on contaminants in the food chain on a request from the commission related to the presence of non dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in feed and food. *EFSA Journal* **284**: 1-137. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2005.284

EFSA (2008). Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and their salts. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain. *EFSA Journal* **653**: 1-131. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2008.653

EFSA Panel on Contaminats in the Food Chain (CONTAM) (2011). Scientific opinion on polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in food. *EFSA Journal 2011* **9**: 2156 [2274 pages]. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2156.

Eguchi, A., Miyaso, H. and Mori, C. (2016). The effects of early postnatal exposure to a low dose of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE-209) on serum metabolites in male mice. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences* **41**: 667-675. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.41.667

Ema, M., Fujii, S., Hirata-Koizumi, M. and Matsumoto, M. (2008). Two-generation reproductive toxicity study of the flame retardant hexabromocyclododecane in rats. *Reproductive Toxicology* **25**: 335-351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.12.004

Enoch, R. R., Stanko, J. P., Greiner, S. N., Youngblood, G. L., Rayner, J. L. and Fenton, S. E. (2007). Mammary gland development as a sensitive end point after acute prenatal exposure to an atrazine metabolite mixture in female Long-Evans rats. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **115**: 541-547. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9612

Eriksson, L., Antti, H., Gottfries, J., Holmes, E., Johansson, E., Lindgren, F., Long, I., Lundstedt, T., Trygg, J. and Wold, S. (2004). Using chemometrics for navigating in the large data sets of genomics,

proteomics, and metabonomics (gpm). *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* **380**: 419-429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-004-2783-y

European Commision. (2010). Of mice and men – are mice relevant models for human disease? Outcomes of the European Commission workshop 'Are mice relevant models for human disease?' London, UK. https://ec.europa.eu/research/health/pdf/summary-report-25082010 en.pdf

Faroon, O. and Harris, M. O. (2002). Toxicological profile for DDT, DDE, and DDD. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. U.S. Deptartment of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/6738

Fearnhead, N. S., Britton, M. P. and Bodmer, W. F. (2001). The ABC of APC. *Human Molecular Genetics* **10**: 721-733. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/10.7.721

Fenton, S. E. (2006). Endocrine-disrupting compounds and mammary gland development: early exposure and later life consequences. *Endocrinology* **147**: S18-24. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-1131

Fenton, S. E. (2009). The mammary gland: a tissue sensitive to environmental exposures. *Reviews on Environmental Health* **24**: 319-325. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh.2009.24.4.319

Fenton, S. E. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2015). Timing of environmental exposures as a critical element in breast cancer risk. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **100**: 3245-3250. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-2848

Fenton, S. E., Hamm, J. T., Birnbaum, L. S. and Youngblood, G. L. (2002). Persistent abnormalities in the rat mammary gland following gestational and lactational exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). *Toxicological Sciences* **67**: 63-74. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.1.63

Filgo, A. J., Foley, J. F., Puvanesarajah, S., Borde, A. R., Midkiff, B. R., Reed, C. E., Chappell, V. A., Alexander, L. B., Borde, P. R., Troester, M. A., Bouknight, S. A. H. and Fenton, S. E. (2016). Mammary gland evaluation in juvenile toxicity studies: temporal developmental patterns in the male and female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rat. *Toxicologic Pathology* **44**: 1034-1058. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623316663864

Flaws, J. A., Langenberg, P., Babus, J. K., Hirshfield, A. N. and Sharara, F. I. (2001). Ovarian volume and antral follicle counts as indicators of menopausal status. *Menopause* **8**: 175-180. https://doi.org/10.1097/00042192-200105000-00006

Fodde, R. (2002). The *APC* gene in colorectal cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* **38**: 867-871. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0959-8049(02)00040-0

Foster, W. G., Mirshokraei, P., Holloway, A. C. and Zhang, B. (2008). Developmental and lactational exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of dieldrin does not alter pregnancy outcome and mammary gland morphology in BALB/c mice. *Environmental Research* **108**: 21-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.05.001 Foster, W. G., Younglai, E. V., Boutross-Tadross, O., Hughes, C. L. and Wade, M. G. (2004). Mammary gland morphology in Sprague-Dawley rats following treatment with an organochlorine mixture *in utero* and neonatal genistein. *Toxicological Sciences* **77**: 91-100. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg247

Fromme, H., Mosch, C., Morovitz, M., Alba-Alejandre, I., Boehmer, S., Kiranoglu, M., Faber, F., Hannibal, I., Genzel-Boroviczény, O., Koletzko, B. and Völkel, W. (2010). Pre- and postnatal exposure to perfluorinated compounds (PFCs). *Environmental Science & Technology* **44**: 7123-7129. https://doi.org/10.1021/es101184f

Gagnière, J., Raisch, J., Veziant, J., Barnich, N., Bonnet, R., Buc, E., Bringer, M.-A., Pezet, D. and Bonnet, M. (2016). Gut microbiota imbalance and colorectal cancer. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 22: 501-518. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i2.501

Ge, W., Li, L., Dyce, P. W., De Felici, M. and Shen, W. (2019). Establishment and depletion of the ovarian reserve: physiology and impact of environmental chemicals. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **76**: 1729-1746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03028-1

Gebbink, W. A., Glynn, A. and Berger, U. (2015). Temporal changes (1997–2012) of perfluoroalkyl acids and selected precursors (including isomers) in Swedish human serum. *Environmental Pollution* **199**: 166-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2015.01.024

Gérard, P. (2016). Gut microbiota and obesity. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **73**: 147-162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2061-5

Gerbal-Chaloin, S., Dumé, A.-S., Briolotti, P., Klieber, S., Raulet, E., Duret, C., Fabre, J.-M., Ramos, J., Maurel, P. and Daujat-Chavanieu, M. (2014). The WNT/β-catenin pathway is a transcriptional regulator of CYP2E1,CYP1A2, and aryl hydrocarbon receptor gene expression in primary human hepatocytes. *Molecular Pharmacology* **86**: 624-634. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.114.094797

Giannandrea, F., Gandini, L., Paoli, D., Turci, R. and Figà-Talamanca, I. (2011). Pesticide exposure and serum organochlorine residuals among testicular cancer patients and healthy controls. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B* **46**: 780-787. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2012.597704

Gibson, G. (2003). Microarray analysis: genome-scale hypothesis scanning. *PLoS biology* 1: E15-E15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0000015

Goodrich, J. K., Di Rienzi, S. C., Poole, A. C., Koren, O., Walters, W. A., Caporaso, J. G., Knight, R. and Ley, R. E. (2014). Conducting a microbiome study. *Cell* **158**: 250-262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.037

Goodson, W. H., Lowe, L., Carpenter, D. O., Gilbertson, M., Manaf Ali, A., Lopez de Cerain
Salsamendi, A., Lasfar, A., Carnero, A., Azqueta, A., Amedei, A., Charles, A. K., Collins, A. R., Ward,
A., Salzberg, A. C., Colacci, A. M., Olsen, A.-K., Berg, A., Barclay, B. J., Zhou, B. P., Blanco-Aparicio,
C., Baglole, C. J., Dong, C., Mondello, C., Hsu, C.-W., Naus, C. C., Yedjou, C., Curran, C. S., Laird, D.
W., Koch, D. C., Carlin, D. J., Felsher, D. W., Roy, D., Brown, D. G., Ratovitski, E., Ryan, E. P.,

Corsini, E., Rojas, E., Moon, E.-Y., Laconi, E., Marongiu, F., Al-Mulla, F., Chiaradonna, F., Darroudi, F., Martin, F. L., Van Schooten, F. J., Goldberg, G. S., Wagemaker, G., Nangami, G. N., Calaf, G. M., Williams, G. P., Wolf, G. T., Koppen, G., Brunborg, G., Lyerly, H. K., Krishnan, H., Ab Hamid, H., Yasaei, H., Sone, H., Kondoh, H., Salem, H. K., Hsu, H.-Y., Park, H. H., Koturbash, I., Miousse, I. R., Scovassi, A., Klaunig, J. E., Vondráček, J., Raju, J., Roman, J., Wise, J. P., Whitfield, J. R., Woodrick, J., Christopher, J. A., Ochieng, J., Martinez-Leal, J. F., Weisz, J., Kravchenko, J., Sun, J., Prudhomme, K. R., Narayanan, K. B., Cohen-Solal, K. A., Moorwood, K., Gonzalez, L., Soucek, L., Jian, L., D'Abronzo, L. S., Lin, L.-T., Li, L., Gulliver, L., McCawley, L. J., Memeo, L., Vermeulen, L., Levns, L., Zhang, L., Valverde, M., Khatami, M., Romano, M. F., Chapellier, M., Williams, M. A., Wade, M., Manjili, M. H., Lleonart, M. E., Xia, M., Gonzalez Guzman, M. J., Karamouzis, M. V., Kirsch-Volders, M., Vaccari, M., Kuemmerle, N. B., Singh, N., Cruickshanks, N., Kleinstreuer, N., van Larebeke, N., Ahmed, N., Ogunkua, O., Krishnakumar, P. K., Vadgama, P., Marignani, P. A., Ghosh, P. M., Ostrosky-Wegman, P., Thompson, P. A., Dent, P., Heneberg, P., Darbre, P., Leung, P. S., Nangia-Makker, P., Cheng, O., Robey, R., Al-Temaimi, R., Roy, R., Andrade-Vieira, R., Sinha, R. K., Mehta, R., Vento, R., Di Fiore, R., Ponce-Cusi, R., Dornetshuber-Fleiss, R., Nahta, R., Castellino, R. C., Palorini, R., Hamid, R. A., Langie, S. A. S., Eltom, S. E., Brooks, S. A., Ryeom, S., Wise, S. S., Bay, S. N., Harris, S. A., Papagerakis, S., Romano, S., Pavanello, S., Eriksson, S., Forte, S., Casey, S. C., Luanpitpong, S., Lee, T.-J., Otsuki, T., Chen, T., Massfelder, T., Sanderson, T., Guarnieri, T., Hultman, T., Dormoy, V., Odero-Marah, V., Sabbisetti, V., Maguer-Satta, V., Rathmell, W., Engström, W., Decker, W. K., Bisson, W. H., Rojanasakul, Y., Luqmani, Y., Chen, Z. and Hu, Z. (2015). Assessing the carcinogenic potential of low-dose exposures to chemical mixtures in the environment: the challenge ahead. Carcinogenesis 36: S254-S296. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgv039

Gore, A. C., Chappell, V. A., Fenton, S. E., Flaws, J. A., Nadal, A., Prins, G. S., Toppari, J. and Zoeller, R. T. (2015). EDC-2: the endocrine society's second scientific statement on endocrine-disrupting chemicals. *Endocrine Reviews* **36**: E1-e150. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2015-1010

Grimm, F. A., Hu, D., Kania-Korwel, I., Lehmler, H. J., Ludewig, G., Hornbuckle, K. C., Duffel, M. W., Bergman, A. and Robertson, L. W. (2015). Metabolism and metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* 45: 245-272. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408444.2014.999365

Grindler, N. M., Allsworth, J. E., Macones, G. A., Kannan, K., Roehl, K. A. and Cooper, A. R. (2015). Persistent organic pollutants and early menopause in U.S. women. *PLOS ONE* **10**: e0116057-e0116057. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116057

Grønnestad, R., Villanger, G. D., Polder, A., Kovacs, K. M., Lydersen, C., Jenssen, B. M. and Borgå, K. (2017). Maternal transfer of perfluoroalkyl substances in hooded seals. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **36**: 763-770. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3623

Gubb, E. and Matthiesen, R. (2010). Introduction to omics. *Bioinformatics Methods in Clinical Research*. Humana Press: 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-194-3_1

Gundersen, H. J. G., Bagger, P., Bendtsen, T. F., Evans, S. M., Korbo, L., Marcussen, N., MØLler, A., Nielsen, K., Nyengaard, J. R., Pakkenberg, B., SØRensen, F. B., Vesterby, A. and West, M. J. (1988).

The new stereological tools: disector, fractionator, nucleator and point sampled intercepts and their use in pathological research and diagnosis. *APMIS* **96**: 857-881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1699-0463.1988.tb00954.x

Guzelian, P. S., Victoroff, M. S., Halmes, N. C., James, R. C. and Guzelian, C. P. (2005). Evidencebased toxicology: a comprehensive framework for causation. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* 24: 161-201. https://doi.org/10.1191/0960327105ht517oa

Gyllenhammar, I., Benskin, J. P., Sandblom, O., Berger, U., Ahrens, L., Lignell, S., Wiberg, K. and Glynn, A. (2018). Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in serum from 2–4-month-old infants: influence of maternal serum concentration, gestational age, breast-feeding, and contaminated drinking water. *Environmental Science & Technology* **52**: 7101-7110. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00770

Han, X., Snow, T. A., Kemper, R. A. and Jepson, G. W. (2003). Binding of perfluorooctanoic acid to rat and human plasma proteins. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **16**: 775-781. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx034005w

Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **100**: 57-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9

Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, Robert A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**: 646-674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

Hansen, K. and Khanna, C. (2004). Spontaneous and genetically engineered animal models: use in preclinical cancer drug development. *European Journal of Cancer* **40**: 858-880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2003.11.031

Health-Canada. (2007). Non-carcinogen tolerable daily intake (TDI) values from Health Canada. http://www.popstoolkit.com/tools/HHRA/TDI_HealthCanada.aspx

Heimler, I., Trewin, A. L., Chaffin, C. L., Rawlins, R. G. and Hutz, R. J. (1998). Modulation of ovarian follicle maturation and effects on apoptotic cell death in Holtzman rats exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) in utero and lactationally. *Reproductive Toxicology* **12**: 69-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0890-6238(97)00101-9

Hernández, A. F., Gil, F. and Lacasaña, M. (2017). Toxicological interactions of pesticide mixtures: an update. *Archives of Toxicology* **91**: 3211-3223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-017-2043-5

Heyer, D. B. and Meredith, R. M. (2017). Environmental toxicology: sensitive periods of development and neurodevelopmental disorders. *NeuroToxicology* **58**: 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2016.10.017

Hill, A. B. (1965). The environment and disease: association or causation? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine* **58**: 295-300. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076814562718
Hindmarsh, P. C. (2012). Chapter 17 - Lectures on Human Growth. *Human Growth and Development (Second Edition)*. Boston, Academic Press: 435-460. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-383882-7.00017-9

Hirayama, A., Kami, K., Sugimoto, M., Sugawara, M., Toki, N., Onozuka, H., Kinoshita, T., Saito, N., Ochiai, A., Tomita, M., Esumi, H. and Soga, T. (2009). Quantitative metabolome profiling of colon and stomach cancer microenvironment by capillary electrophoresis time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Cancer Research* **69**: 4918-4925. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4806

Hites, R. A. (2004). Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and in people: a meta-analysis of concentrations. *Environmental Science & Technology* **38**: 945-956. https://doi.org/10.1021/es035082g

Hong, M. Y., Hoh, E., Kang, B., DeHamer, R., Kim, J. Y. and Lumibao, J. (2017). Fish oil contaminated with persistent organic pollutants induces colonic aberrant crypt foci formation and reduces antioxidant enzyme gene expression in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* **147**: 1524-1530. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.117.251082

Hood, L. and Galas, D. (2003). The digital code of DNA. *Nature* **421**: 444-448. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01410

Howsam, M., Grimalt, J. O., Guinó, E., Navarro, M., Martí-Ragué, J., Peinado, M. A., Capellá, G., Moreno, V. and for the Bellvitge Colorectal Cancer, G. (2004). Organochlorine exposure and colorectal cancer risk. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **112**: 1460-1466. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7143

Hrycay, E. G. and Bandiera, S. M. (2009). Expression, function and regulation of mouse cytochrome P450 enzymes: comparison with human cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Current Drug Metabolism* **10**: 1151-1183. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920009790820138

Høyer, A. P., Jørgensen, T., Grandjean, P. and Hartvig, H. B. (2000). Repeated measurements of organochlorine exposure and breast cancer risk (Denmark). *Cancer Causes and Control* **11**: 177-184. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008926219539

IARC (2017). Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Some chemicals used as solvents and in polymer manufacture. Lyon, France, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Publications. ISBN-13: 978-92-832-0176-2.

IBCERCC. (2013). Breast cancer and the environment: prioritizing prevention. Interagency Breast Cancer and the Environment Research Coordinating Committee (IBCERCC). Department of Health and Human Services, USA. Available at https://www.niehs.nih.gov/about/assets/docs/ibcercc_full_508.pdf

IGHRC. (2009). Chemical mixtures: a framework for assessing risk to human health (CR14). The intergovernmental group on health risks from chemicals (IGHRC). Institute of Environment and Health, Cranfield University, Cranfield, UK.

Ioannides, C. and Lewis, D. F. (2004). Cytochromes P450 in the bioactivation of chemicals. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry* **4**: 1767-1788. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026043387188

IPCS. (2004). The International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS). Risk assessment terminology. http://www.inchem.org/documents/harmproj/harmproj1.pdf (Accessed 15 April 2020).

Iszatt, N., Janssen, S., Lenters, V., Dahl, C., Stigum, H., Knight, R., Mandal, S., Peddada, S., Gonzalez, A., Midtvedt, T. and Eggesbo, M. (2019). Environmental toxicants in breast milk of Norwegian mothers and gut bacteria composition and metabolites in their infants at 1 month. *Microbiome* **7**: 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0645-2

Ito, N., Nagasaki, H., Arai, M., Makiura, S., Sugihara, S. and Hirao, K. (1973). Histopathologic studies on liver tumorigenesis induced in mice by technical polychlorinated biphenyls and its promoting effect on liver tumors induced by benzene hexachloride. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **51**: 1637-1646. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/51.5.1637

James, R. C., Britt, J. K., Halmes, N. C. and Guzelian, P. S. (2015). Evidence-based causation in toxicology: a 10-year retrospective. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* **34**: 1245-1252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327115601767

Jasperson, K. W., Tuohy, T. M., Neklason, D. W. and Burt, R. W. (2010). Hereditary and familial colon cancer. *Gastroenterology* **138**: 2044-2058. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.054

Jin, Y., Wu, S., Zeng, Z. and Fu, Z. (2017). Effects of environmental pollutants on gut microbiota. *Environmental Pollution* **222**: 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.11.045

Johnson-Restrepo, B. and Kannan, K. (2009). An assessment of sources and pathways of human exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the United States. *Chemosphere* **76**: 542-548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.02.068

Jung, Y. S., Lee, J., Seo, J. and Hwang, G. S. (2016). Metabolite profiling study on the toxicological effects of polybrominated diphenyl ether in a rat model. *Environmental Toxicology* **32**: 1262-1272. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.22322

Kanehisa, M. and Goto, S. (2000). KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic Acids Research* **28**: 27-30. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/28.1.27

Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K. i. and Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucleic Acids Research* **30**: 3059-3066. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf436

Kim, M. and Chun, J. (2014). Chapter 4 - 16S rRNA gene-based identification of *Bacteria* and *Archaea* using the EzTaxon server. *Methods in Microbiology*. Academic Press. **41:** 61-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mim.2014.08.001 Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. (1996). Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. *Cell* **87**: 159-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81333-1

Klevens, H. B. and Ellenbogen, E. (1954). Protein-fluoroacid interaction. Bovine serum albuminperfluoro-octanoic acid. *Discussions of the Faraday Society* **18**: 277-288. https://doi.org/10.1039/DF9541800277

Knox, S. S., Jackson, T., Javins, B., Frisbee, S. J., Shankar, A. and Ducatman, A. M. (2011). Implications of early menopause in women exposed to perfluorocarbons. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **96**: 1747-1753. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-2401

Knudsen, L. E., Hansen, P. W., Mizrak, S., Hansen, H. K., Mørck, T. A., Nielsen, F., Siersma, V. and Mathiesen, L. (2017). Biomonitoring of Danish school children and mothers including biomarkers of PBDE and glyphosate. *Reviews on Environmental Health* **32**: 279-290. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh-2016-0067

Knudson, A. G. (2001). Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 1: 157-162. https://doi.org/10.1038/35101031

Kodavanti, P. R. S., Coburn, C. G., Moser, V. C., MacPhail, R. C., Fenton, S. E., Stoker, T. E., Rayner, J. L., Kannan, K. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2010). Developmental exposure to a commercial PBDE mixture, DE-71: neurobehavioral, hormonal, and reproductive effects. *Toxicological Sciences* **116**: 297-312. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq105

Kortenkamp, A. (2014). Low dose mixture effects of endocrine disrupters and their implications for regulatory thresholds in chemical risk assessment. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* **19**: 105-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2014.08.006

La Sala, G., Farini, D. and De Felici, M. (2009). Proapoptotic effects of lindane on mouse primordial germ cells. *Toxicological Sciences* **108**: 445-451. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfp027

Lai, K. P., Ng, A. H., Wan, H. T., Wong, A. Y., Leung, C. C., Li, R. and Wong, C. K. (2018). Dietary exposure to the environmental chemical, PFOS on the diversity of gut microbiota, associated with the development of metabolic syndrome. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **9**: 2552. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02552

Lau, C., Anitole, K., Hodes, C., Lai, D., Pfahles-Hutchens, A. and Seed, J. (2007). Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of monitoring and toxicological findings. *Toxicological Sciences* **99**: 366-394. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm128

Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J. R., Hanson, R. G., Narotsky, M. G., Rogers, J. M., Lindstrom, A. B. and Strynar, M. J. (2006). Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy in the mouse. *Toxicological Sciences* **90**: 510-518. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfj105

Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J. R., Hanson, R. G., Rogers, J. M., Grey, B. E., Stanton, M. E., Butenhoff, J. L. and Stevenson, L. A. (2003). Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. *Toxicological Sciences* **74**: 382-392. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg122

Laug, E. P., Kunze, F. M. and Prickett, C. S. (1951). Occurrence of DDT in human fat and milk. *Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Occupational Medicine* **3**: 245-246.

Lee, Y. M., Kim, S. A., Choi, G. S., Park, S. Y., Jeon, S. W., Lee, H. S., Lee, S. J., Heo, S. and Lee, D. H. (2018). Association of colorectal polyps and cancer with low-dose persistent organic pollutants: a case-control study. *PLOS ONE* **13**: e0208546. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208546

Lefevre, P. L., Berger, R. G., Ernest, S. R., Gaertner, D. W., Rawn, D. F., Wade, M. G., Robaire, B. and Hales, B. F. (2016). Exposure of female rats to an environmentally relevant mixture of brominated flame retardants targets the ovary, affecting folliculogenesis and steroidogenesis. *Biology of Reproduction* **94**: 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.115.134452

Lenters, V., Iszatt, N., Forns, J., Cechova, E., Kocan, A., Legler, J., Leonards, P., Stigum, H. and Eggesbo, M. (2019). Early-life exposure to persistent organic pollutants (OCPs, PBDEs, PCBs, PFASs) and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a multi-pollutant analysis of a Norwegian birth cohort. *Environment International* **125**: 33-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.020

Li, C. Y., Dempsey, J. L., Wang, D., Lee, S., Weigel, K. M., Fei, Q., Bhatt, D. K., Prasad, B., Raftery, D., Gu, H. and Cui, J. Y. (2018). PBDEs altered gut microbiome and bile acid homeostasis in male C57BL/6 mice. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* **46**: 1226-1240. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.118.081547

Li, C. Y., Lee, S., Cade, S., Kuo, L. J., Schultz, I. R., Bhatt, D. K., Prasad, B., Bammler, T. K. and Cui, J. Y. (2017). Novel interactions between gut microbiome and host drug-processing genes modify the hepatic metabolism of the environmental chemicals polybrominated diphenyl ethers. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* **45**: 1197-1214. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.117.077024

Li, Y., Kundu, P., Seow, S. W., de Matos, C. T., Aronsson, L., Chin, K. C., Kärre, K., Pettersson, S. and Greicius, G. (2012). Gut microbiota accelerate tumor growth via c-jun and STAT3 phosphorylation in APC Min/+ mice. *Carcinogenesis* **33**: 1231-1238. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgs137

Lilienthal, H., Hack, A., Roth-Härer, A., Grande Simone, W. and Talsness Chris, E. (2006). Effects of developmental exposure to 2,2',4,4',5-pentabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE-99) on sex steroids, sexual development, and sexually dimorphic behavior in rats. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **114**: 194-201. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8391

Liu, Q., Shao, W., Zhang, C., Xu, C., Wang, Q., Liu, H., Sun, H., Jiang, Z. and Gu, A. (2017). Organochloride pesticides modulated gut microbiota and influenced bile acid metabolism in mice. *Environmental Pollution* **226**: 268-276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.03.068 Long, M., Knudsen, A.-K. S., Pedersen, H. S. and Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. C. (2015). Food intake and serum persistent organic pollutants in the Greenlandic pregnant women: the ACCEPT sub-study. *Science of The Total Environment* **529**: 198-212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.022

Lorber, M. (2008). Exposure of Americans to polybrominated diphenyl ethers. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology* **18**: 2-19. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jes.7500572

Louis, P., Hold, G. L. and Flint, H. J. (2014). The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **12**: 661-672. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3344

Lozupone, C. and Knight, R. (2005). UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**: 8228-8235. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.12.8228-8235.2005

Lu, C., Wang, Y., Sheng, Z., Liu, G., Fu, Z., Zhao, J., Zhao, J., Yan, X., Zhu, B. and Peng, S. (2010). NMR-based metabonomic analysis of the hepatotoxicity induced by combined exposure to PCBs and TCDD in rats. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **248**: 178-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.07.020

Ludewig, G. and Robertson, L. W. (2013). Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) as initiating agents in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Letters* **334**: 46-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.11.041

Macon, M. B. and Fenton, S. E. (2013). Endocrine disruptors and the breast: early life effects and later life disease. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia* **18**: 43-61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-013-9275-7

Macon, M. B., Villanueva, L. R., Tatum-Gibbs, K., Zehr, R. D., Strynar, M. J., Stanko, J. P., White, S. S., Helfant, L. and Fenton, S. E. (2011). Prenatal perfluorooctanoic acid exposure in CD-1 mice: low-dose developmental effects and internal dosimetry. *Toxicological Sciences* **122**: 134-145. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr076

Magney, J. E., Erlandsen, S. L., Bjerknes, M. L. and Cheng, H. (1986). Scanning electron microscopy of isolated epithelium of the murine gastrointestinal tract: morphology of the basal surface and evidence for paracrinelike cells. *American Journal of Anatomy* **177**: 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1001770106

Mandal, S., Van Treuren, W., White, R. A., Eggesbø, M., Knight, R. and Peddada, S. D. (2015). Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease* **26**: 27663. https://doi.org/10.3402/mehd.v26.27663

Marchesi, J. R., Dutilh, B. E., Hall, N., Peters, W. H. M., Roelofs, R., Boleij, A. and Tjalsma, H. (2011). Towards the human colorectal cancer microbiome. *PLOS ONE* **6**: e20447. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020447 Markey, C. M., Luque, E. H., Munoz De Toro, M., Sonnenschein, C. and Soto, A. M. (2001). *In utero* exposure to bisphenol A alters the development and tissue organization of the mouse mammary gland. *Biology of Reproduction* **65**: 1215-1223. https://doi.org/10.1093/biolreprod/65.4.1215

Markowitz, S. D. and Bertagnolli, M. M. (2009). Molecular basis of colorectal cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* **361**: 2449-2460. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0804588

Maronpot, R. R., Yoshizawa, K., Nyska, A., Harada, T., Flake, G., Mueller, G., Singh, B. and Ward, J. M. (2010). Hepatic enzyme induction: histopathology. *Toxicologic Pathology* **38**: 776-795. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310373778

Martignoni, M., Groothuis, G. M. M. and de Kanter, R. (2006). Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology* **2**: 875-894. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.2.6.875

Martincorena, I., Raine, K. M., Gerstung, M., Dawson, K. J., Haase, K., Van Loo, P., Davies, H., Stratton, M. R. and Campbell, P. J. (2017). Universal patterns of selection in cancer and somatic tissues. *Cell* **171**: 1029-1041.e1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.042

Matano, M., Date, S., Shimokawa, M., Takano, A., Fujii, M., Ohta, Y., Watanabe, T., Kanai, T. and Sato, T. (2015). Modeling colorectal cancer using CRISPR-Cas9-mediated engineering of human intestinal organoids. *Nature Medicine* **21**: 256-262. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3802

Mayes, B. A., McConnell, E. E., Neal, B. H., Brunner, M. J., Hamilton, S. B., Sullivan, T. M., Peters, A. C., Ryan, M. J., Toft, J. D., Singer, A. W., Brown, J. F., Menton, R. G. and Moore, J. A. (1998).
Comparative carcinogenicity in Sprague–Dawley rats of the polychlorinated biphenyl mixtures aroclors 1016, 1242, 1254, and 1260. *Toxicological Sciences* 41: 62-76. https://doi.org/10.1006/toxs.1997.2397

McDonald, D., Price, M. N., Goodrich, J., Nawrocki, E. P., DeSantis, T. Z., Probst, A., Andersen, G. L., Knight, R. and Hugenholtz, P. (2012). An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. *The ISME Journal* **6**: 610-618. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.139

McGee, E. A. and Hsueh, A. J. W. (2000). Initial and cyclic recruitment of ovarian follicles. *Endocrine Reviews* **21**: 200-214. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.21.2.0394

McGlynn, K. A., Quraishi, S. M., Graubard, B. I., Weber, J.-P., Rubertone, M. V. and Erickson, R. L. (2008). Persistent organochlorine pesticides and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **100**: 663-671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn101

McPherson, J. D., Marra, M., Hillier, L., Waterston, R. H., Chinwalla, A., Wallis, J., Sekhon, M., Wylie,
K., Mardis, E. R., Wilson, R. K., Fulton, R., Kucaba, T. A., Wagner-McPherson, C., Barbazuk, W. B.,
Gregory, S. G., Humphray, S. J., French, L., Evans, R. S., Bethel, G., Whittaker, A., Holden, J. L.,
McCann, O. T., Dunham, A., Soderlund, C., Scott, C. E., Bentley, D. R., Schuler, G., Chen, H. C., Jang,
W., Green, E. D., Idol, J. R., Maduro, V. V., Montgomery, K. T., Lee, E., Miller, A., Emerling, S.,
Kucherlapati, Gibbs, R., Scherer, S., Gorrell, J. H., Sodergren, E., Clerc-Blankenburg, K., Tabor, P.,

Naylor, S., Garcia, D., de Jong, P. J., Catanese, J. J., Nowak, N., Osoegawa, K., Qin, S., Rowen, L.,
Madan, A., Dors, M., Hood, L., Trask, B., Friedman, C., Massa, H., Cheung, V. G., Kirsch, I. R., Reid,
T., Yonescu, R., Weissenbach, J., Bruls, T., Heilig, R., Branscomb, E., Olsen, A., Doggett, N., Cheng, J.
F., Hawkins, T., Myers, R. M., Shang, J., Ramirez, L., Schmutz, J., Velasquez, O., Dixon, K., Stone, N.
E., Cox, D. R., Haussler, D., Kent, W. J., Furey, T., Rogic, S., Kennedy, S., Jones, S., Rosenthal, A.,
Wen, G., Schilhabel, M., Gloeckner, G., Nyakatura, G., Siebert, R., Schlegelberger, B., Korenberg, J.,
Chen, X. N., Fujiyama, A., Hattori, M., Toyoda, A., Yada, T., Park, H. S., Sakaki, Y., Shimizu, N.,
Asakawa, S., Kawasaki, K., Sasaki, T., Shintani, A., Shimizu, A., Shibuya, K., Kudoh, J., Minoshima,
S., Ramser, J., Seranski, P., Hoff, C., Poustka, A., Reinhardt, R. and Lehrach, H. (2001). A physical map of the human genome. *Nature* 409: 934-941. https://doi.org/10.1038/35057157

Meek, M. E., Boobis, A., Cote, I., Dellarco, V., Fotakis, G., Munn, S., Seed, J. and Vickers, C. (2014). New developments in the evolution and application of the WHO/IPCS framework on mode of action/species concordance analysis. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **34**: 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2949

Merhi, M., Demur, C., Racaud-Sultan, C., Bertrand, J., Canlet, C., Estrada, F. B. and Gamet-Payrastre, L. (2010). Gender-linked haematopoietic and metabolic disturbances induced by a pesticide mixture administered at low dose to mice. *Toxicology* **267**: 80-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2009.10.024

Milsap, R. L. and Jusko, W. J. (1994). Pharmacokinetics in the infant. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **102**: 107-110. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.94102s11107

Miret, N., Rico-Leo, E., Pontillo, C., Zotta, E., Fernandez-Salguero, P. and Randi, A. (2017). A dioxinlike compound induces hyperplasia and branching morphogenesis in mouse mammary gland, through alterations in TGF-beta1 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **334**: 192-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.09.012

Moen, B., Henjum, K., Mage, I., Knutsen, S. H., Rud, I., Hetland, R. B. and Paulsen, J. E. (2016). Effect of dietary fibers on cecal microbiota and intestinal tumorigenesis in azoxymethane treated A/J Min/+ mice. *PLOS ONE* **11**: e0155402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155402

Moolenbeek, C. and Ruitenberg, E. J. (1981). The 'Swiss roll': a simple technique for histological studies of the rodent intestine. *Laboratory Animals* **15**: 57-60. https://doi.org/10.1258/002367781780958577

Morgan, D. P. and Roan, C. C. (1971). Absorption, storage, and metabolic conversion of ingested DDT and DDT metabolites in man. *Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal* **22**: 301-308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039896.1971.10665848

Morgan, M., Deoraj, A., Felty, Q. and Roy, D. (2016). Environmental estrogen-like endocrine disrupting chemicals and breast cancer. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* **457**: 89-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2016.10.003

Moser, A. R., Pitot, H. C. and Dove, W. F. (1990). A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. *Science* **247**: 322-324. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2296722

Moser, A. R., Shoemaker, A. R., Connelly, C. S., Clipson, L., Gould, K. A., Luongo, C., Dove, W. F., Siggers, P. H. and Gardner, R. L. (1995). Homozygosity for the *Min* allele of *Apc* results in disruption of mouse development prior to gastrulation. *Developmental Dynamics* **203**: 422-433. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1002030405

Mulak, A. and Bonaz, B. (2015). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Parkinson's disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* **21**: 10609-10620. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v21.i37.10609

Muto, T., Imano, N., Nakaaki, K., Takahashi, H., Hano, H., Wakui, S. and Furusato, M. (2003). Estrous cyclicity and ovarian follicles in female rats after prenatal exposure to 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl. *Toxicology Letters* **143**: 271-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-4274(03)00175-9

Møllersen, L., Paulsen, J. E. and Alexander, J. (2004). Loss of heterozygosity and nonsense mutation in *Apc* in azoxymethane-induced colonic tumours in Min mice. *Anticancer Research* **24**: 2595-2599.

Mørck, T. A., Erdmann, S. E., Long, M., Mathiesen, L., Nielsen, F., Siersma, V. D., Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E. C. and Knudsen, L. E. (2014). PCB concentrations and dioxin-like activity in blood samples from Danish school children and their mothers living in urban and rural areas. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology* **115**: 134-144. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcpt.12214

Nakanishi, Y., Bai, F., Inoue, K., Takayama, K., Pei, X.-H., Harada, T., Izumi, M., Kimotsuki, K., Tokiwa, H. and Hara, N. (2001). Polychlorinated biphenyls promote 1-nitropyrene-induced lung tumorigenesis without the induction of K-ras gene mutation in A/J mice. *Teratogenesis, Carcinogenesis, and Mutagenesis* **21**: 395-403. https://doi.org/10.1002/tcm.1027

Nebert, D. W. and Dalton, T. P. (2006). The role of cytochrome P450 enzymes in endogenous signalling pathways and environmental carcinogenesis. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **6**: 947-960. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2015

Neufert, C., Becker, C. and Neurath, M. F. (2007). An inducible mouse model of colon carcinogenesis for the analysis of sporadic and inflammation-driven tumor progression. *Nature Protocols* **2**: 1998-2004. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.279

Ngo, A. D., Taylor, R., Roberts, C. L. and Nguyen, T. V. (2006). Association between Agent Orange and birth defects: systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **35**: 1220-1230. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl038

Ngo, H. T., Hetland, R. B., Sabaredzovic, A., Haug, L. S. and Steffensen, I.-L. (2014). *In utero* exposure to perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) or perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) did not increase body weight or intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min/+) mice. *Environmental Research* **132**: 251-263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.03.033

Nicholson, J. K. and Lindon, J. C. (2008). Metabonomics. *Nature* **455**: 1054-1056. https://doi.org/10.1038/4551054a O'Hagan, D. (2008). Understanding organofluorine chemistry. An introduction to the C–F bond. *Chemical Society Reviews* **37**: 308-319. https://doi.org/10.1039/B711844A

O'Keefe, S. J. D. (2016). Diet, microorganisms and their metabolites, and colon cancer. *Nature Reviews*. *Gastroenterology & Hepatology* **13**: 691-706. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2016.165

O'Kane, A. A., Chevallier, O. P., Graham, S. F., Elliott, C. T. and Mooney, M. H. (2013). Metabolomic profiling of *in vivo* plasma responses to dioxin-associated dietary contaminant exposure in rats: Implications for identification of sources of animal and human exposure. *Environmental Science & Technology* **47**: 5409-5418. https://doi.org/10.1021/es305345u

OECD (2014). Guidance document 116 on the conduct and design of chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity studies, supporting test guidelines 451, 452 and 453. 2nd Edition, Series on Testing and Assessment. Paris, France, OECD Environment, Health and Safety Publications. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264221475-en

Oinonen, T. and Lindros, O. K. (1998). Zonation of hepatic cytochrome P-450 expression and regulation. *Biochemical Journal* **329**: 17-35. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3290017

Osborne, G., Rudel, R. and Schwarzman, M. (2015). Evaluating chemical effects on mammary gland development: a critical need in disease prevention. *Reproductive Toxicology* **54**: 148-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.07.077

Pacyniak, E. K., Cheng, X., Cunningham, M. L., Crofton, K., Klaassen, C. D. and Guo, G. L. (2007). The flame retardants, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, are pregnane X receptor activators. *Toxicological Sciences* 97: 94-102. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm025

Papanikolaou, A., Shank, R. C., Delker, D. A., Povey, A., Cooper, D. P. and Rosenberg, D. W. (1998). Initial levels of azoxymethane-induced DNA methyl adducts are not predictive of tumor susceptibility in inbred mice. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **150**: 196-203. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.1998.8393

Parasuraman, S. (2011). Toxicological screening. *Journal of Pharmacology & Pharmacotherapeutics* 2: 74-79. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-500X.81895

Patel, S., Zhou, C., Rattan, S. and Flaws, J. A. (2015). Effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals on the ovary. *Biology of Reproduction* **93**: 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.115.130336

Patisaul, H. B., Fenton, S. E. and Aylor, D. (2018). Animal models of endocrine disruption. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **32**: 283-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2018.03.011

Paulsen, J. E., Knutsen, H., Olstorn, H. B., Loberg, E. M. and Alexander, J. (2006). Identification of flat dysplastic aberrant crypt foci in the colon of azoxymethane-treated A/J mice. *International Journal of Cancer* **118**: 540-546. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21416

Paulsen, J. E., Løberg, E. M., Ølstørn, H. B., Knutsen, H., Steffensen, I.-L. and Alexander, J. (2005). Flat dysplastic aberrant crypt foci are related to tumorigenesis in the colon of azoxymethane-treated rat. *Cancer Research* **65**: 121-129.

Paulsen, J. E., Namork, E., Steffensen, I. L., Eide, T. J. and Alexander, J. (2000). Identification and quantification of aberrant crypt foci in the colon of Min mice--a murine model of familial adenomatous polyposis. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* **35**: 534-539. https://doi.org/10.1080/003655200750023813

Paulsen, J. E., Steffensen, I. L., Loberg, E. M., Husoy, T., Namork, E. and Alexander, J. (2001). Qualitative and quantitative relationship between dysplastic aberrant crypt foci and tumorigenesis in the Min/+ mouse colon. *Cancer Research* **61**: 5010-5015.

Peakall, D. B. (1970). Pesticides and the reproduction of birds. Scientific American 222: 72-83.

Pedersen, T. and Peters, H. (1968). Proposal for a classification of oocytes and follicles in the mouse ovary. *Reproduction* **17**: 555-557. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.0170555

Petriello, M. C., Hoffman, J. B., Vsevolozhskaya, O., Morris, A. J. and Hennig, B. (2018). Dioxin-like PCB 126 increases intestinal inflammation and disrupts gut microbiota and metabolic homeostasis. *Environmental Pollution* **242**: 1022-1032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.039

Pikkarainen, A., Lehtonen, M., Håkansson, H., Auriola, S. and Viluksela, M. (2019). Gender- and doserelated metabolome alterations in rat offspring after *in utero* and lactational exposure to PCB 180. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **370**: 56-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2019.03.013

Pilipenko, N., Ropstad, E., Halsne, R. and Zamaratskaia, G. (2017). Effect of naringenin, quercetin, and sesamin on xenobiotica-metabolizing CYP1A and CYP3A in mice offspring after maternal exposure to persistent organic pollutants. *BioMed Research International* **2017**: 8472312. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8472312

Pocar, P., Fiandanese, N., Secchi, C., Berrini, A., Fischer, B., Schmidt, J.-S., Schaedlich, K., Rhind, S. M., Zhang, Z. and Borromeo, V. (2011). Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls in CD-1 mice: reproductive toxicity and intergenerational transmission. *Toxicological Sciences* 126: 213-226. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr327

Polder, A., Müller, M. B., Lyche, J. L., Mdegela, R. H., Nonga, H. E., Mabiki, F. P., Mbise, T. J., Skaare, J. U., Sandvik, M., Skjerve, E. and Lie, E. (2014). Levels and patterns of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in tilapia (*Oreochromis sp.*) from four different lakes in Tanzania: geographical differences and implications for human health. *Science of The Total Environment* **488-489**: 252-260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.04.085

Polder, A., Thomsen, C., Lindström, G., Løken, K. B. and Skaare, J. U. (2008). Levels and temporal trends of chlorinated pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls and brominated flame retardants in individual human breast milk samples from Northern and Southern Norway. *Chemosphere* **73**: 14-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.06.002 Porubsky, P. R., Meneely, K. M. and Scott, E. E. (2008). Structures of human cytochrome P-450 2E1. Insights into the binding of inhibitors and both small molecular weight and fatty acid substrates. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **283**: 33698-33707. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M805999200

Pound, P. and Ritskes-Hoitinga, M. (2018). Is it possible to overcome issues of external validity in preclinical animal research? Why most animal models are bound to fail. *Journal of Translational Medicine* **16**: 304-304. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1678-1

Price, M. N., Dehal, P. S. and Arkin, A. P. (2010). FastTree 2 – approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. *PLOS ONE* **5**: e9490. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009490

Purdue, M. P., Engel, L. S., Langseth, H., Needham, L. L., Andersen, A., Barr, D. B., Blair, A., Rothman, N. and McGlynn, K. A. (2009). Prediagnostic serum concentrations of organochlorine compounds and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **117**: 1514-1519. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0800359

Qin, P., Liu, R., Pan, X., Fang, X. and Mou, Y. (2010). Impact of carbon chain length on binding of perfluoroalkyl acids to bovine serum albumin determined by spectroscopic methods. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **58**: 5561-5567. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100412q

Rasmussen, M. K., Ekstrand, B. and Zamaratskaia, G. (2011). Comparison of cytochrome P450 concentrations and metabolic activities in porcine hepatic microsomes prepared with two different methods. *Toxicology in Vitro* **25**: 343-346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.10.007

Reeves, P. G., Nielsen, F. H. and Fahey, G. C., Jr. (1993). AIN-93 purified diets for laboratory rodents: final report of the American Institute of Nutrition ad hoc writing committee on the reformulation of the AIN-76A rodent diet. *The Journal of Nutrition* **123**: 1939-1951. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/123.11.1939

Reffstrup, T. K., Larsen, J. C. and Meyer, O. (2010). Risk assessment of mixtures of pesticides. Current approaches and future strategies. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* **56**: 174-192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2009.09.013

Rehman, W., Arfons, L. M. and Lazarus, H. M. (2011). The rise, fall and subsequent triumph of thalidomide: lessons learned in drug development. *Therapeutic Advances in Hematology* **2**: 291-308. https://doi.org/10.1177/2040620711413165

Renner, R. (2001). Growing concern over perfluorinated chemicals. *Environmental Science & Technology* **35**: 154A-160A. https://doi.org/10.1021/es012317k

Reya, T. and Clevers, H. (2005). Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. *Nature* **434**: 843-850. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03319

Richter, S. H., Garner, J. P. and Würbel, H. (2009). Environmental standardization: cure or cause of poor reproducibility in animal experiments? *Nature Methods* **6**: 257-261. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1312 Ritter, R., Scheringer, M., MacLeod, M., Moeckel, C., Jones, K. C. and Hungerbühler, K. (2011). Intrinsic human elimination half-lives of polychlorinated biphenyls derived from the temporal evolution of cross-sectional biomonitoring data from the United Kingdom. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **119**: 225-231. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002211

Roediger, W. E. W. (1982). Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon. *Gastroenterology* **83**: 424-429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(82)80339-9

Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C. and Mahé, F. (2016). VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ* **4**: e2584. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2584

Rooks, M. G. and Garrett, W. S. (2016). Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **16**: 341-352. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.42

Rosenberg, D. W., Giardina, C. and Tanaka, T. (2009). Mouse models for the study of colon carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* **30**: 183-196. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgn267

Ross, P. S. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2001). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in humans and wildlife. World Health Organization (WHO). https://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/en/ch_3a.pdf

Rude, K. M., Pusceddu, M. M., Keogh, C. E., Sladek, J. A., Rabasa, G., Miller, E. N., Sethi, S., Keil, K. P., Pessah, I. N., Lein, P. J. and Gareau, M. G. (2019). Developmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in the maternal diet causes host-microbe defects in weanling offspring mice. *Environmental Pollution* 253: 708-721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.07.066

Rudel, R. A., Fenton, S. E., Ackerman, J. M., Euling, S. Y. and Makris, S. L. (2011). Environmental exposures and mammary gland development: state of the science, public health implications, and research recommendations. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **119**: 1053-1061. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002864

Russo, J. and Russo, I. H. (1996). Experimentally induced mammary tumors in rats. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* **39**: 7-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01806074

Rylander, C., Sandanger, T. M., Nost, T. H., Breivik, K. and Lund, E. (2015). Combining plasma measurements and mechanistic modeling to explore the effect of POPs on type 2 diabetes mellitus in Norwegian women. *Environmental Research* **142**: 365-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.07.002

Sachidanandam, R., Weissman, D., Schmidt, S. C., Kakol, J. M., Stein, L. D., Marth, G., Sherry, S., Mullikin, J. C., Mortimore, B. J., Willey, D. L., Hunt, S. E., Cole, C. G., Coggill, P. C., Rice, C. M., Ning, Z., Rogers, J., Bentley, D. R., Kwok, P. Y., Mardis, E. R., Yeh, R. T., Schultz, B., Cook, L., Davenport, R., Dante, M., Fulton, L., Hillier, L., Waterston, R. H., McPherson, J. D., Gilman, B., Schaffner, S., Van Etten, W. J., Reich, D., Higgins, J., Daly, M. J., Blumenstiel, B., Baldwin, J., Stange-Thomann, N., Zody, M. C., Linton, L., Lander, E. S. and Altshuler, D. (2001). A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. *Nature* **409**: 928-933. https://doi.org/10.1038/35057149

Sachs, N. and Clevers, H. (2014). Organoid cultures for the analysis of cancer phenotypes. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 24: 68-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2013.11.012

Safe, S. (1993). Toxicology, structure-function relationship, and human and environmental health impacts of polychlorinated biphenyls: progress and problems. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **100**: 259-268. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.93100259

Sancho, E., Batlle, E. and Clevers, H. (2004). Signaling pathways in intestinal development and cancer. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* **20**: 695-723. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.092805

Sanders, J. M., Burka, L. T., Smith, C. S., Black, W., James, R. and Cunningham, M. L. (2005). Differential expression of CYP1A, 2B, and 3A genes in the F344 rat following exposure to a polybrominated diphenyl ether mixture or individual components. *Toxicological Sciences* **88**: 127-133. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi288

Sansom, O. (2009). Tissue-specific tumour suppression by APC. <u>APC Proteins</u>. New York, NY, Springer New York: 107-118. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1145-2_9

Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G. J., van Es, J. H., van den Brink, S., van Houdt, W. J., Pronk, A., van Gorp, J., Siersema, P. D. and Clevers, H. (2011). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. *Gastroenterology* **141**: 1762-1772. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050

Sato, T., Vries, R. G., Snippert, H. J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D. E., van Es, J. H., Abo, A., Kujala, P., Peters, P. J. and Clevers, H. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures *in vitro* without a Mesenchymal niche. *Nature* **459**: 262-265. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07935

Schecter, A., Päpke, O., Lis, A., Ball, M., Ryan, J. J., Olson, J. R., Li, L. and Kessler, H. (1996). Decrease in milk and blood dioxin levels over two years in a mother nursing twins: estimates of decreased maternal and increased infant dioxin body burden from nursing. *Chemosphere* **32**: 543-549. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(95)00248-0

Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P. and Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature Methods* **9**: 676-682. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019

Scholz, M., Ward, D. V., Pasolli, E., Tolio, T., Zolfo, M., Asnicar, F., Truong, D. T., Tett, A., Morrow, A. L. and Segata, N. (2016). Strain-level microbial epidemiology and population genomics from shotgun metagenomics. *Nature Methods* 13: 435-438. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3802

Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention (2017). The 16 new POPs. Pamphlet. International Environment House, United Nations Environment.

Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. (2019a). Global alliance for alternatives to DDT. http://chm.pops.int/Implementation/PesticidePOPs/DDT/GlobalAlliance/tabid/621/mctl/ViewDetails/Ev entModID/1421/EventID/136/xmid/6821/Default.aspx (Accessed 08 April 2020).

Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. (2019b). History of the negotiations of the Stockholm Convention. http://www.pops.int/TheConvention/Overview/History/Overview/tabid/3549/Default.aspx (Accessed 16 April 2020).

Segev, O., Kushmaro, A. and Brenner, A. (2009). Environmental impact of flame retardants (persistence and biodegradability). *Environmental Research and Public Health* **6**: 478-491. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph6020478

Sekine, S., Lan, B. Y.-A., Bedolli, M., Feng, S. and Hebrok, M. (2006). Liver-specific loss of β-catenin blocks glutamine synthesis pathway activity and cytochrome p450 expression in mice. *Hepatology* **43**: 817-825. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.21131

Sharma, T., Banerjee, B. D., Mazumdar, D., Tyagi, V., Thakur, G., Guleria, K., Ahmed, R. S. and Tripathi, A. K. (2015). Association of organochlorine pesticides and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a case control study. *Journal of Reproductive Health and Medicine* **1**: 76-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrhm.2015.01.006

Sharpless, N. E. and DePinho, R. A. (2006). The mighty mouse: genetically engineered mouse models in cancer drug development. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **5**: 741-754. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2110

Shen, X. J., Rawls, J. F., Randall, T. A., Burcall, L., Mpande, C., Jenkins, N., Jovov, B., Abdo, Z., Sandler, R. S. and Keku, T. O. (2010). Molecular characterization of mucosal adherent bacteria and associations with colorectal adenomas. *Gut Microbes* 1: 138-147. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.1.3.12360

Shirota, M., Mukai, M., Sakurada, Y., Doyama, A., Inoue, K., Haishima, A., Akahori, F. and Shirota, K. (2006). Effects of vertically transferred 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB-126) on the reproductive development of female rats. *Journal of Reproduction and Development* **52**: 751-761. https://doi.org/10.1262/jrd.18062

Sholl, D. A. (1953). Dendritic organization in the neurons of the visual and motor cortices of the cat. *Journal of Anatomy* **87**: 387-406.

Slaoui, M. and Fiette, L. (2011). Histopathology procedures: from tissue sampling to histopathological evaluation. *Methods in Molecular Biology* **691**: 69-82. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-849-2_4

Sohn, O. S., Fiala, E. S., Requeijo, S. P., Weisburger, J. H. and Gonzalez, F. J. (2001). Differential effects of CYP2E1 status on the metabolic activation of the colon carcinogens azoxymethane and methylazoxymethanol. *Cancer Research* **61**: 8435-8440.

Song, L., Zhao, J., Jin, X., Li, Z., Newton, I. P., Liu, W., Xiao, H. and Zhao, M. (2014). The organochlorine *p*,*p*'-dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane induces colorectal cancer growth through Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Toxicology Letters* **229**: 284-291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.06.003

Sonich-Mullin, C., Fielder, R., Wiltse, J., Baetcke, K., Dempsey, J., Fenner-Crisp, P., Grant, D., Hartley, M., Knaap, A., Kroese, D., Mangelsdorf, I., Meek, E., Rice, J. M. and Younes, M. (2001). IPCS conceptual framework for evaluating a mode of action for chemical carcinogenesis. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* **34**: 146-152. https://doi.org/10.1006/rtph.2001.1493

Stanko, J. P., Easterling, M. R. and Fenton, S. E. (2015). Application of Sholl analysis to quantify changes in growth and development in rat mammary gland whole mounts. *Reproductive Toxicology* **54**: 129-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.11.004

Stanko, J. P. and Fenton, S. E. (2017). Quantifying branching density in rat mammary gland wholemounts using the Sholl analysis method. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* **125**: 55789. https://doi.org/10.3791/55789

Steppeler, C., Sodring, M., Egelandsdal, B., Kirkhus, B., Oostindjer, M., Alvseike, O., Gangsei, L. E., Hovland, E. M., Pierre, F. and Paulsen, J. E. (2017). Effects of dietary beef, pork, chicken and salmon on intestinal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice. *PLOS ONE* **12**: e0176001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176001

Straif, K. (2008). The burden of occupational cancer. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* **65**: 789-800. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2007.038224

Su, L. K., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Preisinger, A. C., Moser, A. R., Luongo, C., Gould, K. A. and Dove, W. F. (1992). Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the *APC* gene. *Science* **256**: 668-670. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9525(92)90391-G

Sun, J. and Kato, I. (2016). Gut microbiota, inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Genes & Diseases* **3**: 130-143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2016.03.004

Szabo, D. T., Pathmasiri, W., Sumner, S. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2017). Serum metabolomic profiles in neonatal mice following oral brominated flame retardant exposures to hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) alpha, gamma, and commercial Mixture. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **125**: 651-659. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp242

Szabo, D. T., Richardson, V. M., Ross, D. G., Diliberto, J. J., Kodavanti, P. R. S. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2008). Effects of perinatal PBDE exposure on hepatic phase I, phase II, phase III, and deiodinase 1 gene expression involved in thyroid hormone metabolism in male rat pups. *Toxicological Sciences* **107**: 27-39. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfn230

Sødring, M., Gunnes, G. and Paulsen, J. E. (2016). Spontaneous initiation, promotion and progression of colorectal cancer in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. *International Journal of Cancer* **138**: 1936-1946. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29928 Sødring, M., Oostindjer, M., Egelandsdal, B. and Paulsen, J. E. (2015). Effects of hemin and nitrite on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. *PLOS ONE* **10**: e0122880. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122880

Talsness, C., E., Kuriyama, S., N., Sterner-Kock, A., Schnitker, P., Grande Simone, W., Shakibaei, M., Andrade, A., Grote, K. and Chahoud, I. (2008). *In utero* and lactational exposures to low doses of polybrominated diphenyl ether-47 alter the reproductive system and thyroid gland of female rat offspring. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **116**: 308-314. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.10536

Tan, X., Behari, J., Cieply, B., Michalopoulos, G. K. and Monga, S. P. S. (2006). Conditional deletion of β -catenin reveals its role in liver growth and regeneration. *Gastroenterology* **131**: 1561-1572. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2006.08.042

Taylor, K. W., Hoffman, K., Thayer, K. A. and Daniels, J. L. (2014). Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals and menopause among women 20–65 years of age (NHANES). *Environmental Health Perspectives* **122**: 145-150. https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1306707

Thibodeaux, J. R., Hanson, R. G., Rogers, J. M., Grey, B. E., Barbee, B. D., Richards, J. H., Butenhoff, J. L., Stevenson, L. A. and Lau, C. (2003). Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicological Sciences* **74**: 369-381. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg121

Thomas, A. M., Manghi, P., Asnicar, F., Pasolli, E., Armanini, F., Zolfo, M., Beghini, F., Manara, S., Karcher, N., Pozzi, C., Gandini, S., Serrano, D., Tarallo, S., Francavilla, A., Gallo, G., Trompetto, M., Ferrero, G., Mizutani, S., Shiroma, H., Shiba, S., Shibata, T., Yachida, S., Yamada, T., Wirbel, J., Schrotz-King, P., Ulrich, C. M., Brenner, H., Arumugam, M., Bork, P., Zeller, G., Cordero, F., Dias-Neto, E., Setubal, J. C., Tett, A., Pardini, B., Rescigno, M., Waldron, L., Naccarati, A. and Segata, N. (2019). Metagenomic analysis of colorectal cancer datasets identifies cross-cohort microbial diagnostic signatures and a link with choline degradation. *Nature Medicine* **25**: 667-678. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0405-7

Thoolen, B., Maronpot, R. R., Harada, T., Nyska, A., Rousseaux, C., Nolte, T., Malarkey, D. E., Kaufmann, W., Küttler, K., Deschl, U., Nakae, D., Gregson, R., Vinlove, M. P., Brix, A. E., Singh, B., Belpoggi, F. and Ward, J. M. (2010). Proliferative and nonproliferative lesions of the rat and mouse hepatobiliary system. *Toxicologic Pathology* **38**: 5S-81S. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310386499

Titford, M. (2009). Progress in the development of microscopical techniques for diagnostic pathology. *Journal of Histotechnology* **32**: 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1179/his.2009.32.1.9

Tjalsma, H., Boleij, A., Marchesi, J. R. and Dutilh, B. E. (2012). A bacterial driver–passenger model for colorectal cancer: beyond the usual suspects. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **10**: 575-582. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2819

Tolson, A. H. and Wang, H. (2010). Regulation of drug-metabolizing enzymes by xenobiotic receptors: PXR and CAR. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* **62**: 1238-1249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2010.08.006 Tomic, D., Brodie, S. G., Deng, C., Hickey, R. J., Babus, J. K., Malkas, L. H. and Flaws, J. A. (2002). Smad 3 may regulate follicular growth in the mouse ovary. *Biology of Reproduction* **66**: 917-923. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod66.4.917

Trudel, D., Horowitz, L., Wormuth, M., Scheringer, M., Cousins, I. T. and Hungerbühler, K. (2008). Estimating consumer exposure to PFOS and PFOA. *Risk Analysis* **28**: 251-269. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2008.01017.x

Trygg, J., Holmes, E. and Lundstedt, T. (2007). Chemometrics in metabonomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* **6**: 469-479. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr060594q

Tsukimori, K., Tokunaga, S., Shibata, S., Uchi, H., Nakayama, D., Ishimaru, T., Nakano, H., Wake, N., Yoshimura, T. and Furue, M. (2008). Long-term effects of polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxins on pregnancy outcomes in women affected by the Yusho incident. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **116**: 626-630. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.10686

Tucker, D. K., Bouknight, S. H., Brar, S. S., Kissling, G. E. and Fenton, S. E. (2018). Evaluation of prenatal exposure to bisphenol analogues on development and long-term health of the mammary gland in female mice. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **126**: 087003. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP3189

Tucker, D. K., Macon, M. B., Strynar, M. J., Dagnino, S., Andersen, E. and Fenton, S. E. (2015). The mammary gland is a sensitive pubertal target in CD-1 and C57Bl/6 mice following perinatal perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) exposure. *Reproductive Toxicology* **54**: 26-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.12.002

Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Hamady, M., Fraser-Liggett, C. M., Knight, R. and Gordon, J. I. (2007). The human microbiome project. *Nature* **449**: 804-810. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06244

Uzumcu, M. and Zachow, R. (2007). Developmental exposure to environmental endocrine disruptors: consequences within the ovary and on female reproductive function. *Reproductive Toxicology* **23**: 337-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2006.10.006

Vabre, P., Gatimel, N., Moreau, J., Gayrard, V., Picard-Hagen, N., Parinaud, J. and Leandri, R. D. (2017). Environmental pollutants, a possible etiology for premature ovarian insufficiency: a narrative review of animal and human data. *Environmental Health* **16**: 37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0242-4

van der Ven, L. T. M., van de Kuil, T., Verhoef, A., Leonards, P. E. G., Slob, W., Cantón, R. F., Germer, S., Hamers, T., Visser, T. J., Litens, S., Håkansson, H., Fery, Y., Schrenk, D., van den Berg, M., Piersma, A. H. and Vos, J. G. (2008). A 28-day oral dose toxicity study enhanced to detect endocrine effects of a purified technical pentabromodiphenyl ether (pentaBDE) mixture in Wistar rats. *Toxicology* **245**: 109-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.12.016

van Ommen, B. and van Bladeren, P. J. (1989). Possible reactive intermediates in the oxidative biotransformation of hexachlorobenzene. *Drug Metabolism and Drug Interactions* **7**: 213-243. https://doi.org/10.1515/dmdi.1989.7.2-3.213 Vandenberg, L. N., Colborn, T., Hayes, T. B., Heindel, J. J., Jacobs, J. D. R., Lee, D.-H., Shioda, T., Soto, A. M., vom Saal, F. S., Welshons, W. V., Zoeller, R. T. and Myers, J. P. (2012). Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. *Endocrine Reviews* 33: 378-455. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2011-1050

Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., Smith, H. O., Yandell, M., Evans, C. A., Holt, R. A., Gocayne, J. D., Amanatides, P., Ballew, R. M., Huson, D. H., Wortman, J. R., Zhang, Q., Kodira, C. D., Zheng, X. H., Chen, L., Skupski, M., Subramanian, G., Thomas, P. D., Zhang, J., Gabor Miklos, G. L., Nelson, C., Broder, S., Clark, A. G., Nadeau, J., McKusick, V. A., Zinder, N., Levine, A. J., Roberts, R. J., Simon, M., Slayman, C., Hunkapiller, M., Bolanos, R., Delcher, A., Dew, I., Fasulo, D., Flanigan, M., Florea, L., Halpern, A., Hannenhalli, S., Kravitz, S., Levy, S., Mobarry, C., Reinert, K., Remington, K., Abu-Threideh, J., Beasley, E., Biddick, K., Bonazzi, V., Brandon, R., Cargill, M., Chandramouliswaran, I., Charlab, R., Chaturvedi, K., Deng, Z., Di Francesco, V., Dunn, P., Eilbeck, K., Evangelista, C., Gabrielian, A. E., Gan, W., Ge, W., Gong, F., Gu, Z., Guan, P., Heiman, T. J., Higgins, M. E., Ji, R. R., Ke, Z., Ketchum, K. A., Lai, Z., Lei, Y., Li, Z., Li, J., Liang, Y., Lin, X., Lu, F., Merkulov, G. V., Milshina, N., Moore, H. M., Naik, A. K., Narayan, V. A., Neelam, B., Nusskern, D., Rusch, D. B., Salzberg, S., Shao, W., Shue, B., Sun, J., Wang, Z., Wang, A., Wang, X., Wang, J., Wei, M., Wides, R., Xiao, C., Yan, C., Yao, A., Ye, J., Zhan, M., Zhang, W., Zhang, H., Zhao, Q., Zheng, L., Zhong, F., Zhong, W., Zhu, S., Zhao, S., Gilbert, D., Baumhueter, S., Spier, G., Carter, C., Cravchik, A., Woodage, T., Ali, F., An, H., Awe, A., Baldwin, D., Baden, H., Barnstead, M., Barrow, I., Beeson, K., Busam, D., Carver, A., Center, A., Cheng, M. L., Curry, L., Danaher, S., Davenport, L., Desilets, R., Dietz, S., Dodson, K., Doup, L., Ferriera, S., Garg, N., Gluecksmann, A., Hart, B., Haynes, J., Haynes, C., Heiner, C., Hladun, S., Hostin, D., Houck, J., Howland, T., Ibegwam, C., Johnson, J., Kalush, F., Kline, L., Koduru, S., Love, A., Mann, F., May, D., McCawley, S., McIntosh, T., McMullen, I., Moy, M., Moy, L., Murphy, B., Nelson, K., Pfannkoch, C., Pratts, E., Puri, V., Qureshi, H., Reardon, M., Rodriguez, R., Rogers, Y. H., Romblad, D., Ruhfel, B., Scott, R., Sitter, C., Smallwood, M., Stewart, E., Strong, R., Suh, E., Thomas, R., Tint, N. N., Tse, S., Vech, C., Wang, G., Wetter, J., Williams, S., Williams, M., Windsor, S., Winn-Deen, E., Wolfe, K., Zaveri, J., Zaveri, K., Abril, J. F., Guigo, R., Campbell, M. J., Sjolander, K. V., Karlak, B., Kejariwal, A., Mi, H., Lazareva, B., Hatton, T., Narechania, A., Diemer, K., Muruganujan, A., Guo, N., Sato, S., Bafna, V., Istrail, S., Lippert, R., Schwartz, R., Walenz, B., Yooseph, S., Allen, D., Basu, A., Baxendale, J., Blick, L., Caminha, M., Carnes-Stine, J., Caulk, P., Chiang, Y. H., Coyne, M., Dahlke, C., Mays, A., Dombroski, M., Donnelly, M., Ely, D., Esparham, S., Fosler, C., Gire, H., Glanowski, S., Glasser, K., Glodek, A., Gorokhov, M., Graham, K., Gropman, B., Harris, M., Heil, J., Henderson, S., Hoover, J., Jennings, D., Jordan, C., Jordan, J., Kasha, J., Kagan, L., Kraft, C., Levitsky, A., Lewis, M., Liu, X., Lopez, J., Ma, D., Majoros, W., McDaniel, J., Murphy, S., Newman, M., Nguyen, T., Nguyen, N., Nodell, M., Pan, S., Peck, J., Peterson, M., Rowe, W., Sanders, R., Scott, J., Simpson, M., Smith, T., Sprague, A., Stockwell, T., Turner, R., Venter, E., Wang, M., Wen, M., Wu, D., Wu, M., Xia, A., Zandieh, A. and Zhu, X. (2001). The sequence of the human genome. Science 291: 1304-1351. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1058040

Veselkov, K. A., Lindon, J. C., Ebbels, T. M. D., Crockford, D., Volynkin, V. V., Holmes, E., Davies, D. B. and Nicholson, J. K. (2009). Recursive segment-wise peak alignment of biological 1H NMR spectra for improved metabolic biomarker recovery. *Analytical Chemistry* **81**: 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac8011544 Veyhe, A. S., Hofoss, D., Hansen, S., Thomassen, Y., Sandanger, T. M., Odland, J. Ø. and Nieboer, E. (2015). The Northern Norway mother-and-child contaminant cohort (MISA) study: PCA analyses of environmental contaminants in maternal sera and dietary intake in early pregnancy. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* **218**: 254-264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2014.12.001

Vizcaino, E., Grimalt, J. O., Fernández-Somoano, A. and Tardon, A. (2014). Transport of persistent organic pollutants across the human placenta. *Environment International* **65**: 107-115. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.01.004

Wacławek, S., Silvestri, D., Hrabák, P., Padil, V. V. T., Torres-Mendieta, R., Wacławek, M., Černík, M. and Dionysiou, D. D. (2019). Chemical oxidation and reduction of hexachlorocyclohexanes: a review. *Water Research* **162**: 302-319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.06.072

Walton, K., Dorne, J. L. and Renwick, A. G. (2001). Uncertainty factors for chemical risk assessment: interspecies differences in the *in vivo* pharmacokinetics and metabolism of human CYP1A2 substrates. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **39**: 667-680. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(01)00006-0

Wang, D., Zhang, P., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, Z. and Zhu, W. (2016). NMR- and LC-MS/MS-based urine metabolomic investigation of the subacute effects of hexabromocyclododecane in mice. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International* 23: 8500-8507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5940-2

Wang, Q., Wang, K., Wu, W., Giannoulatou, E., Ho, J. W. K. and Li, L. (2019). Host and microbiome multi-omics integration: applications and methodologies. *Biophysical Reviews* **11**: 55-65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-018-0491-7

Wang, Y. and Qian, P.-Y. (2009). Conservative fragments in bacterial 16S rRNA genes and primer design for 16S ribosomal DNA amplicons in metagenomic studies. *PLOS ONE* **4**: e7401. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007401

Watson, C. J. and Khaled, W. T. (2008). Mammary development in the embryo and adult: a journey of morphogenesis and commitment. *Development* **135**: 995-1003. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.005439

Waxman, D. J. (1999). P450 gene induction by structurally diverse xenochemicals: central role of nuclear receptors CAR, PXR, and PPAR. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **369**: 11-23. https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1999.1351

Westerhuis, J. A., Hoefsloot, H. C. J., Smit, S., Vis, D. J., Smilde, A. K., van Velzen, E. J. J., van Duijnhoven, J. P. M. and van Dorsten, F. A. (2008). Assessment of PLSDA cross validation. *Metabolomics* **4**: 81-89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-007-0099-6

White, S. S., Calafat, A. M., Kuklenyik, Z., Villanueva, L., Zehr, R. D., Helfant, L., Strynar, M. J., Lindstrom, A. B., Thibodeaux, J. R., Wood, C. and Fenton, S. E. (2007). Gestational PFOA exposure of mice is associated with altered mammary gland development in dams and female offspring. *Toxicological Sciences* **96**: 133-144. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl177

White, S. S., Kato, K., Jia, L. T., Basden, B. J., Calafat, A. M., Hines, E. P., Stanko, J. P., Wolf, C. J., Abbott, B. D. and Fenton, S. E. (2009). Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid on mouse mammary gland development and differentiation resulting from cross-foster and restricted gestational exposures. *Reproductive Toxicology* **27**: 289-298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2008.11.054

White, S. S., Stanko, J. P., Kato, K., Calafat, A. M., Hines, E. P. and Fenton, S. E. (2011). Gestational and chronic low-dose PFOA exposures and mammary gland growth and differentiation in three generations of CD-1 mice. *Environmental Health Perspectives* **119**: 1070-1076. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002741

Whitlock, J. J. P. (1990). Genetic and molecular aspects of 2,3,7,8-tetra-chlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin action. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* **30**: 251-277. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pa.30.040190.001343

WHO. (2009). Global health risks: mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. . World Health Organization (WHO), Geneva, Switzerland. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44203

WHO. (2010). Persistent organic pollutants: impact on child health. http://apps.Who.Int/iris/bitstream/10665/44525/1/9789241501101 eng.Pdf. (Accessed 08 April 2020).

Williams, R. T. (1947). Detoxication mechanisms. The metabolism of drugs and allied organic compounds. London, Chapman & Hall, Ltd.

Wimsatt, J., Villers, M., Thomas, L., Kamarec, S., Montgomery, C., Yeung, L. W. Y., Hu, Y. and Innes, K. (2016). Oral perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) lessens tumor development in the APCmin mouse model of spontaneous familial adenomatous polyposis. *BMC Cancer* 16: 942. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2861-5

Wimsatt, J. H., Montgomery, C., Thomas, L. S., Savard, C., Tallman, R., Innes, K. and Jrebi, N. (2018). Assessment of a mouse xenograft model of primary colorectal cancer with special reference to perfluorooctane sulfonate. *PeerJ* **6**: e5602. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5602

Winans, B., Humble, M. C. and Lawrence, B. P. (2011). Environmental toxicants and the developing immune system: a missing link in the global battle against infectious disease? *Reproductive Toxicology* **31**: 327-336. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.09.004

Winkens, K., Vestergren, R., Berger, U. and Cousins, I. T. (2017). Early life exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs): a critical review. *Emerging Contaminants* **3**: 55-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2017.05.001

Wishart, D. S., Tzur, D., Knox, C., Eisner, R., Guo, A. C., Young, N., Cheng, D., Jewell, K., Arndt, D., Sawhney, S., Fung, C., Nikolai, L., Lewis, M., Coutouly, M.-A., Forsythe, I., Tang, P., Shrivastava, S., Jeroncic, K., Stothard, P., Amegbey, G., Block, D., Hau, D. D., Wagner, J., Miniaci, J., Clements, M., Gebremedhin, M., Guo, N., Zhang, Y., Duggan, G. E., MacInnis, G. D., Weljie, A. M., Dowlatabadi, R., Bamforth, F., Clive, D., Greiner, R., Li, L., Marrie, T., Sykes, B. D., Vogel, H. J. and Querengesser, L.

(2007). HMDB: the human metabolome database. *Nucleic Acids Research* **35**: D521-D526. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkl923

Wlodarska, M., Kostic, Aleksandar D. and Xavier, Ramnik J. (2015). An integrative view of microbiome-host interactions in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Cell Host & Microbe* **17**: 577-591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.008

Wolf, C. J., Fenton, S. E., Schmid, J. E., Calafat, A. M., Kuklenyik, Z., Bryant, X. A., Thibodeaux, J., Das, K. P., White, S. S., Lau, C. S. and Abbott, B. D. (2007). Developmental toxicity of perfluorooctanoic acid in the CD-1 mouse after cross-foster and restricted gestational exposures. *Toxicological Sciences* 95: 462-473. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kf1159

Woodwell, G. M. (1967). Toxic substances and ecological cycles. Scientific American 216: 24-31.

Workman, P., Aboagye, E. O., Balkwill, F., Balmain, A., Bruder, G., Chaplin, D. J., Double, J. A.,
Everitt, J., Farningham, D. A. H., Glennie, M. J., Kelland, L. R., Robinson, V., Stratford, I. J., Tozer, G. M., Watson, S., Wedge, S. R., Eccles, S. A. and Committee of the National Cancer Research, I. (2010).
Guidelines for the welfare and use of animals in cancer research. *British Journal of Cancer* 102: 1555-1577. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605642

Xu, C., Jiang, Z.-Y., Liu, Q., Liu, H. and Gu, A. (2017). Estrogen receptor beta mediates hepatotoxicity induced by perfluorooctane sulfonate in mouse. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **24**: 13414-13423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8943-3

Xu, R., Wang, Q. and Li, L. (2015). A genome-wide systems analysis reveals strong link between colorectal cancer and trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), a gut microbial metabolite of dietary meat and fat. *BMC Genomics* **16**: S4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-16-S7-S4

Yamaji, T., Dierschke, D. J., Bhattacharya, A. N. and Knobil, E. (1972). The negative feedback control by estradiol and progesterone of LH secretion in the ovariectomized Rhesus Monkey. *Endocrinology* **90**: 771-777. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-90-3-771

Yang, C., Tan, Y. S., Harkema, J. R. and Haslam, S. Z. (2009). Differential effects of peripubertal exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid on mammary gland development in C57Bl/6 and Balb/c mouse strains. *Reproductive Toxicology* **27**: 299-306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2008.10.003

Yang, W., Fu, J., Wang, T., Liu, H., Wang, Y., Zhou, Q. and Jiang, G. (2014). Alterations of endogenous metabolites in urine of rats exposed to decabromodiphenyl ether using metabonomic approaches. *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)* **26**: 900-908. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1001-0742(13)60533-1

Zackular, J. P., Baxter, N. T., Iverson, K. D., Sadler, W. D., Petrosino, J. F., Chen, G. Y. and Schloss, P. D. (2013). The gut microbiome modulates colon tumorigenesis. *mBio* **4**: e0069213. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00692-13 Zamaratskaia, G., Zlabek, V., Chen, G. and Madej, A. (2009). Modulation of porcine cytochrome P450 enzyme activities by surgical castration and immunocastration. *Animal* **3**: 1124-1132. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1751731109004510

Zamaratskaia, G., Zlabek, V., Ropstad, E., Tajet, H. and Andresen, O. (2010). Hepatic ethoxy-, methoxy- and pentoxyresorufin *O*-dealkylase activities in Landrace and Duroc pigs stimulated with HCG. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* **45**: e269-274. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0531.2009.01553.x

Zangar, R. C., Davydov, D. R. and Verma, S. (2004). Mechanisms that regulate production of reactive oxygen species by cytochrome P450. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **199**: 316-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2004.01.018

Zeineldin, M. and Neufeld, K. L. (2013). More than two decades of *Apc* modeling in rodents. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer* **1836**: 80-89. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2013.01.001

Zhang, F., Zhang, Y., Zhao, W., Deng, K., Wang, Z., Yang, C., Ma, L., Openkova, M. S., Hou, Y. and Li, K. (2017). Metabolomics for biomarker discovery in the diagnosis, prognosis, survival and recurrence of colorectal cancer: a systematic review. *Oncotarget* **8**: 35460-35472. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.16727

Zhang, J., Yan, L., Tian, M., Huang, Q., Peng, S., Dong, S. and Shen, H. (2012). The metabonomics of combined dietary exposure to phthalates and polychlorinated biphenyls in mice. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* **66**: 287-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2012.03.045

Zhou, T., Taylor, M. M., DeVito, M. J. and Crofton, K. M. (2002). Developmental exposure to brominated diphenyl ethers results in thyroid hormone disruption. *Toxicological Sciences* **66**: 105-116. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/66.1.105

Zhu, Q., Jin, Z., Wu, W., Gao, R., Guo, B., Gao, Z., Yang, Y. and Qin, H. (2014). Analysis of the intestinal lumen microbiota in an animal model of colorectal cancer. *PLOS ONE* **9**: e90849. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090849 Appendix: Papers I-III



1 Manuscript.

Perinatal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants: Effects on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver in CD-1 mice.

- 4 Silje M. Johanson^{a,*}, Erik Ropstad^a, Gunn C. Østby^a, Mona Aleksandersen^b, Galia Zamaratskaia^c,
- 5 Gudrun S. Boge^d, Cathrine Trangerud^d, Ruth Halsne^e, Jan L. Lyche^f, Hanne F. Berntsen^{a,g}, Karin
- 6 E. Zimmer^b, Steven Verhaegen^a
- 7 aDepartment of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences,
- 8 P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- 9 ^bDepartment of Preclinical Sciences and Pathology, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O.
- 10 Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- ^cDepartment of Molecular Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Box 7015, SE 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden.
- ¹³ ^dDepartment of Companion Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences,
- 14 P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- 15 eDepartment of Forensic Sciences, Division of Laboratory Medicine, Oslo University Hospital,
- 16 P.O. Box 4950 Nydalen, 0424 Oslo, Norway.
- ^fDepartment of Paraclinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369
 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- 19 ^gNational Institute of Occupational Health, P.O. Box 5330 Majorstuen, NO-0304 Oslo, Norway
- 20 *Corresponding author at NMBU School of Veterinary Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-
- 21 0102 Oslo, Norway.
- 22 E-mail addresses: silje.modahl.johanson@nmbu.no (S. M. Johanson), erik.ropstad@nmbu.no (E.
- 23 Ropstad), <u>gunn.ostby@nmbu.no</u> (G. C. Østby), <u>mona.aleksandersen@nmbu.no</u> (M.
- 24 Aleksandersen), <u>Galia.Zamaratskaia@slu.se</u> (G. Zamaratskaia),
- 25 <u>Gudrun.Boge@legemiddelverket.no</u> (G. S. Boge), <u>cathrine.trangerud@nmbu.no</u> (C. Trangerud),
- 26 <u>ruth@halsne.net</u> (R. Halsne), jan.l.lyche@nmbu.no (J. L. Lyche), <u>Hanne.Berntsen@stami.no</u> (H.

F. Berntsen), <u>karin.zimmer@nmbu.no</u> (K. E. Zimmer), <u>steven.verhaegen@nmbu.no</u> (S.
Verhaegen).

29 Abstract

30 The ability of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) with endocrine disrupting properties to interfere with the developing reproductive system is of increasing concern. POPs are transferred 31 32 from dams to offspring and the high sensitivity of neonates to endocrine disturbances may be caused by underdeveloped systems of metabolism and excretion. The present study aimed to 33 34 characterize the effect of *in utero* and lactational exposure to a human relevant mixture of POPs 35 on the female mammary gland, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver morphology and function in CD-1 offspring. Dams were exposed to the mixture through the diet at Control, Low or High 36 doses (representing 0x, 5 000x and 100 000x human estimated daily intake levels, respectively) 37 38 from weaning and throughout mating, gestation and lactation. Perinatally exposed female 39 offspring exhibited altered mammary gland development, resulting in a premature arrest of gland growth, and a suppressed ovarian follicle maturation. Increased hepatic cytochrome P450 40 enzymatic activities indirectly indicated activation of nuclear receptors and potential generation 41 42 of reactive products. This could have contributed to hepatocellular hypertrophy, which was observed from weaning until 30 weeks of age, and potentially lead to hepatotoxicity. Further 43 studies should address if human relevant mixtures of POPs can cause mammary or hepatic 44 carcinogenesis, lactational impairment or infertility. 45

46 Keywords

47 Persistent organic pollutants; Mammary gland development; Ovarian folliculogenesis;
48 Hepatocellular hypertrophy; Hepatic cytochrome P450 activity

49 Abbreviations

BFR, brominated flame retardant; CYP, cytochrome P450; EDC, endocrine disrupting
compound; hEDI, human estimated daily intake; MG, mammary gland; OCP, organochlorine
pesticide; PCB, polychlorinated biphenyl; PFAS, perfluoroalkylated substance; POP, persistent
organic pollutant; TEB, terminal end bud.

54

55 1. Introduction

56 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are of significant concern due to their resistance to degradation and potential toxicity (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2019). This has led 57 58 to the regulation of production, use and release of POPs by the Stockholm Convention 59 (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2010). A variety of POPs exhibit endocrine disrupting properties as they interfere with the synthesis, transport, metabolism or elimination of naturally 60 occurring hormones in the body (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al. 2009, Bopp et al. 2018). The 61 62 hormonal system is of vital importance in the fully functioning organism. Thus, there is a growing concern about endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) interfering with the reproductive, 63 metabolic, neuroendocrine or cardiovascular systems (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al. 2009, Kabir et 64 al. 2015). POPs are known to be transferred from mothers to offspring through the placenta and 65 66 breast milk (Barr et al. 2007, Fenton et al. 2009, Berg et al. 2010, Bonfanti et al. 2014, Vizcaino et al. 2014, Winkens et al. 2017, Johanson et al. 2020). As early stages of development are 67 particularly sensitive to disturbances by EDCs, the placental and lactational transfer of POPs may 68 69 have devastating consequences (Faustman et al. 2000, Barr et al. 2005, Landrigan and Goldman 2011). 70

71 Mammary gland (MG) development is an intricate process finely regulated by hormones, growth factors and stromal factors, all of which could potentially be disturbed by EDCs (Fenton 2006, 72 Rudel et al. 2011). One extensively studied example of such a disturbance is the effect of 73 74 perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) on MG development in rodents (White et al. 2007, White et al. 75 2009, Yang et al. 2009, Macon et al. 2011, White et al. 2011, Tucker et al. 2015). Other studies have also reported effects in the developing female MG or alterations in ovarian follicle 76 77 maturation by various POPs (Markey et al. 2001, Fenton et al. 2002, Baldridge et al. 2003, Muto et al. 2003, Rayner et al. 2005, Lilienthal et al. 2006, Shirota et al. 2006, Enoch et al. 2007, 78 79 Talsness et al. 2008, Kodavanti et al. 2010, Miret et al. 2017, Tucker et al. 2018). Changes in 80 ovarian folliculogenesis could lead to premature ovarian insufficiency and infertility (Vabre et al. 2017). Furthermore, exposure to EDCs may increase the risk of developing breast, cervical, 81 82 uterine or ovarian cancer (Rachoń 2015).

The high sensitivity of fetuses and neonates to POP exposure compared to adults can be partly
explained by immature metabolic and excretion systems (Coughtrie *et al.* 1988, Milsap and Jusko

1994). The cytochrome P450 (CYP) family of enzymes (included in phase I metabolism) 85 86 catalyzes the transformation of xenobiotics to more polar derivatives that can be further 87 metabolized or excreted (Guengerich 1991, Nebert and Russell 2002, Maronpot et al. 2010). 88 However, transformation by CYP enzymes may also form free radicals (e.g. reactive oxygen species), or activate procarcinogens, causing potentially more deleterious effects than the original 89 90 compound (Bondy and Naderi 1994, Ioannides and Lewis 2004, Zangar et al. 2004). The expression of CYP enzymes is regulated by different nuclear receptors such as the aryl 91 hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), the pregnane X receptor (PXR) and the constitutive 92 93 androstane/activated receptor (CAR) (Waxman 1999, Tolson and Wang 2010), Various POPs 94 have been shown to stimulate these receptors and consequently increase the enzymatic activities 95 of CYPs (Sanders et al. 2005, Pacyniak et al. 2007, Szabo et al. 2008, van der Ven et al. 2008). 96 Furthermore, upregulation of hepatic CYP transcripts at early life stages has been stated as early 97 indicators of liver toxicity and carcinogenicity (Dunnick et al. 2018).

Previously, toxicological studies focused on the use of single compounds or technical mixtures 98 of POPs. However, recent attention has shifted to study more realistic exposure scenarios with 99 100 multiple compounds that may interact and cause effects not anticipated by dose addition 101 (Hernández et al. 2013, Bopp et al. 2018). For the present study, a complex mixture of POPs was designed based on information from Scandinavian food basket surveys (Berntsen et al. 2017). 102 The mixture included polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), 103 104 brominated flame retardants (BFRs) and perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs), many of which 105 have previously been studied as single compounds or technical mixtures. The present study aimed to investigate how in utero and lactational exposure to the mixture of POPs affected the 106 107 developing female reproductive organs (the MG and ovary) and liver in CD-1 mice.

108 2. Materials and Methods

109 2.1. Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the Norwegian
University of Life Sciences (NMBU) and the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (application ID:
FOTS 7722). It was conducted in accordance with The Norwegian Regulation on Animal
Experimentation at the Section for Experimental Biomedicine, NMBU-Faculty of Veterinary
Medicine, in Oslo, Norway. The animals were health-monitored according to recommendations

by the Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Association (FELASA;
<u>http://www.felasa.eu/</u>) and kept under Specific Pathogen Free (SPF) conditions.

117 2.2. Feed design

The POP mixture was designed by Berntsen et al. (2017). In brief, the composition of PCBs, 118 119 OCPs, BFRs and PFASs was chosen based on concentrations in Scandinavian food products 120 stated in publications prior to 2012. Human estimated daily intake (hEDI) levels were estimated and adapted to a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g feed/day. The concentrations were upward adjusted 121 122 to 5 000x (Low dose) and 100 000x (High dose) hEDI. All polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), PCBs and OCPs were purchased from Chiron AS (Trondheim, Norway). 123 Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) and all PFASs, except for perfluorohexane sulfonic acid 124 125 (PFHxS) purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Dallas, USA), were obtained from 126 Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA). Compounds were dissolved in acetone, cyclohexane or 127 chloroform and added to corn oil (Jasmin, fully refined, Yonca Gida San A.S., Manisa, Turkey). 128 The solvent was evaporated under N₂-flow and the mixture was incorporated into AIN-93G mouse feed (TestDiets, St.Louis, USA). The control diet contained corn oil from which the 129 solvent had been evaporated. An additional AIN-93G reference diet was also made using corn 130 131 oil instead of soybean oil. Mixture composition and concentrations of individual compounds 132 (nominal and measured) are presented in Table 1.

133

Table 1. Nominal and measured concentrations (ng/g feed) of the PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs in AIN-

135 93G mouse feed at the Low and High doses (5 000x and 100 000x human estimated daily intake,

136	respectively).	Adapted from	Table 1 in	Berntsen	et al. ((2017).
-----	----------------	--------------	------------	----------	----------	---------

	Nominal	Measured	Nominal	Measured		
	concentrations	concentrations	concentrations	concentrations		
Compounds	Low	Low	High	High		
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)			-			
PCB-28	5.8	3.1	117	46		
PCB-52	13.8	15.0	275	182		
PCB-101	23.3	25.4	467	377		
PCB-118	40.4	37.2	808	612		
PCB-138	57.5	53.8	1150	957		
PCB-153	57.5	61.4	1150	981		
PCB-180	15.4	17.4	308	263		
Σ7PCBs	213.7	213.3	4275	3418		
Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs)						
HCB	50.0	37.4	1000	588		
α-chlordane	37.5	45.0	750	723		
Oxychlordane	12.5	9.8	250	297		
Trans-nonachlor	12.5	14.9	250	264		
α-НСН	21.7	21.2	433	421		
β-НСН	17.5	22.3	350	398		
γ-HCH (Lindane)	23.8	31.4	475	435		
Σ7OCPs	175.5	182.0	3508	3126		
<i>p,p</i> '-DDE	119.6	136.0	2392	2390		
Dieldrin	75.0	70.4	1500	1470		
Brominated flame retardants (BFRs)						
BDE-47	40.4	39.7	808	642		
BDE-99	7.9	8.6	158	126		
BDE-100	6.3	5.6	125	91		
BDE-153	1.3	1.5	25	22		
BDE-154	2.5	2.8	50	38		
ΣBDE-47-154	58.4	58.2	1166	919		
BDE-209	62.5	64.8	1250	1141		
HBCD	12.5	9.9	250	203		
Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs)						
PFHxS	4.9	1.7	98	42		
PFOS	10.8	3.2	217	74		
PFOA	18.3	6.0	367	121		
PFNA	5.8	2.1	117	42		
PFDA	7.9	3.1	158	57		
PFUnDA	4.0	1.6	80	28		
ΣPFASs	51.7	17.7	1037	364		

138

139 2.3. Animals, experimental design and sample collection

Timed-pregnant CD-1 mice (F0) were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, 140 USA) and gave birth 4-5 days after arrival to the F1 generation. At 3 weeks of age, F1 females 141 142 were randomly assigned to a dose: Control (n = 28), Low (n = 27), or High (n = 20). Exposure 143 continued throughout mating (at 10 weeks of age with CD-1 males bred in-house), gestation and 144 lactation. Offspring (F2) produced by the F1 dams were given the AIN-93G reference diet from 145 3 weeks of age and only exposed to the mixture of POPs *in utero*, through lactation and by 146 nibbling on their mothers feed prior to weaning. The study design in illustrated in Supplementary Figure S1. 147

All mice were housed in closed type III individually ventilated cages (IVC) (Allentown Inc, USA) except during mating when animals were moved to open Makrolon Type III cages (Techniplast, Buguggiate, Italy). All cages contained standard aspen bedding, red polycarbonate houses and cellulose nesting material (Scanbur BK, Karlslunde, Denmark). Water and feed were available *ad libitum*. Cages, bedding, nesting material and water bottles were changed weekly. The animal room was on a 12:12 light-dark cycle, with a room temperature of $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and $45 \pm 5\%$ relative humidity.

Dams (F1) were euthanized at gestation day 17 (pregnant; n = 12, 16 and 8 for the Control, Low and High doses, respectively) or at 21 days post-partum (post-pregnant; n = 14, 10 and 11 for the Control, Low and High doses, respectively) with a total exposure time of 9 or 13 weeks, respectively. Mating was unsuccessful for 3 dams (2 in Control and 1 in High). One dam (exposed to the Low dose) died prior to mating.

Female offspring (F2) were sacrificed at 3 (weaning), 6 (pubertal) and 9 (adult) weeks of age (n
= 12, 14 and 14 for all doses, respectively). Male offspring (F2) were sacrificed at 9 or 30 weeks
of age (n = 15 for all doses) to further investigate the hepatic alternations observed in females.
Due to a low number of males produced by dams exposed to the High dose, all males in this dose
were sacrificed at 9 weeks of age. Thus, 30-week-old male offspring were only sampled from the
Control and Low doses.

Mice were sacrificed under anesthesia (isoflurane gas obtained from Baxter, San Juan, PuertoRico) by cardiac puncture and cervical dislocation. A cross section of the left liver lobe, ovaries,

and the fourth MG on the left side were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for histopathological examinations. The remaining left lobe was frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C for chemical analysis. The right, caudate and quadrate lobes were also frozen (on dry ice) and stored (-80°C) for cytochrome P450 activity analysis. The fourth MG on the right side was peeled away from the inner skin surface and spread out on a microscope slide for whole mount analysis.

174 2.4. Chemical analysis

Pieces of the left liver lobe of dams (F1) and female offspring (F2) were pooled according to their respective dose (Control, Low and High) and sampling time (pregnant, post-pregnant, and 3, 6 and 9 weeks of age). Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs was conducted on pooled samples at the Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, NMBU, Oslo, Norway.

179 The method for PCB, OCP and BFR analysis is based on Brevik (Brevik 1978) and Polder et al. 180 (2014) and accredited by the Norwegian Accreditation for chemical analysis in biota 181 (requirements of the NS-EN ISO/IEC 17025, TEST 137). Briefly, up to 2.5 g liver tissue were 182 homogenized (using a T25 Ika Ultra-Turrax[®]) and spiked with internal standards (PCB-29, -112 183 and -207 obtained from Ultra Scientific, North Kingstown, USA, and BDE-77, -119, -181 and $^{13}C_{12}BDE-209$ from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc., Tewksbury, USA). Lipids were 184 185 extracted twice with cyclohexane and acetone (3:2 ratio, obtained from VWR International S.A.S, 186 Radnor, Pennsylvania) by ultrasonic homogenization, centrifugation and separation. Lipid 187 content was determined gravimetrically in 1 mL aliquots, and lipid removal was performed by using \geq 97.5% H₂SO₄ (Sigma Aldrich, Missouri, USA). Extracts were concentrated with a factor 188 189 of approximately 10 by careful evaporation under N_2 , before gas chromatography (GC) analyses.

The quantification of PCBs (PCB-52, -101, -118, -138, -153, and -180) and OCPs (p,p')-190 191 dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), hexachlorobenzene (HCB), α -chlordane, 192 oxychlordane and *trans*-nonachlor, and α -, β - and γ -hexachlorocyclohexanes (HCH)) was 193 performed on a high-resolution GC (HRGC) (Hewlett Packard HP 6890 Series, USA) with mass spectrometer (MS) and electron capture (EC) detectors (Agilent Technologies, 5975c inert XL 194 EI/CI MSD triple axis detector, USA). Quantification of BFRs (BDE-28, -47, -99, -100, -153, -195 154 and -183, and HBCD) was conducted on a HRGC (Agilent 6890 Series GC system, USA) 196 197 coupled with a low-resolution MS (LRMS) (Agilent 5973 Network Mass Selective Detector,

USA) configured with a split/split-less injector (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA). For
BDE-206, -207, -208 and -209, a HRGC (Agilent 6890 Series GC system, USA) coupled with a
LRMS (Agilent 5973 Network Mass Selective Detector, USA) configured with a programmable
temperature vaporization (PTV) injector (Agilent Technologies) was used. BDE-28, -183, -206,
-207, and -208 were not originally in the POPs mixture, but measured due to possible debromination of the original PBDEs. The analysis of BDE-206, -207, and -208 was not accredited.

204 The analysis of PFASs (PFHxS, perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), PFOA, perfluorononanoic 205 acid (PFNA), perfluorodecanoid acid (PFDA) and perfluoroundecanoic acid (PFUnDA)) is 206 described by Grønnestad et al. (2017). This analysis is validated according to the same procedures 207 and quality control measures as for the PCBs, OCPs and BFRs, although not included in the accreditation. Approximately 0.20-0.55 g homogenized liver tissue was spiked with internal 208 standards (a ¹³C-labeled perfluoroalkyl mix obtained from Wellington Laboratories, Guelph, 209 Canada) and extracted twice with methanol. Lipids were removed using activated carbon 210 211 (EnviCarb). Quantification was carried out using a high-performance liquid chromatography 212 (HPLC) with a Discovery C18 column, connected to a C18 pre-column (Supelco, Sigma-Aldrich, 213 Oslo, Norway) and a liquid chromatography (LC) tandem MS (MS-MS) (API 3000, LC/MS/MS 214 system).

Method quality control measures were approved as they were within accreditation requirements (see Supplementary section S3.3). Compounds detected at concentrations outside the accepted range of recovery (70-130%) were corrected for recovery (herein p,p'-DDE, BDE-206 and HBCD). Concentrations below limit of detection (LOD) were replaced with the LOD to be included in the Σ PCBs, Σ OCPs, Σ PBDEs and Σ PFASs. Additional method information is presented in Supplementary section S3.

221 2.5. Histological examination and image analysis of mammary glands

222 2.5.1. Whole mount preparation, development scoring and Sholl analysis

Whole mounts were used to assess alterations in MG development of female offspring (F2). The fourth MG from the right side was placed with the skin side down on a charged microscope slide and fixed in Carnoy's solution (6:3:1 of ethanol:chloroform:acetic acid) at 4°C overnight. Whole mounts were rinsed in 70% ethanol, gradually transitioned to water and stained overnight in carmine alum stain (2 g/L carmine and 5 g/L aluminum potassium sulfate). After staining, the
whole mounts were dehydrated gradually to 100% ethanol and de-fatted in xylene overnight until
visibly clear. Multiple pictures were taken of each whole mount at 10x magnification using a
Zeiss Axio Imager light microscope and camera (M2, Oberkochen, Germany), and a mosaic
(Preibisch *et al.* 2009) was created using ImageJ (Schindelin *et al.* 2012).

- 232 Oualitative development scoring was conducted on a scale from 1 to 4 (1 = poor development, 4)233 = best development). The following criteria were evaluated: lateral and longitudinal epithelial 234 growth into the surrounding fat pad; branching degree; alveolar budding; lobule formation; and 235 the presence or absence of terminal end buds (TEBs). Scores were assigned by two individuals 236 and repeated 3 times for each whole mount to give a median score from each assessor. The final score was obtained by averaging the two median scores. The assessors were initially not blinded 237 238 to Control as to establish a baseline of MG development for this strain of mice. After this, the glands were evaluated within each age class blinded to dose. TEBs were defined as ends with a 239 diameter of \geq 100 µm and counted using ImageJ. 240
- 241 MG branching density was quantitatively assessed using ImageJ and the modified Sholl analysis method (Stanko et al. 2015). In brief, the color channels were separated, and noise were removed 242 243 from the images using various methods supplied by ImageJ. The images were then skeletonized, made binary and dilated one time to fill in gaps created by skeletonization. Longitudinal distance 244 245 of the gland (termed mammary epithelial length) was measured between the base of the epithelial tree and the tip of the most distal branch using the skeletonized images. The mammary epithelial 246 247 area (MEA) and the lymph node area (LNA) were defined by the periphery of the total 248 skeletonized gland and the area covered by the lymph node, respectively. The total number of 249 intersections (N) within the MEA was determined by Sholl analysis. Branching density was 250 calculated using the formula N/(MEA-LNA). A detailed description of the method is given by 251 Stanko and Fenton (2017).
- Two whole mount images (both from 6 weeks Control) were ruined during processing. In addition, three glands were partly torn during whole mount preparation (one from 3 weeks High, one from 9 weeks High and one from 9 weeks Control). Thus, a total of five whole mounts were not included in the analysis.
- 256 2.5.2. Image analysis of glandular tissue
The fourth MG from the left side of female offspring (F2) were fixated in formalin for at least 24 hours. Glands were transferred to 70% ethanol prior to paraffin embedding and sectioned horizontally using a microtome (5 μ m thick). Gland orientation for sectioning was ensured identical to whole mount orientation. Sections were attached onto glass slides and stained with HE. Sections were examined blindly by a board-certified pathologist.

Digital photomicrographs of the glands were taken at 100x magnification using a Zeiss Axio
Imager light microscope, Axiocam 506 color camera and Zen microscope software (Carl Zeiss
Microscopy GmbH, Germany). Photomicrographs were stitched and reconstructed digital images
of the whole glands were created. Image-Pro Plus (Media Cybernetics Inc., MD, USA) was used
to measure area fractions occupied by glandular tissue.

267 *2.6. Histological examination of ovaries*

268 Both ovaries from female offspring (F2) were fixated for 24 hours in 10% neutral buffered 269 formalin. After fixation, samples were transferred to 70% ethanol and embedded in paraffin. 270 Sections (8 µm thick) were made using a microtome, every tenth section was mounted onto glass 271 slides and stained with HE. Histological evaluation was conducted using a light microscope on 272 every second of the glass slides throughout one randomly chosen ovary. Between 9 and 12 273 females were randomly selected for evaluation from each dose and sampling time. One observer, 274 blinded by treatment, counted the numbers of healthy follicles, including primordial follicles, 275 primary follicles, preantral follicles and antral follicles. Categorization was conducted as 276 previously described by Flaws et al. (2001). Primordial follicles were defined as having a single 277 layer of squamous granulosa cells surrounding an oocyte, while primary follicles consisted of an 278 oocyte surrounded by one layer of cuboidal granulosa cells. Preantral follicles were defined as 279 being surrounded by at least two layers of cuboidal granulosa cells and theca cells, and antral 280 follicles consisted of a fluid-filled antral space adjacent to the oocyte and surrounded by many 281 layers of theca cells and cuboidal granulosa cells. The preantral and antral follicles were only 282 registered if the oocyte showed nuclear material. Primordial and primary follicles were counted 283 despite showing a nucleus.

284 2.7. Histopathological examination of liver

Cross sections of the left lobe from dams (F1), and female and male offspring (F2) were 285 286 embedded in paraffin after fixation. Sections were made (3 µm thick) using a microtome, 287 transferred to microscope glass slides and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE). 288 Examinations were conducted by a board-certified pathologist under light microscope blinded by dose. Classification was based on the liver nomenclature guidelines recommended by the 289 290 International Harmonization of Nomenclature and Diagnostic Criteria (INHAND) (Thoolen et al. 2010). Pre-neoplastic and neoplastic lesions were noted as present (1) or absent (0). Non-291 neoplastic lesions were graded on a severity scale from 0 to 4 ($0 = n_0$, 1 = minimal, 2 = mild, 3 292 293 = moderate, and 4 = severe change) and included bile duct hyperplasia, fatty change (diffuse), 294 extramedullary hematopoiesis, inflammation (chronic active), hepatocyte fatty change (diffuse), 295 hepatocyte centrilobular hypertrophy, Ito cell hypertrophy, and oval cell hyperplasia.

296 2.8. Liver microsomal preparations and cytochrome P450 activity

Liver samples from female offspring (F2) were shipped (on dry ice) to the Department of 297 298 Molecular Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, for cytochrome P450 (CYP) activity analysis. Approximately 1 g of liver were used to prepare 299 hepatic microsomes by a calcium aggregation method described by Rasmussen et al. (2011). 300 301 Protein concentrations in the microsomes were measured with a commercially available kit (Bio-302 Rad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and using 303 bovine serum albumin as standard. Microsomes were diluted to a protein concentration of 4 mg/mL and stored at -80°C until use. 304

The activities of CYP1A and CYP2B10 were determined as a rate of 7-ethoxyresorufin (EROD, 305 306 CYP1A1), 7-methoxyresorufin (MROD, CYP1A) and 7-pentoxyresorufin (PROD, CYP2B10) 307 O-dealkylation as described by Zamaratskaia et al. (2010). CYP3A11 activity were established 308 as a rate of and benzyloxyresorufin (BROD) O-dealkylation as in Pilipenko et al. (2017). 309 CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 activities were determined as a rate of p-nitrophenol (PNPH) and 310 coumarin-7- hydroxylation (CoH), respectively (Zamaratskaia et al. 2009). These isoforms were 311 selected because of their well-known role in xenobiotic metabolism. Experimental conditions for 312 activity assays are reported in Supplementary section S4 and Table S2. Briefly, incubation 313 mixtures were comprised of microsomal protein (0.2 mg for all enzymes except for PNPH with 314 0.5 mg), phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) and the appropriate substrate (1 μ M for EROD, 2

uM for MROD and BROD, 10 uM for PROD, and 200 uM for PNPH and CoH). Reactions were 315 316 initiated by addition of 0.5 mM NADPH. The solutions were incubated in a water bath at 37°C 317 for 5 (EROD), 7 (MROD and BROD), 15 (CoH), 20 (PROD), or 30 (PNPH) min. Reactions were 318 terminated by adding 0.5 mL ice-cold methanol (40% TCA for PNPH) and the mixtures were centrifuged (7500 g at 4°C for 5 min). The amount of formed resorufin in the supernatants (for 319 320 CYP1A, CYP2B10 and CYP3A11) was measured using HPLC with fluorescence detector (560 321 and 586 nm for excitation and emission wavelengths, respectively). The amount of formed p-322 nitrochatecol (for CYP2E1) was measured using HPLC with UV detector (345 nm). The amount 323 of formed hydroxycoumarin (for CYP2A5) was measured using HPLC with fluorescence 324 detector (338 and 458 nm for excitation and emission wavelengths, respectively). Formation of 325 all metabolites were linear with microsomal protein concentrations and incubation times. All 326 enzymatic activities were expressed as pmol of reaction product per mg protein and min.

327 2.10. Statistical analysis

Box and barplots were created using R Studio version 3.6.1 (R Development Core Team 2008) and the packages 'ggplot2' (Wickham 2016) and 'ggpubr' (Kassambara 2020). Statistical analyses were conducted in JMP Pro 13® (SAS, Cary, USA) and a p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

332 The measurements of weights, the number of TEBs (at 3 and 6 weeks only) and the branching 333 density were normally distributed and with satisfactory homogeneity in variance. Thus, these 334 variables were analyzed using multivariate linear regression by standard least square personality, 335 which generated least square mean values that were further analyzed using ANOVA. Body, liver 336 and ovaries + uterus weights were analyzed within each sampling time and with dose and weight 337 at weaning (for dam body weight), number of offspring per litter (for offspring body weight) or 338 body weight (for liver and ovaries + uterus weight) as explanatory variables. The number of TEBs (at 3 and 6 weeks only) and branching density were analyzed within each sampling time with 339 340 dose and body weight as explanatory variables. P-values were generated by performing Dunnett's 341 test on least square mean values.

Contingency table analysis using Chi-square likelihood ratio was conducted on the ratio between males and females, and the severity scores of hepatic histopathology within each sampling time and using the Steel-Dwass method to compare doses. The number of live fetuses and offspring and the number of ovarian follicles at different stages of development were analyzed for
differences between doses within each sampling time by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's or
Tukey HSD test, respectively. The MG development scoring, the number of TEBs (at 9 weeks),
N, MEA, mammary epithelial length and glandular area, as well as the hepatic enzyme activities,
were not normally distributed and analyzed for differences between doses within each sampling
time by non-parametric comparison using the Steel or Steel-Dwass methods.

- 351 3. Results
- 352 *3.1. Hepatic internal dosimetry*

353 The concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs were measured in one pooled sample of

liver tissue from each dose in dams (F1) and female offspring (F2). Results are presented in Table

2 as Σ 6PCBs, *p,p*'-DDE, Σ 7OCPs, Σ BDE-28-183, Σ BDE-206-209, HBCD and Σ PFASs.

356 Individual concentrations are presented in Supplementary Tables S3 (ng/g lipid) and S4 (ng/g

357 wet weight). LOD, recovery (%) and fat (%) are presented in Supplementary Tables S1 and S4.

Table 2. Concentrations of $\sum 6PCBs$, *p,p'*-DDE, $\sum 7OCPs$, PBDEs, HBCD and $\sum PFASs$ in pooled liver samples from pregnant (gestation day 17) and post-pregnant (21 days post-partum) dams and female offspring (3, 6 and 9 weeks of age). Dams were dietary exposed to the mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Female offspring were exposed *in utero* and through lactation (ending at 3 weeks). Values are presented as ng/g lipid weight for PCBs, *p,p'*-DDE, OCPs, PBDEs and HBCD, and ng/g wet weight for PFASs.

	Σ6PCBs	Σ7OCPs	<i>p,p'</i> -DDE	ΣBDE-28-183	ΣBDE-206-209	HBCD	ΣPFASs	
Pregnant dams								
Control	87.1	9.4	<lod< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>0.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>2.8</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.7	0.4	<lod< td=""><td>2.8</td></lod<>	2.8	
Low	45691.6	2185.9	907.0	373.2	2260.7	<lod< td=""><td>645.3</td></lod<>	645.3	
High	87012.6	32585.7	13883.9	6923.4	35303.5	<lod< td=""><td>16183.3</td></lod<>	16183.3	
Post-pregnant dams								
Control	21.4	4.2	<lod< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>7.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>6.5</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.7	7.9	<lod< td=""><td>6.5</td></lod<>	6.5	
Low	7787.9	802.6	922.2	345.5	4534.1	<lod< td=""><td>1248.5</td></lod<>	1248.5	
High	52743.1	15343.4	14189.0	8197.3	35411.8	40.2	22744.6	
3 weeks offspring								
Control	48.8	12.3	<lod< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>10.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>32.2</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.7	10.2	<lod< td=""><td>32.2</td></lod<>	32.2	
Low	19629.9	1779.2	1200.9	515.5	883.1	<lod< td=""><td>403.7</td></lod<>	403.7	
High	89968.8	38043.8	24412.2	11397.7	16274.1	<lod< td=""><td>8535.0</td></lod<>	8535.0	
6 weeks offspring								
Control	65.3	35.0	<lod< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>0.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.5</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.7	0.4	<lod< td=""><td>5.5</td></lod<>	5.5	
Low	10144.7	502.5	153.6	79.2	30.6	<lod< td=""><td>170.9</td></lod<>	170.9	
High	50364.8	11392.5	1287.5	1102.7	293.9	<lod< td=""><td>3490.1</td></lod<>	3490.1	
9 weeks offspring								
Control	81.0	38.1	<lod< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>4.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td>6.3</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.7	4.1	<lod< td=""><td>6.3</td></lod<>	6.3	
Low	5318.4	357.0	10.2	38.5	22.7	27.6	142.3	
High	30278.5	5068.8	283.7	397.5	165.6	<lod< td=""><td>2521.8</td></lod<>	2521.8	

Limit of detection (LOD), concentrations of individual chemicals and lipid (%) are presented in Supplementary
Tables S1, S3 and S4. Σ6PCBs: PCB-52, PCB-101, PCB118, PCB-138, PCB-153 and PCB-180. Σ7OCPs: HCB, αchlordane, oxychlordane, *trans*-nonachlor, α-HCH, β-HCH and γ-HCH. ΣBDE-28-183: BDE-28, BDE-47, BDE-99,
BDE-100, BDE-153, BDE-154 and BDE-183. ΣPFASs: PFHxS, PFOS, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA and PFUnDA.
Abbreviations: PCB (polychlorinated biphenyl); DDE (dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene); OCP (organochlorine
pesticide); PBDE (polybrominated diphenyl ether); HBCD (hexabromocyclododecane); PFAS (perfluoroalkylated
substance).

371

Multiple POPs were detected in dams and offspring exposed to the Control dose. However, all
compounds had lower concentrations compared to Low (6-5652x). Furthermore, both dams and
offspring had higher concentrations of all compounds in High compared Low (2-25x). PCB-52
was not detected in any samples. BDE-183 and HBCD were only detected in one (post-pregnant

dam, High dose) and two (post-pregnant dam, High dose, and 9 weeks offspring, Low dose)samples, respectively. Debromination of BDE-209 was seen in both dams and offspring.

 Σ 6PCBs and Σ 7OCPs were slightly higher (1.6-6x) in pregnant dams compared to post-pregnant 378 dams. On the other hand, Σ BDE-28-183, Σ BDE-206-209 and Σ PFASs were similar or 2x lower 379 380 in pregnant dams compared to post-pregnant dams. All compounds (except PCB-52, BDE-183 381 and HBCD) were detected in 3-week-old offspring from the Low and High doses. Σ 6PCBs, 382 Σ 70CPs and Σ BDE-28-183 were 1.3-2.5x higher, while Σ BDE-206-209 and Σ PFASs were 2.2-383 5.1x lower, in 3-week-old offspring compared to post-pregnant dams. After end of perinatal 384 exposure, all compounds (except BDE-153 and HBCD) had decreasing concentrations with 385 increasing age of offspring.

386 *3.2. Biometrical measurements*

The body and liver weights of dams (F1) and offspring (F2) are presented in Table 3. The POPs did not affect the body weight of dams (dietary exposed) or female offspring (perinatally exposed). On the other hand, male offspring perinatally exposed to the Low dose had significantly higher body weights compared to Control at 9 weeks (p = 0.02).

391

392 Table 2. Body and liver weight of pregnant and post-pregnant dams, and female (3, 6 and 9 weeks of age) 393 and male (9 and 30 weeks of age) offspring. Dams were dietary exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, 394 Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Offspring were 395 exposed in utero and through lactation (ending at 3 weeks). Pregnant dams were euthanized on gestation 396 day 17 (n = 12, 16 and 8 for Control, Low and High, respectively). Post-pregnant dams were euthanized 21 days post-partum (n = 14, 10 and n = 11 for Control, Low and High, respectively). Females 3 weeks: 397 398 n = 12 (all groups). Females 6 and 9 weeks: n = 14 (all groups, except for ovary + uterus weight from 6 weeks Control where n = 13). Males 9 and 30 weeks: n = 15 (all groups, except for liver weight from 9 399 400 weeks Low where n = 14). Results are presented as least square mean \pm standard error. Bold marks

401 significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) from Control.

	Body weight (g)	Liver weight (g)
Pregnant dams		
Control	47.40 ± 1.41	2.27 ± 0.06
Low	50.14 ± 1.22	2.36 ± 0.06
High	46.87 ± 1.82	$\textbf{2.98} \pm \textbf{0.08}$
Post-pregnant dams		
Control	38.43 ± 0.98	2.61 ± 0.07
Low	38.73 ± 1.13	2.75 ± 0.09
High	36.89 ± 0.97	$\textbf{3.34} \pm \textbf{0.08}$
3 weeks offspring females		
Control	11.82 ± 0.27	0.78 ± 0.04
Low	11.87 ± 0.28	0.83 ± 0.04
High	11.43 ± 0.27	0.87 ± 0.04
6 weeks offspring females		
Control	24.78 ± 0.34	1.26 ± 0.02
Low	24.34 ± 0.34	1.25 ± 0.02
High	24.17 ± 0.35	1.35 ± 0.02
9 weeks offspring females		
Control	27.86 ± 0.80	1.34 ± 0.03
Low	27.70 ± 0.88	1.37 ± 0.03
High	27.39 ± 0.82	1.43 ± 0.03
9 weeks offspring males		
Control	37.30 ± 1.06	1.98 ± 0.04
Low	$\textbf{41.17} \pm \textbf{1.00}$	1.97 ± 0.04
High	40.58 ± 1.02	2.03 ± 0.04
30 weeks offspring males		
Control	48.29 ± 1.29	2.14 ± 0.05
Low	48.67 ± 1.69	2.24 ± 0.05
High	-	-

402

403

The High dose caused a significant increase in liver weights of pregnant and post-pregnant dams (p < 0.01 and p = 0.05, respectively), and in 6-week-old female offspring (p = 0.02), compared to Control. No changes in liver weights were seen in 3, 9 and 30-week old offspring.

The number of live offspring and the ratio between male and female offspring were not significantly different from Control (Supplementary Table S5). However, the Low dose led to the production of more males while the High dose produced more females (p = 0.02). The collective uterus and ovary weights from 6 and 9-week-old female offspring were not significantly different from Control (Supplementary Table S6).

412 *3.3. Mammary gland histology*

The effect of perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs on MG development was investigated in female offspring (F2). Complete results are presented in Supplementary Table S7.

The development score (of whole mounts) was not affected by exposure. However, a trend towards less developed mammary glands was evident in the High dose at 3 weeks (p = 0.08). This trend was supported by a significantly decreased number of TEBs (High dose), compared to Control, at 3 weeks (p = 0.04). In addition, less TEBs were seen at 9 weeks in the Low dose, but this decrease was not significant from Control (p = 0.07). The number of TEBs was not affected by exposure at 6 weeks.

421 A visual difference in MG morphology between exposed and control mice was apparent, 422 especially for the High dose. At 6 weeks, the High dose had a significantly higher branching 423 density compared to Control. An increased branching density was also apparent at 9 weeks, but not significantly different from Control (p = 0.1). The total number of epithelial intersections was 424 425 not affected by perinatal POP exposure. On the other hand, the mammary epithelial area was reduced by the Low dose, compared to Control, at 6 and 9 weeks (p = 0.05 and p = 0.01, 426 respectively). The epithelial length was also reduced by the Low dose at 9 weeks (p = 0.02). MG 427 428 whole mounts representative of each dose and age are shown in Figure 1.



429

Figure 1. Whole mounts of mammary glands from 3 (a, b and c), 6 (d, e and f) and 9-week-old (g, h and
i) female offspring maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x
or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Pictures illustrate the morphology representative
of each dose; Control (a, d and g), Low (b, e and h) or High (c, f and i). Each whole mount is composed
of multiple images taken at 10-fold magnification and put together as a mosaic using ImageJ software.
Scale bar = 2000 µm. Ln = Lymph node.

436

Histological examination of MGs did not reveal any significant effects of perinatal POP exposure. However, a trend towards more glandular tissue occupying the fat pad was seen by the Low dose at 6 weeks (p = 0.08).

440

441 *3.4. Ovarian histology*

442 Alterations in ovarian follicles at different stages in folliculogenesis were investigated in female

443 offspring (F2) after perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs. Results are presented in Figure 2.





Figure 2. The number of primordial, primary, preantral and antral follicles in ovaries of 3, 6 and 9-weekold female offspring maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Histopathological examination was conducted on every 10th ovarian section. Results are presented as mean \pm standard error. 3 weeks: n = 9, 11 and 12 for Control, Low and High, respectively. 6 weeks: n = 11, 10, and 11 for Control, Low and High, respectively. 9 weeks: n = 10, 11 and 9 for Control, Low and High, respectively. *p-values < 0.05. *pvalues < 0.1.

452

The number of primordial follicles was not affected by exposure. The Low dose significantly reduced the number of primary follicles at 3 weeks, compared to Control (p < 0.01), but not at 6 and 9 weeks. The number of preantral follicles did not differ in exposed mice compared to controls. However, the Low dose caused the formation of significantly less preantral follicles than the High dose at 6 (p = 0.01) and 9 weeks (p < 0.01), with the Control showing an intermediate follicle number. The High dose reduced the number of antral follicles at 3 weeks (p 459 < 0.01), but not at 6 weeks, compared to Control. At 9 weeks, the number of antral follicles were 460 lower than but not significantly different from Control (with p = 0.06 and p = 0.07 for High and 461 Low, respectively).

462 *3.5. Hepatic histology*

Histopathological examination was conducted on livers from dams (F1) and offspring (F2)
dietary or perinatally exposed to the mixture of POPs. No pre-neoplastic or neoplastic lesions
were noted. Focal fatty lesions were seen in 5 9-week-old female offspring perinatally exposed
to the High dose but did not differ significantly from Control.

467 Dietary exposure to the Low and High doses increased the severity of hepatocellular hypertrophy 468 (of the centrilobular region) in pregnant and post-pregnant dams compared to Control (p < 0.01). 469 Perinatal exposure to the High dose caused hypertrophy (with increased severity) in female offspring at 3 weeks (p = 0.02). At 6 and 9 weeks, both the Low and High doses caused 470 471 hepatocellular hypertrophy with increased severity from Control (p < 0.01). Hepatocellular 472 hypertrophy was also seen in 9-week-old male offspring with a higher severity than Control in both the Low and High doses (p < 0.01). This hypertrophy persisted until 30 weeks in male 473 474 offspring, which had a significantly higher severity compared to Control (Low dose only, p < p475 (0.01). Figure 3 illustrates the hepatocellular hypertrophy representative of each dose in female 476 offspring at 9 weeks.



477

Figure 3. Representative hepatic morphology of 9-week-old female offspring maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control (a), Low (b) or High (c) doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Hepatocytes have increased size and frequently enlarged hyperchromatic nuclei, which were graded on a scale from 0 to 4 (0 = no, 1 = minimal, 2 = mild, 3 = moderate, and 4 = severe change). The Low (b) and High (c) doses exhibited mild and severe hypertrophy, respectively, compared to the normal morphology of the Control (a). Magnification at 200-fold (inset at 400-fold). Scale bar = 50 μ m. Cv = Central vein.

Extramedullary hematopoiesis was seen in female offspring at 3, 6 and 9 weeks with decreasing incidence and severity with increasing age and was not affected by perinatal exposure. Mean severity scores of the hepatocellular hypertrophy and hematopoiesis (± standard error) in dams and offspring are presented in Supplementary Table S8. No other non-neoplastic lesions were seen.

490 3.6. Hepatic cytochrome P450 activity

491 The activity of hepatic CYP enzymes were measured in female offspring (F2) perinatally exposed

492 to the mixture of POPs (Figure 4).





Figure 4. Hepatic enzyme activity of cytochrome P450 (CYP) 1A1, 1A, 3A11, 2B10, 2E1 and 2A5 in 494 495 female offspring maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 496 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Samples were taken at 3 (n = 12), 6 (n = 14) and 9 497 (n = 14) weeks of age. Activities were measured as a rate of 7-ethoxyresorufin (CYP1A1), 7-498 methoxyresorufin (CYP1A), benzyloxyresorufin (CYP3A11), 7-pentoxyresorufin (CYP2B10) 499 dealkylation, and p-nitrophenol (CYP2E1) and coumarin-7 (CYP2A5) hydroxylation. Boxplots consist of 500 25th, 50th (median) and 75th percentiles, whiskers (extending to 1.5 interquartile range) and outliers (•). 501 Significant difference from Control ($p \le 0.05$) is marked by *.

502 Perinatal exposure significantly induced the activity of all CYPs (except CYP2A5) at 3 weeks (p

< 0.01 for all, except for CYP1A for the Low dose with p = 0.05), with the High dose inducing

the largest change from Control for CYP1A1, CYP1A, CYP3A11 and CYP2B10. For CYP2E1,

the activity was decreased by the Low dose, and increased by the High dose, compared to Control (p < 0.01).

At 6 weeks, the activities of all CYPs were affected by the High dose ($p \le 0.01$, except for CYP2A5 with p = 0.02). Furthermore, the Low dose caused higher activities of CYP1A1 (p = 0.02), CYP3A11 (p < 0.01) and CYP2B10 (p < 0.01) compared to Control. The activity of CYP2E1 was reduced by both the Low and High doses (p < 0.01). The Low dose also reduced the activity of CYP2A5 (p < 0.01), while the High dose increased the CYP2A5 activity compared to Control (p = 0.02).

At 9 weeks, the CYP1A1 and CYP1A activities were no longer affected by perinatal exposure. However, the High dose still increased the activity of CYP3A11 and CYP2B10 compared to Control (p < 0.01). In addition, the Low dose elevated the activity of CYP2B10 (p < 0.01). On the other hand, the Low dose reduced the activities of CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 compared to Control (p < 0.01).

518 4. Discussion

519 The present study demonstrated that *in utero* and lactational exposure to the mixture of POPs 520 altered MG development, ovarian follicle maturation and caused persistent hepatocellular 521 hypertrophy and enzyme induction in CD-1 mice. In dams, the POPs were readily taken up from the diet and distributed to the hepatic tissue. PCBs and OCPs seemed to be more efficiently 522 523 transferred to offspring during late gestation and lactation compared to BFRs and PFASs. However, all compounds (except PCB-52, BDE-183 and HBCD) were detected in weaning 524 offspring, thus, confirming maternal transfer of the mixture. After the end of lactational exposure, 525 526 the POPs decreased in concentration over time suggesting dilution due to weight gain, 527 metabolization and excretion.

528 Previously, Johanson et al. (2020) showed that perinatal exposure to the Low dose resulted in 2-

529 35x higher POP concentrations in A/J Min/+ mice (liver and adipose tissue) than the average

530 blood levels reported in the Scandinavian population (Berntsen et al. 2017). In the present study,

Low dose female offspring at 9 weeks had comparable (from 2x lower to 5x higher) lipid-adjusted concentrations to those found by Johanson *et al.* (2020) at 20 weeks. This may suggest a slightly lower rate of metabolism and excretion in A/J Min/+ compared to CD-1 mice. However, it demonstrates that the Low dose could be considered relevant to humans.

Results from the traditional qualitative scoring of MG development in female offspring showed 535 a trend towards reduced development in 3-weeks-old mice perinatally exposed to the High dose. 536 537 In addition, the number of TEBs were significantly lower in these mice. As previously described by Rudel et al. (2011), MG development can be regarded as accelerated if the number of TEBs 538 in the treated group is higher than that of the control at 3 weeks of age. Exposure to HCB has 539 540 previously been shown to increase the number of TEBs in C57BL/6 mice (Miret et al. 2017), which could be a possible contributor to increasing the risk of breast cancer as TEBs are highly 541 542 proliferative structures (Macon and Fenton 2013, Osborne et al. 2015, Miret et al. 2019). However, the opposite was observed in the present study and, thus, perinatal exposure to the High 543 544 dose of POPs seemed to restrict MG development in 3-week-old female mice.

In addition, Miret et al. (2017) observed enhanced MG branching density after intraperitoneal 545 injection of 3 mg/kg HCB in C57BL/6 mice. This is in accordance with the increased branching 546 547 density (by the High dose) observed in the present study. As the number of epithelial ducts is coincident with the number of TEBs in a MG gland, and a restricted development leads to fewer 548 549 TEBs in weaning mice, but a higher number of TEBs in pubertal mice (Rudel et al. 2011), the increased branching density indicated that perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs (High dose) 550 551 continued to restrict MG development also at 6 and 9 weeks of age. Furthermore, the perinatal 552 exposure to the Low dose reduced (non-significantly) the amount of area occupied by gland epithelium in both 6 and 9-week-old mice, resulting in a higher density of glandular tissue. This 553 554 could suggest that the enhanced branching observed at 6 weeks resulted in a premature arrest of 555 gland growth and caused the fully developed MGs to cover less area than the unexposed glands.

Restricted MG development has previously been shown following *in utero* exposure to PFOA at concentrations as low as 0.01 mg/kg in CD-1 and C57BL/6 mice (White *et al.* 2009, Macon *et al.* 2011, White *et al.* 2011, Tucker *et al.* 2015). Interestingly, the delayed gland development found by Macon *et al.* (2011) was evident at lower doses of PFOA than those required to increase the liver weight and persisted for a relatively long time after end of exposure. *In utero* and

lactational exposure to DE-71 (a mixture of PBDEs) also delayed MG development in 3-week-561 562 old female Long-Evans rats (Kodavanti et al. 2010). Furthermore, in utero exposures to other 563 EDCs, such as 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin, bisphenol A and atrazine metabolites, have 564 been shown to restrict gland development in rats and mice (Markey et al. 2001, Fenton et al. 2002, Enoch et al. 2007). However, as emphasized by Yang et al. (2009), caution should be taken 565 566 when drawing conclusions from studies using only a single mouse strain as differences have been 567 observed in the sensitivity of strains to PFOA-induced alterations in MG development (Yang et 568 al. 2009, Tucker et al. 2015).

569 Overall, perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs affected ovarian folliculogenesis in CD-1 570 mice. The High dose reduced the number of antral follicles significantly in weaning and nonsignificantly in adult offspring. This reduction suggests a delayed rate of follicle maturation or 571 572 an increased rate of follicle atresia. Baldridge et al. (2003) showed that in utero exposure to Aroclor 1016 (a mixture of low-chlorinated PCBs) decreased the number of preantral and antral 573 follicles in weaning Long-Evan rats. The authors argued that the modulation of follicle 574 575 maturation was caused by PCB-induced alterations in circulating thyroid hormone levels, as the 576 effect could be (partly) avoided by supplementation of levothyroxine sodium (Baldridge et al. 577 2003). Maternal exposure to PCB-126 has also been shown to reduce the number of antral follicles in Sprague-Dawley rats (Muto et al. 2003, Shirota et al. 2006). Furthermore, Talsness et 578 579 al. (2008) showed reduced follicle maturation as a result of disruption along the hypothalamic-580 pituitary-ovarian axis caused by in utero exposure to environmentally relevant doses of BDE-47 581 in Wistar rats. The later stages of follicle maturation are completely dependent on gonadotropins (e.g. luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone) secreted by the anterior pituitary in 582 583 response to stimulation by gonadotropin releasing hormone from the hypothalamus (McGee and 584 Hsueh 2000). As many POPs have endocrine disruptive properties, it is likely that developmental 585 exposure may disturb the finely regulated fluctuations in gonadotropins (and other hormones) 586 and, thus, modulate follicle maturation (Uzumcu and Zachow 2007). However, alterations in 587 hormone levels were not investigated in the present study.

588 Moreover, the number of primary follicles was reduced by the Low dose in weaning offspring.

Previously, Lilienthal et al. (2006) and Ema et al. (2008) showed reduced numbers of primordial

590 and primary follicles following maternal exposure to BDE-99 and HBCD in rats. The number of

primordial follicles (the follicle pool) is fixed at the time of birth and a reduction in the follicle 591 592 pool may cause premature ovarian insufficiency and premature menopause (Vabre *et al.* 2017). 593 Various studies have associated exposure to OCPs, PCBs and PFASs with earlier onset of 594 menopause in humans (Cooper et al. 2002, Akkina et al. 2004, Knox et al. 2011, Taylor et al. 2014, Grindler et al. 2015). Thus, exposure to POPs during early development may alter ovarian 595 596 folliculogenesis and could possibly lead to reduced female fertility. Unfortunately, no measures 597 to promote estrous cycle homogeneity in offspring were taken. Consequently, the pubertal and 598 adult offspring might have been terminated at different stages of estrus cycle, which could have 599 influenced the results on ovarian follicle numbers.

600 Dietary exposure to the High dose increased the relative liver weight in dams. However, no effect 601 was seen on the body weight. The enhanced liver weight could have been caused by the 602 hepatocellular hypertrophy observed in the same dams. In addition, hypertrophy of liver cells 603 was seen in dams given the Low dose implying that hypertrophy is a relatively sensitive endpoint 604 to POP exposure. Hepatocellular hypertrophy caused by dietary or oral exposure to various POPs 605 has been shown in multiple other studies (Wade et al. 2002, Seacat et al. 2003, National 606 Toxicology Programme 2006, van der Ven et al. 2008, Wolf et al. 2008, Yang et al. 2009, Bondy 607 et al. 2011, Roos et al. 2011, Butenhoff et al. 2012). Many of these and other (Zhou et al. 2002, Thibodeaux et al. 2003. Lau et al. 2006. Hansen et al. 2019) studies have also reported increased 608 609 liver weights.

Hepatocellular hypertrophy has been evaluated as a predictor of liver cancer in mice (Allen *et al.*2004, Hall *et al.* 2012). However, this histopathological feature should not be interpreted as the
only precursor of cancer and often occurs together with hepatocellular hyperplasia and increased
enzymatic activity (Allen *et al.* 2004, Maronpot *et al.* 2010). Hyperplasia was not detected in the
present study. However, dose-dependent increases in hepatic CYP activities and hypertrophy
were detected in female offspring following perinatal exposure to the mixture of POPs.

Increased activities of CYPs may lead to the formation of reactive oxygen species and cause
hepatotoxicity (Bondy and Naderi 1994, Ioannides and Lewis 2004, Zangar *et al.* 2004). In
addition, the enhanced activities of CYP1A, CYP3A and CYP2B10 are commonly used as
biomarkers for AHR, PXR and CAR activation, respectively (Whitlock 1990, Waxman 1999,
Xie *et al.* 2000, Maglich *et al.* 2002, Yamada *et al.* 2006). In the present study, CYP1A1 and

621 CYP1A, CYP3A11 and CYP2B10 were dose-dependently increased in weaning offspring,
622 indirectly indicating AHR, PXR and CAR activation. Furthermore, the heightened activities were
623 less prominent with time, which may have been caused by the temporal decline in POP
624 concentrations.

625 Interestingly, the activities of CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 were (at some points) lower in perinatally 626 exposed mice compared to controls, which might have been due to a reduced capacity for 627 xenobiotic metabolism after POP exposure. Physiological consequences of this should further be studied, as low activity of these enzymes might predispose animals to harmful health effects 628 629 under conditions where CYP2E1 and CYP2A5 are required for detoxification. CYP2E1 is 630 responsible for the metabolism of xenobiotics of low molecular weight and is known to generate toxic products (Ioannides and Lewis 2004, Bieche et al. 2007, Porubsky et al. 2008). Thus, 631 alterations in CYP2E1 activity may have contributed to the persistent hepatocellular hypertrophy 632 633 observed and could lead to hepatotoxicity.

634 Alterations in hepatic CYP activities following maternal exposure to POPs, such as PBDEs (Zhou et al. 2002, Szabo et al. 2008, Tseng et al. 2008, Dunnick et al. 2018), γ-HCH (Johri et al. 2008) 635 and compound mixtures (Chu et al. 2005, Chu et al. 2008, Bonfanti et al. 2014), have previously 636 637 been shown in rodents. As reviewed by Maronpot et al. (2010), hepatic enzyme induction generally occurs together with hepatocellular hypertrophy (and hyperplasia), which further leads 638 639 to liver enlargement as a physiological adaptation to the increased demand of metabolism and detoxification. Hypertrophy of the liver cells was detected, and dose-dependently increased in 640 641 severity, in perinatally exposed female and male offspring. Furthermore, liver enlargement was 642 seen in 6-week-old females. Other studies have also observed hepatocellular hypertrophy 643 following in utero and lactational exposure to mixtures of POPs (Chu et al. 2005, Chu et al. 2008, 644 Bondy et al. 2011, Dunnick et al. 2018) or single pollutants (Filgo et al. 2015, Quist et al. 2015, 645 Dunnick et al. 2018).

Normally, resolution of hepatocellular effects occurs when the xenobiotics have been metabolized and excreted from the system (Maronpot *et al.* 2010). This is dependent on the ability of the compound to resist degradation and, consequently, more persistent compounds may cause hepatic effects long after end of exposure. The persistent nature of the POP mixture has recently been demonstrated by Johanson *et al.* (2020), which showed significantly higher (up to 136x) levels of 20 of the 29 POPs in liver and adipose tissues in A/J Min/+ mice 17 weeks after end of perinatal exposure to the Low dose. Thus, the increased severity of hepatocellular hypertrophy observed in 30-week-old male offspring perinatally exposed to the Low dose of POPs in the present study may have been caused by POPs still present in the hepatic tissue.

655 Another interesting finding of the present study was that perinatal exposure to the Low dose 656 increased the body weight of male but not female offspring at 9 weeks. Previously, maternal 657 exposure to BDE-47 elevated the body weight of male but not female Sprague-Dawley rats (Gao 658 et al. 2019) and stimulated the development of obesity in male ICR mice (Wang et al. 2018). 659 Various POPs have also been associated with increased weight gain and obesity in humans 660 (Karmaus et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2012, Valvi et al. 2012, Warner et al. 2018). Thus, the increased body weight of male mice observed in the present study could suggest an obesogenic effect of 661 POPs when exposed to relatively low doses during early development. 662

Notably, extramedullary hematopoiesis was detected in all but one liver of 3-week-old female offspring. This is most probably a residue from the liver serving as the main hematopoietic organ during fetal development (Tavassoli 1991, Sonoda and Sasaki 2012), which was further supported by the decreasing severity scores with increasing age and the lack of significant effect by perinatal POP exposure.

In summary, the present study illustrated that perinatal exposure a human relevant mixture of POPs modulated female mammary gland development and ovarian folliculogenesis in CD-1 mice. Furthermore, the mixture caused hepatocellular hypertrophy, enzymatic induction and slight liver enlargement indicating modest hepatotoxic effects. Further studies are needed to investigate if the present mixture, or other human relevant mixtures of POPs, can affect female reproductive ability or cause mammary or hepatic carcinogenesis.

674 Acknowledgements

The present study was funded by the Norwegian Research Council (Funding number: NFR 21307/H10 and 204361/H10). CYP analysis was partly supported by the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, NJ Faculty. The authors would like to thank Kristine Eraker Aasland Hansen, Christer Wiggen Johnsen and Harry Hjelmseth for excellent technical assistance during the experiment. 680 References

700

- Akkina, J. E., Reif, J. S., Keefe, T. J. and Bachand, A. M. (2004). Age at natural menopause and
- 682 exposure to organochlorine pesticides in Hispanic women. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, A 67:
- 683 1407-1422. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490483845
- Allen, D. G., Pearse, G., Haseman, J. K. and Maronpot, R. R. (2004). Prediction of rodent
 carcinogenesis: An evaluation of prechronic liver lesions as forecasters of liver tumors in NTP
 carcinogenicity studies. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 32: 393-401.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230490440934
- Baldridge, M. G., Stahl, R. L., Gerstenberger, S. L., Tripoli, V. and Hutz, R. J. (2003).
 Modulation of ovarian follicle maturation in Long-Evans rats exposed to polychlorinated
 biphenyls (PCBs) *in-utero* and lactationally. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 17: 567-573.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0890-6238(03)00095-9
- Barr, D. B., Bishop, A. and Needham, L. L. (2007). Concentrations of xenobiotic chemicals in
 the maternal-fetal unit. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 23: 260-266.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.03.003
- Barr, D. B., Wang, R. Y. and Needham, L. L. (2005). Biologic monitoring of exposure to
 environmental chemicals throughout the life stages: Requirements and issues for consideration
 for the National Children's Study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 113: 1083-1091.
 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7617
- Berg, V., Lyche, J. L., Gutleb, A. C., Lie, E., Skaare, J. U., Aleksandersen, M. and Ropstad, E.
- 701 maternal, fetal and lamb tissues of sheep exposed during gestation and lactation. *Chemosphere*

(2010). Distribution of PCB 118 and PCB 153 and hydroxylated PCB metabolites (OH-CBs) in

- 702 **80**: 1144-1150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.06.022
- Berntsen, H. F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E. and Zimmer, K. E. (2017). The design of an
 environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in *in vivo* and *in vitro*studies. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, A* 80: 1002-1016.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1354439

Bieche, I., Narjoz, C., Asselah, T., Vacher, S., Marcellin, P., Lidereau, R., Beaune, P. and de
Waziers, I. (2007). Reverse transcriptase-PCR quantification of mRNA levels from cytochrome

709 (CYP)1 CYP2 and CYP3 families in 22 different human tissues *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 17:

(CYP)1, CYP2 and CYP3 families in 22 different human tissues. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 17:

710 731-742. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e32810f2e58

Bondy, G. S., Lefebvre, D. E., Aziz, S., Cherry, W., Coady, L., MacLellan, E., Armstrong, C.,
Barker, M., Cooke, G., Gaertner, D., Arnold, D. L., Mehta, R. and Rowsell, P. R. (2011).
Toxicologic and immunologic effects of perinatal exposure to the brominated diphenyl ether
(BDE) mixture DE-71 in the Sprague-Dawley rat. *Environ. Toxicol.* 28: 215-228.
https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.20713

Bondy, S. C. and Naderi, S. (1994). Contribution of hepatic cytochrome P450 systems to the
generation of reactive oxygen species. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 48: 155-159.
https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(94)90235-6

Bonfanti, P., Comelli, F., Assi, L., Casati, L., Colciago, A., Villa, S., Santagostino, A., Costa, B.
and Colombo, A. (2014). Responsiveness of hepatic and cerebral cytochrome P450 in rat
offspring prenatally and lactationally exposed to a reconstituted PCB mixture. *Environ. Toxicol.*29: 856-866. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.21812

723 Bopp, S. K., Barouki, R., Brack, W., Dalla Costa, S., Dorne, J.-L. C. M., Drakvik, P. E., Faust,

724 M., Karjalainen, T. K., Kephalopoulos, S., van Klaveren, J., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Kortenkamp,

A., Lebret, E., Lettieri, T., Nørager, S., Rüegg, J., Tarazona, J. V., Trier, X., van de Water, B.,

- van Gils, J. and Bergman, Å. (2018). Current EU research activities on combined exposure to
- 727 multiple chemicals. Environ. Int. 120: 544-562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.07.037
- Brevik, E. M. (1978). Gas chromatographic method for the determination of organochlorine
 pesticides in human milk. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 78: 281-286.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01685799
- 731 Butenhoff, J. L., Chang, S. C., Olsen, G. W. and Thomford, P. J. (2012). Chronic dietary toxicity
- and carcinogenicity study with potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in Sprague Dawley rats.
- 733 Toxicology 293: 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2012.01.003

- Chu, I., Bowers, W. J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Pulido, O., Yagminas, A., Wade, M. G., Moir,
 D., Gill, S. and Mueller, R. (2005). Toxicological effects of gestational and lactational exposure
 to a mixture of persistent organochlorines in rats: Systemic effects. *Toxicol. Sci.* 88: 645-655.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi335
- Chu, I., Bowers, W. J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Wade, M. G., Yagminas, A., Li, N., Moir, D., El
 Abbas, L., Hakansson, H., Gill, S., Mueller, R. and Pulido, O. (2008). Toxicological effects of *in utero* and lactational exposure of rats to a mixture of environmental contaminants detected in
 Canadian Arctic human populations. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, A* 71: 93-108.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390701612811
- Cooper, G. S., Savitz, D. A., Millikan, R. and Kit, T. C. (2002). Organochlorine exposure and
 age at natural menopause. *Epidemiol.* 13: 729-733.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.EDE.0000032362.42083.9E
- Coughtrie, M. W., Burchell, B., Leakey, J. E. and Hume, R. (1988). The inadequacy of perinatal glucuronidation: Immunoblot analysis of the developmental expression of individual UDPglucuronosyltransferase isoenzymes in rat and human liver microsomes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 34: 729-735.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Bourguignon, J.-P., Giudice, L. C., Hauser, R., Prins, G. S., Soto, A.
 M., Zoeller, R. T. and Gore, A. C. (2009). Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: An endocrine society
 scientific statement. *Endocr. Rev.* 30: 293-342. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2009-0002
- Dunnick, J. K., Shockley, K. R., Pandiri, A. R., Kissling, G. E., Gerrish, K. E., Ton, T. V., Wilson, 753 R. E., Brar, S. S., Brix, A. E., Waidyanatha, S., Mutlu, E. and Morgan, D. L. (2018). PBDE-47 754 755 and PBDE mixture (DE-71) toxicities and liver transcriptomic changes at PND 22 after in 756 *utero*/postnatal exposure the Arch. Toxicol. **92**: 3415-3433. in rat.
- 757 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-018-2292-y
- Ema, M., Fujii, S., Hirata-Koizumi, M. and Matsumoto, M. (2008). Two-generation reproductive
- toxicity study of the flame retardant hexabromocyclododecane in rats. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 25: 335-
- 760 351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.12.004

Enoch, R. R., Stanko, J. P., Greiner, S. N., Youngblood, G. L., Rayner, J. L. and Fenton, S. E.
(2007). Mammary gland development as a sensitive end point after acute prenatal exposure to an

763 atrazine metabolite mixture in female Long-Evans rats. Environ. Health Perspect. 115: 541-547.

764 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9612

765 Faustman, E. M., Silbernagel, S. M., Fenske, R. A., Burbacher, T. M. and Ponce, R. A. (2000).

766 Mechanisms underlying children's susceptibility to environmental toxicants. Environ. Health

767 Perspect. 108: 13-21. https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.00108s113

Fenton, S. E. (2006). Endocrine-disrupting compounds and mammary gland development: Early
exposure and later life consequences. *Endocrinology* 147: S18-24.
https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-1131

Fenton, S. E., Hamm, J. T., Birnbaum, L. S. and Youngblood, G. L. (2002). Persistent
abnormalities in the rat mammary gland following gestational and lactational exposure to 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). *Toxicol. Sci.* **67**: 63-74.
https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.1.63

Fenton, S. E., Reiner, J. L., Nakayama, S. F., Delinsky, A. D., Stanko, J. P., Hines, E. P., White, 775 776 S. S., Lindstrom, A. B., Strynar, M. J. and Petropoulou, S.-S. E. (2009). Analysis of PFOA in 777 dosed CD-1 mice. Part 2: Disposition of PFOA in tissues and fluids from pregnant and lactating 778 mice and their Toxicol. 27: 365-372. pups. Reprod. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2009.02.012 779

Filgo, A. J., Quist, E. M., Hoenerhoff, M. J., Brix, A. E., Kissling, G. E. and Fenton, S. E. (2015).
Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)–induced liver lesions in two strains of mice following
developmental exposures: PPARα is not required. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 43: 558-568.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623314558463

Flaws, J. A., Langenberg, P., Babus, J. K., Hirshfield, A. N. and Sharara, F. I. (2001). Ovarian
volume and antral follicle counts as indicators of menopausal status. *Menopause* 8: 175-180.
https://doi.org/10.1097/00042192-200105000-00006

33

- Gao, H., Li, P., Liu, L., Yang, K., Xiao, B., Zhou, G., Tian, Z., Luo, C., Xia, T., Dong, L., Zhao,
 Q., Wang, A. and Zhang, S. (2019). Perigestational low-dose BDE-47 exposure alters maternal
 serum metabolome and results in sex-specific weight gain in adult offspring. *Chemosphere* 233:
 174-182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.277
- 791 Grindler, N. M., Allsworth, J. E., Macones, G. A., Kannan, K., Roehl, K. A. and Cooper, A. R.
- 792 (2015). Persistent organic pollutants and early menopause in U.S. women. *PloS one* 10:
- 793 e0116057-e0116057. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116057
- 794 Grønnestad, R., Villanger, G. D., Polder, A., Kovacs, K. M., Lydersen, C., Jenssen, B. M. and
- 795 Borgå, K. (2017). Maternal transfer of perfluoroalkyl substances in hooded seals. *Environ*.
- 796 Toxicol. Chem. 36: 763-770. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3623
- Guengerich, F. P. (1991). Reactions and significance of cytochrome P-450 enzymes. J. Biol. *Chem.* 266: 10019-10022.
- Hall, A. P., Elcombe, C. R., Foster, J. R., Harada, T., Kaufmann, W., Knippel, A., Kuttler, K.,
 Malarkey, D. E., Maronpot, R. R., Nishikawa, A., Nolte, T., Schulte, A., Strauss, V. and York,
 M. J. (2012). Liver hypertrophy: A review of adaptive (adverse and non-adverse) changes-conclusions from the 3rd International ESTP Expert Workshop. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 40: 971-994.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623312448935
- Hansen, K. E. A., Johanson, S. M., Steppeler, C., Sodring, M., Ostby, G. C., Berntsen, H. F.,
 Zimmer, K. E., Aleksandersen, M., Paulsen, J. E. and Ropstad, E. (2019). A mixture of persistent
 organic pollutants (POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on
 intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. *Chemosphere* 214: 534-542.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.126
- 809 Hernández, A. F., Parrón, T., Tsatsakis, A. M., Requena, M., Alarcón, R. and López-Guarnido,
- 810 O. (2013). Toxic effects of pesticide mixtures at a molecular level: Their relevance to human
- 811 health. Toxicol. 307: 136-145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2012.06.009
- 812 Ioannides, C. and Lewis, D. F. (2004). Cytochromes P450 in the bioactivation of chemicals. Curr.
- 813 Top. Med. Chem. 4: 1767-1788. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026043387188

- 814Johanson, S. M., Swann, J. R., Umu, Ö. C. O., Aleksandersen, M., Müller, M. H. B., Berntsen,815H. F., Zimmer, K. E., Østby, G. C., Paulsen, J. E. and Ropstad, E. (2020). Maternal exposure to816a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants reduces colorectal carcinogenesis in817A/JMin/+mice.Chemosphere252:126484.
- 818 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126484
- Johri, A., Dhawan, A., Singh, R. L. and Parmar, D. (2008). Persistence in alterations in the
 ontogeny of cerebral and hepatic cytochrome P450s following prenatal exposure to low doses of
 lindane. *Toxicol. Sci.* 101: 331-340. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm269
- Kabir, E. R., Rahman, M. S. and Rahman, I. (2015). A review on endocrine disruptors and their
 possible impacts on human health. *Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* 40: 241-258.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.06.009
- Karmaus, W., Osuch, J. R., Eneli, I., Mudd, L. M., Zhang, J., Mikucki, D., Haan, P. and Davis,
 S. (2009). Maternal levels of dichlorodiphenyl-dichloroethylene (DDE) may increase weight and
 body mass index in adult female offspring. *Occup. Environ. Med.* 66: 143-149.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2008.041921
- Kassambara, A. (2020). ggpubr: 'ggplot2' based publication ready plots. URL:
 https://rpkgs.datanovia.com/ggpubr/
- Knox, S. S., Jackson, T., Javins, B., Frisbee, S. J., Shankar, A. and Ducatman, A. M. (2011).
 Implications of early menopause in women exposed to perfluorocarbons. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96: 1747-1753. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-2401
- Kodavanti, P. R. S., Coburn, C. G., Moser, V. C., MacPhail, R. C., Fenton, S. E., Stoker, T. E.,
 Rayner, J. L., Kannan, K. and Birnbaum, L. S. (2010). Developmental exposure to a commercial
 PBDE mixture, DE-71: Neurobehavioral, hormonal, and reproductive effects. *Toxicol. Sci.* 116:
- 837 297-312. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq105
- 838 Landrigan, P. J. and Goldman, L. R. (2011). Children's vulnerability to toxic chemicals: A
- challenge and opportunity to strengthen health and environmental policy. *Health Affairs* **30**: 842-
- 840 850. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0151

- Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J. R., Hanson, R. G., Narotsky, M. G., Rogers, J. M., Lindstrom, A. B. and
 Strynar, M. J. (2006). Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy in the mouse.
- 843 *Toxicol. Sci.* **90**: 510-518. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi105
- Lee, D. H., Lind, L., Jacobs, D. R., Jr., Salihovic, S., van Bavel, B. and Lind, P. M. (2012).
- 845 Associations of persistent organic pollutants with abdominal obesity in the elderly: The
- 846 prospective investigation of the vasculature in Uppsala seniors (PIVUS) study. Environ. Int. 40:
- 847 170-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.07.010
- Lilienthal, H., Hack, A., Roth-Härer, A., Grande Simone, W. and Talsness Chris, E. (2006).
- 849 Effects of developmental exposure to 2,2',4,4',5-pentabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE-99) on sex
- 850 steroids, sexual development, and sexually dimorphic behavior in rats. Environ. Health Perspect.
- 851 **114**: 194-201. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8391
- 852 Macon, M. B. and Fenton, S. E. (2013). Endocrine disruptors and the breast: Early life effects 853 and later life disease. J. Mammarv Gland Biol. Neoplasia 18: 43-61. 854 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-013-9275-7
- Macon, M. B., Villanueva, L. R., Tatum-Gibbs, K., Zehr, R. D., Strynar, M. J., Stanko, J. P.,
 White, S. S., Helfant, L. and Fenton, S. E. (2011). Prenatal perfluorooctanoic acid exposure in
 CD-1 mice: Low-dose developmental effects and internal dosimetry. *Toxicol. Sci.* 122: 134-145.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr076
- Maglich, J. M., Stoltz, C. M., Goodwin, B., Hawkins-Brown, D., Moore, J. T. and Kliewer, S. A.
 (2002). Nuclear pregnane X receptor and constitutive androstane receptor regulate overlapping
 but distinct sets of genes involved in xenobiotic detoxification. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 62: 638-646.
 https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.62.3.638
- 863 Markey, C. M., Luque, E. H., Munoz De Toro, M., Sonnenschein, C. and Soto, A. M. (2001). In
- 864 *utero* exposure to bisphenol A alters the development and tissue organization of the mouse
- 865 mammary gland. Biol. Reprod. 65: 1215-1223. https://doi.org/10.1093/biolreprod/65.4.1215

- 866 Maronpot, R. R., Yoshizawa, K., Nyska, A., Harada, T., Flake, G., Mueller, G., Singh, B. and
- Ward, J. M. (2010). Hepatic enzyme induction: Histopathology. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 38: 776-795.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310373778
- McGee, E. A. and Hsueh, A. J. W. (2000). Initial and cyclic recruitment of ovarian follicles. *Endocr. Rev.* 21: 200-214. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.21.2.0394
- Milsap, R. L. and Jusko, W. J. (1994). Pharmacokinetics in the infant. *Environ. Health Perspect.*102: 107-110. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.94102s11107
- 873 Miret, N., Rico-Leo, E., Pontillo, C., Zotta, E., Fernandez-Salguero, P. and Randi, A. (2017). A
- 874 dioxin-like compound induces hyperplasia and branching morphogenesis in mouse mammary
- gland, through alterations in TGF-beta1 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling. *Toxicol. Appl.*
- 876 *Pharmacol.* **334**: 192-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2017.09.012
- 877 Miret, N. V., Pontillo, C. A., Zarate, L. V., Kleiman de Pisarev, D., Cocca, C. and Randi, A. S. 878 (2019). Impact of endocrine disruptor hexachlorobenzene on the mammary gland and breast 879 The 173: 330-341. cancer: story thus far. Environ. Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.03.054 880
- Muto, T., Imano, N., Nakaaki, K., Takahashi, H., Hano, H., Wakui, S. and Furusato, M. (2003).
 Estrous cyclicity and ovarian follicles in female rats after prenatal exposure to 3,3',4,4',5pentachlorobiphenyl. *Toxicol. Lett.* 143: 271-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/s03784274(03)00175-9
- National Toxicology Programme. (2006). NTP technical report on the toxicology and
 carcinogenesis studies of 2,2',4,4',5,5'-hexachlorobiphenyl (PCB 153) (CAS No. 35065-27-1) in
 female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats (gavage studies). NTP TR 529, NIH Publication. No. 064465. p. 4-168. https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/go/tr529abs
- Nebert, D. W. and Russell, D. W. (2002). Clinical importance of the cytochromes P450. *Lancet*360: 1155-1162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11203-7

- Osborne, G., Rudel, R. and Schwarzman, M. (2015). Evaluating chemical effects on mammary
 gland development: A critical need in disease prevention. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 54: 148-155.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.07.077
- Pacyniak, E. K., Cheng, X., Cunningham, M. L., Crofton, K., Klaassen, C. D. and Guo, G. L.
 (2007). The flame retardants, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, are pregnane X receptor
 activators. *Toxicol. Sci.* 97: 94-102. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm025
- Pilipenko, N., Ropstad, E., Halsne, R. and Zamaratskaia, G. (2017). Effect of naringenin,
 quercetin, and sesamin on xenobiotica-metabolizing CYP1A and CYP3A in mice offspring after
 maternal exposure to persistent organic pollutants. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2017: 8472312.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8472312
- Polder, A., Müller, M. B., Lyche, J. L., Mdegela, R. H., Nonga, H. E., Mabiki, F. P., Mbise, T.
 J., Skaare, J. U., Sandvik, M., Skjerve, E. and Lie, E. (2014). Levels and patterns of persistent
 organic pollutants (POPs) in tilapia (*Oreochromis sp.*) from four different lakes in Tanzania:
 Geographical differences and implications for human health. *Sci. Total Environ.* 488-489: 252260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.04.085
- Porubsky, P. R., Meneely, K. M. and Scott, E. E. (2008). Structures of human cytochrome P-450
 2E1. Insights into the binding of inhibitors and both small molecular weight and fatty acid
 substrates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283: 33698-33707. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M805999200
- Preibisch, S., Saalfeld, S. and Tomancak, P. (2009). Globally optimal stitching of tiled 3D
 microscopic image acquisitions. *Bioinform*. 25: 1463-1465.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp184
- 912 Quist, E. M., Filgo, A. J., Cummings, C. A., Kissling, G. E., Hoenerhoff, M. J. and Fenton, S. E.
- 913 (2015). Hepatic mitochondrial alteration in CD-1 mice associated with prenatal exposures to low
- 914 doses of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA). Toxicol. Pathol. 43: 546-557.
- 915 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623314551841
- 916 R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- 917 Vienna, Austria, ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org.

- Rachoń, D. (2015). Endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) and female cancer: Informing the
 patients. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Dis.* 16: 359-364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-016-9332-9
- Rasmussen, M. K., Ekstrand, B. and Zamaratskaia, G. (2011). Comparison of cytochrome P450
 concentrations and metabolic activities in porcine hepatic microsomes prepared with two
 different methods. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 25: 343-346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.10.007
- Rayner, J. L., Enoch, R. R. and Fenton, S. E. (2005). Adverse effects of prenatal exposure to
 atrazine during a critical period of mammary gland growth. *Toxicol. Sci.* 87: 255-266.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi213
- 926 Roos, R., Andersson, P. L., Halldin, K., Håkansson, H., Westerholm, E., Hamers, T., Hamscher,
- 927 G., Heikkinen, P., Korkalainen, M., Leslie, H. A., Niittynen, M., Sankari, S., Schmitz, H.-J., van
- 928 der Ven, L. T. M., Viluksela, M. and Schrenk, D. (2011). Hepatic effects of a highly purified
- 929 2.2',3,4,4',5,5'-heptachlorbiphenvl (PCB 180) in male and female rats. *Toxicol.* 284: 42-53.
- 930 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2011.03.013
- Rudel, R. A., Fenton, S. E., Ackerman, J. M., Euling, S. Y. and Makris, S. L. (2011).
 Environmental exposures and mammary gland development: State of the science, public health
 implications, and research recommendations. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 119: 1053-1061.
 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002864
- Sanders, J. M., Burka, L. T., Smith, C. S., Black, W., James, R. and Cunningham, M. L. (2005).
 Differential expression of CYP1A, 2B, and 3A genes in the F344 rat following exposure to a
 polybrominated diphenyl ether mixture or individual components. *Toxicol. Sci.* 88: 127-133.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi288
- 939 Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch,
- 940 S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J.-Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri,
- 941 K., Tomancak, P. and Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image
- 942 analysis. Nat. Methods 9: 676-682. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019

Seacat, A. M., Thomford, P. J., Hansen, K. J., Clemen, L. A., Eldridge, S. R., Elcombe, C. R. and
Butenhoff, J. L. (2003). Sub-chronic dietary toxicity of potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in
rats. *Toxicol.* 183: 117-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(02)00511-5

Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention (2010). Ridding the world of POPs: A guide to the
stockholm convention on persistent organic pollutants. Geneva, Switzerland, United Nations
Environment Programme.

949 Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. (2019). What are POPs?
950 http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/tabid/673/Default.aspx (Accessed 02 April 2020).

951 Shirota, M., Mukai, M., Sakurada, Y., Doyama, A., Inoue, K., Haishima, A., Akahori, F. and

952 Shirota, K. (2006). Effects of vertically transferred 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB-126) on

the reproductive development of female rats. J. Reprod. Develop. 52: 751-761.
https://doi.org/10.1262/jrd.18062

- Sonoda, Y. and Sasaki, K. (2012). Hepatic extramedullary hematopoiesis and macrophages in
 the adult mouse: Histometrical and immunohistochemical studies. *Cells Tissues Organs* 196:
 555-564. https://doi.org/10.1159/000338336
- 958 Stanko, J. P., Easterling, M. R. and Fenton, S. E. (2015). Application of Sholl analysis to quantify

changes in growth and development in rat mammary gland whole mounts. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 54:

960 129-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.11.004

- 961 Stanko, J. P. and Fenton, S. E. (2017). Quantifying branching density in rat mammary gland 962 whole-mounts using the Sholl analysis method. J. Vis. Exp. 125: 55789. 963 https://doi.org/10.3791/55789.
- 964 Szabo, D. T., Richardson, V. M., Ross, D. G., Diliberto, J. J., Kodavanti, P. R. S. and Birnbaum,

965 L. S. (2008). Effects of perinatal PBDE exposure on hepatic phase I, phase II, phase III, and

966 deiodinase 1 gene expression involved in thyroid hormone metabolism in male rat pups. *Toxicol.*

- 967 Sci. 107: 27-39. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfn230
- Talsness, C., E., Kuriyama, S., N., Sterner-Kock, A., Schnitker, P., Grande Simone, W.,
 Shakibaei, M., Andrade, A., Grote, K. and Chahoud, I. (2008). *In Utero* and lactational exposures

- 970 to low doses of polybrominated diphenyl ether-47 alter the reproductive system and thyroid gland
- 971 of female rat offspring. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 116: 308-314.
 972 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.10536
- Tavassoli, M. (1991). Embryonic and fetal hemopoiesis: An overview. *Blood Cell* 17: 269-281;
 discussion 282-266.
- Taylor, K. W., Hoffman, K., Thayer, K. A. and Daniels, J. L. (2014). Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals
 and menopause among women 20–65 years of age (NHANES). *Environ. Health Perspect.* 122:
 145-150. https://doi.org/doi:10.1289/ehp.1306707
- 978 Thibodeaux, J. R., Hanson, R. G., Rogers, J. M., Grey, B. E., Barbee, B. D., Richards, J. H.,
- 979 Butenhoff, J. L., Stevenson, L. A. and Lau, C. (2003). Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate

980 during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: Maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicol. Sci.* 74: 369-

- 981 381. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg121
- 982 Thoolen, B., Maronpot, R. R., Harada, T., Nyska, A., Rousseaux, C., Nolte, T., Malarkey, D. E., 983 Kaufmann, W., Küttler, K., Deschl, U., Nakae, D., Gregson, R., Vinlove, M. P., Brix, A. E., 984 Singh, B., Belpoggi, F. and Ward, J. M. (2010). Proliferative and nonproliferative lesions of the 985 rat and mouse hepatobiliary system. Toxicol. Pathol 38. 5S-81S. 986 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310386499
- Tolson, A. H. and Wang, H. (2010). Regulation of drug-metabolizing enzymes by xenobiotic
 receptors: PXR and CAR. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 62: 1238-1249.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2010.08.006
- Tseng, L.-H., Li, M.-H., Tsai, S.-S., Lee, C.-W., Pan, M.-H., Yao, W.-J. and Hsu, P.-C. (2008).
 Developmental exposure to decabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE 209): Effects on thyroid hormone
 and hepatic enzyme activity in male mouse offspring. *Chemosphere* 70: 640-647.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.06.078
- Tucker, D. K., Bouknight, S. H., Brar, S. S., Kissling, G. E. and Fenton, S. E. (2018). Evaluation
 of prenatal exposure to bisphenol analogues on development and long-term health of the

- 996 mammary gland in female mice. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 126: 087003.
 997 https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP3189
- Tucker, D. K., Macon, M. B., Strynar, M. J., Dagnino, S., Andersen, E. and Fenton, S. E. (2015).
 The mammary gland is a sensitive pubertal target in CD-1 and C57Bl/6 mice following perinatal
 perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) exposure. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 54: 26-36.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.12.002
- Uzumcu, M. and Zachow, R. (2007). Developmental exposure to environmental endocrine
 disruptors: Consequences within the ovary and on female reproductive function. *Reprod. Toxicol.*23: 337-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2006.10.006
- 1005 Vabre, P., Gatimel, N., Moreau, J., Gayrard, V., Picard-Hagen, N., Parinaud, J. and Leandri, R. 1006 D. (2017). Environmental pollutants, a possible etiology for premature ovarian insufficiency: A narrative review of animal and human data. Environ. Health 16: 37. 1007 1008 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0242-4
- 1009 Valvi, D., Mendez, M. A., Martinez, D., Grimalt, J. O., Torrent, M., Sunyer, J. and Vrijheid, M.
- 1010 (2012). Prenatal concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls, DDE, and DDT and overweight in
 1011 children: A prospective birth cohort study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 120: 451-457.
- 1012 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1103862
- van der Ven, L. T. M., van de Kuil, T., Verhoef, A., Leonards, P. E. G., Slob, W., Cantón, R. F.,
 Germer, S., Hamers, T., Visser, T. J., Litens, S., Håkansson, H., Fery, Y., Schrenk, D., van den
 Berg, M., Piersma, A. H. and Vos, J. G. (2008). A 28-day oral dose toxicity study enhanced to
 detect endocrine effects of a purified technical pentabromodiphenyl ether (pentaBDE) mixture in
 Wistar rats. *Toxicol.* 245: 109-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2007.12.016
- 1018 Vizcaino, E., Grimalt, J. O., Fernández-Somoano, A. and Tardon, A. (2014). Transport of
 1019 persistent organic pollutants across the human placenta. *Environ. Int.* 65: 107-115.
 1020 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.01.004
- Wade, M. G., Foster, W. G., Younglai, E. V., McMahon, A., Leingartner, K., Yagminas, A.,
 Blakey, D., Fournier, M., Desaulniers, D. and Hughes, C. L. (2002). Effects of subchronic

- exposure to a complex mixture of persistent contaminants in male rats: Systemic, immune, and
 reproductive effects. *Toxicol. Sci.* 67: 131-143. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.1.131
- Wang, D., Yan, J., Teng, M., Yan, S., Zhou, Z. and Zhu, W. (2018). *In utero* and lactational
 exposure to BDE-47 promotes obesity development in mouse offspring fed a high-fat diet:
 Impaired lipid metabolism and intestinal dysbiosis. *Arch. Toxicol.* 92: 1847-1860.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-018-2177-0
- Warner, M., Rauch, S., Coker, E. S., Harley, K., Kogut, K., Sjodin, A. and Eskenazi, B. (2018).
 Obesity in relation to serum persistent organic pollutant concentrations in CHAMACOS women. *Environ. Epidemiol.* 2: e032. https://doi.org/10.1097/ee9.00000000000032
- Waxman, D. J. (1999). P450 gene induction by structurally diverse xenochemicals: Central role
 of nuclear receptors CAR, PXR, and PPAR. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 369: 11-23.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1999.1351
- White, S. S., Calafat, A. M., Kuklenyik, Z., Villanueva, L., Zehr, R. D., Helfant, L., Strynar, M.
 J., Lindstrom, A. B., Thibodeaux, J. R., Wood, C. and Fenton, S. E. (2007). Gestational PFOA
 exposure of mice is associated with altered mammary gland development in dams and female
 offspring. *Toxicol. Sci.* 96: 133-144. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl177
- White, S. S., Kato, K., Jia, L. T., Basden, B. J., Calafat, A. M., Hines, E. P., Stanko, J. P., Wolf,
 C. J., Abbott, B. D. and Fenton, S. E. (2009). Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid on mouse
 mammary gland development and differentiation resulting from cross-foster and restricted
 gestational exposures. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 27: 289-298.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2008.11.054
- White, S. S., Stanko, J. P., Kato, K., Calafat, A. M., Hines, E. P. and Fenton, S. E. (2011).
 Gestational and chronic low-dose PFOA exposures and mammary gland growth and
 differentiation in three generations of CD-1 mice. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 119: 1070-1076.
 https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002741

- Whitlock, J. J. P. (1990). Genetic and molecular aspects of 2,3,7,8-tetra-chlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin
 action. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 30: 251-277.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pa.30.040190.001343
- 1051 Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis, Springer-Verlag New York.
- Winkens, K., Vestergren, R., Berger, U. and Cousins, I. T. (2017). Early life exposure to per- and
 polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs): A critical review. *Emerg. Contam.* 3: 55-68.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2017.05.001
- 1055 Wolf, D. C., Moore, T., Abbott, B. D., Rosen, M. B., Das, K. P., Zehr, R. D., Lindstrom, A. B.,
- 1056 Strynar, M. J. and Lau, C. (2008). Comparative hepatic effects of perfluorooctanoic acid and WY
- 1057 14,643 in PPAR-alpha knockout and wild-type mice. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **36**: 632-639.
- 1058 https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623308318216
- Xie, W., Barwick, J. L., Downes, M., Blumberg, B., Simon, C. M., Nelson, M. C.,
 Neuschwander-Tetri, B. A., Brunt, E. M., Guzelian, P. S. and Evans, R. M. (2000). Humanized
 xenobiotic response in mice expressing nuclear receptor SXR. *Nature* 406: 435-439.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/35019116
- Yamada, H., Ishii, Y., Yamamoto, M. and Oguri, K. (2006). Induction of the hepatic cytochrome
 P450 2B subfamily by xenobiotics: Research history, evolutionary aspect, relation to
 tumorigenesis, and mechanism. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 7: 397-409.
 https://doi.org/10.2174/138920006776873508
- Yang, C., Tan, Y. S., Harkema, J. R. and Haslam, S. Z. (2009). Differential effects of peripubertal
 exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid on mammary gland development in C57Bl/6 and Balb/c
 mouse strains. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 27: 299-306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2008.10.003
- 1070 Zamaratskaia, G., Zlabek, V., Chen, G. and Madej, A. (2009). Modulation of porcine cytochrome
- 1071 P450 enzyme activities by surgical castration and immunocastration. *Anim.* **3**: 1124-1132.
- 1072 https://doi.org/10.1017/s1751731109004510
- Zamaratskaia, G., Zlabek, V., Ropstad, E., Tajet, H. and Andresen, O. (2010). Hepatic ethoxy-,
 methoxy- and pentoxyresorufin *O*-dealkylase activities in Landrace and Duroc pigs stimulated

- 1075 with HCG. *Reprod. Domest. Anim.* 45: e269-274. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.14391076 0531.2009.01553.x
- Zangar, R. C., Davydov, D. R. and Verma, S. (2004). Mechanisms that regulate production of
 reactive oxygen species by cytochrome P450. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 199: 316-331.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2004.01.018
- 1080 Zhou, T., Taylor, M. M., DeVito, M. J. and Crofton, K. M. (2002). Developmental exposure to
- 1081 brominated diphenyl ethers results in thyroid hormone disruption. *Toxicol. Sci.* 66: 105-116.
- 1082 https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/66.1.105
Supplementary material.

Perinatal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants: Effects on mammary gland development, ovarian folliculogenesis and liver in CD-1 mice.

Silje M. Johanson^a, Erik Ropstad^a, Gunn C. Østby^a, Mona Aleksandersen^b, Galia Zamaratskaia^c, Gudrun S. Boge^d, Cathrine Trangerud^d, Ruth Halsne^e, Jan L. Lyche^f, Hanne F. Berntsen^{a,g}, Karin E. Zimmer^b, Steven Verhaegen^a

^aDepartment of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.

^bDepartment of Preclinical Sciences and Pathology, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.

^cDepartment of Molecular Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Box 7015, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden.

^dDepartment of Companion Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.

^eDepartment of Forensic Sciences, Division of Laboratory Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, P.O. Box 4950 Nydalen, 0424 Oslo, Norway.

^fDepartment of Paraclinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.

^gNational Institute of Occupational Health, P.O. Box 5330 Majorstuen, NO-0304 Oslo, Norway

Table of Contents

Materials and Methods	3
S1. Feed design	3
S2. Animals, experimental design and sample collection	3
Figure S1	4
S3. Chemical analysis	4
S3.1. Chemicals	4
S3.2. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs	4
Table S1.	6
S3.3. QA/QC OCPs, PCBs, BFRs and PFASs	7
S4. Liver microsomal preparations and cytochrome P450 activity	7
Table S2.	8
Results	8
S5. Hepatic internal dosimetry	8
Table S3.	10
Table S4.	11
S6. Biometrical measurements	12
Table S5.	12
Table S6.	12
S7. Mammary gland histology	12
Table S7.	13
S8. Hepatic histology	13
Table S8.	14
References	15

Materials and Methods

S1. Feed design

Only HCB was detected in the control and 'reference' feed at concentrations of 2.24 and 8.04 ng/g, respectively. A deviation was detected between the nominal (estimated) and measured POP concentration in feed of \pm 30% for most of the compounds. However, PCB-28 and the PFASs deviated with approximately 60-70% from nominal concentrations (see more information in Berntsen *et al.* (2017)). The High dose aimed to be 20 times higher than the Low dose, however, the ratio between the High and Low varied from 12 (for PCB-52) to 30 (for oxy-chlordane) times.

The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants includes all PCBs, OCPs and BFRs in the mixture, in addition to PFOS and PFOA (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention 2019). PFHxS is currently under consideration for inclusion, but the other PFASs (PFNA, PFDA and PFUnDA) have not yet been incorporated into the treaty, Nevertheless, all PFASs are known to be persistent in the environment and have the potential to bioaccumulate in animals and humans (Houde *et al.* 2011, Olsen 2015).

S2. Animals, experimental design and sample collection

The study timeline is presented in Figure S1. Dams (F1) were exposed to the mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses from 3 to 12 or 16 weeks of age (sampled during pregnancy or at weaning of offspring, respectively). Offspring (F2) were only exposed to the mixture *in utero*, during lactation or by nibbling on their mother's feed prior to weaning.



Figure S1. Study design of the experiment. Timed-pregnant CD-1 dams (F0) gave birth to F1 dams at approximately 1 week after arrival. F1 dams were exposed to the mixture of POPs through the diet at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively) from 3 weeks of age until termination during pregnancy (at gestation day 17) or post-pregnancy (at day 21 post-partum). F2 offspring were only exposed to the mixture *in utero*, through lactation and by nibbling on their mother's food prior to weaning, and were terminated at 3 (females), 6 (females), 9 (females and males) or 30 (males) weeks of age.

S3. Chemical analysis

S3.1. Chemicals

Additional chemicals used for the chemical analysis included methanol, cyclohexane and acetone of HPLC quality (VWR International S.A.S, Radnor, Pennsylvania) and purified water was obtained from a Milli-Q Gradient A10 water system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Certified Reference Materials (CRM 2525, 350) were supplied by Cerilliant Corporation, Round Rock, TX, USA. Interlaboratory tests (human serum) were provided by Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Program (AMAP), Québec, Canada. All chemicals are routinely quality tested according to the accreditation requirements.

S3.2. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs

The detection of PCBs and OCPs were performed on a DB-5 MS column (60 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness; J&W Scientific). The temperature program was: 90°C (2 min hold); 25°C/min increase to 180°C (2 min hold); 1.5°C/min increase to 220°C (2 min hold); and 3°C/min increase to 275°C (12 min hold) and 25°C/min increase to 300°C (4 min hold). The total run time was 71.6 min. Detection of BDE-28, -47, -99, -100, -153, -154 and -183, and HBCD were conducted on a DB-5 MS column (30 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness; J&W

Scientific). The temperature program was: 90°C (1 min hold); 25°C/min increase to 180°C; 2.5°C/min increase to 220°C (1 min hold); and 20°C/min increase to 320°C (10 min hold). The total run time was 36.60 min. For BDE-206, -207, -208 and -209, separation and detection were performed on a DB-5-MS column (10 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.10 μ m film thickness; J&W Scientific, Agilent Technologies). The temperature program was: 80°C (2 min hold); 30°C/min increase to 315°C (6 min hold). The total run time was 15.83 min. The target ions for all analyzed PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs are given in Table S1.

Table S1. Overview of target ions (m/z, for PCBs and OCPs), precursor and product ions (m/z, for BFRs and PFASs), limit of detection (LOD; ng/g wet weight) and relative recovery (%) of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs measured in pooled liver tissue from CD-1 mice. PCBs, OCPs and BFRs were analyzed by electron capture negative ionization (ECNI) in selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode. PFASs were analyzed in electrospray ionization (ESI) and negative ionization mode.

Compounds	Target ion	LOD	Recovery
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)			
PCB-52	291.9	0.973	87
PCB-101	325.9	0.088	99
PCB-118	325.9	0.011	96
PCB-138	359.9	0.021	97
PCB-153	359.9	0.007	90
PCB-180	395.8	0.008	102
Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs)			
<i>p,p'</i> -DDE	317.9	0.164	133
HCB	283.8	0.007	98
α-Chlordane	409.8	0.008	99
Oxychlordane	351.8	0.059	123
Trans-nonachlor	443.8	0.007	121
α-HCH	71	0.025	108
β-НСН	71	0.052	121
ү-НСН	71	0.020	116
Brominated flame retardants (BFRs)			
BDE-28	79/81	0.033	86
BDE-47	79/81	0.098	86
BDE-99	79/81	0.069	117
BDE-100	79/81	0.051	106
BDE-153	79/81	0.131	108
BDE-154	79/81	0.132	92
BDE-183	79/81	0.232	94
BDE-206	484/486	0.093	156
BDE-207	484/486	0.069	121
BDE-208	484/486	0.051	129
BDE-209	495/497	0.224	120
HBCD	79/81	1.182	155
Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs)			
PFHxS	398.9/80	0.220	97
PFOS	498.9/99	0.130	93
PFOA	413/369	0.240	105
PFNA	463/419	0.180	99
PFDA	513/469	0.150	100
PFUnDA	563/519	0.090	97

S3.3. QA/QC OCPs, PCBs, BFRs and PFASs

One non-spiked and two spiked samples of commercial cod oil, three blanks (solvents) and one harp seal blubber (*Pagophilus groendlandicus*) were included as internal reference material (IRM) for the analysis of OCPs, PCBs and BFRs. For analyses of PFASs, the analytical series included one non-spiked (blind) and two spiked salmon liver samples and three blanks (solvents).

The LOD was defined as three times the noise level for each compound. LOD and relative recovery are presented in Table S1. p,p'-DDE, BDE-206 and HBCD were corrected for high relative recovery (> 130%). Percentage fat used for adjusting the concentrations of the lipid-soluble PCBs, OCPs and BFRs are shown in Table S4. Positive procedural blanks were found for some compounds. Results were corrected for blanks, if the blank concentrations were consistent for all solvent samples. The analytical quality was approved by satisfactory quality control measures, and results were within the accepted ranges for the analyzed CRM (2525: Fish containing PCBs, OCPs, BFRs (Cerilliant Corporation, Round Rock, USA) and 350: Fish oil containing PCBs (Commission of the European Communities, Belgium)) and inter-laboratory tests (AMAP: human blood containing PCBs, OCPs, BFRs, PFASs (Québec, Canada)).

S4. Liver microsomal preparations and cytochrome P450 activity

Hepatic microsomes were prepared as described in Rasmussen *et al.* (2011). In brief, liver was homogenized in Tris-sucrose buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 250 mM sucrose, pH 7.4) at a 1:2 ratio (weight of sample:volume of buffer) and centrifuged for 10 min (at 10 000 g and 4°C using an Eppendorf Centrifuge 5417R). The supernatant was extracted and diluted with TRIS-sucrose buffer, containing 8 mM CaCl₂, to a final volume of 25 mL. Samples were centrifuged (30 min at 25 000 g and 4°C, Beckman Coulter OptimaTML-80 XP Ultracentrifuge) after 4 min incubation on ice.

Experimental conditions for the activity assay are reported in Table S2.

CYP isoform	Reaction	Substrate	Substrate final concentration (µM)	Microsomal protein (mg)	NADPH (mM)	Incubation time (min)	Terminating reagent
CYP1A	EROD	7-ethoxyresorufin	1	0.2	0.5	5	100 % Methanol
CYP1A	MROD	7-methoxyresorufin	2	0.2	0.5	7	100 % Methanol
CYP3A11	BROD	7-benzyloxyresorufin	2	0.2	0.5	7	100 % Methanol
CYP2B10	PROD	7-pentoxyresorufin	10	0.2	0.5	20	100 % Methanol
CYP2A5	СоН	coumarin	200	0.2	0.5	15	100% Methanol
CYP2E1	PNPH	p-nitrophenol	200	0.5	0.5	30	40% TCA

Table S2. Experimental conditions for cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme activity assays.

Abbreviations: EROD = 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase; MROD = 7-methoxyresorufin O-demethylase; BROD = 7-benzyloxyresorufin O-dealkylation; PROD = 7-pentoxyresorufin O-depenthylase; CoH = coumarin hydroxylase; PNPH = p-nitrophenol hydroxylase.

HPLC analyses of CYP enzyme activities were performed on a system comprising a pump (L-7100), autosampler (L-7200), fluorescence (L-7485) or UV-Vis (L-4250) detector, and D-7000 HPLC Manager software (Merck-Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). A Hypersil ODS ($3 \mu m$, $60 \times 4.6 mm$), with a guard column, was used for quantification of resorufin and coumarin. For p-nitrocatechol, a Lichrosphere RP-18 column ($5 \mu m$, $250 \times 4 mm$) with a guard column, was used.

Results

S5. Hepatic internal dosimetry

The concentrations of individual PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs in pooled liver samples from dams (F1) and female offspring (F2) are presented in Tables S3 and S4 (lipid adjusted and wet weight, respectively). PCB-28 and dieldrin, however present in the POP mixture, were not measured. Thus, Σ 7PCBs is noted as Σ 6PCBs in Table 2 and Supplementary Tables S3 and S4.

Similar to the measured POP concentrations in feed, variation in the ratio between High and Low doses were also seen in pooled liver samples from dietary exposed dams (with 1-14x and 4-23x for PCBs, 5-19x and 4-26x for OCPs, 15-26x and 8-24x for BFRs, and 22-28x and 17-21x for PFASs in the pregnant and post-pregnant dams, respectively). In maternally exposed offspring at 3, 6 and 9 weeks, all compounds (except γ -HCH in High, and PCB-52, BDE-183 and HBCD in

both doses) were found at higher concentrations in High compared to Low (with 3-25x, 6-30x, 12-52x and 18-23x higher for PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs at 3 weeks, respectively). Furthermore, the ratio of PFAS concentrations between High and Low were closer to 20x than for the other POPs (with 19-23x and 17-19x at 6 and 9 weeks, respectively).

post-pregnant (21 days post-partum) dams and maternally exposed female offspring (3, 6 and 9 weeks of age). Mice were exposed to the mixture of Table S3. Concentrations of individual PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs in pooled liver samples of dietary exposed pregnant (gestation day 17) and POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Values are presented as ng/g lipid weight

for PCBs, OCP	s and Bl	Rs, and	ng/g wet	weight f	or PFA:	Ss.									
Commune	Pregnant	t dams	піль	Post-preg	mant dams	қ Підь	3 weeks o	ffspring	піль	6 weeks o	ffspring	піль	9 weeks o	ffspring 1 cm	uiah
Polychlorinated bip.	hemyls (PC	Bs)	ngun	COLLING	FOW	ngni	COULIER	TOW	ngni	COULING	FOW	ngnr	COULING	FOW	ngin
PCB-52	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><pre>COD</pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<pre>COD</pre>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PCB-101	≪LOD	158.2	1725.0	≪LOD	124.7	1385.7	<lod< td=""><td>120.1</td><td>1050.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td>36.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	120.1	1050.5	<lod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td>36.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.7	36.5	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PCB-118	1.3	908.9	13030.8	0.9	358.8	7760.9	2.0	663.7	16437.0	1.7	140.2	5450.7	1.8	39.2	2549.8
PCB-138	58.2	35563.2	39569.4	11.6	5104.1	19050.3	31.9	14406.1	36625.9	44.9	7806.7	26077.2	58.6	3912.3	16795.2
PCB-153	8.2	2115.1	22615.9	1.7	682.1	15967.5	5.6	1671.7	27009.3	5.7	656.9	13241.5	6.4	493.4	7559.4
PCB-180	18.3	6945.2	10070.5	6.1	1517.2	8577.7	8.2	2767.3	8845.1	12.0	1534.2	5557.9	13.1	872.4	3373.0
Σ6PCBs	87.1	45691.6	87012.6	21.4	7787.9	52743.1	48.8	19629.9	89968.8	65.3	10144.7	50364.8	81.0	5318.4	30278.5
Organochlorine pes	ticides (OC	(Ps)													
p,p'-DDE	<lod< td=""><td>907.0</td><td>13883.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>922.2</td><td>14189.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1200.9</td><td>24412.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>153.6</td><td>1287.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.2</td><td>283.7</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	907.0	13883.9	<lod< td=""><td>922.2</td><td>14189.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1200.9</td><td>24412.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>153.6</td><td>1287.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.2</td><td>283.7</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	922.2	14189.0	<lod< td=""><td>1200.9</td><td>24412.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>153.6</td><td>1287.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.2</td><td>283.7</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1200.9	24412.2	<lod< td=""><td>153.6</td><td>1287.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.2</td><td>283.7</td></lod<></td></lod<>	153.6	1287.5	<lod< td=""><td>10.2</td><td>283.7</td></lod<>	10.2	283.7
HCB	8.5	901.4	14477.2	3.6	281.4	6439.8	8.7	757.5	16181.9	25.4	201.2	4452.5	28.8	132.6	2131.6
α-Chlordane	<lod< td=""><td>27.7</td><td>133.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>71.6</td><td>0.2</td><td>2.2</td><td>14.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	27.7	133.5	<lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>71.6</td><td>0.2</td><td>2.2</td><td>14.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	20.0	71.6	0.2	2.2	14.1	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Oxychlordane	<lod< td=""><td>397.7</td><td>5894.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>96.9</td><td>2216.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>314.3</td><td>7627.2</td><td>1.8</td><td>108.9</td><td>3084.8</td><td>2.1</td><td>102.7</td><td>1563.2</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	397.7	5894.3	<lod< td=""><td>96.9</td><td>2216.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>314.3</td><td>7627.2</td><td>1.8</td><td>108.9</td><td>3084.8</td><td>2.1</td><td>102.7</td><td>1563.2</td></lod<></td></lod<>	96.9	2216.9	<lod< td=""><td>314.3</td><td>7627.2</td><td>1.8</td><td>108.9</td><td>3084.8</td><td>2.1</td><td>102.7</td><td>1563.2</td></lod<>	314.3	7627.2	1.8	108.9	3084.8	2.1	102.7	1563.2
Trans-Nonachlor	0.7	283.6	5414.6	0.4	115.5	3045.6	0.9	238.4	7225.5	0.8	72.4	2185.7	0.7	62.8	924.9
α-HCH	<lod< td=""><td>76.4</td><td>1014.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>62.4</td><td>873.6</td><td>0.9</td><td>61.4</td><td>854.0</td><td>0.8</td><td>1.9</td><td>11.7</td><td>0.8</td><td>0.9</td><td>3.1</td></lod<></td></lod<>	76.4	1014.6	<lod< td=""><td>62.4</td><td>873.6</td><td>0.9</td><td>61.4</td><td>854.0</td><td>0.8</td><td>1.9</td><td>11.7</td><td>0.8</td><td>0.9</td><td>3.1</td></lod<>	62.4	873.6	0.9	61.4	854.0	0.8	1.9	11.7	0.8	0.9	3.1
B-HCH	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>491.8</td><td>5593.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>218.7</td><td>2652.1</td><td>1.5</td><td>404.3</td><td>6141.1</td><td>6.2</td><td>118.1</td><td>1657.8</td><td>5.7</td><td>58.0</td><td>446.0</td></lod<></td></lod>	491.8	5593.5	<lod< td=""><td>218.7</td><td>2652.1</td><td>1.5</td><td>404.3</td><td>6141.1</td><td>6.2</td><td>118.1</td><td>1657.8</td><td>5.7</td><td>58.0</td><td>446.0</td></lod<>	218.7	2652.1	1.5	404.3	6141.1	6.2	118.1	1657.8	5.7	58.0	446.0
y-HCH	<lod< td=""><td>7.3</td><td>58.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>7.7</td><td>43.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	7.3	58.0	<lod< td=""><td>7.7</td><td>43.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	7.7	43.8	<lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.1	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Z70CPs	9.4	2186.4	32585.7	4.2	802.6	15343.4	12.3	1779.2	38043.8	35.0	502.5	11392.5	38.1	357.0	5068.9
Brominated flame re	stardants (1	3FRs)													
BDE-28	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>29.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>32.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>54.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>29.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>32.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>54.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	29.6	<lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>32.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>54.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.1	32.7	<lod< td=""><td>1.1</td><td>54.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.1	54.9	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BDE-47	<lod< td=""><td>156.7</td><td>3199.5</td><td><lod< td=""><td>189.8</td><td>4280.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>284.7</td><td>7492.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>24.5</td><td>148.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	156.7	3199.5	<lod< td=""><td>189.8</td><td>4280.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>284.7</td><td>7492.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>24.5</td><td>148.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	189.8	4280.9	<lod< td=""><td>284.7</td><td>7492.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>24.5</td><td>148.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	284.7	7492.3	<lod< td=""><td>24.5</td><td>148.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	24.5	148.2	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>30.1</td></lod<>	30.1
BDE-99	<lod< td=""><td>84.5</td><td>1465.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>83.3</td><td>1464.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>98.1</td><td>1475.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>19.6</td><td>259.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.3</td><td>78.8</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	84.5	1465.2	<lod< td=""><td>83.3</td><td>1464.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>98.1</td><td>1475.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>19.6</td><td>259.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.3</td><td>78.8</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	83.3	1464.7	<lod< td=""><td>98.1</td><td>1475.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>19.6</td><td>259.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.3</td><td>78.8</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	98.1	1475.2	<lod< td=""><td>19.6</td><td>259.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.3</td><td>78.8</td></lod<></td></lod<>	19.6	259.0	<lod< td=""><td>8.3</td><td>78.8</td></lod<>	8.3	78.8
BDE-100	<lod< td=""><td>79.5</td><td>1189.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1046.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>79.3</td><td>1514.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>348.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	79.5	1189.1	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1046.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>79.3</td><td>1514.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>348.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>1046.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>79.3</td><td>1514.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>348.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1046.4	<lod< td=""><td>79.3</td><td>1514.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>348.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	79.3	1514.4	<lod< td=""><td>20.0</td><td>348.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<></td></lod<>	20.0	348.8	<lod< td=""><td>14.6</td><td>122.2</td></lod<>	14.6	122.2
BDE-153	<lod< td=""><td>23.6</td><td>610.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>35.3</td><td>841.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>29.8</td><td>585.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td><td>270.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.8</td><td>145.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	23.6	610.9	<lod< td=""><td>35.3</td><td>841.3</td><td><lod< td=""><td>29.8</td><td>585.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td><td>270.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.8</td><td>145.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	35.3	841.3	<lod< td=""><td>29.8</td><td>585.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td><td>270.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.8</td><td>145.1</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	29.8	585.1	<lod< td=""><td>10.0</td><td>270.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td>10.8</td><td>145.1</td></lod<></td></lod<>	10.0	270.6	<lod< td=""><td>10.8</td><td>145.1</td></lod<>	10.8	145.1
BDE-154	<lod< td=""><td>28.6</td><td>428.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>35.7</td><td>509.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>22.3</td><td>275.6</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.8</td><td>75.8</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.4</td><td>21.0</td></l0d<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	28.6	428.9	<lod< td=""><td>35.7</td><td>509.4</td><td><lod< td=""><td>22.3</td><td>275.6</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.8</td><td>75.8</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.4</td><td>21.0</td></l0d<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	35.7	509.4	<lod< td=""><td>22.3</td><td>275.6</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.8</td><td>75.8</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.4</td><td>21.0</td></l0d<></td></l0d<></td></lod<>	22.3	275.6	<l0d< td=""><td>4.8</td><td>75.8</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>4.4</td><td>21.0</td></l0d<></td></l0d<>	4.8	75.8	<l0d< td=""><td>4.4</td><td>21.0</td></l0d<>	4.4	21.0
BDE-183	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>21.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>21.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>21.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>21.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>21.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	21.9	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ZBDE-28-183	0.7	373.2	6923.4	0.7	345.5	8197.3	0.7	515.5	11397.7	0.7	79.2	1102.7	0.7	38.5	397.5
BDE-206	<lod< td=""><td>12.5</td><td>189.1</td><td><lod< td=""><td>12.6</td><td>86.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td>95.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	12.5	189.1	<lod< td=""><td>12.6</td><td>86.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td>95.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	12.6	86.2	<lod< td=""><td>5.7</td><td>95.6</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.7	95.6	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BDE-207	<lod td="" ≥<=""><td>208.6</td><td>2593.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>103.4</td><td>1379.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.66</td><td>2129.8</td><td>COD</td><td>8.7</td><td>131.3</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>5.3</td><td>75.6</td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod>	208.6	2593.0	<lod< td=""><td>103.4</td><td>1379.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.66</td><td>2129.8</td><td>COD</td><td>8.7</td><td>131.3</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>5.3</td><td>75.6</td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	103.4	1379.8	<lod< td=""><td>0.66</td><td>2129.8</td><td>COD</td><td>8.7</td><td>131.3</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>5.3</td><td>75.6</td></l0d<></td></lod<>	0.66	2129.8	COD	8.7	131.3	<l0d< td=""><td>5.3</td><td>75.6</td></l0d<>	5.3	75.6
BDE-208	<lod< td=""><td>29.1</td><td>220.7</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.7</td><td>86.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.6</td><td>154.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>6.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	29.1	220.7	<lod< td=""><td>8.7</td><td>86.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.6</td><td>154.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>6.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	8.7	86.2	<lod< td=""><td>5.6</td><td>154.8</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>6.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.6	154.8	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>6.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>6.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	6.9	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>10.0</td></lod<>	10.0
BDE-209	<lod< td=""><td>2010.5</td><td>32300.7</td><td>7.7</td><td>4409.4</td><td>33858.7</td><td>10.0</td><td>772.9</td><td>13893.9</td><td><lod< td=""><td>21.8</td><td>155.6</td><td>3.9</td><td>17.3</td><td>79.9</td></lod<></td></lod<>	2010.5	32300.7	7.7	4409.4	33858.7	10.0	772.9	13893.9	<lod< td=""><td>21.8</td><td>155.6</td><td>3.9</td><td>17.3</td><td>79.9</td></lod<>	21.8	155.6	3.9	17.3	79.9
ΣBDE-206-209	0.4	2260.7	35303.5	7.9	4534.1	35411.8	10.2	883.1	16274.1	0.4	30.6	293.9	4.1	22.7	165.6
HBCD	<lod td="" ≥<=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<>	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40.2</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod>	40.2	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>27.6</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	27.6	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Perfluoroalkylated 5	ubstances	(PFASs)													
PFHxS	0.3	13.1	359.7	0.4	22.9	485.3	0.9	7.1	160.6	<lod< td=""><td>2.9</td><td>54.0</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.9</td><td>35.4</td></lod<></td></lod<>	2.9	54.0	<lod< td=""><td>1.9</td><td>35.4</td></lod<>	1.9	35.4
PFOS	0.5	106.9	2968.3	2.3	332.0	6483.3	7.9	63.3	1477.8	1.2	37.7	718.1	1.8	28.9	540.9
PFOA	0.7	151.9	3751.1	1.3	259.6	4400.8	6.0	109.0	2532.0	1.4	30.3	697.8	1.3	22.3	375.5
PFNA	0.4	118.0	3294.1	0.9	198.6	4007.9	5.6	80.1	1738.9	0.9	37.5	760.6	1.1	31.8	614.8
PFDA	0.4	160.1	3570.1	1.0	275.7	4675.8	7.3	100.5	1817.7	1.2	43.2	860.0	1.3	40.9	647.9
PFUnDA	0.5	95.3	2239.8	0.6	159.8	2691.6	4.5	43.6	807.9	0.6	19.3	399.6	0.6	16.6	307.4
ΣPFASs	2.8	645.3	16183.3	6.5	1248.5	22744.6	32.2	403.7	8535.0	5.5	170.9	3490.1	6.3	142.3	2521.8
27 OCPe. HCB a-	~hlordane	ovvohlord	ane trans-	nonachlor	~-HCH	3-HCH and	HOH-4								

 Σ /OCPs: HCB, α -chlordane, oxychlordane, *trans*-nonachlor, α -HCH, β -HCH and γ -HCH.

Table S4. Concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs (ng/g wet weight) and lipid (%) in pooled liver samples of dietary exposed pregnant (gestation day 17) and post-pregnant (21 days post-partum) dams and maternally exposed female offspring (3, 6 and 9 weeks of age). Mice were exposed to the mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively).

	Pregnam	t dams		Post-preg	gnant dams		3 weeks o	offspring		6 weeks o	offspring		9 weeks a	offspring	
Compounds	Control	Low	High	Control	Low	High	Control	Low	High	Control	Low	High	Control	Low	High
Lipid %	4.50	3.73	6.13	6.17	6.72	8.93	4.06	4.34	5.54	6.15	5.43	5.52	6.99	7.75	7.01
Polychlorinated t	iphenyls (F	CBs)													
PCB-52	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><pre><tod< pre=""></tod<></pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td>40D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><pre><tod< pre=""></tod<></pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td>40D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<pre><tod< pre=""></tod<></pre>	<lod< td=""><td>40D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<>	40D	<lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<>	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod>	<l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td><td><0D</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></l0d<>	€LOD	<0D	<lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<></td></lod<>	<l0d< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod></td></l0d<>	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>40D</td><td>€LOD</td></lod>	40D	€LOD
PCB-101	<lod< td=""><td>5.90</td><td>105.80</td><td><lod< td=""><td>8.37</td><td>123.72</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.21</td><td>58.16</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>2.01</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.90	105.80	<lod< td=""><td>8.37</td><td>123.72</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.21</td><td>58.16</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>2.01</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	8.37	123.72	<lod< td=""><td>5.21</td><td>58.16</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>2.01</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.21	58.16	<lod< td=""><td>0.31</td><td>2.01</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.31	2.01	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PCB-118	0.06	33.89	799.22	0.06	24.10	692.94	0.08	28.82	910.04	0.10	7.62	301.10	0.13	3.04	178.77
PCB-138	2.62	1326.09	2426.92	0.71	342.85	1700.92	1.30	625.46	2027.80	2.76	424.15	1440.52	4.09	303.05	1177.52
PCB-153	0.37	78.87	1387.11	0.10	45.82	1425.67	0.23	72.58	1495.38	0.35	35.69	731.47	0.45	38.22	529.99
PCB-180	0.83	258.98	617.66	0.37	101.91	765.87	0.33	120.15	489.71	0.74	83.35	307.02	0.92	67.58	236.49
Σ6PCBs	4.94	1704.70	5337.68	2.31	524.02	4710.09	3.00	853.18	4983.12	5.01	512.09	2783.10	6.64	412.95	2123.83
Organochlorine p	esticides (C	DCPs)													
p,p'-DDE	<lod< td=""><td>33.82</td><td>851.55</td><td><lod< td=""><td>82.39</td><td>1684.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td>69.35</td><td>1797.61</td><td><lod< td=""><td>11.10</td><td>71.13</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.79</td><td>19.86</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	33.82	851.55	<lod< td=""><td>82.39</td><td>1684.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td>69.35</td><td>1797.61</td><td><lod< td=""><td>11.10</td><td>71.13</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.79</td><td>19.86</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	82.39	1684.95	<lod< td=""><td>69.35</td><td>1797.61</td><td><lod< td=""><td>11.10</td><td>71.13</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.79</td><td>19.86</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	69.35	1797.61	<lod< td=""><td>11.10</td><td>71.13</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.79</td><td>19.86</td></lod<></td></lod<>	11.10	71.13	<lod< td=""><td>0.79</td><td>19.86</td></lod<>	0.79	19.86
HCB	0.38	33.61	887.93	0.22	18.90	574.98	0.35	32.89	895.92	1.56	10.93	245.96	2.01	10.27	149.45
α-Chlordane	<lod< td=""><td>1.03</td><td>8.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.34</td><td>6.40</td><td>0.01</td><td>0.10</td><td>0.78</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.03	8.19	<lod< td=""><td>1.34</td><td>6.40</td><td>0.01</td><td>0.10</td><td>0.78</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.34	6.40	0.01	0.10	0.78	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Oxychlordane	<lod< td=""><td>14.83</td><td>361.52</td><td><lod< td=""><td>6.51</td><td>197.93</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>13.65</td><td>422.28</td><td>0.11</td><td>5.92</td><td>170.41</td><td>0.15</td><td>7.96</td><td>109.60</td></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<>	14.83	361.52	<lod< td=""><td>6.51</td><td>197.93</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>13.65</td><td>422.28</td><td>0.11</td><td>5.92</td><td>170.41</td><td>0.15</td><td>7.96</td><td>109.60</td></lod></td></lod<>	6.51	197.93	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>13.65</td><td>422.28</td><td>0.11</td><td>5.92</td><td>170.41</td><td>0.15</td><td>7.96</td><td>109.60</td></lod>	13.65	422.28	0.11	5.92	170.41	0.15	7.96	109.60
Trans-Nonachlor	0.03	10.58	332.09	0.03	7.76	271.93	0.04	10.35	400.04	0.05	3.93	120.74	0.06	4.87	64.85
α-HCH	<pre><tod< pre=""></tod<></pre>	2.85	62.23	<lod< td=""><td>4.19</td><td>78.00</td><td>0.04</td><td>2.67</td><td>47.12</td><td>0.05</td><td>0.11</td><td>0.64</td><td>0.06</td><td>0.07</td><td>0.21</td></lod<>	4.19	78.00	0.04	2.67	47.12	0.05	0.11	0.64	0.06	0.07	0.21
B-HCH	<tod< td=""><td>18.34</td><td>343.07</td><td><lod< td=""><td>14.69</td><td>236.80</td><td>0.06</td><td>17.55</td><td>340.01</td><td>0.38</td><td>6.42</td><td>91.58</td><td>0.40</td><td>4.50</td><td>31.27</td></lod<></td></tod<>	18.34	343.07	<lod< td=""><td>14.69</td><td>236.80</td><td>0.06</td><td>17.55</td><td>340.01</td><td>0.38</td><td>6.42</td><td>91.58</td><td>0.40</td><td>4.50</td><td>31.27</td></lod<>	14.69	236.80	0.06	17.55	340.01	0.38	6.42	91.58	0.40	4.50	31.27
v-HCH	<pre><tod< pre=""></tod<></pre>	0.27	3.56	<lod< td=""><td>0.52</td><td>3.91</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.52	3.91	<lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.05	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""></lod></td></lod<>	<lod td="" ≤<=""></lod>
270CPs	0.57	81.51	1998.59	0.41	53.91	1369.95	0.58	77.26	2106.17	2.18	27.34	629.36	2.71	27.70	355.41
Brominated flame	retardants	(BFRs)													
BDE-28	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1.81</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.08</td><td>2.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td>3.04</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>1.81</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.08</td><td>2.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td>3.04</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.81	<lod< td=""><td>0.08</td><td>2.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td>3.04</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.08	2.92	<lod< td=""><td>0.05</td><td>3.04</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.05	3.04	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BDE-47	<l0d< td=""><td>5.84</td><td>196.24</td><td><lod< td=""><td>12.75</td><td>382.23</td><td><lod< td=""><td>12.36</td><td>414.81</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.33</td><td>8.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>≪LOD</td><td>2.11</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<>	5.84	196.24	<lod< td=""><td>12.75</td><td>382.23</td><td><lod< td=""><td>12.36</td><td>414.81</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.33</td><td>8.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>≪LOD</td><td>2.11</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	12.75	382.23	<lod< td=""><td>12.36</td><td>414.81</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.33</td><td>8.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>≪LOD</td><td>2.11</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	12.36	414.81	<lod< td=""><td>1.33</td><td>8.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>≪LOD</td><td>2.11</td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.33	8.19	<lod< td=""><td>≪LOD</td><td>2.11</td></lod<>	≪LOD	2.11
BDE-99	<lod< td=""><td>3.15</td><td>89.87</td><td><lod< td=""><td>5.59</td><td>130.78</td><td><lod< td=""><td>4.26</td><td>81.67</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.06</td><td>14.31</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.65</td><td>5.52</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	3.15	89.87	<lod< td=""><td>5.59</td><td>130.78</td><td><lod< td=""><td>4.26</td><td>81.67</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.06</td><td>14.31</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.65</td><td>5.52</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	5.59	130.78	<lod< td=""><td>4.26</td><td>81.67</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.06</td><td>14.31</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.65</td><td>5.52</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	4.26	81.67	<lod< td=""><td>1.06</td><td>14.31</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.65</td><td>5.52</td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.06	14.31	<lod< td=""><td>0.65</td><td>5.52</td></lod<>	0.65	5.52
BDE-100	<tod< td=""><td>2.97</td><td>72.93</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>93.43</td><td><lod< td=""><td>3.44</td><td>83.85</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.09</td><td>19.27</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></tod<>	2.97	72.93	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>93.43</td><td><lod< td=""><td>3.44</td><td>83.85</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.09</td><td>19.27</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>93.43</td><td><lod< td=""><td>3.44</td><td>83.85</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.09</td><td>19.27</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	93.43	<lod< td=""><td>3.44</td><td>83.85</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.09</td><td>19.27</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	3.44	83.85	<lod< td=""><td>1.09</td><td>19.27</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.09	19.27	<lod< td=""><td>1.13</td><td>8.57</td></lod<>	1.13	8.57
BDE-153	€LOD	0.88	37.47	<lod< td=""><td>2.37</td><td>75.12</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.30</td><td>32.39</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.55</td><td>14.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.84</td><td>10.17</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	2.37	75.12	<lod< td=""><td>1.30</td><td>32.39</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.55</td><td>14.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.84</td><td>10.17</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.30	32.39	<lod< td=""><td>0.55</td><td>14.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.84</td><td>10.17</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.55	14.95	<lod< td=""><td>0.84</td><td>10.17</td></lod<>	0.84	10.17
BDE-154	<lod< td=""><td>1.07</td><td>26.31</td><td><lod< td=""><td>2.40</td><td>45.48</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.97</td><td>15.26</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.26</td><td>4.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.34</td><td>1.47</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.07	26.31	<lod< td=""><td>2.40</td><td>45.48</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.97</td><td>15.26</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.26</td><td>4.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.34</td><td>1.47</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	2.40	45.48	<lod< td=""><td>0.97</td><td>15.26</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.26</td><td>4.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.34</td><td>1.47</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.97	15.26	<lod< td=""><td>0.26</td><td>4.19</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.34</td><td>1.47</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.26	4.19	<lod< td=""><td>0.34</td><td>1.47</td></lod<>	0.34	1.47
BDE-183	<0D	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>1.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>1.95</td><td><lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	1.95	<lod< td=""><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod<>	<l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></l0d<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><10D</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<10D	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ZBDE-28-183	0.75	14.18	424.85	0.75	23.47	731.90	0.75	22.60	631.26	0.75	4.56	61.17	0.75	3.31	28.11
BDE-206	C0D	0.47	11.60	<lod< td=""><td>0.84</td><td>7.70</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>0.25</td><td>5.30</td><td><l0d< td=""><td><pre><pre>LOD</pre></pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<>	0.84	7.70	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>0.25</td><td>5.30</td><td><l0d< td=""><td><pre><pre>LOD</pre></pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod>	0.25	5.30	<l0d< td=""><td><pre><pre>LOD</pre></pre></td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<>	<pre><pre>LOD</pre></pre>	<lod< td=""><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<>	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td><l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<></td></lod>	<l0d< td=""><td>€LOD</td></l0d<>	€LOD
BDE-207	<lod< td=""><td>7.78</td><td>159.04</td><td><lod< td=""><td>6.95</td><td>123.20</td><td><lod< td=""><td>4.30</td><td>117.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.47</td><td>7.25</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>5.30</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	7.78	159.04	<lod< td=""><td>6.95</td><td>123.20</td><td><lod< td=""><td>4.30</td><td>117.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.47</td><td>7.25</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>5.30</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	6.95	123.20	<lod< td=""><td>4.30</td><td>117.92</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.47</td><td>7.25</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>5.30</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	4.30	117.92	<lod< td=""><td>0.47</td><td>7.25</td><td><lod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>5.30</td></lod<></td></lod<>	0.47	7.25	<lod< td=""><td>0.41</td><td>5.30</td></lod<>	0.41	5.30
BDE-208	<0D	1.09	13.53	<lod< td=""><td>0.58</td><td><i>TT.T</i></td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td>0.24</td><td>8.57</td><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.38</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod></td></lod<>	0.58	<i>TT.T</i>	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td>0.24</td><td>8.57</td><td><l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.38</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<></td></lod>	0.24	8.57	<l0d< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.38</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<></td></l0d<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.38</td><td><lod td="" ≤<=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<></td></lod></td></lod<>	0.38	<lod td="" ≤<=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<></td></lod>	<lod< td=""><td>0.71</td></lod<>	0.71
BDE-209	<lod< td=""><td>74.97</td><td>1981.11</td><td>0.48</td><td>296.19</td><td>3023.10</td><td>0.41</td><td>33.56</td><td>769.24</td><td><lod< td=""><td>1.19</td><td>8.60</td><td>0.28</td><td>1.34</td><td>5.60</td></lod<></td></lod<>	74.97	1981.11	0.48	296.19	3023.10	0.41	33.56	769.24	<lod< td=""><td>1.19</td><td>8.60</td><td>0.28</td><td>1.34</td><td>5.60</td></lod<>	1.19	8.60	0.28	1.34	5.60
ZBDE-206-209	0.44	84.30	2165.28	0.69	304.56	3161.77	0.62	38.34	901.02	0.44	1.80	16.32	0.49	1.89	11.70
HBCD	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>3.59</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>3.59</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>3.59</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>3.59</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>3.59</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	3.59	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>2.14</td><td><pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre></td></lod<>	2.14	<pre><pre>TOD</pre></pre>
$Perfluoroalkylat\epsilon$	d substance	es (PFASs)													
PFHxS	0.27	13.09	359.73	0.40	22.94	485.27	0.94	7.15	160.59	<l0d< td=""><td>2.86</td><td>53.96</td><td><l0d< td=""><td>1.90</td><td>35.41</td></l0d<></td></l0d<>	2.86	53.96	<l0d< td=""><td>1.90</td><td>35.41</td></l0d<>	1.90	35.41
PFOS	0.54	106.87	2968.33	2.31	331.99	6483.30	7.90	63.35	1477.83	1.24	37.69	718.05	1.77	28.88	540.86
PFOA	0.70	151.93	3751.13	1.27	259.56	4400.77	6.00	109.05	2532.02	1.37	30.30	697.77	1.26	22.29	375.49
PFNA	0.44	118.03	3294.12	0.91	198.59	4007.86	5.55	80.09	1738.92	0.90	37.50	760.65	1.12	31.78	614.79
PFDA	0.38	160.09	3570.14	0.98	275.65	4675.84	7.25	100.45	1817.73	1.16	43.18	860.04	1.26	40.89	647.86
PFUnDA	0.49	95.28	2239.82	0.62	159.76	2691.55	4.54	43.58	807.88	0.58	19.32	399.59	0.61	16.55	307.39
ΣPFASs	2.80	645.28	16183.26	6.48	1248.49	22744.60	32.18	403.67	8534.98	5.45	170.85	3490.06	6.24	142.29	2521.79
Σ70CPs: HCB, α	-chlordane,	oxychlord	ane, trans-n	onachlor, o	μ-HCH, β-	HCH and γ -I	HCH.								

S6. Biometrical measurements

The number of live offspring produced by F1 dams dietary exposed to the mixture of POPs (sampled during pregnancy and post-pregnancy) and the number of male to female offspring (F2) are presented in Table S5.

Table S5. Number of live offspring produced by dams during dietary exposure to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Live offspring of the pregnant dams were counted on gestation day 17. Live offspring of the post-pregnant dams were counted, and gender was determined, at 21 days post-partum. Results are presented as mean \pm standard error.

	Live offspring	Males/Females
Pregnant dams		
Control	$11.42 \pm 0.58 \ (n = 12)$	_
Low	$12.81 \pm 0.67 (n = 16)$	-
High	$9.13 \pm 1.64 \ (n = 8)$	_
Post-pregnant dams		
Control	$12.50 \pm 0.65 \ (n = 14)$	83/81
Low	$12.10 \pm 0.62 \ (n = 10)$	63/47
High	$11.09 \pm 0.62 \ (n = 11)$	47/65

The combined uterus and ovary weight of 6 and 9-week-old female offspring (F2) maternally exposed to the mixture of POPs is presented in Table S6.

Table S6. Weigh of combined ovaries and uterus (g) in 6 and 9-week-old offspring maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Results are presented as least square mean \pm standard error. N = 14, if not otherwise stated.

	Control	Low	High
6 weeks	$0.22 \pm 0.01 \ (n = 13)$	0.24 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.01
9 weeks	0.22 ± 0.02	0.21 ± 0.02	0.21 ± 0.02

S7. Mammary gland histology

Complete results from histological examination of the fourth mammary gland from female offspring (F2) maternally exposed to the mixture of POPs is presented in Table S7.

Table S7. Mammary gland morphology in 3, 6 and 9-week-old female CD-1 mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Qualitative development scores were conducted on whole mounts of the 4th mammary gland from the right side using a scale from 1 to 4 (1 = poor development, 4 = best development). Terminal end buds (TEBs) were defined as ends with a diameter of \geq 100 µm. Branching density, sum of the number of intersections, mammary epithelial area and length were calculated using Sholl analysis in ImageJ software. Glandular area was calculated using ImageJ on one section of fixated 4th mammary gland from the left side. Results are presented as mean ± standard error. At 3 weeks of age, n = 11 for the High group and n = 12 for the Control and Low groups except glandular area were n = 11. At 6 weeks, n = 12 for the Control group and n = 14 for the Low and High groups except glandular area were n = 12. Furthermore, n = 14 for the Low group except glandular area were n = 12. Furthermore, n = 14 for the Low group except glandular area were n = 12. Furthermore, n = 14 for the Low group except glandular area were n = 12. Furthermore, n = 14 for the Low group except glandular area were n = 12. Furthermore, n = 14 for the Low group except glandular area were n = 10. Povalues \leq 0.10 are marked with *.

			Branching		Mammary	Mammary	
	Development	Terminal	density	Sum of	epithelial area	epithelial	Glandular
	score	end buds	(N/mm^2)	intersections (N)	(mm ²)	length (mm)	area (%)
3 weeks							
Control	2.63 ± 0.25	10.67 ± 2.40	19.95 ± 0.72	217.92 ± 0.09	11.40 ± 2.19	3.77 ± 0.35	0.45 ± 0.19
Low	2.38 ± 0.25	5.08 ± 1.38	19.16 ± 0.67	185.50 ± 18.21	9.91 ± 1.10	3.96 ± 0.25	0.31 ± 0.11
High	$1.95 \pm 0.23*$	$\textbf{3.17} \pm \textbf{1.03}$	18.64 ± 0.74	146.55 ± 12.46	8.18 ± 0.91	3.45 ± 0.1	0.28 ± 0.11
6 weeks							
Control	2.42 ± 0.16	13.50 ± 1.06	17.63 ± 0.37	3240.92 ± 134.00	188.35 ± 4.83	19.32 ± 0.51	2.03 ± 0.22
Low	2.39 ± 0.25	11.36 ± 1.04	17.70 ± 0.68	2934.29 ± 189.06	168.79 ± 6.86	19.90 ± 0.80	$2.61\pm0.31*$
High	2.39 ± 0.25	15.86 ± 1.40	$\textbf{20.68} \pm \textbf{0.54}$	3626.86 ± 198.31	179.73 ± 8.44	20.75 ± 0.48	2.33 ± 0.26
9 weeks							
Control	2.54 ± 0.28	1.62 ± 0.91	23.00 ± 0.67	5757.08 ± 472.73	253.88 ± 17.63	29.36 ± 0.97	2.54 ± 0.45
Low	2.39 ± 0.22	$0.00\pm0.00*$	$24\ 58\pm0.83$	4750.14 ± 150.76	199.20 ± 6.19	$\textbf{26.48} \pm \textbf{0.56}$	4.40 ± 0.92
High	2.85 ± 0.21	1.69 ± 0.99	$25.26\pm0.86*$	5669.31 ± 301.35	229.81 ± 0.23	27.65 ± 0.51	3.20 ± 0.37

S8. Hepatic histology

Table S8 presents the severity of hepatic extramedullary hematopoiesis and centrilobular hypertrophy in dams (F1) and offspring (F2) dietary or maternally exposed to the mixture of POPs, respectively.

Table S8. Severity of extramedullary hematopoiesis and centrilobular hypertrophy of hepatocytes in livers from dams (pregnant sampled at gestation day 17, and post-pregnant sampled at 21 days post-partum), and female (sampled at 3, 6 and 9 weeks of age) and male (sampled at 9 and 30 weeks of age) offspring. Dams were dietary exposed, and offspring were maternally exposed, to a mixture of POPs at Control, Low or High doses (0x, 5 000x or 100 000x human estimated daily intake, respectively). Results are presented as mean \pm standard error. Severity was graded on a scale from 0 to 4 (0 = no, 1 = minimal, 2 = mild, 3 = moderate, and 4 = severe change). n = 12, 14 and 14 for female offspring in all groups at 3, 6 and 9 weeks, respectively. n = 15 for male offspring in all groups at both sampling times. n = 12, 16 and 8, and n = 14, 10 and 11 for the Control, Low and High groups of pregnant and post-pregnant dams, respectively. Bold indicates significant (p \leq 0.05) difference from Control.

	Extramedullary	Centrilobular
	hematopoiesis	hypertrophy
Pregnant dams		
Control	0.00 ± 0.00	0.25 ± 0.13
Low	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{1.00} \pm \textbf{0.13}$
High	0.13 ± 0.13	1.75 ± 0.16
Post-pregnant dams		
Control	0.00 ± 0.00	0.29 ± 0.13
Low	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{1.30} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
High	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{3.09} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
3 weeks offspring females		
Control	1.71 ± 0.21	0.00 ± 0.00
Low	1.29 ± 0.23	0.07 ± 0.08
High	1.79 ± 0.23	$\textbf{1.71} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
6 weeks offspring males		
Control	0.64 ± 0.17	0.00 ± 0.00
Low	0.43 ± 0.17	$\textbf{2.00} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
High	0.50 ± 0.14	$\textbf{3.00} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
9 weeks offspring females		
Control	0.00 ± 0.00	0.07 ± 0.07
Low	0.14 ± 0.10	$\boldsymbol{1.79 \pm 0.30}$
High	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{3.79} \pm \textbf{0.11}$
9 weeks offspring males		
Control	0.00 ± 0.00	0.20 ± 0.11
Low	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{1.67} \pm \textbf{0.16}$
High	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{2.67} \pm \textbf{0.16}$
30 weeks offspring males		
Control	0.00 ± 0.00	0.20 ± 0.14
Low	0.00 ± 0.00	$\textbf{0.93} \pm \textbf{0.21}$
High	-	-

References

Berntsen, H. F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E. and Zimmer, K. E. (2017). The design of an environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, A.* 80: 1002-1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1354439

Houde, M., De Silva, A. O., Muir, D. C. G. and Letcher, R. J. (2011). Monitoring of perfluorinated compounds in aquatic biota: An updated review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **45**: 7962-7973. https://doi.org/10.1021/es104326w

Olsen, G. W. (2015). PFAS biomonitoring in higher exposed populations. *Toxicological effects of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances*. Springer International Publishing: 77-125. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15518-0_4

Rasmussen, M. K., Ekstrand, B. and Zamaratskaia, G. (2011). Comparison of cytochrome P450 concentrations and metabolic activities in porcine hepatic microsomes prepared with two different methods. *Toxicol. In Vitro* **25**: 343-346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.10.007

Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. (2019). All POPs Listed in the Stockholm Convention. http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx (Accessed 02 April 2020).



Chemosphere 214 (2019) 534-542



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Chemosphere



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/chemosphere

A mixture of Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) and Azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model



K.E.Aa Hansen ^{a, *}, S.M. Johanson ^a, C. Steppeler ^b, M. Sødring ^{b, g}, G.C. Østby ^c, H.F. Berntsen ^{c, d}, K.E. Zimmer ^e, M. Aleksandersen ^f, J.E. Paulsen ^b, E. Ropstad ^a

^a Section for Experimental Biomedicine, Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway

^b Section for Food Safety, Department of Food Safety and Infection Biology, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway

^c Section for Stationary Clinics, Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway

^d Department of Administration, Laboratory Animal Unit, National Institute of Occupational Health, Norway

e Section for Biochemistry and Physiology, Department of Basic Sciences and Aquatic Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway

f Section for Anatomy and Pathology, Department of Basic Sciences and Aquatic Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway

g Animalia, Norwegian Meat and Poultry Research Centre, Norway

HIGHLIGHTS

• Can a mixture of POPs affect intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse?

• Mice were exposed to POPs through the diet and received an injection of Azoxymethane.

• Results show an increased intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 July 2018 Received in revised form 19 September 2018 Accepted 20 September 2018 Available online 24 September 2018

Handling Editor: A. Gies

Keywords: Persistent Organic Pollutants Colorectal cancer A/J Min/+ mouse Azoxymethane Intestinal tumorigenesis Synergistic effect

ABSTRACT

A multitude of cancer types, including breast, testicular, liver and colorectal cancer, have associations with exposure to Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). The present study aimed to investigate whether a mixture of POPs could affect intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse, a model for human colorectal cancer (CRC). Pollutants were selected for their presence in Scandinavian food products and the mixture was designed based on defined human estimated daily intake levels. Mice were exposed through the diet, at control, low and high mixture concentrations, for 10 weeks. In a separate experiment, mice also received one subcutaneous injection of Azoxymethane (AOM) to explore whether this carcinogenic compound influenced the effect of the POPs. Intestinal tumorigenesis was examined by surface microscopy and histopathology. Moderate and dose-dependent increases in tumorigenesis were observed after dietary POP exposure. The AOM treatment alone stimulated the growth of colonic lesions, but did not increase the formation of new lesions. Combined AOM treatment and POP exposure demonstrated a synergistic effect on lesion formation in the colon, and to a lesser extent in the small intestine. This synergy was also evident by an increased number of malignant colonic tumors (carcinomas). In conclusion, the study shows that a mixture of POPs interacted synergistically with a known carcinogen (AOM), causing increased intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model.

© 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) are man-made chemicals

E-mail address: kristine.hansen@nmbu.no (K.E.Aa Hansen).

that are toxic to humans and wildlife, resistant to degradation and have the potential to bioaccumulate and biomagnify in living organisms (UNEP, 2015). The compounds have adverse health effects and have been associated with an increased risk of breast cancer (Hoyer et al., 2000; Cameron and Foster, 2009), testicular cancer (McGlynn et al., 2008; Giannandrea et al., 2011), liver cancer (Filgo et al., 2015), and colorectal cancer (Howsam et al., 2004; Song et al.,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.126

0045-6535/© 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

 $[\]ast\,$ Corresponding author. Animalia, Norwegian Meat and Poultry Research Centre, Norway.

2014). The main route of non-occupational exposure to POPs in humans is through ingestion (Darnerud et al., 2006; Vestergren et al., 2012), which makes the GI tract the first organ of exposure. Traditional animal experiments only assess the impact of POPs using single compounds (Sethi et al., 2017) or compounds belonging to the same chemical group (Colter et al., 2018). However, carcinogenesis is a multistep process, so focus on individual compounds may prevent the discovery of potential synergism between multiple chemicals.

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer in humans worldwide and exposure to carcinogens through the diet is an essential risk factor (IARC, 2016). CRC develops as a result of several genetic and epigenetic changes that cause a transformation of intestinal epithelium from normal tissue, via benign neoplasms, into carcinomas (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996; Sancho et al., 2004). Up to 85% of CRC cases are considered sporadic and 1% are attributed to the hereditary CRC syndrome known as familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) (Burt, 2000). Mutations in the tumorsuppressor gene adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) are responsible for FAP, and patients develop a vast number of adenomatous polyps in the intestine, which are likely to progress into malignant tumors (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996). In addition, dysfunctional APC alleles have been found in the majority of sporadic colorectal lesions (Fodde, 2002). Research on CRC caused by APC mutations is therefore highly relevant to human health.

The most widely used animal model for human CRC is the multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min/+) mouse. This mouse has a heterozygous mutation in the Apc gene, resulting in a truncated gene product at amino acid 850 (Su et al., 1992). Inactivation of the remaining functional allele in the intestinal epithelium appears to be the rate-limiting step in tumorigenesis (Luongo et al., 1994). Loss of *Apc* inhibits the formation of the β -catenin destruction complex, leading to accumulation of β -catenin in the cytoplasm and subsequent translocation to the nucleus. Here, it interacts with the transcription factor Tcf-4, creating an active complex that transcribes specific target genes (Fodde, 2002; Kretzschmar and Clevers, 2017). The conventional Min/+ mouse model, bred on a C57BL/6 genetic background (Moser et al., 1990), develops lesions primarily in the small intestine (Mollersen et al., 2004). The A/J Min/+ mouse, on the other hand, also develops a large number of lesions in the colon, many of which progress to carcinomas over time (Sødring et al., 2016b). Therefore, the A/J Min/+ mouse model more closely resembles CRC development in humans and was therefore chosen for the present study.

The A/J strain has been shown to be more susceptible to the induction of colorectal cancer by Azoxymethane (AOM) than its C57BL/6 counterpart (Nambiar et al., 2003; Meunier et al., 2011). AOM is a genotoxic chemical used to mimic sporadic CRC and to study the underlying mechanisms of sporadic colorectal carcinogenesis (Venning FA, 2013). Following metabolic activation by cytochrome P450 enzymes (mostly CYP2E1), AOM reacts with DNA and causes adduct formation, leading to DNA mutations initiating colorectal carcinogenesis (Takahashi and Wakabayashi, 2004).

The aim of this study was to investigate whether dietary POP exposure, alone or following AOM treatment, could affect intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. The mixture was designed to simulate a real-life exposure scenario relevant to humans (Berntsen et al., 2017).

2. Animals, materials and methods

2.1. Ethics statement

The study was performed at the Section for Experimental Biomedicine at The Norwegian University of Life Sciences in Oslo, Norway. The animal facility is licensed by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (https://www.mattilsynet.no/language/english/) and accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (https://www.aaalac.org/). The animal experiment was approved by the unit's animal ethics committee (Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee/IACUC) and the Food Safety Authority (application ID: FOTS 8127) and executed in compliance with the local and national regulations associated with laboratory animal experiments. The rodent and rabbit section of the facility is a Specific Pathogen Free (SPF) unit and follows a health monitoring program recommended by Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Associations/FELASA (http://www. felasa.eu/). The care of the animals was carried out by two veterinary nurses with FELASA B certification and the study was performed by a veterinarian with FELASA C certification.

2.2. Chemicals and experimental diet

A thorough description of the design and preparation of the POP mixture can be found in Berntsen et al. (2017). A list of the individual compounds can be found in Table 1. In brief, compounds occurring in Scandinavian food products reported in studies prior to 2012 were selected for the POP mixture. Human estimated daily intake (hEDI) levels were defined and adjusted to a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g feed/day. However, due to the possibility of background exposure and interspecies differences in compound metabolism, concentrations were adjusted up to 5000× (low dose) and 100 000× (high dose) hEDI. All polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and other organochlorines were purchased from Chiron AS (Trondheim, Norway). All perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) and hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), with the exception of perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS) potassium salt which was purchased from Santa Cruz (Dallas, US). All chemicals were dissolved in an appropriate solvent and added to corn oil (Jasmin, fully refined, Yonca Gida San A.S., Manisa, Turkey) intended for human consumption. Solvents were thoroughly evaporated under N2-flow and the remaining oil was incorporated in AIN-93G mouse feed (TestDiets, St.Louis, MO) at the low and high mixture concentrations. The control diet contained only corn oil from which the solvent had been evaporated.

2.3. Study design

In Experiment 1, 66 mice were used and each litter was randomly divided into 3 exposure groups (control, low and high POP diet) at weaning and exposed for 10 weeks (Fig. 1). In Experiment 2, 21 mice were exposed to the mixture of POPs in the same way, but in addition, these mice were also given one subcutaneous injection of 8.5 mg/kg AOM (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) during their second week after birth. After 10 weeks of POP exposure, all mice were sacrificed and sampled. Because of high offspring mortality after the AOM injection, the breeding of mice for Experiment 2 was terminated for animal welfare reasons prior to completion of breeding the individuals for the study. This resulted in a lower number of animals compared to Experiment 1.

2.4. Animal model

The A/J Min/+ mouse model was established by backcrossing the Min/+ trait onto the genetic background of the A/J strain for >12 generations (Sødring et al., 2016b). In the present study, a total of 87 A/J Min/+ mice were used. The animals were bred in-house. Female A/J +/+ mice were mated with male A/J Min/+ mice and their A/J Min/+ offspring were used in the present study. The pups

Table 1

A mixture of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) based on a literature review on estimated daily intake (EDI) values in the Scandinavian population (Berntsen et al., 2017). Average EDI values for a 70 kg human and corresponding values for a 25 g mouse are shown. EDI values for a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g of feed designed to provide daily doses of POPs corresponding to the low (5000× human EDI) and high (100,000× human EDI) doses are shown in grey, and are based on measured feed concentrations. The table is adapted from Berntsen et al. (2017).

Compound	Average EDI a	Daily intake human	EDI ^b 25 g	EDI ^c 25 g mouse	EDI ^d 25 g mouse	Feed measured	Feed measured ^f	EDI ^g 25 g mouse	EDI ^h 25 g mouse
	70 kg person	ng/kg/dav	mouse pg/	5000× ng/dav	100.000×	5000× ng/g	100.000× ng/g	5000× ng/dav	100.000×
	ng/day	01 01 0	day	0, 9	ng/day	feed	feed	0, 9	ng/day
Chlorinated					-			-	
PCB 28	10	0.14	3.5	18	350	3.1	46	9	138
PCB 52	23	0.33	8.3	41	825	15.0	182	45	546
PCB 101	39	0.56	14.0	70	1400	25.4	377	76	1131
PCB 118	68	0.97	24.3	121	2425	37.2	612	112	1836
PCB 138	97	1.38	34.5	173	3450	53.8	957	161	2871
PCB 153	97	1.38	34.5	173	3450	61.4	981	184	2943
PCB 180	26	0.37	9.3	46	925	17.4	263	52	789
$\sum PCBs$	360	5.13	128.4	642	12,825	213.3	3418	640	10,254
p,p'-DDE	201	2.87	71.8	359	7175	136.0	2390	408	7170
HCB	84	1.20	30.0	150	3000	37.4	588	112	1764
a-Chlordane	63	0.90	22.5	113	2250	45.0	723	135	2169
Oxychlordane	21	0.30	7.5	38	750	9.8	297	29	891
trans-	21	0.30	7.5	38	750	14.9	264	45	792
Nonachlor									
a-HCH	36	0.52	13.0	65	1300	21.2	421	64	1263
b-HCH	29	0.42	10.5	53	1050	22.3	398	67	1194
g-HCH	40	0.57	14.3	71	1425	31.4	435	94	1305
(Lindane)									
Dieldrin	126	1.80	45.0	225	4500	70.4	1470	211	4410
$\sum OCPs$	621	8.88	222.1	1112	22,200	388.4	6986	1165	20,958
$\sum PCBs + OCPs$	981	14.01	350.5	1754	35,025	601.7	10,404	1805	31,212
Brominated									
PBDE 47	68	0.97	24.3	121	2425	39.7	642	119	1926
PBDE 99	13	0.19	4.8	24	475	8.6	126	26	378
PBDE 100	11	0.15	3.8	19	375	5.6	91	17	272
PBDE 153	2	0.03	0.8	4	75	1.5	22	5	67
PBDE 154	4	0.06	1.5	8	150	2.8	38	8	114
PBDE 209	105	1.50	37.5	188	3750	64.8	1141	194	3423
HBCD	21	0.30	7.5	38	750	9.9	203	30	609
∑BFRs	224	3.2	80.2	402	8000	132.9	2263	399	6789
Perfluorinated									
PFHxS	1.2	0.017	0.4	2	43	1.7	42	5	125
PFOS	18	0.26	6.5	33	650	3.2	74	10	222
PFOA	31	0.44	11.0	55	1100	6.0	121	18	363
PFNA	9.5	0.14	3.5	18	350	2.1	42	6	127
PFDA	13	0.19	4.8	24	475	3.1	57	9	172
PFUnDA	6.7	0.096	2.4	12	240	1.6	28	5	84
∑PFAAs	79.4	1.14	28.6	144	2858	17.7	364	53	1094

Abbreviations: PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls); OCPs (organochlorine pesticides); BFRs (brominated flame retardants); PFAAs (perfluoroalkyl acids).

^a Average EDI (Estimated daily intake) values of POPs for a 70 kg human e based on a literature review of Scandinavian EDI values (Berntsen et al., 2017).

^b EDI values for a 25 g mouse corresponding to human EDI values.

^c EDI values for a 25 g mouse corresponding to human EDI values * 5000

^d EDI values for a 25 g mouse corresponding to human EDI values * 100,000.

^e Measured concentrations of the various compounds in the 5000× feed.

 $^{\rm f}$ Measured concentrations of the various compounds in the 100,000 \times feed.

g EDI values for a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g of the 5000× feed/day e based on concentrations measured in the feed of the current project.

^h EDI values for a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g of the 100,000 \times feed/day e based on concentrations measured in the feed of the current project.

were marked with ear punches and genotyped at weaning, as previously described in Sødring et al. (2015).

2.5. Housing and husbandry

During mating, animals were housed in groups in open type III cages (Tecniplast, Buguggiate, Italy). During exposure and AOM injection animals were housed in closed type III IVC-cages (Allentown Inc, USA) for health and safety reasons. All cages contained standard aspen bedding, cellulose nesting material and red polycarbonate houses (Tecniplast, Buguggiate, Italy). The animals were given their assigned feed, and tap water in standard drinking bottles (Tecniplast, Buguggiate, Italy), *ad libitum*. The animal room was on a 12:12 light–dark cycle, with a room temperature of $21 \pm 2 \degree$ C

with 20 air changes per hour and $45 \pm 5\%$ relative humidity. The cages, bedding, nesting material and water bottles were changed once a week.

2.6. Sample collection and identification of intestinal lesions

The A/J Min/+ offspring were sacrificed at 13 weeks of age. They were anesthetized with isoflurane gas (Isoflurane Baxter, San Juan, Puerto Rico), bled by cardiac puncture and euthanized by cervical dislocation. The small intestine and colon were collected, fixed and dyed as previously described in Sødring et al. (2016a). Briefly, the intestines were rinsed with PBS, fixed flat, and stored in 10% neutral buffered formalin for at least 24 h, before being stained with 0.2% methylene blue dissolved in formalin. The liver was collected and



Fig. 1. Study design of the two experiments, including exposure groups (control, low and high), breeding of A/J Min/+ mice and the number of animals (females and males) in each group. In both experiments, A/J Min/+ mice were exposed to a mixture of POPs through feed for 10 weeks. In addition, mice in Experiment 2 received one subcutaneous injection of AOM (8.5 mg/kg) during the second week after birth.

weighed. All tumors that were found (one in the liver, one from the forelimb, one sub-mandibular and one from the abdomen) were also collected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. The blood, cecum, spleen and retroperitoneal adipose tissue were collected and stored for analysis in another project. For surface microscopy and transillumination of the intestines, an inverted light microscope (CKX41, Olympus Inc., Hamburg, Germany) with a digital color camera (DP25, Olympus) was used. In the colon, lesions were identified as either flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF; <30 crypts) or tumors (>30 crypts covering more than approximately 0.4 mm²) as explained by Sødring et al. (2015).

2.7. Histology

After scoring, the intestines were prepared using the Swiss roll technique as described earlier by Sødring et al. (2016b). The Swiss rolls were embedded in paraffin and $3 \mu m$ thick histological sections were cut and stained with haematoxylin eosin (HE) and periodic acid Schiff (PAS). All Swiss rolls were sectioned at three different random levels in the paraffin block. Examination was conducted in a microscope and lesions were identified, counted and classified as preneoplastic lesions (hyperplastic and dysplastic cells), adenomas or carcinomas. Tumors with distinct infiltrative growth through the muscularis mucosa and into the submucosa were classified as carcinomas, whereas tumors confined to the mucosa without infiltrative growth were classified as adenomas. Tumors that were found outside the intestine were also embedded in paraffin, sectioned and stained with HE and PAS, and examined

in the microscope.

2.8. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using JMP Pro 13[®] (SAS, Cary, NC, USA). Least squares analyses were used to analyze data on body measures. Experiment 1 and 2 were analyzed separately by the following model:

$$Y_{ijpmn} = \mu + G_i + E_j + e_{ij}$$

where:

 Y_{ij} = observation of either body weight, relative liver weight, relative colon length or relative small intestine length.

 $\mu = {\rm overall}$ mean of body weight, relative liver weight, relative colon length and relative small intestine length.

 $G_j = \text{effect of sex}, i = 1 \text{ (Male) or 2 (Female)}.$

 $E_j = \text{effect of exposure group, } j = 1$ (control), j = 2 (low), j = 3 (high).

 $e_{ij} = \text{error term.}$

Measures of histological changes and visually scored lesions did not meet the assumption of normality. Log transformation provided an improved, but not satisfactory, fit to the normal distribution. Initially least squares analyses were performed on log-transformed data with sex and exposure group as explanatory variables. Some sex differences were noticed, but few interactions were found between the exposure group and the sex of the animal. Thus, exposure effects were not dependent on the sex. In the final analyses, univariate non-parametric tests were used. Differences between exposure groups and the control were assessed using Steel's test, which controls for the overall experiment wise error rate (Type I). Differences between sexes were investigated using the Wilcoxon two-sample test. The level of significance was set to 5%. Size and location distribution figures were produced using Excel 2013[®].

3. Results

3.1. Effects on body weight, liver weight and intestinal length

The high mixture concentration of POPs significantly decreased the terminal body weight of both the mice who only were exposed to POPs (Experiment 1) and also the mice that were injected with AOM (Experiment 2), compared to the control group (Table 2). In addition, there was a significant increase in liver weight, relative to body weight, in the high group of both experiments. Colon length, relative to body weight, was not affected by AOM or POPs. However, the length of the small intestine was significantly increased by the high concentration of POPs after the AOM injection (Experiment 2). Notably, AOM alone did not change any of the parameters measured.

3.2. Scoring of intestinal lesions

The effects of dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs on intestinal tumorigenesis was examined in mice by scoring of intestinal lesions (Table 3). High levels of POPs (Experiment 1) significantly increased the number of flat ACF in colon, when compared to the control group. Although not significant, a trend was observed towards increased flat ACF load in the high and the low groups (p = 0.051 and p = 0.058, respectively). The low mixture concentration increased the number of colonic tumors, compared to the control group. However, this was not evident after exposure to the high mixture concentration (p = 0.096). No other parameters

Table 2

Least square mean (\pm SE) of body weight (BW), relative liver weight (LW), relative colon length and relative small intestine (SI) length at necropsy in Experiment 1 (POP exposure) and Experiment 2 (POP exposure + AOM injection). The table included effects of exposure group control, low and high in both experiments. Bold letters indicate significant difference from the control group (Dunnet's test; $p \le 0.05$).

Exposure		BW at necropsy (g)	Relative LW	Relative colon length (cm/g)	Relative SI length (cm/g)
Experiment 1	Control	23.54 ± 0.71	$0.05 \pm 0.08 \times 10^{-2}$	0.31 ± 0.01	1.41 ± 0.03
POPs	Low	23.26 ± 0.79	$0.05 \pm 0.07 \times 10^{-2}$	0.31 ± 0.01	1.46 ± 0.03
	High	21.47 ± 0.49	$0.07 \pm 0.08 \times 10^{-2}$	0.33 ± 0.01	1.49 ± 0.03
Experiment 2	Control	24.68 ± 1.09	$0.05 \pm 0.12 \times 10^{-2}$	0.31 ± 0.01	1.36 ± 0.05
POPs + AOM	Low	25.43 ± 1.44	$0.05 \pm 0.14 \times 10^{-2}$	0.31 ± 0.03	1.49 ± 0.05
	High	20.99 ± 1.47	$0.07 \pm 0.13 \times 10^{-2}$	0.33 ± 0.02	1.62 ± 0.05

Table 3

Summary of results from scoring of lesions in colon and small intestine (SI) of A/J Min/+ mice from Experiment 1 (POP exposure) and Experiment 2 (POP exposure + AOM injection). Colonic lesions are categorized as either flat ACF (<30 aberrant crypts) or tumors (>30 aberrant crypts). Load equal the total area of intestine covered by lesions. Results are presented as means (\pm SE). Differences between exposed groups (low and high) and control were assessed with Steel's test and indicated in bold when significant ($p \le 0.05$). Trends with $p \le 0.07$ are denoted *.

Exposure	Colon						SI		
	Number of flat ACF	Average size of flat ACF (mm ²)	Load of flat ACF (mm ²)	Number of tumors	Average size of tumors (mm ²)	Tumor load (mm ²)	Number of tumors	Average size of tumors (mm ²)	Tumor load (mm ²)
ExperimentContro1LowPOPsHighExperimentContro2LowPOPs + AOMHigh	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \ 4.75 \pm 0.98 \\ 8.60 \pm 1.97 \\ \textbf{8.38} \pm \textbf{1.42} \\ 1 \ 2.25 \pm 0.84 \\ 6.17 \pm 1.30 \\ \textbf{11.57} \pm \textbf{2.03} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \pm 0.03 \times 10^{-1} \\ 0.02 \pm 0.04 \times 10^{-1} \\ 0.02 \pm 0.02 \times 10^{-1} \\ 0.05 \pm 0.02 \\ 0.06 \pm 0.01 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.06 \pm 0.02 \\ 0.18 \ ^{*} \pm 0.04 \\ 0.13 \ ^{*} \pm 0.03 \\ 0.15 \pm 0.06 \\ 0.35 \pm 0.09 \\ \textbf{0.69 \pm 0.15} \end{array}$	0.70 ± 0.24 2.04 ± 0.47 1.24 ± 0.23 3.63 ± 0.78 12.33 ± 3.33 29.86 ± 4.83	$\begin{array}{l} 0.75 \pm 0.23 \\ 0.65 \pm 0.15 \\ 0.47 \pm 0.11 \\ 0.77 \pm 0.20 \\ 1.72 \pm 0.50 \\ \textbf{1.99 \pm 0.17} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.07 \pm 0.37 \\ 2.52 \pm 0.93 \\ 0.81 \pm 0.23 \\ 3.47 \pm 1.37 \\ 25.80 \pm 9.67 \\ \textbf{56.62 \pm 6.70} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 27.95 \pm 5.12 \\ 25.56 \pm 4.50 \\ 26.57 \pm 3.76 \\ 18.75 \pm 5.44 \\ 18.33 \pm 2.33 \\ \textbf{48.00} \pm \textbf{9.85} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.62 \pm 0.04 \\ 0.58 \pm 0.04 \\ 0.55 \pm 0.03 \\ 0.70 \pm 0.03 \\ 0.63 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.74 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20.39 \pm 4.77 \\ 17.92 \pm 4.76 \\ 15.85 \pm 3.51 \\ 13.70 \pm 4.39 \\ 11.52 \pm 1.57 \\ 40.85 \pm 13.44 \end{array}$

measured in the small intestine and colon were affected by dietary POPs alone.

3.3. Size distribution and location of intestinal lesions

In combination with the AOM injection (Experiment 2), POPs significantly increased the number of flat ACF, flat ACF load, number of tumors, average tumor size and tumor load in the colon of mice in the high group (Table 3). In addition, the number of tumors in the small intestine was significantly higher in the high group compared to the controls. No significant changes were observed after exposure to the low mixture concentration of POPs in Experiment 2. However, there were clear trends towards increases in several parameters, including a 7-fold increase in the colonic tumor load.

To demonstrate the distribution of size, lesions were divided into five different size categories. Fig. 2a presents the number of lesions per size category for each exposure group in both experiments and clearly illustrates the shift towards larger lesions observed in AOM treated animals. The AOM treatment alone did not appear to give any new lesions, but instead stimulated the growth of the colonic lesions. Notably, the increase in the number of lesions provoked by POPs seemed to be more pronounced in AOM treated animals than in untreated animals, particularly in the colon. This implies a synergistic effect of AOM and POPs. In the



Fig. 2. a). Size distribution of lesions in colon and small intestine (SI) of A/J Min/+ mice exposed to POPs in control, low and high mixture concentrations, without AOM (Exp 1) and with AOM injection (Exp 2). Size categories (mm²) are described by Sodring et al 2015 and represented on the X axis. The Y axis shows the number of lesions. b). Location of lesions in colon and small intestine (SI) of A/J Min/+ mice exposed to POPs in control, low and high mixture concentrations, without AOM (Exp 1) and with AOM injection (Exp 2). Size categories (mm²) are described by Sodring et al 2015 and represented on the X axis. The Y axis shows the number of lesions. b). Location of lesions categories (20% sections) are represented on the X axis. The Y axis shows the average number of lesions.

538

small intestine, AOM alone did not induce any apparent changes, but a moderate synergistic effect on tumor formation seemed to occur between AOM and the high level of POPs.

Location of lesions along the intestine (Fig. 2b) shows an increased number of lesions in the middle and caudal parts of the colon and caudally in the small intestine, in both experiments. In addition, the figure illustrates how dietary exposure to POPs enhances the number of lesions in both experiments, represented by more lesions in the high and low groups compared to the control group.

3.4. Histopathology

Histology from tumors collected from non-intestinal tissue showed no metastases originating from the intestinal lesions. Instead, they were either hyperplastic lesions or metastases from the local tissue.

In Experiment 1, lesions were found in the intestines of animals from all exposed groups. The total number of lesions in the small intestine was higher than that of the colon (Table 4). No significant differences were observed between the control group and the exposed groups. Preneoplastic changes and adenomas were the most frequent lesions, and only a few animals had carcinomas. Fig. 3 illustrates the types of lesions in the colon in Experiments 1

and 2

In Experiment 2, the mice fed the high concentration of POPs had significantly more colonic lesions of all types compared to the control group (Table 4). A trend was also evident towards increases in the number of small intestinal preneoplastic lesions (p = 0.067). Interestingly, this increase of lesions appeared to be due to the synergistic effect between AOM and the high level of POPs, as suggested above.

4. Discussion

In the present study, we investigated whether a mixture of POPs could affect intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. In a separate experiment, we also investigated whether a sub-carcinogenic exposure of AOM could influence the effect of POPs. We found that POPs alone increased the intestinal tumorigenesis moderately and in a dose-dependent manner. Comparing the two experiments, AOM alone did not seem to increase the formation of new lesions, or have a deleterious effect on the mice. However, the growth of colonic lesions was stimulated by AOM treatment. A strong synergistic effect was apparent between POPs and AOM on the formation of colonic lesions, and to a lesser extent on lesions in the small intestine. Interestingly, this synergy was also associated with a significant increase of malignant tumors

Table 4

Histopathological examination of lesions (preneoplastic, adenoma or carcinoma) in colon and small intestine (SI) of A/J Min/+ mice from Experiment 1 (POP exposure) and Experiment 2 (POP exposure + AOM injection). Results are presented as mean (\pm SE). Differences between exposed groups (low and high) and control were assessed with Steel's test and indicated in bold when significant ($p \le 0.05$). Trends with $p \le 0.07$ are denoted *.

Exposure		Colon	Colon			SI		
		Preneoplastic	Adenoma	Carcinoma	Preneoplastic	Adenoma	Carcinoma	
Experiment 1	Control	0.70 ± 0.25	0.35 ± 0.25	0.05 ± 0.05	9.05 ± 1.32	6.80 ± 1.33	0.90 ± 0.42	
POPs	Low	0.84 ± 0.29	0.32 ± 0.19	0.12 ± 0.09	7.00 ± 1.21	3.96 ± 1.04	0.44 ± 0.22	
	High	1.05 ± 0.30	0.05 ± 0.05	0.00 ± 0.00	6.86 ± 1.58	3.86 ± 1.09	0.29 ± 0.16	
Experiment 2	Control	1.38 ± 0.42	0.75 ± 0.31	0.00 ± 0.00	4.50 ± 1.59	5.13 ± 1.75	0.50 ± 0.27	
POPs + AOM	Low	2.00 ± 0.58	2.17 ± 0.70	0.67 ± 0.49	6.00 ± 1.21	2.67 ± 0.67	0.00 ± 0.00	
	High	5.57 ± 1.11	6.57 ± 1.51	2.57 ± 0.92	10.29 * ± 2.35	9.43 ± 2.06	0.71 ± 0.36	



Fig. 3. Histological lesions observed in colon. a. Preneoplastic lesions (dysplasia and hyperplasia) are present in the luminal part of crypts (arrows) of a mouse of the low exposure group of Experiment 1. b. A carcinoma (arrow) in the mucosa infiltrates Muscularis Mucosae and Submucosa. Mouse of the low exposure group of Experiment 1. c. A small focus with preneoplastic crypt lesions in a mouse of the low exposure group of Experiment 2. d. Mucosal adenoma (ad) in a mouse from the high exposure group of Experiment 2.

(carcinomas) in the colon.

4.1. Effects of POPs on body weight and liver weight

The concentration of each compound in the high dose was generally below the No Observed Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL), where such a level was available (Berntsen et al., 2017). Although we did not observe any clinical signs in the animals during the present study, we did observe apparent adverse effects at the end of the study, indicated by reduced body weight and increased relative liver weight in both experiments. These effects were seemingly unrelated to AOM treatment and may have been caused by additive or synergistic effects between individual POPs in the mixture. In another experiment using the same mixture but a different mouse strain (129:C57BL/6FO), there was no significant effect of the high POPs feed on body weight (Hudecova et al., 2018). This suggests there are mouse strain differences in sensitivity to POPs.

Aberrant *Apc* expression as a consequence of the germline mutation in *Apc* has been shown to affect the ability of the liver to metabolize xenobiotics (Benhamouche et al., 2006), and may lead to degrees of pollutant tolerance. In addition, the large number of intestinal lesions in the mice exposed to the high dose of POPs in our experiment may have contributed to a lower absorption rate of nutrients, which could have reduced the body weight of mice in this group.

Our findings of increased relative liver weights is in line with other studies where animals have been exposed to perfluorinated compounds (Seacat et al., 2003; Tan et al., 2013). These chemicals have been thoroughly investigated for hepatotoxicity, because of their high affinity to serum proteins and subsequent accumulation in the liver (Jones et al., 2003).

The highest concentration of POPs in our study is relatively large, but the low mixture concentration could potentially be considered more relevant for humans when taking life-long exposure and slow pollutant metabolism into account (Martignoni et al., 2006; Hudecova et al., 2018).

The occurrence of high mortality in offspring after neonatal AOM treatment (Experiment 2) was surprising, as the dosage used has not previously been associated with increased mortality. It is therefore unclear whether the lethality observed was caused by an abnormally high sensitivity to AOM, either alone or in combination with stress. However, we can conclude that the event was not caused by dietary POPs, since the AOM injection was given prior to weaning.

4.2. Effects of POPs on intestinal lesions

The process of cancer is divided into three phases; initiation, promotion and progression (Farber and Cameron, 1980). Depending on their mode of action, compounds may interfere with the molecular processes within each of these phases, and ultimately affect the carcinogenic process. Initiation is the irreversible heritable change in DNA, while promotion is the non-genotoxic advantages of mutated cell growth (Ludewig and Robertson, 2013). In the present study, the high mixture concentration of POPs initiated the formation of new lesions in the colon of A/J Min/+ mice, which was reflected by a significantly larger intestinal area covered by flat ACF. The low concentration of POPs did not affect the number of newly formed lesions, but promoted intestinal tumorigenesis by resulting in more colonic tumors of a larger diameter (>30 crypts). This initiating and promoting effect was not visible in the small intestine.

Previous studies have reported that some POPs affect both carcinogenic initiation and promotion *in vivo*. Liver tumorigenesis was initiated by a mixture of PCBs (Kanechlor 500) in mice (Ito

et al 1973) The same study also showed a promotional effect of the PCBs when administered together with hexachlorobenzene (HCB, α or β). Developmental exposure (*in utero* and via lactation) to dieldrin initiated the formation of mammary, ovarian and liver tumors in a transgenic mouse model for mammary tumorigenesis (Cameron and Foster, 2009). In utero exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) induced hepatocellular adenomas in CD-1 mice (Filgo et al., 2015). However, PFOA and PFOS did not increase the formation of intestinal lesions (Ngo et al., 2014). HCB was shown to promote mammary, liver and lung tumorigenesis in xenograft mouse models, without having initiating effects (Pontillo et al., 2013). The organochlorine metabolite p,p'-DDE has been suggested as a promoting agent in mammary tumorigenesis (Johnson et al., 2012). In addition, its parental compound p,p'-DDT (p,p'dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane) has been shown to promote CRC growth in mice injected with a suspension of the human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line DLD1 (Song et al., 2014). The study also demonstrated that the CRC promotion by p,p'-DDT was achieved through the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway mediated by oxidative stress. p,p'-DDT elevated the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), inhibited enzymes and reduced antioxidants levels in intestinal cells. Subsequently, there was an accumulation of β catenin and the consecutive expression of target genes, which induced the proliferation of colorectal cancer cells and thus promoted CRC growth. The study also demonstrated that an increased production of ROS could affect colorectal carcinogenesis by interacting with specific pathways or by damaging DNA.

Furthermore, the metabolic activation of compounds may create products or intermediates that can interfere directly with DNA. PCBs have been shown to form highly reactive products and byproducts that have the ability to mutate DNA, as reviewed by Ludewig and Robertson (2013). PBDEs are structurally similar to PCBs and have been shown to induce ROS formation, leading to chromosomal breakage (Ji et al., 2011). POPs may therefore have the ability to affect DNA and to increase tumorigenesis by inducing mutations in oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes such as KRAS, p53 and APC. Changes in these genes are necessary for the development of colorectal cancer (Fodde, 2002). It has also been shown that most intestinal lesions in the Min/+ mouse have lost their remaining functioning Apc allele (Luongo et al., 1994). In the present study, mutations in Apc might have caused the formation of new lesions and enhanced the growth from flat ACF to tumors in the A/I Min/+ mice. However, this remains to be investigated.

4.3. Effects of AOM and POPs on intestinal lesions

AOM is converted to methylazoxymethanol (MAM) by cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP450) located in both the liver and the intestines (Sohn et al., 2001). This highly reactive metabolite causes DNA mutations that are thought to initiate colorectal carcinogenesis (Takahashi and Wakabayashi, 2004). Different strains of mice vary in their susceptibility to AOM-induced CRC, and the A/J strain is known to be highly sensitive (Rosenberg et al., 2009). In addition, Min/+ mice exposed to AOM during their first two weeks of life have been shown to be particularly susceptible to induced and spontaneous intestinal carcinogenesis (Paulsen et al., 2003).

In the present study, neonatal mice in Experiment 2 were given one injection of AOM. This treatment did not seem to initiate the formation of new colonic lesions. Instead, it promoted the growth of already existing lesions, as evident from the increased number of tumors and colonic lesions of the larger size classes in mice from the control group. Combined exposure to AOM and POPs both initiated and promoted colorectal carcinogenesis and resulted in a severe lesion burden, especially in mice exposed to the high mixture concentration of POPs. This large effect on tumorigenesis, compared to the relatively moderate initiation and promotion by POPs alone, indicates a synergistic effect between AOM and POPs. The high group exhibited the most extreme outcomes, which could be explained by the relatively high concentration of pollutants. However, the numerical differences from the control group demonstrate that the low mixture concentration also displayed initiating and promoting effects in the colon, as shown by a 7-fold increase in colonic tumor load. As with AOM, POPs are metabolized by CYP450 (Docea et al., 2017) and CYP450 has been shown to be a strong biomarker for the presence of POPs in animal tissue (Bachman et al., 2015). This similarity could be the origin of the synergistic effect observed between AOM and POPs, but this remains to be investigated. Previous studies in mice (Swiss and B6129SF2/J strains) have shown that PCBs promote carcinogenesis in lung and liver tissues when the tumors were initiated by Nnitrosodimethylamine (Anderson et al., 1994; Strathmann et al., 2006). The same promotional effect of PCBs was seen in A/J mice when given together with 1-Nitropropane to induce lung tumorigenesis (Nakanishi et al., 2001). The synergistic effect seen in the present study emphasizes the importance of anticipating synergistic effects between compounds which individually have the ability to initiate or promote cancer development. In addition, due concern should be given to chemical mixtures that not individually cause cancer, but which are disruptive in a manner that collectively provokes carcinogenesis (Goodson et al., 2015).

4.4. Histopathology

In the present study, the histopathological characterization of intestinal lesions differentiated between preneoplastic lesions, adenomas and carcinomas. The preneoplastic lesions included both hyperplastic and dysplastic cells. Dysplasia is a known hallmark of malignant potential and is closely related to *APC* mutations (Jen et al., 1994). Moderate to severe dysplasia has previously been shown in flat ACF from both traditional (C57BL/6) and A/J Min/+ mice (Paulsen and Alexander, 2001; Paulsen et al., 2006; Sødring et al., 2016a). In addition, flat ACF have been shown to be reliable surface biomarkers of *Apc*-driven colorectal carcinogenesis (Sødring et al., 2016a).

The initiating and promoting effect observed by intestinal scoring was not evident from the histopathological examination of mice only exposed to POPs (Experiment 1). However, carcinomas were observed in both the colon and small intestine, which could be an indication of the promotional effect explained above. In mice from Experiment 2, AOM and the high mixture concentration increased all types of lesion, which further confirms the synergistic effect observed between AOM and POPs. Interestingly, one injection of AOM alone did not cause the formation of colonic carcinomas. Instead, it induced the formation of preneoplastic lesions and adenomas, suggesting that AOM did not act as a tumor promotor in the A/J Min/+ mice after only one injection.

Because of the difference in method of analysis between intestinal scoring and histopathology, identical results could not be expected. However, similar trends were observed and both methods showed the same synergistic effect between AOM and POPs. It is important to emphasize that the histopathological examination was conducted on only three slides from each intestine. Thus, this method only investigates a small part of the area in question, compared to the scoring of the whole surface of the intestine, which could explain the discrepancy in findings between the two different methods.

5. Conclusion

The present study indicates that a mixture of POPs designed on

the basis of human exposure, together with an injection of AOM, increased intestinal tumorigenesis in A/J Min/+ mice. Furthermore, a synergistic effect was observed between POP exposure and one injection of AOM. The results emphasize the importance of anticipating synergies when assessing the carcinogenic potential of compound mixtures.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the staff at Section for Experimental Biomedicine at The Norwegian University of Life Sciences for excellent care for the animals and support for the researchers. The study was funded by The Research Council of Norway (project name MultiPOP, project number 204361/H10).

References

- Anderson, L.M., Logsdon, D., Ruskie, S., Fox, S.D., Issaq, H.J., Kovatch, R.M., Riggs, C.M., 1994. Promotion by polychlorinated biphenyls of lung and liver tumors in mice. Carcinogenesis 15, 2245–2248.
- Bachman, M.J., Foltz, K.M., Lynch, J.M., West, K.L., Jensen, B.A., 2015. Using cytochrome P4501A1 expression in liver and blubber to understand effects of persistent organic pollutant exposure in stranded Pacific Island cetaceans. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34, 1989–1995.
- Benhamouche, S., Decaens, T., Godard, C., Chambrey, R., Rickman, D.S., Moinard, C., Vasseur-Cognet, M., Kuo, C.J., Kahn, A., Perret, C., Colnot, S., 2006. Apc tumor suppressor gene is the "zonation-keeper" of mouse liver. Dev. Cell 10, 759–770.
- Berntsen, H.F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E., Zimmer, K.E., 2017. The design of an environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in in vivo and in vitro studies. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 80, 1002–1016.
- Burt, R.W., 2000. Rare syndromes and genetic testing for colorectal cancer. Semin. Gastrointest. Dis. 11, 147–151.
- Cameron, H.L., Foster, W.G., 2009. Developmental and lactational exposure to dieldrin alters mammary tumorigenesis in Her2/neu transgenic mice. PLoS One 4, e4303.
- Colter, B.T., Garber, H.F., Fleming, S.M., Fowler, J.P., Harding, G.D., Hooven, M.K., Howes, A.A., Infante, S.K., Lang, A.L., MacDougall, M.C., Stegman, M., Taylor, K.R., Curran, C.P., 2018. Ahr and Cyp1a2 genotypes both affect susceptibility to motor deficits following gestational and lactational exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls. Neurotoxicology.
- Darnerud, P.O., Atuma, S., Aune, M., Bjerselius, R., Glynn, A., Grawe, K.P., Becker, W., 2006. Dietary intake estimations of organohalogen contaminants (dioxins, PCB, PBDE and chlorinated pesticides, e.g. DDT) based on Swedish market basket data. Food Chem. Toxicol. 44, 1597–1606.
- Docea, A.O., Vassilopoulou, L., Fragou, D., Arsene, A.L., Fenga, C., Kovatsi, L., Petrakis, D., Rakitskii, V.N., Nosyrev, A.E., Izotov, B.N., Golokhvast, K.S., Zakharenko, A.M., Vakis, A., Tsitsimpikou, C., Drakoulis, N., 2017. CYP polymorphisms and pathological conditions related to chronic exposure to organochlorine pesticides. Toxicol Rep 4, 335–341.
- Farber, E., Cameron, R., 1980. The sequential analysis of cancer development. Adv. Canc. Res. 31, 125–226.
- Filgo, A.J., Quist, E.M., Hoenerhoff, M.J., Brix, A.E., Kissling, G.E., Fenton, S.E., 2015. Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)-induced liver lesions in two strains of mice following developmental exposures: PPARalpha is not required. Toxicol. Pathol. 43, 558–568.
- Fodde, R., 2002. The APC gene in colorectal cancer. Eur. J. Canc. 38, 867-871.
- Giannandrea, F., Gandini, L., Paoli, D., Turci, R., Figa-Talamanca, I., 2011. Pesticide exposure and serum organochlorine residuals among testicular cancer patients and healthy controls. J. Environ. Sci. Health. B 46, 780–787.
- Goodson 3rd, W.H., Lowe, L., Carpenter, D.O., Gilbertson, M., Manaf Ali, A., Lopez de Cerain Salsamendi, A., Lasfar, A., Carnero, A., Azqueta, A., Amedei, A., Charles, A.K., Collins, A.R., Ward, A., Salzberg, A.C., Colacci, A., Olsen, A.K., Berg, A., Barclay, B.J., Zhou, B.P., Blanco-Aparicio, C., Baglole, C.J., Dong, C., Mondello, C., Hsu, C.W., Naus, C.C., Yedjou, C., Curran, C.S., Laird, D.W., Koch, D.C., Carlin, D.J., Felsher, D.W., Roy, D., Brown, D.G., Ratovitski, E., Ryan, E.P., Corsini, E., Rojas, E., Moon, E.Y., Laconi, E., Marongiu, F., Al-Mulla, F., Chiaradonna, F., Darroudi, F., Martin, F.L., Van Schooten, F.L., Goldberg, G.S., Wagemaker, G., Nangami, G.N., Calaf, G.M., Williams, G., Wolf, G.T., Koppen, G., Brunborg, G., Lyerly, H.K., Krishnan, H., Ab Hamid, H., Yasaei, H., Sone, H., Kondoh, H., Salem, H.K., Hsu, H.Y., Park, H.H., Koturbash, I., Miousse, I.R., Scovassi, A.I., Klaunig, J.E., Vondracek, J., Raju, J., Roman, J., Wise Sr., J.P., Whitfield, J.R., Woodrick, J., Christopher, J.A., Ochieng, J., Martinez-Leal, J.F., Weisz, J., Kravchenko, J., Sun, J., Prudhomme, K.R., Narayanan, K.B., Cohen-Solal, K.A., Moorwood, K., Gonzalez, L., Soucek, L., Jian, L., D'Abronzo, L.S., Lin, L.T., Li, L., Gulliver, L., McCawley, L.J., Memeo, L., Vermeulen, L., Leyns, L., Zhang, L., Valverde, M., Khatami, M., Romano, M.F., Chapellier, M., Williams, M.A., Wade, M., Manjili, M.H., Lleonart, M.E., Xia, M., Gonzalez, M.J., Karamouzis, M.V., Kirsch-Volders, M., Vaccari, M., Kuemmerle, N.B., Singh, N., Cruickshanks, N., Kleinstreuer, N., van Larebeke, N., Ahmed, N., Ogunkua, O., Krishnakumar, P.K., Vadgama, P., Marignani, P.A., Ghosh, P.M., Ostrosky-

Wegman, P., Thompson, P.A., Dent, P., Heneberg, P., Darbre, P., Sing Leung, P., Nangia-Makker, P., Cheng, Q.S., Robey, R.B., Al-Temaimi, R., Roy, R., Andrade-Vieira, R., Sinha, R.K., Mehta, R., Vento, R., Di Fiore, R., Ponce-Cusi, R., Dornetshuber-Fleiss, R., Nahta, R., Castellino, R.C., Palorini, R., Abd Hamid, R., Langie, S.A., Eltom, S.E., Brooks, S.A., Ryeom, S., Wise, S.S., Bay, S.N., Harris, S.A., Papagerakis, S., Romano, S., Pavanello, S., Eriksson, S., Forte, S., Casey, S.C., Luanpitpong, S., Lee, T.J., Otsuki, T., Chen, T., Massfelder, T., Sanderson, T., Guarnieri, T., Hultman, T., Dorrony, V., Odero-Marah, V., Sabbisetti, V., Maguer-Satta, V., Rathmell, W.K., Engstrom, W., Decker, W.K., Bisson, W.H., Rojanasakul, Y., Luqmani, Y., Chen, Z., Hu, Z., 2015. Assessing the carcinogenic potential of low-dose exposures to chemical mixtures in the environment: the challenge ahead. Carcinogenesis 36 (Suppl. 1), S254–S296.

- Howsam, M., Grimalt, J.O., Guino, E., Navarro, M., Marti-Rague, J., Peinado, M.A., Capella, G., Moreno, V., 2004. Organochlorine exposure and colorectal cancer risk. Environ. Health Perspect. 112, 1460–1466.
- Hoyer, A.P., Jorgensen, T., Brock, J.W., Grandjean, P., 2000. Organochlorine exposure and breast cancer survival. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 53, 323–330. Hudecova. A.M. Hansen, K.E.A. Mandal. S., Berntsen, H.F., Khezri, A., Bale, T.L.,
- Hudecova, A.M., Hansen, K.E.A., Mandal, S., Berntsen, H.F., Khezri, A., Bale, T.L., Fraser, T.W.K., Zimmer, K.E., Ropstad, E., 2018. A human exposure based mixture of persistent organic pollutants affects the stress response in female mice and their offspring. Chemosphere 197, 585–593.
- IARC, 2016. Cancer Today. International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- Ito, N., Nagasaki, H., Arai, M., Makiura, S., Sugihara, S., Hirao, K., 1973. Histopathologic studies on liver tumorigenesis induced in mice by technical polychlorinated biphenyls and its promoting effect on liver tumors induced by benzene hexachloride. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 51, 1637–1646.
- Jen, J., Powell, S.M., Papadopoulos, N., Smith, K.J., Hamilton, S.R., Vogelstein, B., Kinzler, K.W., 1994. Molecular determinants of dysplasia in colorectal lesions. Canc. Res. 54, 5523–5526.
- Ji, K., Choi, K., Giesy, J.P., Musarrat, J., Takeda, S., 2011. Genotoxicity of several polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and hydroxylated PBDEs, and their mechanisms of toxicity. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 5003–5008.
- Johnson, N.A., Ho, A., Cline, J.M., Hughes, C.L., Foster, W.G., Davis, V.L., 2012. Accelerated mammary tumor onset in a HER2/Neu mouse model exposed to DDT metabolites locally delivered to the mammary gland. Environ. Health Perspect. 120, 1170–1176.
- Jones, P.D., Hu, W., De Coen, W., Newsted, J.L., Giesy, J.P., 2003. Binding of perflucinated fatty acids to serum proteins. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22, 2639–2649.
- Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., 1996. Life (and death) in a malignant tumour. Nature 379, 19–20.
- Kretzschmar, K., Clevers, H., 2017. Wht/beta-catenin signaling in adult mammalian epithelial stem cells. Dev. Biol. 428, 273–282. Ludevig, G., Robertson, L.W., 2013. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) as initiating
- agents in hepatocellular carcinoma. Canc. Lett. 334, 46–55.
- Luongo, C., Moser, A.R., Gledhill, S., Dove, W.F., 1994. Loss of Apc+ in intestinal adenomas from Min mice. Canc. Res. 54, 5947–5952.
- Martignoni, M., Groothuis, G.M., de Kanter, R., 2006. Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. Evner Onio. Drug Metabol. Toxicol. 2, 825–884.
- tion and induction. Expet Opin. Drug Metabol. Toxicol. 2, 875–894. McGlynn, K.A., Quraishi, S.M., Graubard, B.I., Weber, J.P., Rubertone, M.V., Erickson, R.L., 2008. Persistent organochlorine pesticides and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100, 663–671.
- Meunier, C., Kwan, T., Turbide, C., Beauchemin, N., Gros, P., 2011. Genetic control of susceptibility to carcinogen-induced colorectal cancer in mice: the Ccs3 and Ccs5 loci regulate different aspects of tumorigenesis. Cell Cycle 10, 1739–1749.
- Mollersen, L., Paulsen, J.E., Alexander, J., 2004. Loss of heterozygosity and nonsense mutation in Apc in azoxymethane-induced colonic tumours in min mice. Anticancer Res. 24, 2595–2599.
- Moser, A.R., Pitot, H.C., Dove, W.F., 1990. A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. Science 247, 322–324.
- Nakanishi, Y., Bai, F., Inoue, K., Takayama, K., Pei, X.H., Harada, T., Izumi, M., Kimotsuki, K., Tokiwa, H., Hara, N., 2001. Polychlorinated biphenyls promote 1nitropyrene-induced lung tumorigenesis without the induction of K-ras gene mutation in A/J mice. Teratog. Carcinog. Mutagen. 21, 395–403.

- Nambiar, P.R., Girnun, G., Lillo, N.A., Guda, K., Whiteley, H.E., Rosenberg, D.W., 2003. Preliminary analysis of azoxymethane induced colon tumors in inbred mice commonly used as transgenic/knockout progenitors. Int. J. Oncol. 22, 145–150.
- Ngo, H.T., Hetland, R.B., Sabaredzovic, A., Haug, L.S., Steffensen, I.L., 2014. In utero exposure to perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) or perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) did not increase body weight or intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min/+) mice. Environ. Res. 132, 251–263.
- Paulsen, J.E., Alexander, J., 2001. Growth stimulation of intestinal tumours in Apc(Min/+) mice by dietary L-methionine supplementation. Anticancer Res. 21, 3281–3284.
- Paulsen, J.E., Knutsen, H., Olstorn, H.B., Loberg, E.M., Alexander, J., 2006. Identification of flat dysplastic aberrant crypt foci in the colon of azoxymethanetreated AJ mice. Int. J. Canc. 118, 540–546.
- Paulsen, J.E., Šteffensen, İ.L., Namork, E., Eide, T.J., Alexander, J., 2003. Age-dependent susceptibility to azoxymethane-induced and spontaneous tumorigenesis in the Min/+ mouse. Anticancer Res. 23, 259–265.
- Pontillo, C.A., Rojas, P., Chiappini, F., Sequeira, G., Cocca, C., Crocci, M., Colombo, L., Lanari, C., Kleiman de Pisarev, D., Randi, A., 2013. Action of hexachlorobenzene on tumor growth and metastasis in different experimental models. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 268, 331–342.
- Rosenberg, D.W., Giardina, C., Tanaka, T., 2009. Mouse models for the study of colon carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 30, 183–196.
- Sancho, E., Batlle, E., Clevers, H., 2004. Signaling pathways in intestinal development and cancer. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 695–723.Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Clemen, L.A., Eldridge, S.R., Elcombe, C.R.,
- Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Clemen, L.A., Eldridge, S.R., Elcombe, C.R., Butenhoff, J.L., 2003. Sub-chronic dietary toxicity of potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in rats. Toxicology 183, 117–131.
- Sethi, S., Keil, K.P., Lein, P.J., 2017. Species and sex differences in the morphogenic response of primary rodent neurons to 3,3'-dichlorobiphenyl (PCB 11). Toxics 6.
- Sohn, O.S., Fiala, E.S., Requeijo, S.P., Weisburger, J.H., Gonzalez, F.J., 2001. Differential effects of CYP2E1 status on the metabolic activation of the colon carcinogens azoxymethane and methylazoxymethanol. Canc. Res. 61, 8435–8440.
- Song, L., Zhao, J., Jin, X., Li, Z., Newton, I.P., Liu, W., Xiao, H., Zhao, M., 2014. The organochlorine p.p-dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane induces colorectal cancer growth through Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Toxicol. Lett. 229, 284–291.
- Strathmann, J., Schwarz, M., Tharappel, J.C., Glauert, H.P., Spear, B.T., Robertson, L.W., Appel, K.E., Buchmann, A., 2006. PCB 153, a non-dioxin-like tumor promoter, selects for beta-catenin (Catnb)-mutated mouse liver tumors. Toxicol. Sci. 93, 34–40.
- Su, L.K., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., Preisinger, A.C., Moser, A.R., Luongo, C., Gould, K.A., Dove, W.F., 1922. Multiple interstinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene. Science 256, 668–670.
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G., Paulsen, J.E., 2016a. Detection and characterization of flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF) in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. Anticancer Res. 36, 2745–2750.
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G., Paulsen, J.E., 2016b. Spontaneous initiation, promotion and progression of colorectal cancer in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. Int. J. Canc. 138, 1936–1946.
- Sødring, M., Oostindjer, M., Egelandsdal, B., Paulsen, J.E., 2015. Effects of hemin and nitrite on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. PLoS One 10, e0122880.
- Takahashi, M., Wakabayashi, K., 2004. Gene mutations and altered gene expression in azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in rodents. Canc. Sci. 95, 475–480.
- Tan, X., Xie, G., Sun, X., Li, Q., Zhong, W., Qiao, P., Sun, X., Jia, W., Zhou, Z., 2013. High fat diet feeding exaggerates perfluorooctanoic acid-induced liver injury in mice via modulating multiple metabolic pathways. PLoS One 8, e61409. UNEP, 2015. Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs).
- Venning FA, C.M.a.K.H., 2013. The carcinogenic agent azoxymethane (AOM) enhances early inflammation-induced colon crypt pathology. J. Canc. Sci. Ther. 5 (11), 377–383.
- Vestergren, R., Berger, U., Glynn, A., Cousins, I.T., 2012. Dietary exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. Environ. Int. 49, 120–127.



Chemosphere 252 (2020) 126484



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Chemosphere

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/chemosphere

Maternal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants reduces colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice



100

Chemosphere

Silje M. Johanson ^{a, *}, Jonathan R. Swann ^b, Özgün C.O. Umu ^c, Mona Aleksandersen ^d, Mette H.B. Müller ^c, Hanne F. Berntsen ^{a, e}, Karin E. Zimmer ^d, Gunn C. Østby ^a, Jan E. Paulsen ^c, Erik Ropstad ^a

^a Department of Production Animal Clinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102, Oslo, Norway

^b Department of Metabolism, Digestion and Reproduction, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

^c Department of Paraclinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102, Oslo, Norway

^d Department of Preclinical Sciences and Pathology, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102, Oslo, Norway

e National Institute of Occupational Health, P.O. Box 5330 Majorstuen, NO-0304, Oslo, Norway

HIGHLIGHTS

• A/J Min/+ mice were maternally exposed to a mixture of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs.

• Exposure through gestation and lactation reduced colorectal carcinogenesis.

• Exposure affected amino acid, lipid, glycerophospholipid and energy metabolism.

• Alterations were observed in intestinal microbiota composition.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 January 2020 Received in revised form 10 March 2020 Accepted 12 March 2020 Available online 13 March 2020

Handling Editor: A. Gies

Keywords: Persistent organic pollutants Colorectal cancer Metabolomics Gut microbiota

ABSTRACT

An increased risk of developing colorectal cancer has been associated with exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and alteration in the gut bacterial community. However, there is limited understanding about the impact of maternal exposure to POPs on colorectal cancer and gut microbiota. This study characterized the influence of exposure to a human relevant mixture of POPs during gestation and lactation on colorectal cancer, intestinal metabolite composition and microbiota in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. Surprisingly, the maternal POP exposure decreased colonic tumor burden, as shown by light microscopy and histopathological evaluation, indicating a restriction of colorectal carcinogenesis. ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy-based metabolomic analysis identified alterations in the metabolism of amino acids, lipids, glycerophospholipids and energy in intestinal tissue. In addition, 16S rRNA sequencing of gut microbiota indicated that maternal exposure to POPs reduced colorectal cancer initiation and promotion, possibly through modulation of the microbial and biochemical environment. Further studies should focus on the development of colorectal cancer after combined maternal and dietary exposures to environmentally relevant low-dose POP mixtures.

© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Abbreviations: ACF, aberrant crypt foci; APC, adenomatous polyposis coli; ASV, amplicon sequence variant; CRC, colorectal cancer; FAP, familial adenomatous polyposis; hEDI, human estimated daily intake; Min, multiple intestinal neoplasia; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; POP, persistent organic pollutant.

* Corresponding author. NMBU-School of Veterinary Sciences, P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102, Oslo, Norway.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126484

0045-6535/@ 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail addresses: silje.modahl.johanson@nmbu.no (S.M. Johanson), j.swann@imperial.ac.uk (J.R. Swann), ozgun.umu@nmbu.no (Ö.C.O. Umu), mona.aleksandersen@ nmbu.no (M. Aleksandersen), mette.helen.bjorge.muller@nmbu.no (M.H.B. Müller), Hanne.Berntsen@stami.no (H.F. Berntsen), karin.zimmer@nmbu.no (K.E. Zimmer), gunn.ostby@nmbu.no (G.C. Østby), jan.erik.paulsen@nmbu.no (J.E. Paulsen), erik.ropstad@nmbu.no (E. Ropstad).

1. Introduction

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are recognized as a global threat to human health and ecosystems due to their persistence in the environment, accumulation, long-range transport and deleterious effects (Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention, 2008; United Nations Environment Programme, 2019). Many POPs have been shown to cross the placental barrier (Barr et al., 2007; Vizcaino et al., 2014; Winkens et al., 2017). Thus, exposures to these compounds are initiated during the early prenatal period. After birth, exposure continues through breast-feeding (Fenton et al., 2009; Polder et al., 2009; Thomsen et al., 2010; Nyberg et al., 2018; Lenters et al., 2019), and POP exposure during gestation and lactation has been shown to negatively impact development of the nervous, immune and endocrine systems (Lai et al., 2001; Ribas-Fitó et al., 2001; Wade et al., 2002; Bowers et al., 2004; Winans et al., 2011; Lenters et al., 2019). Furthermore, human exposure to POPs has been associated with an increased risk of developing breast (Høyer et al., 2000; Arrebola et al., 2015; Morgan et al., 2016), testicular (McGlynn et al., 2008; Giannandrea et al., 2011) and colorectal cancer (CRC) (Howsam et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2018; Abolhassani et al., 2019). In rodents, maternal POP exposure has been shown to increase mammary, ovarian and hepatic tumorigenesis (Cameron and Foster, 2009; Filgo et al., 2015), and direct exposure increased the growth of colorectal tumors (Song et al., 2014; Hansen et al., 2018).

In 2018, more than 1.8 million people were diagnosed with CRC, and Norwegian women had the highest incidence rate in the world (39.3 age-standardized rate per 100 000) (World Cancer Research Fund, 2019). The multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min) mouse, originally with the C57BL/6J strain background (Moser et al., 1990), is much used as a model for human CRC development. This mouse has a truncation of the adenomatous polyposis coli (apc) gene product caused by a heterozygous mutation at amino acid 850 (Su et al., 1992). The APC gene is categorized as a tumor-suppressor gene and considered to have a gate-keeping role in CRC formation and progression (Powell et al., 1992). Furthermore, germline mutations in human APC are responsible for the dominantly inherited autosomal condition known as familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) (Nishisho et al., 1991). Patients with FAP develop numerous adenomatous intestinal polyps, some of which continue the progression to malignancy (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996). Mutation in the APC gene is also apparent in a high proportion of sporadic CRC cases (Fearnhead et al., 2001).

The gut microbiome has numerous metabolic, protective and structural functions in the intestinal epithelium (Gagnière et al., 2016; Rooks and Garrett, 2016). In addition, the gut microbiota is involved in the development of CRC through interaction with the immune system, induction of oxidative stress, or production and release of metabolites associated with cancer (Louis et al., 2014; Gagnière et al., 2016; Dahmus et al., 2018). Indeed, microbiota has been shown to play a vital role in the formation of CRC in Min/+ mice (Li et al., 2012). Furthermore, intestinal microbes are sensitive to pollutants and exposure has been shown to alter microbial diversity and community structures (Choi et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2017; Chi et al., 2018a; Li et al., 2018; Petriello et al., 2018). However, little is known about the long-term changes in gut microbiota following maternal POP exposure.

Metabolomics provides a snapshot of the metabolic state of the organism at the time of sampling and holistically measures metabolites involved in a broad range of metabolic processes (Bouhifd et al., 2013; Patti et al., 2013). Using this approach, the multifaceted biochemical response to a stimulus and their implications for the overall health of the organism can be studied. The value of metabolomic analysis in characterizing possible toxic effects of POPs has been shown by multiple studies (Zhang et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2013; O'Kane et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2016; Carrizo et al., 2017; Pikkarainen et al., 2019).

Humans are exposed to complex mixtures of pollutants and assessing the effects of low and environmentally relevant doses is of great importance (Kortenkamp, 2014; Bopp et al., 2018; Kortenkamp and Faust, 2018). Previously, a complex mixture of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), brominated flame retardants (BFRs) and perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs) was constructed to simulate a realistic human exposure scenario (Berntsen et al., 2017). Indeed, maternal exposure to the mixture previously resulted in plasma concentrations in mice similar to those reported in the general Scandinavian population (Hudecova et al., 2018, Berntsen et al. In prep). Furthermore, dietary exposure to the mixture was shown to promote CRC in A/I Min/+ mice (Hansen et al., 2018). In the present study, an identical animal model and POPs mixture were used to characterize the effects of maternal exposure on CRC. In addition, long-term alterations in gut metabolite composition and microbiota were investigated.

2. Animals, materials and methods

2.1. Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU) and the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (application ID: FOTS 11549). It was conducted in strict accordance with the local and national regulations for laboratory animal experiments at the Section for Experimental Biomedicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, NMBU, Oslo, Norway. The animal facility is licensed by the Norwegian Food Safety Authority (https://www.mattilsynet.no/ language/english/). The rodents were kept under strict Specific Pathogen Free (SPF) regulations and followed a health-monitoring program recommended by the Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Association (FELASA; http://www.felasa.eu/).

2.2. Feed design and chemicals

The design of the POP mixture is described in Berntsen et al. (2017). In brief, the chosen composition of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs was designed to represent concentrations in Scandinavian food products reported in studies between 2004 and 2012. Human estimated daily intake (hEDI) levels were identified for the compounds, adjusted to the mouse (weighing 25 g and consuming 3 g feed/d), and increased approximately 5000 times in concentration to account for possible background exposure and interspecies differences in xenobiotic metabolism (Walton et al., 2001). The POPs were dissolved in appropriate solvent (acetone, cyclohexane or chloroform) and added to corn oil (Jasmin fully refined, Yonca Gida San A.S., Manisa, Turkey). The solvent was evaporated under N2flow and oil containing the POPs was incorporated into AIN-93G mouse feed. The control diet contained corn oil from which the solvents had been evaporated. Corn oil was also used in the standard AIN-93G diet (referred to as the reference feed in Berntsen et al. (2017)). All polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and chlorinated compounds (including PCBs and other OCPs) were purchased from Chiron AS, Trondheim, Norway. Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) and all PFASs, except for perfluorohexane sulfonic acid (PFHxS, which was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Dallas, USA), were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA. Nominal and measured concentrations in AIN-93G feed are presented in Supplementary Table A1.

2.3. Animals and husbandry

An inbred colony of A/I mice heterozygous for the Min trait (Min/+) were used for the study (Sødring et al., 2016a), as embryos with mutations in both Apc alleles are not viable (Moser et al., 1995). Female A/I +/+ mice were randomly assigned to an exposed (n = 26) or control (n = 28) diet at 3 weeks of age and housed pairwise in closed Type III IVC cages (Allentown Inc., Allentown, USA) awaiting breeding. Water and feed were available ad libitum. A/I Min/+ males were introduced at 9 weeks of age and removed after three days. Due to a low number of offspring obtained from the first round of mating, males were reintroduced at 15 and 21 weeks of age to allow for two additional periods of mating. These timepoints were chosen as the total gestation and lactation time for mice is 6 weeks. Female A/J +/+ mice were exposed to the diet containing the mixture of POPs during the entirety of the three consecutive periods of mating, gestation and lactation, and all A/J Min/+ offspring were included in the experimental groups (n = 14 and 28 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively). An illustration of the study design is presented in Supplementary Fig. A1, and the number of offspring produced by each mating are shown in Supplementary Table A2. The genotype of the resulting offspring was determined by allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on DNA extracted from ear punch samples (method described in Supplementary section S2). Min/+ mice showed a PCR product at 327 base-pair (bp), in addition to the +/+ allele consisting of 618 bp (Dietrich et al., 1993), visualized by gel electrophoresis.

A/J Min/+ offspring (n = 38 in total, 25 females and 13 males) were weaned at 3 weeks of age, housed in groups (3–6 mice per cage) in open Makrolon Type III cages (Techniplast, Buguggiate, Italy) and given AIN-93G feed (reference diet) and tap water *ad libitum*. All closed and open cages contained standard aspen bedding, red plastic houses and cellulose nesting material (Scanbur A/S, Karlslunde, Denmark). Open and IVC cages were changed every week or fortnight, respectively. The animal room had a 12:12 light-dark cycle, room temperature of 20 ± 2 °C, and 45 ± 5% relative humidity.

Three A/J +/+ mothers (2 from Control and 1 from the Exposed groups) were euthanized prior to completion because of wounds gained due to excessive grooming. Of the A/J Min/+ offspring, 2 females had to be sacrificed at 16 weeks of age due to large tumors in the skin of the pelvic area (both from the Exposed group). An additional 3 offspring (all females from the Control group) showed clinical signs of disease at 20 weeks of age, where one of these had a large tumor in the cecocolic junction.

2.4. Sample collection

A/J +/+ mothers were sacrificed at 27 weeks of age. Weights were recorded and ceca were collected, frozen on dry ice and stored at -80 °C for metabolomic analysis. Maternally exposed A/J Min/+ mice were sacrificed at 20 weeks of age. Approximately two pellets of feces were sampled prior to euthanasia, frozen on dry ice and stored at -80 °C until microbiota analysis. The intestines were excised and rinsed with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS) before being slit open longitudinally. Ceca were removed, weighed, frozen on dry ice and stored at -80 °C awaiting metabolomic analysis. The small intestine was divided into three segments of approximately equal length (proximal, middle and distal), while the colon was left intact. Fixation was done by placing the intestinal segments flat between two filter papers soaked in PBS and submerging in 10% neutral buffered formalin for no more than 24 h. Once fixed, the intestine was stained with 0.1% methylene blue (MB; M9140, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) dissolved in

formalin for approximately 20 s and stored in 70% ethanol at 4 °C. Some of the intestines were re-stained for an additional 5–10 s due to heavy leakage of MB during storage. Liver and abdominal fat tissue were collected, frozen on dry ice and stored at –80 °C for chemical analysis. One section of the liver (left lobe) was stored in formalin for histopathological examination. Tumors from the pelvic area of two mice (Exposed group) were excised and fixed in formalin prior to histopathological evaluation.

2.5. Chemical analysis

2.5.1. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs

The chemical analysis of pollutants was performed at the Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, NMBU, Oslo, Norway. The laboratory is accredited by the Norwegian Accreditation for chemical analysis of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs in biota according to the requirements of the NS-EN ISO/IEC 17025 (TEST 137). PFAS analysis is not included in the accreditation but is validated according to the same procedures and quality control measures. PCBs, OCPs and BFRs, or PFASs were analyzed in individual abdominal fat or liver tissue, respectively, from A/J Min/+ mice (n = 14 and n = 24 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively).

The analytical method for PCBs, OCPs and BFRs is based on Brevik (1978) and Polder et al. (2014), while the method for PFASs is described by Grønnestad et al. (2017). Details regarding method modification for the present study is described in Supplementary section S3. The analytical quality control measures were within the accreditation requirements and, thus, approved (see details in Supplementary section S3.4.).

2.5.2. Data treatment

For compounds with detected levels in more than 60% of the samples, levels below limit of detection (LOD) were replaced with the LOD for the respective compound and further included in statistical evaluation. Compounds detected in less than 60% of the samples are only given with range in Supplementary Table S5 (PCB-52, α -chlordane and HBCD).

2.6. Identification of intestinal lesions

An inverted light microscope (CKX41, Olympus Inc., Hamburg, Germany) with a digital color camera (DP25, Olympus Inc., Hamburg, Germany) was used to examine the fixed and stained intestinal segments for lesions. Lesion size (mm²) was calculated by measuring the diameter of the lesion using an eyepiece graticule. Tumor incidence was calculated by dividing the number of mice with tumors by the total number of mice in the group. Tumor load (mm²) was defined as the total area of the intestine covered by lesions. The lesion scoring method has previously been described elsewhere (Sødring et al., 2016b). Colonic lesions were characterized as either flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF) or tumors as defined by Sødring et al. (2016a) and Sødring et al. (2016b), and further described in Supplementary section S4. Flat ACF have been shown as reliable surface biomarkers of apc-driven carcinogenesis in the colon (Sødring et al., 2016b). As the small intestine does not contain flat ACF, all tumors were classified as lesions. The identification of lesions was done blindly by one observer.

2.7. Histopathology

Swiss rolls were made of the intestinal segments after surface examination, as originally described by Moolenbeek and Ruitenberg (1981) and modified by Sødring et al. (2016a). Briefly, each segment was rolled lengthwise from proximal to distal, with the mucosa facing inwards, and embedded in paraffin. Colon and

small intestine were embedded in separate paraffin blocks, and sections (3 µm thick) were made at three different depths (top, middle, bottom). The sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) and examined blindly by a certified pathologist using a light microscope. Lesions were classified as hyperplasia/dysplasia, adenomas (tumors restricted to the mucosa) or carcinomas (tumors with distinct infiltrative growth through the mucosa into the submucosa).

The liver sections were embedded in paraffin, sectioned (3 μm thick) and stained with HE. Examination was conducted blinded to exposure group using a light microscope. Pre-neoplastic and neoplastic lesions were noted as present (1) or absent (0). Nonneoplastic lesions included bile duct hyperplasia, diffuse fatty change, extramedullary hematopoiesis, chronic active inflammation, diffuse hepatocyte fatty change, hepatocyte centrilobular hypertrophy, ito cell hypertrophy and oval cell hyperplasia. Severity was scored on a scale from 0 to 4 (0 = no, 1 = minimal, 2 = mild, 3 = moderate, and 4 = severe change).

The fixed tumors from the pelvic area were embedded in paraffin, sectioned (3 µm thick), stained with HE and examined by light microscopy.

2.8. Precursor animal experiment

Ceca were excised from A/J Min/+ mice in a precursor experiment by Hansen et al. (2018) and frozen at -80 °C until metabolomic analysis. Here, mice were exposed to the mixture of POPs (identical to the one described in section 2.2) directly through feed for 10 weeks from 3 weeks of age. For more detailed information see Hansen et al. (2018).

2.9. Metabolomic analysis

2.9.1. Sample preparation

Ceca from the present study and the precursor animal experiment were stored at -80 °C and shipped on dry ice to Imperial College, London (UK) for ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy. On the day of tissue extraction, ceca were thawed on ice. The content was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and stored at -20 °C until sample preparation. Cecal tissue was rinsed in distilled water and 75-80 mg tissue was finely homogenized (6500 rpm 2 \times 45 s) in 300 μ L chloroform:methanol (2:1) using a Precellys 24 lysis machine (Bertin technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France). The homogenate was mixed with 300 μ L water and spun at 13 000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C (Micro Star 17R, VWR International, Radnor, USA). Following centrifugation, the aqueous (upper) and organic (lower) phases were transferred to individual Eppendorf tubes. The separation step was repeated by adding 300 µL of water and 300 µL chloroform:methanol to the remaining pellet. Samples were mixed and centrifuged before separating the two phases a second time. A SpeedVac (Concentrator plus, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) was used to evaporate water and methanol from the aqueous phase and pelleted metabolites were kept at -20 °C until NMR spectroscopy. On the day of analysis, the aqueous phase was reconstructed in 700 µL phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) with 9:1 D₂O:H₂O containing 1 mM of the internal standard 3-(trimethylsilyl)-[2,2,3,3,-2H4]-propionic acid (TSP). Samples were spun for 10 min at 13 000 rpm (4 °C), to pellet out any debris, before 600 µL of the supernatant was transferred to a 5 mm (outer diameter) NMR tube (Bruker, Billerica, USA).

Cecal content (70–75 mg) was homogenized in 700 μ L phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) with 9:1 D₂O:H₂O containing 1 mM TSP and centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. A volume of 550 μ L supernatant was transferred to a 5 mm NMR tube.

2.9.2. ¹H NMR spectroscopy

¹H NMR spectroscopy on cecal content and tissue extracts was performed using a 600 MHz Bruker NMR spectrometer (600 UltraShield[™]) operating at 300 K. A 1D nuclear overhauser enhancement spectroscopy (1D NOESY) experimental setup was used for the tissue extracts, while a CPMG-presat was used for the content samples. All experiments were performed using 32 scans and 8 dummy scans. For a more detailed description of the procedure see the protocol by Beckonert et al. (2007).

2.9.3. Data treatment

¹H NMR spectra were digitized into consecutive integrated spectral regions of equal width (0.00055 ppm). Spectral regions corresponding to TSP (δ –0.2-0.2) and water (δ 4.7–4.9) were removed from all spectra (both cecal tissue and content). The region δ 3.345–3.375 was also removed from tissue spectra as it caused strong outliers in the principal component analysis (PCA). Manual alignment of the NMR spectra was performed using the recursive segment-wise peak alignment (RSPA) algorithm to reduce peak position variation between individual spectra (Veselkov et al., 2009) and spectra were normalized using a probabilistic quotient-based approach. Groupings and outliers were visualized by PCA.

2.10. Microbiota analysis

2.10.1. DNA extraction and bacterial SSU rRNA gene amplification

The analysis of microbiota was conducted at the Department of Food Safety and Infection Biology, NMBU Oslo, Norway. Genomic DNA extraction from fecal samples was performed using QIAamp PowerFecal DNA Kit (Qiagen, GmbH, Hilden, Germany), which includes a beat beating step for mechanical disruption of cells in addition to chemical lysis. The extracted DNA was measured by Qubit® 3.0 fluorometer using dsDNA Broad Range Assay Kit (Invitrogen, Eugene, USA) and sent to Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg-Germany) for the library preparation and sequencing. The V3–V4 region of bacterial SSU rRNA gene was amplified using the primers 347F (5'-TACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and 800R (5'-CCAGGGTATC-TAATCC-3'). The 2x 300 bp paired-end sequencing was performed on Illumina MiSeq instrument (Illumina, San Diego, USA). The fastq files have been deposited in the NCBI Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database (SRA Accession: PRJNA565126).

2.10.2. Data treatment

The paired-end reads from sequencing were processed and analyzed using Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology 2 (Qiime2) version 2018.8 (Bolyen et al., 2019). The demultiplexed paired-reads (with primers trimmed) were joined using VSEARCH (Rognes et al., 2016) Qiime2 plug-in (q2-vsearch) and quality filtering was applied on joined sequences using the default parameters. The remaining sequences were denoised using Deblur (Amir et al., 2017) at a trim length of 401 bp, which was decided based on the quality scores plots obtained in the previous steps. Overall 398 amplicon sequence variants (ASV) were obtained. The ASV method was chosen as a replacement for the operational taxonomic units (OTUs) method as it can distinguish sequences that vary with only one bp, compared to the 3% radius of variability in OTUs (Callahan et al., 2017; Caruso et al., 2019). The ASV table was filtered to include the ASVs that are present in at least 3 of the samples to remove very rare, possibly noisy sequences. From this, a total of 367 ASVs remained. Multiple sequence alignment of the representative sequences was performed using MAFFT program (Katoh et al., 2002) and the alignment was masked to remove highly variable regions and positions that were all gaps. FastTree (Price et al., 2010) was applied to the masked alignment to generate

a phylogenic tree. The tree was used to generate an unweighted UniFrac distance metric (Lozupone and Knight, 2005), which included the calculated distances between samples based on their ASV composition, and the metric was visualized by principle coordinate analysis (PCoA). Alpha diversity indices: Shannon index, Faith-phylogenetic diversity index and evenness were calculated. For alpha and beta diversity computing, a sampling depth of 37 838 was used (see the rarefaction curve in Supplementary Fig. A2). Taxonomic classification was made using q2-feature-classifier plug-in (Bokulich et al., 2018) and Greengenes 16S rRNA gene database (13_8 release) (McDonald et al., 2012). A core microbiome analysis was run with the most stringent definition that required the presence of an ASV in all the samples affiliated to one group.

2.11. Statistical analysis

All univariate statistical analyses, in addition to the creation of boxplots and stacked barplot, were conducted in R studio version 3.5.1 and 3.5.2 (R Development Core Team, 2008) using the packages 'lawstat' (Hui et al., 2008), 'reshape 2' (Wickham, 2007) and 'ggplot2' (Wickham, 2016). Because of the low number of males in the Control group (only 3 replicates), the decision was made to pool both genders for further analysis. Previous studies using the A/J Min/+ mouse model have showed no differences between genders in the formation or progression of intestinal cancer (Sødring et al., 2016a; Steppeler et al., 2017; Hansen et al., 2018).

Variable distribution and variance homogeneity were tested using Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Levene's test, respectively. For variables showing a satisfactory fit to the normal distribution (before or after transformation), a Welch two-sample *t*-test was used to test for differences between treatments. For the nonnormally distributed variables (including the ordinal histopathological data), a non-parametric Mann-Whitney *U* test was conducted on untransformed data.

Liver and cecal weight, and intestinal length (small intestine and colon) were analyzed with regards to the body weight. One measurement of relative cecal weight (female, Control group) was excluded from the analysis due to the presence of a large tumor in the cecum. Body weight gain was calculated from weaning (3 weeks) until adulthood (11 weeks).

Multivariate analysis of ¹H NMR spectra was carried out in MATLAB version 2017a and 2018a (MathWorks, Natick, USA) using scripts developed at Imperial College (London, UK). Orthogonal projections to latent structures discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) were performed on mean centered data (both cecal tissue and content, independently) with individual ¹H NMR spectra as the feature matrix and group classification (e.g. Control versus Exposed) as the predictor matrix. OPLS regression models were constructed using the ¹H NMR spectral data as the descriptor matrix and the scores for intestinal lesions or the relative abundance of microbial ASVs for each individual animal as the response vector. The regression models were created for each group separately. Model predictive performance (Q²Y) was determined by 7-fold internal cross-validation and the validity and robustness of this was assessed through permutation testing (1000 permutations) (Westerhuis et al., 2008). OPLS-DA coefficients plots were used to identify discriminatory metabolic features between the groups. Significant differences between groups were found by extracting the maximum correlation coefficients (R) of identified metabolites from the valid model.

Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was applied on the unweighted UniFrac distance metric to compare the composition of microbiota between groups. Alpha group significance method in Qiime2 was used to compare the alpha diversity indices between groups. Differential abundance testing was performed using ANCOM (Mandal et al., 2015) at different taxonomic levels.

All statistical tests had a threshold for significance at 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Chemical concentrations

The concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs in 20-weekold A/J Min/+ mice are presented in Table 1 and in Supplementary Table A5. LOD, recovery (%) and fat (%) are presented in Supplementary Tables A3, A4 and A5.

Overall, 20 of the 29 compounds had significantly higher concentrations in the maternally exposed mice, compared to controls. Of the PCBs, PCB-118, -138, -153 and -180 were detected in significantly higher (25–88 times) concentrations in the Exposed group, compared to Control. PCB-28, -52 and -101 did not differ in concentration between groups, and PCB-52 was not detected in any of the mice.

HCB, oxy-chlordane, *trans*-nonachlor, β -HCH and dieldrin had significantly higher (2–28 times) concentrations in the Exposed group, compared to Control. The concentrations of *p*,*p*'-DDE, α -

Table 1

Chemical concentrations. Concentrations of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs in abdominal fat and PFASs in liver samples from control and maternally exposed AJJ Min/+ mice (sampled at 20 weeks of age). Mice were exposed during gestation and lactation to a mixture of POPs at concentrations simulating 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Values are presented as mean \pm standard error of ng/g lipid for PCBs, OCPs and BFRs, and ng/g wet weight for PFASs. n = 13 (n = 14 for PFASs) and n = 24 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively. Bold indicate a significant difference (p \leq 0.05) between groups.

Compound	Control	Exposed						
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)								
PCB-28	0.448 ± 0.073	0.431 ± 0.090						
PCB-101	0.459 ± 0.066	0.506 ± 0.0646						
PCB-118	3.234 ± 1.199	44.631 ± 12.023						
PCB-138	18.840 + 10.417	769.930 + 101.660						
PCB-153	20.572 ± 11.210	784.766 ± 99.772						
PCB-180	6.252 ± 3.384	261.949 ± 31.754						
Σ 7PCBs	49.806 ± 26.284	1862.214 ± 242.270						
Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs)								
p,p'-DDE	3.697 ± 1.078	7.183 ± 1.918						
HCB	78.894 ± 18.569	127.957 ± 10.977						
Oxy-chlordane	8.767 ± 4.627	107.116 ± 16.670						
Trans-nonachlor	3.980 ± 1.405	90.630 ± 11.318						
α-HCH	1.171 ± 0.057	1.298 ± 0.074						
β-НСН	3.342 ± 0.785	14.869 ± 1.570						
γ-HCH (Lindane)	0.209 ± 0.062	0.207 ± 0.020						
Σ HCHs	4.722 ± 0.878	16.374 ± 1.623						
Dieldrin	8.259 ± 1.679	42.525 ± 6.419						
Σ OCPs	108.320 ± 27.292	391.786 ± 43.753						
$\Sigma \text{ OCPs} + 7PCBs$	158.127 ± 53.473	2254.000 ± 283.595						
Brominated flame retardar	nts (BFRs)							
BDE-47	0.474 ± 0.097	0.682 ± 0.201						
BDE-99	0.480 ± 0.139	7.965 ± 1.634						
BDE-100	0.460 ± 0.195	12.625 ± 3.160						
BDE-153	0.227 ± 0.138	18.919 ± 2.104						
BDE-154	0.048 ± 0.008	5.372 ± 0.794						
BDE-209	2.077 ± 1.444	3.909 ± 0.393						
Σ BFRs	3.816 ± 1.978	49.473 ± 7.569						
Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs)								
PFHxS	0.979 ± 0.074	1.718 ± 0.111						
PFOS	5.359 ± 0.661	58.993 ± 2.687						
PFOA	0.956 ± 0.221	8.485 ± 1.093						
PFNA	1.713 ± 0.314	55.795 ± 4.448						
PFDA	1.761 ± 0.303	87.294 ± 6.095						
PFUnDA	0.659 ± 0.093	25.844 ± 2.143						
Σ PFASs	11.426 ± 1.427	238.130 ± 13.482						

PCB-52, α-Chlordane and HBCD were detected in less than 60% of the samples and not subjected to statistical testing.

chlordane, α - and γ -HCH did not differ significantly between groups, and α -chlordane was only detected in 6 mice (all from the Control group) in concentrations below 3xLOD.

All BFRs, except BDE-47 and HBCD, had significantly higher (6–136 times) concentrations in the Exposed group, compared to Control. HBCD was only detected in 19% of the samples (2 and 5 mice from the Control and Exposed groups, respectively).

The PFASs were detected in 100% of the mice and had significantly higher (2–72 times) concentrations in the Exposed group, compared to Control.

3.2. Biometric measurements

Dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs did not change body, liver or cecal weight of A/J + /+ mothers (data not shown). Maternal exposure did not significantly affect the body weight, body weight gain, liver weight, cecal weight, or the length of the small intestine and colon in A/J Min/+ offspring. Results are presented in Supplementary Fig. A3.

3.3. Intestinal scoring

Results from scoring of colonic lesions in A/J Min/+ mice after maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs are shown in Fig. 1. The exposure significantly increased the average size of flat ACF in the colon (p = 0.03). However, it did not change flat ACF load or number. In contrast, the number, load and average size of colonic tumors were significantly decreased by maternal exposure (p = 0.04, p < 0.01 and p = 0.01, respectively). In addition, the incidence rate of colonic tumors was higher in control mice, with 78.6% and 48.8% in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively. The same trend of more lesions in the Control group was evident from the size and location distribution graphs shown in Supplementary Fig. A4. No significant differences were detected between the Control and Exposed groups for small intestinal lesion number, load or size (data not shown).

3.4. Histopathology

Swiss rolls were made from the intestines of A/J Min/+ mice and examined for hyperplastic/dysplastic lesions, adenomas and carcinomas. Results are presented in Table 2. The maternal POP exposure decreased the number of carcinomas in the small intestine (p < 0.01) and adenomas in the colon (p = 0.04). No colonic carcinomas were detected, and the maternal exposure did not change the number of intestinal hyperplasia/dysplasia.

In the liver, no pre-neoplastic or neoplastic lesions were identified in any of the mice. Furthermore, non-neoplastic lesions

Table 2

Histopathological examination of intestinal lesions. Lesions in the small intestine and colon from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Lesions were classified as hyperplasia/dysplasia, adenomas or carcinomas. Results are shown as mean \pm standard error of lesion numbers. n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively. Bold marks significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between groups.

	Small intestin	ie	Colon		
	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	
Hyperplasia/Dysplasia Adenoma Carcinoma	10.21 ± 2.53 12.43 ± 4.88 1.79 ± 0.94	$\begin{array}{c} 5.52 \pm 0.94 \\ 3.79 \pm 1.07 \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.43 \pm 1.34 \\ \textbf{0.71} \pm \textbf{0.38} \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.16 \pm 0.62 \\ 0.08 \pm 0.08 \\ 0.00 \pm 0.00 \end{array}$	



Fig. 1. Scoring of colonic lesions. Number, load (total area covered by lesions) and average size of colonic lesions in 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Lesions were categorized as either flat aberrant crypt foci (fACF; < 30 abnormal crypts) or tumors (>30 abnormal crypts). 25th, 50th (median) and 75th percentiles constitute the boxes. Whiskers extend to 1.5 interquartile range and outliers are displayed as open circles. n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively. Significance ($p \le 0.05$) from Control is marked by *.
(extramedullary hematopoiesis and chronic active inflammation) were only found in a few individuals and were not significantly affected by maternal exposure.

Two mice from the Exposed group had tumors in the skin of the pelvic area. Histological examination identified these lesions as squamous cell carcinomas that showed infiltrative growth into the skeletal muscle. No metastases originating from the intestinal lesions were found.

3.5. Metabolic profiles of cecal tissue and content

Dietary exposure to the mixture of POPs for 10 weeks (samples from Hansen et al. (2018)) did not significantly change the metabolic profiles of either cecal tissue or content in A/J Min/+ mice. Furthermore, dietary exposure did not change the profiles of cecal metabolites (tissue and content) in A/J +/+ mothers (exposed for 24 weeks). PCA scores plots of metabolic profiles in dietary exposed A/J Min/+ and A/J +/+ mice are presented in Supplementary Fig. A5 and Fig. A6.

Interestingly, maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs changed the composition of metabolites associated with the cecal tissue in A/J Min/+ mice ($Q^2Y = 0.1127$, p = 0.028). The OPLS-DA coefficients plot with metabolic features for the significant model is showed in Fig. 2. Furthermore, PCA and OPLS-DA scores plots are shown in Supplementary Fig. A7.

Maternal POP exposure elevated the abundance of isovalerate (p < 0.01), 3-hydroxyisobutyrate (p < 0.01), propylene glycol (p = 0.02) and phosphorylcholine (p = 0.03), and reduced the abundance of lactate (p = 0.02), ethanolamine (p < 0.01), glycerol (p < 0.01) and S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH, p < 0.01) in cecal tissue. Three unknown metabolites (singlets at δ 3.46 and δ 3.48 and a doublet at δ 7.68) were also significantly reduced in the cecal tissue following maternal exposure (p < 0.01). A heatmap of the metabolites that were significantly increased or decreased by maternal exposure is presented in Supplementary Fig. A8. In addition, multiplicities and chemical shifts of the altered

metabolites are presented in Supplementary Table A6.

Maternal exposure did not affect the metabolite composition in cecal content (PCA plot shown in Supplementary Fig. A9).

3.6. Microbial diversity and composition

Maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs did not change the microbial diversity (i.e. alpha diversity) in fecal samples from A/J Min/+ mice. However, there was a significant difference in fecal bacterial composition (i.e. beta diversity) between the Control and Exposed groups (p < 0.01), which is displayed by a slight categorization in the PCoA scores plot (Fig. 3a).

As shown in Fig. 3b, *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* were the two main microbial phyla in the maternally exposed mice. Together these phyla accounted for $94.8\% \pm 1.3\%$ and $96.4\% \pm 0.4\%$ (mean \pm standard error) of the total fecal microbiome in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively. The third most represented phylum was the *Proteobacteria*, with $3.1\% \pm 0.7\%$ and $2.4\% \pm 0.3\%$ of the relative microbial abundance, respectively. Furthermore, close to all the remaining microbial species could be classified into the phyla *Actinobacteria* and *Deferribacteres*. No significant differences in relative abundance where detected between the groups at phylum level.

Three ASVs were registered as core microbiome members in feces from the Exposed group, however, not as core members in the Control group. These included one ASV affiliated to the *Bilophila* genus, one ASV affiliated to the *Peptococcaceae* family, and one ASV affiliated to the *Mogibacteriaceae* family. In addition, two ASVs affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* genus were identified as core members in the Exposed group, compared to only one ASV of the same genus in the Control group. All core ASVs are presented in Supplementary Table A7. When analyzing the differences in relative bacterial abundances, only one bacterial species (*Unclassified Sutterella*) was found to be significantly less abundant in the Exposed group compared to Control.



Fig. 2. OPLS-DA coefficients plot of cecal tissue extracts. Metabolomic analysis (by ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy) on cecal tissue extracts from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. The coefficients plot is extracted from the significant model, showing a difference in metabolic profiles between the control (n = 14) and maternally exposed (n = 24) mice, and plotted back scaled onto the spectral data. Metabolites that were significantly more abundant in either groups are marked (features below or above 0 covariance with exposure for the control and maternally exposed mice, respectively). Unknown features at 3.46 and 3.48 ppm (singlets).



Fig. 3. Microbiota composition and relative abundance. Principal coordinates analysis (PCoA) scores plot of microbial composition (a) and relative abundance of the top 5 bacterial taxa at phylum level (b) in feces from control (blue, n = 14) or exposed (red, n = 24) 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. The mice were maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. The PCoA visualize the unweighted UniFrac distance metric, which includes the difference in amplicon sequence variant composition between samples.

3.7. Correlation between metabolic profiles and intestinal lesions or microbiota

A significant regression model was found between the ¹H NMR spectral data of cecal content and the number of colonic tumors in maternally exposed A/J Min/+ mice ($Q^2Y = 0.3728$, p = 0.009). When investigating the metabolic features, ethanol (quartet at δ 3.65) showed a significant positive correlation with tumor number (p < 0.01).

For the microbiota, a significant model was acquired in the maternally exposed mice between the ¹H NMR spectral data of cecal content and one of the identified ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* family (Q²Y = 0.1494, p = 0.041). After identifying the metabolic features, butyrate (triplet at δ 0.88, p < 0.01), acetate (singlet at δ 1.91, p = 0.05) and trimethylamine (TMA, singlet at δ 2.87, p = 0.02) were positively correlated, while ethanol was negatively correlated (p = 0.05), with the abundance of the ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* family.

No other significant models were obtained between the metabolic profiles of cecal tissue or content and the scores for intestinal lesions or microbiota.

4. Discussion

The present study investigated if maternal exposure to a human relevant mixture of POPs could influence the development of colorectal cancer, intestinal metabolite composition and microbiota in A/J Min/+ mice. Maternal exposure did not cause the development of more intestinal lesions, but rather decreased the initiation and promotion of colonic tumors. Alterations were identified in metabolites associated with the amino acid, lipid, glycerophospholipid and energy metabolisms in intestinal tissue. Furthermore, maternal exposure modified fecal bacterial composition.

4.1. Chemical concentrations

POPs are known to be readily transferred from mothers to offspring (Barr et al., 2007; Fenton et al., 2009; Vizcaino et al., 2014; Winkens et al., 2017). In the present study, PCBs, OCPs and BFRs, and PFASs were detected in fat and liver tissue, respectively, from

the 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. Twenty of the compounds had significantly higher concentrations, with levels up to 136 times higher, in the Exposed group compared to Control. This confirms that the compounds were transferred from mothers to offspring, and that the majority of the POPs accumulated and persisted in offspring until 17 weeks after end of exposure.

It is important to note that the inclusion of more than one round of mating, gestation and lactation on the dietary exposed A/J +/+ mothers might have resulted in relatively higher maternal exposure concentrations for compounds with longer half-lives in the offspring from the later pregnancies, compared to the offspring born from the first mating. However, due to unknown factors, the first round of mating produced very few A/J Min/+ offspring (1 and 4 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively) and more replicates were need. Thus, the decision was made to include additional rounds of mating, pregnancy and lactation on the dietary exposed mothers.

As previously mentioned, the concentrations incorporated into mouse feed were approximately 5000 times hEDI levels. Recently, maternal exposure to the same mixture and dose resulted in 1-58x higher plasma concentrations of PCBs, OCPs and PFASs in 129:C57BL/6F1 mice (at 9-10 weeks of age) compared to human blood levels reported in the Scandinavian population (Hudecova et al., 2018, Berntsen et al. In prep). In the present study, lipidadjusted values of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs were 2-35x higher than the average human blood levels (ng/g lipid) reported by Berntsen et al. (2017). Furthermore, the levels of PFOS and PFOA were only 2-fold higher in livers of maternally exposed mice than in human blood, and PFHxS had higher levels in humans than in the present study (Berntsen et al., 2017). PFOS and PFOA have also been reported as 2-7x higher in breast milk from Norwegian mothers sampled prior to 2 months post-partum than in the present study (Iszatt et al., 2019; Lenters et al., 2019). Although a comparison between PFAS concentrations in human blood and breast milk, and murine liver should be interpreted with caution, the abovementioned studies indicate that the exposure scenario in the present study should be regarded as human relevant.

4.2. Biometric measurements

Exposure to the mixture of POPs did not affect the body or liver

weights in mice (both in dietary exposed A/J +/+ mothers and maternally exposed A/J Min/+ offspring). This result is in accordance with the results presented by Hansen et al. (2018) after 10 weeks of dietary exposure to the same mixture and dose (Low dose in Hansen et al. (2018)). However, an approximately 20 times higher dose of the same mixture decreased body weights and increased liver weights in A/J Min/+ mice (Hansen et al., 2018). Other studies have shown growth suppression in Sprague-Dawley rats caused by maternal exposure to environmentally relevant mixtures of POPs (Chu et al. 2005, 2008). However, in the present study, the dose of POPs used seemed to be too low to cause growth suppression or increased liver weights in the A/J Min/+ mice.

4.3. Intestinal cancer

Although maternal POP exposure increased the size of the smaller colonic lesions (flat ACFs), mice in the Control group had more and larger tumors in the colon. Histopathological evaluations also showed more carcinomas and adenomas in the small intestine and colon, respectively, of control mice. Thus, maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs reduced the formation and growth of colonic tumors. To the authors knowledge, this is the first study to show reduced colonic carcinogenesis due to maternal exposure to a mixture of POPs (including multiple compound classes).

Previously, PFOS has been shown to reduce intestinal tumor burden after exposure through the drinking water (8–9 weeks) and the authors speculated that PFOS both reduced tumor initiation and promotion in C57BL/6J Min/+ mice (Wimsatt et al., 2016). In addition, a mouse xenograft model showed reduced tumor growth after treatment with PFOS (Wimsatt et al., 2018), and a strong negative association was found between the likelihood of CRC diagnosis and PFOS serum concentrations in humans inhabiting the Appalachia region (Innes et al., 2014). Furthermore, Ngo et al. (2014) showed no increase in intestinal lesion formation after maternal exposure to PFOS and PFOA (in C57BL/6J Min/+ mice). Thus, the indication is that some perfluoroalkylated substances may have a protective effect and possibly reduce colorectal lesion formation and growth.

Dietary exposure (for 10 weeks) to the same mixture of POPs previously increased the formation of lesions in the colon (both flat ACFs and tumors) of A/J Min/+ mice (Hansen et al., 2018). Furthermore, Hansen et al. (2018) found a synergistic increase in CRC when combining POPs with the carcinogenic compound azoxymethane (AOM). The difference between the present study and the study by Hansen et al. (2018) is mainly the route of exposure. Exposure to pollutants during early development might alter the risk of developing cancer later in life, as this period is considered particularly sensitive to disturbances (Heindel, 2007, Heindel and vom Saal, 2009). In the present study, CRC initiation and promotion were reduced due to maternal POP exposure. However, continuous dietary exposure throughout life might increase the risk of developing CRC (as shown by Hansen et al. (2018)). Thus, the total carcinogenic potential of the POP mixture is still of concern.

There is limited knowledge about the relationship between maternal POP exposure and CRC. Apart from the studies mentioned above, only a few other studies have assessed how exposure to POPs affect CRC development in rodents. Song et al. (2014) showed that relatively low concentrations of p,p'-DDT promoted CRC growth through Wnt/ β -catenin signaling and oxidative stress in a mouse xenograft model. Furthermore, the protective effect of fish oil on the formation of colonic ACFs in Sprague-Dawley rats was inhibited when combined with a mixture of POPs (including PCBs and OCPs) at environmentally relevant concentrations (Hong et al., 2017). Epidemiological studies have showed conflicting results between the concentrations of various POPs and the risk of

developing CRC. Positive correlations between CRC risk and the levels of OCPs (such as p,p'-DDE, HCHs, oxy-chlordane) and PCBs (including PCB-28, -118, -138 and -180) have been found by Howsam et al. (2004), Lee et al. (2018) and Abolhassani et al. (2019). On the other hand, no associations between PCBs, OCPs or PBDEs and CRC were found in Egyptian patients (Abdallah et al., 2017), and the weight-of-evidence review by Alexander et al. (2012) concluded that there was no causal relationship between pesticide exposure and CRC.

There seem to be a complex relationship between exposure to environmentally relevant combinations of POPs and the development of CRC. Additive, antagonistic or synergistic interactions between the compounds should be expected (Bopp et al., 2018). Moreover, the relationship becomes even more complex when investigating different routes of exposure, as shown in the present study compared to the study by Hansen et al. (2018). Further studies should be concentrations of POPs contribute to intestinal cancer after maternal and successive dietary exposure.

4.4. Histopathology of the liver

Maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs did not affect hepatic morphology in the A/J Min/+ mice. However, other studies have observed histopathological changes caused by mixed POP exposures. A low dose mixture of PCBs and OCPs have been shown to promote hepatic steatosis in Ob/Ob mice (Mulligan et al., 2017). In addition, hepatic hypertrophy, inflammation and vacuolation have been observed in Sprague-Dawley rats after maternal exposure to environmentally relevant mixtures of POPs (Chu et al. 2005, 2008). Although we did not see an effect in the present study, differences in sensitivity between strains and species are plausible. Thus, hepatic morphological changes should not be excluded as possible effects of maternal exposure to environmentally relevant POP mixtures.

4.5. Metabolic features of cecal tissue

Alterations in the metabolic features of cecal tissue from A/I Min/+ mice were detected after maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs. Maternal exposure increased the cecal abundance of isovalerate, 3-hydroxyisobutyrate and phosphorylcholine, which are involved in the metabolism of amino acids and phospholipids. Furthermore, the levels of propylene glycol were higher in the maternally exposed mice. Propylene glycol is commonly used as a food additive, readily absorbed over the intestines and metabolized by alcohol dehydrogenase in the liver. In addition, approximately half of the absorbed propylene glycol is excreted by the kidneys (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2013; McGowan et al., 2017). Because propylene glycol is considered safe to use, it is likely that this compound occurred in the reference feed. Hence, the significantly higher concentrations in the Exposed group might indicate perturbation of metabolism (reduced function of hepatic alcohol dehydrogenase) or excretion (possible renal dysfunction) caused by early-life exposure to POPs.

The maternally exposed mice were characterized by having lower abundances of ethanolamine, glycerol, lactate and S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH). These compounds are components in the metabolism of glycerophospholipids, lipids, energy and amino acids. Thus, early-life exposure to the mixture of POPs caused longterm perturbation in the metabolism of amino acids, lipids and energy. Furthermore, the results indicate a disruption of essential cell membrane components and possible effects on the liver and kidneys in the A/J Min/+ mice.

Recently, Pikkarainen et al. (2019) showed long-lasting and

dose-dependent alterations in metabolic pathways associated with glycerophospholipids, amino acids and carnitines in serum of adult Sprague-Dawley rats maternally exposed to PCB-180, which indicated effects on liver, neurodevelopment and behavior that were likely of developmental origin (Pikkarainen et al., 2019). Early-life exposure (postnatal days 1-5) to BDE-209 altered metabolites associated with amino acid, carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in ICR mice (Eguchi et al., 2016). Furthermore, dietary BDE-209 exposure affected the amino acid, carbohydrate and energy metabolism pathways and was associated with neurodevelopmental toxicity in adult Sprague-Dawley rats (Yang et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2016). Early-life exposure to HBCD (postnatal day 10) altered metabolites involved in aerobic energy, lipid and amino acid metabolism, and neurodevelopment in C57BL/6 mice (Szabo et al., 2017). Similar alterations were also found in adult mice after oral HBCD exposure (Wang et al., 2016). In addition, dietary exposure to PCBs (Aroclor 1254) in rats has been shown to affect cell membranes (O'Kane et al., 2013), alter fatty acid metabolism and cause mitochondrial dysfunction (Lu et al., 2010). Furthermore, combined Aroclor 1254 and phthalate (DEHP) exposure disturbed the metabolism of lipids, tryptophan and phenylalanine in serum of Kunming mice (Zhang et al., 2012). Thus, exposure to POPs has been shown to affect cell membranes and impact multiple metabolic pathways including lipid, amino acid and energy.

Maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs did not alter the abundance of metabolites in cecal content. This could be explained by the identical diet given to the Control and Exposed groups after weaning, as the content metabolites would strongly reflect components in the feed. Furthermore, no differences were detected in cecal metabolic profiles (both tissue and content) following dietary exposure to the same mixture and dose in either A/J Min/+ mice (samples from Hansen et al. (2018)) or A/J +/+ mothers. Thus, the intestinal tissue seemed to be sensitive to POPs when exposed during early developmental periods.

In summary, maternal POP exposure affected amino acid, lipid, glycerophospholipid and energy metabolism in the intestinal tissue of A/J Min/+ mice. Furthermore, the results indicate a modulation of hepatic metabolism and renal extraction of foreign compounds. Alterations in pathways of energy, lipids, and amino acids have previously been seen in CRC patients (Zhang et al., 2017). In addition, exposures to various POPs have showed effects on cell membranes in humans and rodents (O'Kane et al., 2013; Carrizo et al., 2017; Pikkarainen et al., 2019). Thus, the results presented herein underline that exposure to human relevant concentrations of POPs during early development can cause perturbations of multiple metabolic pathways. Furthermore, the affected pathways might indicate possible mechanistic connections between POP exposure and CRC development.

It is relevant to mention that the predictive performance of the model showing a significant difference in the metabolic features of cecal tissue between control and maternally exposed mice should be considered relatively low ($Q^2Y = 0.1127$). However, a significant p-value (p = 0.028) was obtained from permutation testing and, thus, the model was accepted as valid. The relatively low predictive performance can be explained by only small differences in metabolic features between the two groups, a plausible explanation seeing that the present study investigated dissimilarities in cecal metabolites in samples collected 17 weeks after end of exposure.

4.6. Microbial diversity and composition

Fecal microbial diversity was not affected by maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs. On the other hand, maternal exposure changed the bacterial composition in A/J Min/+ mice.

Maternally exposed mice had a lower relative abundance of one

Unclassified Sutterella species (phylum Proteobacteria), compared to controls. Previously, Proteobacteria has been shown to be overrepresented in CRC rats (Zhu et al., 2014) and human adenoma samples (Shen et al., 2010). Thus, as the control mice had more and larger colonic tumors than the maternally exposed mice, the increased abundance of this bacteria might have been caused by the CRC and not the exposure.

The relative abundance of bacteria at phylum level or the ratio between *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* were not changed by maternal POP exposure. *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* are the predominant phyla in the gut of both mice (Ley et al., 2005) and humans (Gagnière et al., 2016). Previously, dietary POP exposure has been shown to alter the ratio between *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* (Liu et al., 2017; Chi et al. 2018a, 2018b; Petriello et al., 2018), and it is well known that microbial unbalance is involved in the development of CRC (Louis et al., 2014; Gagnière et al., 2016; Dahmus et al., 2018).

Interestingly, maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs changed the core microbiome in A/J Min/+ mice. One ASV affiliated to the *Bilophila* genus (phylum *Proteobacteria*) was represented as a core member in maternally exposed mice, but not in controls. This genus includes the sulfidogenic bacteria *Bilophila* wadsworthia, and hydrogen sulfide has been suggested as a contributing factor to the development of CRC, especially when combined with an already existing DNA mutation (Attene–Ramos et al., 2006; Dahmus et al., 2018). It is a possibility that *B. wadsworthia* might represent the ASV affiliated to the *Bilophila* genus, however, identification at lower classification level was not possible due to insufficient resolution of the 16S rRNA sequencing method.

Furthermore, mice from the Exposed group had an additional ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* genus (of the subclass *Coriobacteridae*), compared to the Control group. One study has identified *Coriobacteridae* as increased in human CRC tissue, although bacteria in this subclass generally live in symbiosis with the host (Marchesi et al., 2011). The maternally exposed mice also had core members from the *Peptococcaceae* and *Mogibacteriaceae* families (of the order *Clostridiales*). Previously, a negative correlation has been shown between *Clostridiales* and intestinal tumor burden (Baxter et al., 2014), possibly due to the production of the anti-tumorigenic compound butyrate. Thus, the differences in core microbiota caused by maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs might have contributed to the lower colonic tumor burden seen in the Exposed group.

To the authors knowledge, no studies have yet investigated the long-term effects of maternal exposure to large mixtures of POPs on microbiota. However, a few studies have investigated the effects of maternal exposure on gut microbial diversity and composition. Rude et al. (2019) showed that maternal exposure to a mixture of 12 PCBs increased the relative abundances of the *Proteobacteria* phylum, *Bacteroidales S7-24* genus and *Alistipes* genus, in 4-week-old Sv129:C57BL/6 mice. Furthermore, Iszatt et al. (2019) showed that PCB-167, BDE-28, PFOS and PFOA altered gut bacterial composition and function in one-month old infants.

More studies have assessed alterations in microbial diversity and community structures after direct exposures to various POPs. A mixture of PCB-138, -153 and – 180 has been shown to decrease the overall abundance of intestinal bacterial species (Choi et al., 2013), and exposure to only PCB-153 altered the microbial composition (Chi et al., 2018b), in C57BL/6 mice. Cheng et al. (2018) showed that oral administration of the Fox River Mixture of PCBs (mimicking contamination in fish from the Fox River) changed the microbial composition in C57BL/6 mice. Furthermore, an imbalance of the intestinal microbiota (dysbiosis) was found after oral exposure to an environmentally relevant concentration of PCB-126 (Chi et al., 2018a), and PCB-126 has been linked to alterations in gut microbiota similar to those seen under the condition of chronic inflammatory diseases (Petriello et al., 2018). BDE-47 and -99 exposure decreased the alpha diversity and changed the bacterial composition of colonic microbiota in C57BL/6 mice in ways that influenced xenobiotic metabolism, caused intestinal inflammation and disrupted the absorption and metabolism of essential micronutrients (Li et al. 2017, 2018). In addition, Li et al. (2018) showed that BDE-47 and -99 perturbed bile acid metabolism (by increasing secondary bile acids) and argued the possibility of a positive correlation between PBDE exposure and an increased risk of CRC. Perturbation of microbial composition associated with bile acid metabolism has also been seen after dietary exposure to p,p'-DDE or β -HCH (Liu et al., 2017). Moreover, PFOS has been shown to cause dosedependent alterations in the abundance and composition of intestinal bacteria in ERβ knockout and CD-1 mice (Xu et al., 2017; Lai et al 2018)

Modulations of whole microbiota communities might determine carcinogenesis just as much as the presence or absence of individual bacterial populations (Arthur et al., 2012; Zackular et al., 2013). As POPs have been shown to alter the composition of intestinal microbiota, a connection could be argued between pollutant exposure and CRC through changes in the microbial community. The importance of evaluating microbiota when investigating the deleterious effects of POPs has previously been highlighted by Jin et al. (2017). However, the present study emphasize that the gut microbiota is sensitive to early-life POP exposure and that this exposure modulated the bacterial composition in a way that possibly reduced colorectal carcinogenesis. Further studies should be conducted to eluate how real-life exposure scenarios affect the formation of the microbial community.

4.7. Correlation between metabolic profiles and intestinal lesions or microbiota

A higher abundance of ethanol in cecal content was found to be positively correlated with the number of colonic tumors in A/J Min/ + mice maternally exposed to the mixture of POPs. The consumption of large amounts of ethanol increases the risk of developing several types of cancers, including CRC (World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research, 2018). Furthermore, ethanol can be produced by microbial organisms and is metabolized by alcohol dehydrogenase in the liver (Holford, 1987; Louis et al., 2014). Thus, the high levels of ethanol, together with the increased amount of propylene glycol (reported in section 3.5), might indicate that early-life POP exposure reduced the function of hepatic alcohol dehydrogenase. Further studies should investigate how POPs might affect hepatic metabolism of deleterious or foreign compounds.

Maternally exposed mice with higher relative abundances of one ASV affiliated to the *Adlercreutzia* family had higher levels of butyrate, acetate and TMA, and lower levels of ethanol in cecal content. An elevation in the abundance of *Adlercreutzia* spp. has previously been positively associated with alcohol intake in mice (Xu et al., 2019). Thus, indicating a preference for ethanol as a source of energy for bacterial species in the *Adlercreutzia* family and explaining the negative correlation observed in the present study.

Butyrate is a short-chain fatty acid (SCFA), a major fermentation product in healthy adults, and heavily influenced by microbiota (Louis et al., 2014). Butyrate is known for inhibiting intestinal tumor formation. However, it might also stimulate cell proliferation due to its role as the preferred energy source for colonocytes (Roediger, 1982; O'Keefe, 2016). Acetate is another SCFA, essential in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, and recognized as an antitumorigenic agent (Louis et al., 2014). Thus, both butyrate and acetate might have contributed to the lower colonic tumor burden in maternally exposed mice.

The relative abundance of microbiota with the ability to produce TMA, a component in energy metabolism, has recently been linked to increased CRC development (Xu et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2019). Hence, higher levels of TMA in maternally exposed mice (possibly together with higher levels of butyrate) might have increased CRC development, as shown by the larger size of small colonic lesions (flat ACFs), and further complicated the relationship between microbiota and CRC.

5. Conclusions

The present study showed that maternal exposure to a mixture of POPs, resulting in concentrations comparable to humans, lowered the burden of colonic tumors in A/J Min/+ mice. In addition, maternal exposure caused long-lasting alterations in fecal bacterial composition and affected the intestinal metabolism of amino acids, lipids, glycerophospholipids and energy in ways that may have reduced CRC initiation and promotion. The results emphasize that early developmental periods are sensitive to pollutant exposures, which may alter the risk of developing CRC. Through further studies, the effects on mechanisms of intestinal carcinogenesis should be investigated after combined maternal and dietary exposures to low-dose POP mixtures. In addition, studies should be conducted to examine how early-life exposures to POPs alter hepatic metabolism and renal excretion of foreign compounds.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Silje M. Johanson: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Project administration. Jonathan R. Swann: Formal analysis, Resources, Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Supervision. Özgün C.O. Umu: Formal analysis, Resources, Writing review & editing, Visualization. Mona Aleksandersen: Formal analysis, Resources. Mette H.B. Müller: Formal analysis, Resources, Writing - review & editing. Hanne F. Berntsen: Resources. Karin E. Zimmer: Resources. Gunn C. Østby: Investigation, Resources. Jan E. Paulsen: Methodology, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the staff at the Section for Experimental Biomedicine, NMBU, for excellent support during the animal experiment, and Kristine Eraker Aasland Hansen for providing samples of cecum from dietary exposed A/J Min/+ mice for metabolomic analysis. The study was funded by NMBU.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126484.

References

- Abdallah, M.A.-E., Zaky, A.H., Covaci, A., 2017. Levels and profiles of organohalogenated contaminants in human blood from Eypt. Chemosphere 176, 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.02.139.
- Abolhassani, M., Asadikaram, G., Paydar, P., Fallah, H., Aghaee-Afshar, M., Moazed, V., Akbari, H., Moghaddam, S.D., Moradi, A., 2019. Organochlorine and organophosphorous pesticides may induce colorectal cancer; A case-control study. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 178, 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ecoenv.2019.04.030.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2013. Environmental health and medicine education. Ethylene glycol and propylene glycol toxicity what is propylene glycol? https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/csem/csem.asp? csem=12&po=14. (Accessed 21 October 2019).
- Alexander, D.D., Weed, D.L., Mink, P.J., Mitchell, M.E., 2012. A weight-of-evidence review of colorectal cancer in pesticide applicators: the agricultural health study and other epidemiologic studies. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 85, 715–745. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-011-0723-7.
- Amir, A., McDonald, D., Navas-Molina, J.A., Kopylova, E., Morton, J.T., Zech Xu, Z., Kightley, E.P., Thompson, L.R., Hyde, E.R., Gonzalez, A., Knight, R., 2017. Deblur rapidly resolves single-nucleotide community sequence patterns. mSystems 2. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00191-16 e00191-00116.
- Arrebola, J.P., Belhassen, H., Artacho-Cordón, F., Ghali, R., Ghorbel, H., Boussen, H., Perez-Carrascosa, F.M., Expósito, J., Hedhili, A., Olea, N., 2015. Risk of female breast cancer and serum concentrations of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls: a case–control study in Tunisia. Sci. Total Environ. 520, 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.045.
- Arthur, J.C., Perez-Chanona, E., Mühlbauer, M., Tomkovich, S., Uronis, J.M., Fan, T.-J., Campbell, B.J., Abujamel, T., Dogan, B., Rogers, A.B., Rhodes, J.M., Stintzi, A., Simpson, K.W., Hansen, J.J., Keku, T.O., Fodor, A.A., Jobin, C., 2012. Intestinal inflammation targets cancer-inducing activity of the microbiota. Science 338, 120. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1224820.
- Attene-Ramos, M.S., Wagner, E.D., Plewa, M.J., Gaskins, H.R., 2006. Evidence that hydrogen sulfide is a genotoxic agent. Mol. Canc. Res. 4, 9. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-05-0126.
- Barr, D.B., Bishop, A., Needham, L.L., 2007. Concentrations of xenobiotic chemicals in the maternal-fetal unit. Reprod. Toxicol. 23, 260–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.reprotex.2007.03.003.
- Baxter, N.T., Zackular, J.P., Chen, G.Y., Schloss, P.D., 2014. Structure of the gut microbiome following colonization with human feces determines colonic tumor burden. Microbiome 2, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-2618-2-20.
- Beckonert, O., Keun, H.C., Ebbels, T.M., Bundy, J., Holmes, E., Lindon, J.C., Nicholson, J.K., 2007. Metabolic profiling, metabolomic and metabonomic procedures for NMR spectroscopy of urine, plasma, serum and tissue extracts. Nat. Protoc. 2, 2692–2703. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.376.
- Berntsen, H. F., Berg, V., Lyche, J. L., Ropstad, E. and Zimmer, K. E. (In prep.). The relevance of a designed POP mixture for the use in behavioral experiments.
- Berntsen, H.F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E., Zimmer, K.E., 2017. The design of an environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in in vivo and in vitro studies. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 80, 1002–1016. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1354439.
- Bokulich, N.A., Kaehler, B.D., Rideout, J.R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., Huttley, G.A., Gregory Caporaso, J., 2018. Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. Microbiome 6, 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z.
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J.R., Dillon, M.R., Bokulich, N.A., Abnet, C.C., Al-Ghalith, G.A., Alexander, H., Alm, E.J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J.E., Bittinger, K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C.J., Brown, C.T., Callahan, B.J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A.M., Chase, J., Cope, E.K., Da Silva, R., Diener, C., Dorrestein, P.C., Douglas, G.M., Durall, D.M., Duvallet, C., Edwardson, C.F., Ernst, M., Estaki, M., Fouquier, J., Gaugitz, J.M., Gibbons, S.M., Gibson, D.L., Gonzalez, A., Corlick, K., Guo, J., Hillmann, B., Holmes, S., Holste, H., Huttenhower, C., Huttley, G.A., Janssen, S., Jarmusch, A.K., Jiang, L., Kaehler, B.D., Kang, K.B., Keefe, C.R., Keim, P., Kelley, S.T., Knights, D., Koester, I., Kosciolek, T., Kreps, J., Langille, M.C.I., Lee, J., Ley, R., Liu, Y.-X., Lofffield, E., Lozupone, C., Maher, M., Marotz, C., Martin, B.D., McDonald, D., McIver, L.J., Melnik, A.V., Metcalf, J.L., Morgan, S.C., Morton, J.T., Naimey, A.T., Navas-Molina, J.A., Nothias, L.F., Orchanian, S.B., Pearson, T., Peoples, S.L., Petras, D., Preuss, M.L., Pruesse, E., Rasmussen, L.B., Rivers, A., Robeson, M.S., Rosenthal, P., Segata, N., Shaffer, M., Shiffer, A., Sinha, R., Song, S.J., Spear, J.R., Swafford, A.D., Thompson, L.R., Torres, PJ., Trinh, P., Tripathi, A., Turnbaugh, PJ., Ul-Hasan, S., van der Hooft, J.J.J., Vargas, F., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Vogtmann, E., von Hippel, M., Walters, W., Wan, Y., Wang, M., Warren, J., Weber, K.C., Williamson, C.H.D., Willis, A.D., Xu, Z.Z., Zaneveld, J.R., Zhang, Y., Zhu, Q., Knight, R., Caporaso, J.G., 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIM 2. Nat. Biotechnol. 37, 852–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9.
- Di, OZ- OJ, HITDS, JOADBARG, HOLFOJ, MONORO, J. L.C.M., Drakvik, P.E., Faust, M., Karjalainen, T.K., Kephalopoulos, S., van Klaveren, J., Kolossa-Gehring, M., Kortenkamp, A., Lebret, E., Lettieri, T., Nørager, S., Rüegg, J., Tarazona, J.V., Trier, X., van de Water, B., van Gils, J., Bergman, A., 2018. Current EU research activities on combined exposure to multiple chemicals. Environ. Int. 120, 544–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.07.037.
- Bouhifd, M., Hartung, T., Hogberg, H.T., Kleensang, A., Zhao, L., 2013. Review: toxicometabolomics. J. Appl. Toxicol. 33, 1365–1383. https://doi.org/10.1002/

jat.2874

- Bowers, W.J., Nakai, J.S., Chu, I., Wade, M.G., Moir, D., Yagminas, A., Gill, S., Pulido, O., Meuller, R., 2004. Early developmental neurotoxicity of a PCB/organochlorine mixture in rodents after gestational and lactational exposure. Toxicol. Sci. 77, 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg248.
- Brevik, E.M., 1978. Gas chromatographic method for the determination of organochlorine pesticides in human milk. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 78, 281–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01685799.
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S.P., 2017. Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. ISME J. 11, 2639–2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.119.
 Cameron, H.L., Foster, W.G., 2009. Developmental and lactational exposure to
- Cameron, H.L., Foster, W.G., 2009. Developmental and lactational exposure to dieldrin alters mammary tumorigenesis in Her 2/neu transgenic mice. PloS One 4, e4303. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004303.
- Carrizo, D., Chevallier, O.P., Woodside, J.V., Brennan, S.F., Cantwell, M.M., Cuskelly, G., Elliott, C.T., 2017. Untargeted metabolomic analysis of human serum samples associated with exposure levels of persistent organic pollutants indicate important perturbations in sphingolipids and glycerophospholipids levels. Chemosphere 168, 731–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.chemosphere.2016.11.001.
- Caruso, V., Song, X., Asquith, M., Karstens, L., 2019. Performance of microbiome sequence inference methods in environments with varying biomass. mSystems 4. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00163-18 e00163-0018.
- Cheng, S.L., Li, X., Lehmler, H.-J., Phillips, B., Shen, D., Cui, J.Y., 2018. Gut microbiota modulates interactions between polychlorinated biphenyls and bile acid homeostasis. Toxicol. Sci. 166, 269–287. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kf/208.
- Chi, Y., Lin, Y., Lu, Y., Huang, Q., Ye, G., Dong, S., 2018a. Gut microbiota dysbiosis correlates with a low-dose PCB126-induced dyslipidemia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Sci. Total Environ. 653, 274–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2018.10.387.
- Chi, Y., Lin, Y., Zhu, H., Huang, Q., Ye, G., Dong, S., 2018b. PCBs-high-fat diet interactions as mediators of gut microbiota dysbiosis and abdominal fat accumulation in female mice. Environ. Pollut. 239, 332–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2018.04.001.
- Choi, J.J., Eum, S.Y., Rampersaud, E., Daunert, S., Abreu, M.T., Toborek, M., 2013. Exercise attenuates PCB-induced changes in the mouse gut microbiome. Environ. Health Perspect. 121, 725–730. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1306534.
- Chu, I., Bowers, W.J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Pulido, O., Yagminas, A., Wade, M.G., Moir, D., Gill, S., Mueller, R., 2005. Toxicological effects of gestational and lactational exposure to a mixture of persistent organochlorines in rats: systemic effects. Toxicol. Sci. 88, 645–655. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfi335.
- Chu, I., Bowers, W.J., Caldwell, D., Nakai, J., Wade, M.G., Yagminas, A., Li, N., Moir, D., El Abbas, L., Hakansson, H., Gill, S., Mueller, R., Pulido, O., 2008. Toxicological effects of *in utero* and lactational exposure of rats to a mixture of environmental contaminants detected in Canadian Arctic human populations. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 71, 93–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390701612811.
- Dahmus, J.D., Kotler, D.L., Kastenberg, D.M., Kistler, C.A., 2018. The gut microbiome and colorectal cancer: a review of bacterial pathogenesis. J. Gastrointest. Oncol. 9, 769–777. https://doi.org/10.21037/jjo.2018.04.07.
- 9, 769–777. https://doi.org/10.21037/jgo.2018.04.07. Dietrich, W.F., Lander, E.S., Smith, J.S., Moser, A.R., Gould, K.A., Luongo, C., Borenstein, N., Dove, W., 1993. Genetic identification of Mom-1, a major modifier locus affecting Min-induced intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. Cell 75, 631–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90484-8.
- Eguchi, A., Miyaso, H., Mori, C., 2016. The effects of early postnatal exposure to a low dose of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE-209) on serum metabolites in male mice. J. Toxicol. Sci. 41, 667–675. https://doi.org/10.2131/jis.41.667.
- Fearnhead, N.S., Britton, M.P., Bodmer, W.F., 2001. The ABC of APC. Hum. Mol. Genet. 10, 721–733. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/10.7.721.
- Fenton, S.E., Reiner, J.L., Nakayama, S.F., Delinsky, A.D., Stanko, J.P., Hines, E.P., White, S.S., Lindstrom, A.B., Strynar, M.J., Petropoulou, S.-S.E., 2009. Analysis of PFOA in dosed CD-1 mice. Part 2: disposition of PFOA in tissues and fluids from pregnant and lactating mice and their pups. Reprod. Toxicol. 27, 365–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2009.02.012.
- Filgo, A.J., Quist, E.M., Hoenerhoff, M.J., Brix, A.E., Kissling, G.E., Fenton, S.E., 2015. Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA)--induced liver lesions in two strains of mice following developmental exposures: PPARa is not required. Toxicol. Pathol. 43, 558–568. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623314558463.
- Gagnière, J., Raisch, J., Veziant, J., Barnich, N., Bonnet, R., Buc, E., Bringer, M.-A., Pezet, D., Bonnet, M., 2016. Gut microbiota imbalance and colorectal cancer. World J. Gastroenterol. 22, 501–518. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.12.501.
- Giannandrea, F., Gandini, L., Paoli, D., Turci, R., Figà-Talamanca, I., 2011. Pesticide exposure and serum organochlorine residuals among testicular cancer patients and healthy controls. J. Environ. Sci. Heal. B 46, 780–787. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03601234.2012.597704.
- Grønnestad, R., Villanger, G.D., Polder, A., Kovacs, K.M., Lydersen, C., Jenssen, B.M., Borgå, K., 2017. Maternal transfer of perfluoroalkyl substances in hooded seals. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 36, 763–770. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3623.
- Hansen, K.E.A., Johanson, S.M., Steppeler, C., Sodring, M., Ostby, G.C., Berntsen, H.F., Zimmer, K.E., Aleksandersen, M., Paulsen, J.E., Ropstad, E., 2018. A mixture of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. Chemosphere 214, 534–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.chemosphere.2018.09.126.
- Heindel, J.J., 2007. Role of exposure to environmental chemicals in the developmental basis of disease and dysfunction. Reprod. Toxicol. 23, 257–259. https://

doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.01.006.

- Heindel, JJ, vom Šaal, F.S., 2009. Role of nutrition and environmental endocrine disrupting chemicals during the perinatal period on the aetiology of obesity. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 304, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2009.02.025. Holford, N.H., 1987. Clinical pharmacokinetics of ethanol. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 13,
- 273–292. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-198713050-00001.
- Hong, M.Y., Hoh, E., Kang, B., DeHamer, R., Kim, J.Y., Lumibao, J., 2017. Fish oil contaminated with persistent organic pollutants induces colonic aberrant crypt foci formation and reduces antioxidant enzyme gene expression in rats. J. Nutr. 147, 1524–1530. https://doi.org/10.3945/jjn.117.251082.
- Howsam, M., Grimalt, J.O., Guinó, E., Navarro, M., Martí-Ragué, J., Peinado, M.A., Capellá, G., Moreno, V., 2004. Organochlorine exposure and colorectal cancer risk. for the Bellvitge Colorectal Cancer, G. Environ. Health Perspect. 112, 1460–1466. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7143.
- Hudecova, A.M., Hansen, K.E.A., Mandal, S., Berntsen, H.F., Khezri, A., Bale, T.L., Fraser, T.W.K., Zimmer, K.E., Ropstad, E., 2018. A human exposure based mixture of persistent organic pollutants affects the stress response in female mice and their offspring. Chemosphere 197, 585–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2018.01.085.
- Hui, W., Gel, Y., Gastwirth, J., 2008. Lawstat: an R package for law, public policy and biostatistics. J. Stat. Software 28, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v028.i03.
- Høyer, A.P., Jørgensen, T., Grandjean, P., Hartvig, H.B., 2000. Repeated measurements of organochlorine exposure and breast cancer risk (Denmark). Canc. Causes Contr. 11, 177-184. https://doi.org/10.1023/s/1008926219539.
- Innes, K.E., Wimsatt, J.H., Frisber, S., Ducatman, A.M., 2014. Inverse association of colorectal cancer prevalence to serum levels of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) in a large Appalachian population. BMC Canc. 14, 45. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-45.
- Iszatt, N., Janssen, S., Lenters, V., Dahl, C., Stigum, H., Knight, R., Mandal, S., Peddada, S., Gonzalez, A., Midtvedt, T., Eggesbo, M., 2019. Environmental toxicants in breast milk of Norwegian mothers and gut bacteria composition and metabolites in their infants at 1 month. Microbiome 7, 34. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40168-019-0645-2.
- Jin, Y., Wu, S., Zeng, Z., Fu, Z., 2017. Effects of environmental pollutants on gut microbiota. Environ. Pollut. 222, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2016.11.045.
- Jones, O.A., Murfitt, S., Svendsen, C., Turk, A., Turk, H., Spurgeon, D.J., Walker, LA., Shore, R.F., Long, S.M., Griffin, J.L., 2013. Comparisons of metabolic and physiological changes in rats following short term oral dosing with pesticides commonly found in food. Food Chem. Toxicol. 59, 438–445. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ict.2013.06.041.
- Jung, Y.S., Lée, J., Seo, J., Hwang, G.S., 2016. Metabolite profiling study on the toxicological effects of polybrominated diphenyl ether in a rat model. Environ. Toxicol. 32, 1262–1272. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.2222.
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K.i., Miyata, T., 2002. MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. Nucleic Acids Res. 30, 3059–3066. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt436.
- Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., 1996. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 87, 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81333-1.
- Kortenkamp, A., 2014. Low dose mixture effects of endocrine disrupters and their implications for regulatory thresholds in chemical risk assessment. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 19, 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2014.08.006.
- Kortenkamp, A., Faust, M., 2018. Regulate to reduce chemical mixture risk. Science 361, 224. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat9219.
- Lai, K.P., Ng, A.H., Wan, H.T., Wong, A.Y., Leung, C.C., Li, R., Wong, C.K., 2018. Dietary exposure to the environmental chemical, PFOS on the diversity of gut microbiota, associated with the development of metabolic syndrome. Front. Microbiol. 9, 2552. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02552.
- Lai, T.J., Guo, Y.L., Guo, N.W., Hsu, C.C., 2001. Effect of prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls on cognitive development in children: a longitudinal study in Taiwan. Br. J. Psychiatr. 178, s49–s52. https://doi.org/10.1192/ bjp.178.40.s49.
- Lee, Y.M., Kim, S.A., Choi, G.S., Park, S.Y., Jeon, S.W., Lee, H.S., Lee, S.J., Heo, S., Lee, D.H., 2018. Association of colorectal polyps and cancer with low-dose persistent organic pollutants: a case-control study. PloS One 13, e0208546. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208546.
- Lenters, V., Iszatt, N., Forns, J., Čechova, E., Kocan, A., Legler, J., Leonards, P., Stigum, H., Eggesbo, M., 2019. Early-life exposure to persistent organic pollutants (OCPs, PBDEs, PCBs, PFASs) and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a multi-pollutant analysis of a Norwegian birth cohort. Environ. Int. 125, 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.020.
- Ley, R.E., Bäckhed, F., Turnbaugh, P., Lozupone, C.A., Knight, R.D., Gordon, J.I., 2005. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. P. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 102, 11070–11075. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504978102.
- Li, C.Y., Dempsey, J.L., Wang, D., Lee, S., Weigel, K.M., Fei, Q., Bhatt, D.K., Prasad, B., Raftery, D., Gu, H., Cui, J.Y., 2018. PBDEs altered gut microbiome and bile acid homeostasis in male C57BL/6 mice. Drug Metab. Dispos. 46, 1226–1240. https:// doi.org/10.1124/dmd.118.081547.
- Li, C.Y., Lee, S., Cade, S., Kuo, L.J., Schultz, I.R., Bhatt, D.K., Prasad, B., Bammler, T.K., Cui, J.Y., 2017a. Novel interactions between gut microbiome and host drugprocessing genes modify the hepatic metabolism of the environmental chemicals polybrominated diphenyl ethers. Drug Metab. Dispos. 45, 1197–1214. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.117.077024.
- Li, Y., Kundu, P., Seow, S.W., de Matos, C.T., Aronsson, L., Chin, K.C., Kärre, K., Pettersson, S., Greicius, G., 2012. Gut microbiota accelerate tumor growth via c-

jun and STAT3 phosphorylation in APC Min/+ mice. Carcinogenesis 33, 1231–1238. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgs137.

- Liu, Q., Shao, W., Zhang, C., Xu, C., Wang, Q., Liu, H., Sun, H., Jiang, Z., Gu, A., 2017. Organochloride pesticides modulated gut microbiota and influenced bile acid metabolism in mice. Environ. Pollut. 226, 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envpol.2017.03.068.
- Louis, P., Hold, G.L., Flint, H.J., 2014. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 12, 661–672. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrmicro3344.
- Lozupone, C., Knight, R., 2005. UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 8228–8235. https:// doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.12.8228-8235.2005.
- Lu, C., Wang, Y., Sheng, Z., Liu, G., Fu, Z., Zhao, J., Zhao, J., Yan, X., Zhu, B., Peng, S., 2010. NMR-based metabonomic analysis of the hepatotoxicity induced by combined exposure to PCBs and TCDD in rats. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 248, 178–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.07.020.
- Mandal, S., Van Treuren, W., White, R.A., Eggesbø, M., Knight, R., Peddada, S.D., 2015. Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. Microb. Ecol. Health Dis. 26, 27663. https://doi.org/10.3402/ mehd.v26.27663.
- Marchesi, J.R., Dutilh, B.E., Hall, N., Peters, W.H.M., Roelofs, R., Boleij, A., Tjalsma, H., 2011. Towards the human colorectal cancer microbiome. PloS One 6, e20447. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020447.
- McDonald, D., Price, M.N., Goodrich, J., Nawrocki, E.P., DeSantis, T.Z., Probst, A., Andersen, G.L., Knight, R., Hugenholtz, P., 2012. An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. ISME J. 6, 610–618. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.139.
- McGlynn, K.A., Quraishi, S.M., Graubard, B.I., Weber, J.-P., Rubertone, M.V., Erickson, R.L., 2008. Persistent organochlorine pesticides and risk of testicular germ cell tumors. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. (Bethesda) 100, 663–671. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jnci/djn101.
- McGowan, M.A., Scheman, A., Jacob, S.E., 2017. Propylene glycol in contact dermatitis: a systematic review. Dermatitis 29, 6–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/ der.0000000000000000307.
- Moolenbeek, C., Ruitenberg, E.J., 1981. The 'Swiss roll': a simple technique for histological studies of the rodent intestine. Lab. Anim. 15, 57–60. https://doi.org/ 10.1258/002367781780958577.
- Morgan, M., Deoraj, A., Felty, Q., Roy, D., 2016. Environmental estrogen-like endocrine disrupting chemicals and breast cancer. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 457, 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2016.10.003.
- Moser, A.R., Pitot, H.C., Dove, W.F., 1990. A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. Science 247, 322–324. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.2296722.
- Moser, A.R., Shoemaker, A.R., Connelly, C.S., Clipson, L., Gould, K.A., Luongo, C., Dove, W.F., Siggers, P.H., Gardner, R.L., 1995. Homozygosity for the *Minallele of Apc* results in disruption of mouse development prior to gastrulation. Dev. Dynam. 203, 422–433. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1002030405.
- Mulligan, C., Kondakala, S., Yang, E.J., Stokes, J.V., Stewart, J.A., Kaplan, B.L., Howell 3rd, G.E., 2017. Exposure to an environmentally relevant mixture of organochlorine compounds and polychlorinated biphenyls promotes hepatic steatosis in male Ob/Ob mice. Environ. Toxicol. 32, 1399–1411. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/tox.22334.
- Ngo, H.T., Hetland, R.B., Sabaredzovic, A., Haug, L.S., Steffensen, I.-L., 2014. In utero exposure to perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) or perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) did not increase body weight or intestinal tumorigenesis in multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min/+) mice. Environ. Res. 132, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.envres.2014.03.033.
- Nishisho, I., Nakamura, Y., Miyoshi, Y., Miki, Y., Ando, H., Horii, A., Koyama, K., Utsunomiya, J., Baba, S., Hedge, P., 1991. Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients. Science 253, 665–669. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1651563.
- Nyberg, E., Awad, R., Bignert, A., Ek, C., Sallsten, G., Benskin, J.P., 2018. Inter-individual, inter-city, and temporal trends of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in human milk from Swedish mothers between 1972 and 2016. Environ. Sci.-Proc. Imp. 20, 1136–1147. https://doi.org/10.1039/CSEM00174/.
- O'Keefe, S.J.D., 2016. Diet, microorganisms and their metabolites, and colon cancer. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 13, 691–706. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrgastro.2016.165.
- O'Kane, A.A., Chevallier, O.P., Graham, S.F., Elliott, C.T., Mooney, M.H., 2013. Metabolomic profiling of *in vivo* plasma responses to dioxin-associated dietary contaminant exposure in rats: implications for identification of sources of animal and human exposure. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 5409–5418. https:// doi.org/10.1021/e3305345u.
- Patti, G.J., Yanes, O., Siuzdak, G., 2013. Metabolomics: the apogee of the omics trilogy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13, 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3314.
- Petriello, M.C., Hoffman, J.B., Vsevolozhskaya, O., Morris, A.J., Hennig, B., 2018. Dioxin-like PCB 126 increases intestinal inflammation and disrupts gut microbiota and metabolic homeostasis. Environ. Pollut. 242, 1022–1032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.039.
- Pikkarainen, A., Lehtonen, M., Håkansson, H., Auriola, S., Viluksela, M., 2019. Gender- and dose-related metabolome alterations in rat offspring after in utero and lactational exposure to PCB 180. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 370, 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2019.03.013.
- Polder, A., Müller, M.B., Lyche, J.L., Mdegela, R.H., Nonga, H.E., Mabiki, F.P., Mbise, T.J., Skaare, J.U., Sandvik, M., Skjerve, E., Lie, E., 2014. Levels and patterns of

persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in tilapia (*Oreochromis sp.*) from four different lakes in Tanzania: geographical differences and implications for human health. Sci. Total Environ. 488–489, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2014.04.085.

- Polder, A., Skaare, J.U., Skjerve, E., Løken, K.B., Eggesbø, M., 2009. Levels of chlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in Norwegian breast milk (2002–2006), and factors that may predict the level of contamination. Sci. Total Environ. 407, 4584–4590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.04.032.
- Powell, S.M., Zilz, N., Beazer-Barclay, Y., Bryan, T.M., Hamilton, S.R., Thibodeau, S.N., Vogelstein, B., Kinzler, K.W., 1992. APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumorigenesis. Nature 359, 235–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/359235a0. Price, M.N., Dehal, P.S., Arkin, A.P., 2010. FastTree 2 – approximately maximum-
- Price, M.N., Dehal, P.S., Arkin, A.P., 2010. FastTree 2 approximately maximumlikelihood trees for large alignments. PloS One 5, e9490. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0009490.
- R Development Core Team, 2008. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, ISBN 3-900051-07-0. Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org.
- Ribas-Fitó, N., Sala, M., Kogevinas, M., Sunyer, J., 2001. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and neurological development in children: a systematic review. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 55, 537–546. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jech.55.8.537.
- Roediger, W.E., 1982. Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon. Gastroenterology 83, 424–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(82) 80339-9.
- Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C., Mahé, F., 2016. VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. PeerJ 4, e2584. https://doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.2584.
- Rooks, M.G., Garrett, W.S., 2016. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.42.
- Rude, K.M., Pusceddu, M.M., Keogh, C.E., Sladek, J.A., Rabasa, G., Miller, E.N., Sethi, S., Keil, K.P., Pessah, I.N., Lein, P.J., Gareau, M.G., 2019. Developmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in the maternal diet causes host-microbe defects in weanling offspring mice. Environ. Pollut. 253, 708–721. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.07.066.
- Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention, 2008. What Are POPs? http://chm.pops. intr/TheConvention/ThePOPs/tabid/673/Default.aspx. (Accessed 25 May 2019). Shen, XJ., Rawls, J.F., Randall, T.A., Burcall, L., Mpande, C., Jenkins, N., Jovov, B.,
- Shen, X.J., Rawls, J.F., Randall, T.A., Burcall, L., Mpande, C., Jenkins, N., Jovov, B., Abdo, Z., Sandler, R.S., Keku, T.O., 2010. Molecular characterization of mucosal adherent bacteria and associations with colorectal adenomas. Gut Microb. 1, 138–147. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.1.3.12360.
- Song, L., Zhao, J., Jin, X., Li, Z., Newton, I.P., Liu, W., Xiao, H., Zhao, M., 2014. The organochlorine p.p-dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane induces colorectal cancer growth through Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Toxicol. Lett. 229, 284–291. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.06.003.
- Steppeler, C., Sodring, M., Egelandsdal, B., Kirkhus, B., Oostindjer, M., Alvseike, O., Gangsei, L.E., Hovland, E.M., Pierre, F., Paulsen, J.E., 2017. Effects of dietary beef, pork, chicken and salmon on intestinal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice. PloS One 12, e0176001. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176001.
- Su, L.K., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., Preisinger, A.C., Moser, A.R., Luongo, C., Gould, K.A., Dove, W.F., 1992. Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene. Science 256, 668–670. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0168-9525(92)90391-6.
- Szabo, D.T., Pathmasiri, W., Sumner, S., Birnbaum, L.S., 2017. Serum metabolomic profiles in neonatal mice following oral brominated flame retardant exposures to hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) alpha, gamma, and commercial mixture. Environ. Health Perspect. 125, 651–659. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp242.Sødring, M., Gunnes, G., Paulsen, J.E., 2016b. Detection and characterization of flat
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G., Paulsen, J.E., 2016b. Detection and characterization of flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF) in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. Anticancer Res. 36, 2745–2750.
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G., Paulsen, J.E., 2016a. Spontaneous initiation, promotion and progression of colorectal cancer in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. Int. J. Canc. 138, 1936–1946. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijic.29928.
- Thomas, A.M., Manghi, P., Asnicar, F., Pasolli, E., Armanini, F., Zolfo, M., Beghini, F., Manara, S., Karcher, N., Pozzi, C., Gandini, S., Serrano, D., Tarallo, S., Francavilla, A., Gallo, G., Trompetto, M., Ferrero, G., Mizutani, S., Shiroma, H., Shiba, S., Shibata, T., Yachida, S., Yamada, T., Wirbel, J., Schrotz-King, P., Ulrich, C.M., Brenner, H., Arumugam, M., Bork, P., Zeller, G., Cordero, F., Dias-Neto, E., Setubal, J.C., Tett, A., Pardini, B., Rescigno, M., Waldron, L., Naccarati, A., Segata, N., 2019. Metagenomic analysis of colorectal cancer datasets identifies cross-cohort microbial diagnostic signatures and a link with choline degradation. Nat. Med. 25, 667–678. https://doi.org/10.1038/s4159-109-0405-7.
- Thomsen, C., Stigum, H., Frøshaug, M., Broadwell, S.L., Becher, G., Eggesbø, M., 2010. Determinants of brominated flame retardants in breast milk from a large scale Norwegian study. Environ. Int. 36, 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envint.2009.10.002.
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2019. Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). https://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/chemicals-waste/ what-we-do/persistent-organic-pollutants-pops. (Accessed 25 May 2019).

Veselkov, K.A., Lindon, J.C., Ebbels, T.M.D., Crockford, D., Volynkin, V.V., Holmes, E.,

Davies, D.B., Nicholson, J.K., 2009. Recursive segment-wise peak alignment of biological 1H NMR spectra for improved metabolic biomarker recovery. Anal. Chem. 81, 56–66. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac8011544.

- Vizcaino, E., Grimalt, J.O., Fernández-Somoano, A., Tardon, A., 2014. Transport of persistent organic pollutants across the human placenta. Environ. Int. 65, 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.01.004.
- Wade, M.G., Foster, W.G., Younglai, E.V., McMahon, A., Leingartner, K., Yagminas, A., Blakey, D., Fournier, M., Desaulniers, D., Hughes, C.L., 2002. Effects of subchronic exposure to a complex mixture of persistent contaminants in male rats: systemic, immune, and reproductive effects. Toxicol. Sci. 67, 131–143. https:// doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.1131.
- Walton, K., Dorne, J.L., Renwick, A.G., 2001. Uncertainty factors for chemical risk assessment: interspecies differences in the *in vivo* pharmacokinetics and metabolism of human CYP1A2 substrates. Food Chem. Toxicol. 39, 667–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-6915(01)00006-0.
- Wang, D., Zhang, P., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, Z., Zhu, W., 2016. NMR- and LC-MS/ MS-based urine metabolomic investigation of the subacute effects of hexabromocyclododecane in mice. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. 23, 8500–8507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5940-2.
- Westerhuis, J.A., Hoefsloot, H.C.J., Smit, S., Vis, D.J., Smilde, A.K., van Velzen, E.J.J., van Duijnhoven, J.P.M., van Dorsten, F.A., 2008. Assessment of PLSDA cross validation. Metabolomics 4, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1136-607-0099-6.
- Wickham, H., 2007. Reshaping data with the {reshape} package. J. Stat. Software 21, 1–20. http://www.jstatsoft.org/v21/i12/.
- Wickham, H., 2016. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Wimsatt, J., Villers, M., Thomas, L., Kamarec, S., Montgomery, C., Yeung, L.W.Y., Hu, Y., Innes, K., 2016. Oral perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) lessens tumor development in the APCmin mouse model of spontaneous familial adenomatous polyposis. BMC Canc. 16, 942. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2861-5.
- tous polyposis. BMC Canc. 16, 942. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2861-5.
 Wimsatt, J.H., Montgomery, C., Thomas, L.S., Savard, C., Tallman, R., Innes, K., Jrebi, N., 2018. Assessment of a mouse xenograft model of primary colorectal cancer with special reference to perfluorooctane sulfonate. PeerJ 6, e5602. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5602.
- Winans, B., Humble, M.C., Lawrence, B.P., 2011. Environmental toxicants and the developing immune system: a missing link in the global battle against infectious disease? Reprod. Toxicol. 31, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.reprotox.2010.09.004.
- Winkens, K., Vestergren, R., Berger, U., Cousins, I.T., 2017. Early life exposure to perand polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs): a critical review. Emerging Contaminants 3, 55–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2017.05.001.
- World Cancer Research Fund, 2019. Colorectal Cancer Statistics. http://www.wcrf. org/int/cancer-facts-figures/data-specific-cancers/colorectal-cancer-statistics. (Accessed 13 November 2019)
- World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research, 2018. Alcoholic drinks and the risk of cancer. Available at: dietandcancerreport.org, (Accessed 29 November 2019).
- Xu, C., Jiang, Z.-Y., Liu, Q., Liu, H., Gu, A., 2017. Estrogen receptor beta mediates hepatotoxicity induced by perfluorooctane sulfonate in mouse. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 13414–13423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8943-3. Xu, R., Wang, Q., Li, L., 2015. A genome-wide systems analysis reveals strong link
- Xu, R., Wang, Q., Li, L., 2015. A genome-wide systems analysis reveals strong link between colorectal cancer and trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), a gut microbial metabolite of dietary meat and fat. BMC Genom. 16, S4. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1471-2164-16-S7-S4.
- Xu, Z., Wang, C., Dong, X., Hu, T., Wang, L., Zhao, W., Zhu, S., Li, G., Hu, Y., Gao, Q., Wan, J., Liu, Z., Sun, J., 2019. Chronic alcohol exposure induced gut microbiota dysbiosis and its correlations with neuropsychic behaviors and brain BDNF/ Gabra1 changes in mice. Biofactors 45, 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1002/ biof.1469.
- Yang, W., Fu, J., Wang, T., Liu, H., Wang, Y., Zhou, Q., Jiang, G., 2014. Alterations of endogenous metabolites in urine of rats exposed to decabromodiphenyl ether using metabonomic approaches. J. Environ. Sci. (China) 26, 900–908. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s1001-0742(13)60533-1.
- Zackular, J.P., Baxter, N.T., Iverson, K.D., Sadler, W.D., Petrosino, J.F., Chen, G.Y., Schloss, P.D., 2013. The gut microbiome modulates colon tumorigenesis. mBio 4, e0069213. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00692-13.
- Zhang, F., Zhang, Y., Zhao, W., Deng, K., Wang, Z., Yang, C., Ma, L., Openkova, M.S., Hou, Y., Li, K., 2017. Metabolomics for biomarker discovery in the diagnosis, prognosis, survival and recurrence of colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Oncotarget 8, 35460–35472. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.16727.
- Zhang, J., Yan, L., Tian, M., Huang, Q., Peng, S., Dong, S., Shen, H., 2012. The metabonomics of combined dietary exposure to phthalates and polychlorinated biphenyls in mice. J. Pharmaceut. Biomed. 66, 287–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jpba.2012.03.045.
- Zhu, Q., Jin, Z., Wu, W., Gao, R., Guo, B., Gao, Z., Yang, Y., Qin, H., 2014. Analysis of the intestinal lumen microbiota in an animal model of colorectal cancer. PloS One 9, e90849. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090849.

1 Appendix A. Supplementary information

2 Maternal exposure to a human relevant mixture of persistent organic 3 pollutants reduces colorectal carcinogenesis in A/J Min/+ mice.

4 Silje M. Johanson^a, Jonathan R. Swann^b, Özgün C.O. Umu^c, Mona Aleksandersen^d,

5 Mette H.B. Müller^c, Hanne F. Berntsen^{a,e}, Karin E. Zimmer^d, Gunn C. Østby^a, Jan

- 6 E. Paulsen^c, Erik Ropstad^a
- 7 ^aDepartment of Production Animal clinical sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences,
- 8 P.O. Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.

9 ^bDepartment of Metabolism, Digestion and Reproduction, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College

- 10 London, SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom.
- ^cDepartment of Paraclinical Sciences, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 369
 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- ¹³ ^dDepartment of Preclinical Sciences and Pathology, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O.
- 14 Box 369 Sentrum, NO-0102 Oslo, Norway.
- ¹⁵ ^eNational Institute of Occupational Health, P.O. Box 5330 Majorstuen, NO-0304 Oslo, Norway.

16 Table of Contents

17	Materials and Methods	4
18	S1. Feed design and chemicals	4
19	Table A1	5
20	S2. Animals and husbandry	6
21	Figure A1.	6
22	Table A2	7
23	S3. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs	8
24	S3.1. Chemicals	8
25	S3.2. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs	8
26	Table A3	10
27	S3.3. Analyses of PFASs	11
28	Table A4	11
29	S3.4. QA/QC PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs	12
30	S4. Identification of intestinal lesions	12
31	S5. Microbiota analysis	13
32	Figure A2.	13
33	S6. Statistical analysis	14
34	Results	14
35	S7. Chemical concentrations	14
36	Table A5	15
37	S8. Biometric measurements	16
38	Figure A3.	16
39	S9. Intestinal scoring	16
40	Figure A4.	17
41	S10. Metabolic profiles of cecal tissue and content	18
42	Figure A5.	18

43	Figure A6.	19
44	Figure A7.	20
45	Figure A8.	21
46	Table A6	21
47	Figure A9.	22
48	S11. Microbial diversity and composition	
49	Table A7	23
50	References	24
51		

53 Materials and Methods

54 *S1. Feed design and chemicals*

The chosen persistent organic pollutants (POPs), with nominal and measured concentrations in AIN-93G mouse feed, are presented in Table A1. The measured concentrations deviated with approximately 30% from nominal levels, except for the perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs), which showed a variability of 60-70% probably due to the method of feed preparation. All nominal concentrations were within the range of the maximum allowed levels used by feed companies.

Of the compounds in the mixture, all polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), organochlorine 61 62 pesticides (OCPs) and brominated flame retardants (BFRs), as well as perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), are included in the Stockholm Convention on 63 Persistent Organic Pollutants (UNEP 2008). At the present time, the remaining PFASs 64 (perfluorohexane sulfonate [PFHxS], perfluorononanoic acid [PFNA], perfluorodecanoid acid 65 [PFDA] and perfluoroundecanoic acid [PFUnDA]) have not yet been incorporated into the treaty. 66 However, these compounds have been reported to bioaccumulate in humans and wildlife (Houde 67 et al. 2011, Olsen 2015). 68

69 Table A1. Nominal and measured concentrations of the POPs mixture containing 29 different PCBs,

70 OCPs, BFRs and PFASs. Nominal concentrations aimed to represent 5000 times human estimated daily

71 intake levels calculated for a 25 g mouse consuming 3 g feed/d. The measured concentrations were

- 72 analyzed after the mixture was incorporated into AIN-93G mouse feed and somewhat deviated from
- nominal concentrations. The table is modified from Table 1 in Berntsen *et al.* (2017).

Compound	Nominal concentrations (ng/g feed)	Measured concentrations (ng/g feed)					
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)							
PCB-28	5.8	3.1					
PCB-52	13.8	15.0					
PCB-101	23.3	25.4					
PCB-118	40.4	37.2					
PCB-138	57.5	53.8					
PCB-153	57.5	61.4					
PCB-180	15.4	17.4					
Σ 7PCBs	213.7	213.3					
Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs)							
<i>p,p</i> '-DDE	119.6	136.0					
HCB	50.0	37.4					
α-chlordane	37.5	45.0					
Oxychlordane	12.5	9.8					
Trans-nonachlor	12.5	14.9					
α-HCH	21.7	21.2					
β-НСН	17.5	22.3					
γ-HCH (Lindane)	23.8	31.4					
ΣHCHs	63.0	74.9					
Dieldrin	75.0	70.4					
Σ OCPs	370.1	388.4					
$\Sigma \text{ OCPs} + PCBs$	583.8	601.7					
Brominated flame retardants (BFRs)							
BDE-47	40.4	39.7					
BDE-99	7.9	8.6					
BDE-100	6.3	5.6					
BDE-153	1.3	1.5					
BDE-154	2.5	2.8					
BDE-209	62.5	64.8					
HBCD	12.5	9.9					
Σ BFRs	133.4	132.9					
Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs))						
PFHxS	4.9	1.7					
PFOS	10.8	3.2					
PFOA	18.3	6.0					
PFNA	5.8	2.1					
PFDA	7.9	3.1					
PFUnDA	4.0	1.6					
ΣPFASs	51.7	17.7					

75 S2. Animals and husbandry

The study design is illustrated in Fig. A1. Female A/J + /+ mothers were exposed to the mixture

of POPs through the diet from 3 weeks of age (n = 28 and 26 for the Control and Exposed groups,

respectively). Mating with A/J Min/+ males occurred at 9, 15 and 21 weeks of age, during which

the mothers were continuously exposed to the POPs. All maternally exposed A/J Min/+ offspring

were included in the experimental groups (n = 14 and 24 for Control and Exposed respectively).





Figure A1. Study design including the two experimental groups (Exposed and Control) and the two generations of mice. A/J +/+ mothers (n = 14 and 24 for Control and Exposed respectively) were exposed to a mixture of POPs (resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels) through the diet from 3 weeks of age. The mothers went through 3 consecutive periods of breeding (mating, pregnancy and lactation) at 9, 15 and 21 weeks of age, and were terminated at 27 weeks of age. The offspring (harboring the Min/+ genotype, n = 14 and 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively) produced were given normal mouse diet (AIN-93G) from 3 weeks of age until necropsy at 20 weeks of age.

89

90 Due to random factors, the first mating of A/J +/+ mothers did not result in many surviving 91 offspring. Thus, the decision was made to continue breeding as to increase the number of 92 replicates in the experimental groups. The number of offspring produced by each mating is shown 93 in Table A2. 94 Table A2. Number of A/J Min/+ offspring produced by each A/J +/+ mother pair after mating with A/J

95 Min/+ males. A/J +/+ mothers were exposed from 3-27 weeks of age to a mixture of POPs through the

diet at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Mating 1, 2 and 3

occurred at 9, 15 and 21 weeks of age, respectively. By genetic inheritance, there is a 50% chance of the

Mother pair	Exposure group	Mating 1	Mating 2	Mating 3
1	Control	0	0	0
2	Control	0	0	0
3	Control	0	5 (11)	2 (3)
4	Control	0	0	0
5	Control	0	0	0
6	Control	0	1 (5)	0
7	Control	0	0	0
8	Control	1 (4)	5 (7)	0
9	Control	0	0	0
10	Control	0	0	0
11	Control	0	0	0
12	Control	0	0	0
13	Control	0	0	0
14	Control	0	0	0
15	Control	0	0	0
1	Exposed	0	0	1 (3)
2	Exposed	0	0	0
3	Exposed	0	0	0
4	Exposed	0	0	3 (7)
5	Exposed	3 (4)	3 (6)	0
6	Exposed	0	0	0
7	Exposed	0	0	0
8	Exposed	0	5 (6)	0
9	Exposed	1 (4)	0	0
10	Exposed	0	4 (6)	2 (3)
11	Exposed	0	0	0
12	Exposed	0	0	0
13	Exposed	0 (3)	3 (5)	0

98 offspring having the Min/+ genotype. Numbers in parenthesis are the total number of offspring.

99

Determination of mouse genotype was conducted using allele-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on DNA extracts from ear punch samples as follows. The tissue samples were suspended in 60 μ L TE-buffer (10 mM Tris pH 7.4 and 0.1 mM EDTA pH 8.0) with 0.05% SDS and incubated at 95 °C for 10 min. Aliquots of Proteinase K (6 μ L of 10 mg/mL, PanReac AppliChem

ITW Reagents, Chicago, USA) were added to the samples prior to incubation over night at 56 104 105 °C. The next day, samples were again incubated at 95 °C for 10 min to inactivate the enzyme. 106 The PCR was executed using a BIO-RAD T100 Thermal cycler (BIO-RAD, Hercules, USA) with the amplification conditions at 36 cycles of 3 min at 94 °C, 15 s at 94 °C and 15 s at 56.5 °C. 107 followed by 20 s and 7 min at 72 °C. DNA solutions (5 µL of 1:50 diluted isolated DNA) was 108 109 combined with three primers (0.8 µM MAPC MT [5'-TGAGAAAGACAGAAGTTA -3'], 0.4 μM MAPC 15 [5'-TTCCACTTTGGCATAAGGC-3'] and 0.2 μM MAPC 9 [5'-110 GCCATCCCTT- CACGTTAG-3']) all purchased from Eurogentec (Seraing, Belguim). In 111 112 addition, 0.2 mM of dNTP mix (consisting of dCTP, dGTP, dTTP and dATP, purchased from 113 VWR International, Radnor, USA), 2.5 mM MgCl₂ (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA), 114 PCR Buffer II (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, 50 mM KCl, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA) 115 and 0.017 units GoTag DNA polymerase (Promega Corporation, Madison, USA) were added for a final reaction volume of 10 μ L. The PCR product was visualized by gel electrophoresis through 116 a 2.2% agarose gel (Lonza FlashGel system, Basel, Switzerland). 117

118 S3. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs

119 S3.1. Chemicals

Cyclohexane, acetone and methanol of HPLC quality were supplied from VWR Chemicals, 120 121 VWR International S.A.S. Radnor, USA, Purified water was obtained from a Milli-O Gradient A10 water system (Millipore, Bedford, USA). Primary standards were supplied from Ultra 122 Scientific, North Kingstown, USA (PCB-29, -112 and -207) and Cambridge Isotope Laboratories 123 Inc., Tewksbury, USA (BDE-77, -119 and -181 and 13C12-BDE-209). H₂SO₄ (≥ 97.5%) was 124 supplied from Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Louis, USA. Certified Reference Materials (CRM) (CRM 125 126 2525, 350) were supplied by Cerilliant Corporation, Round Rock, USA. Interlaboratory tests 127 (human serum) were supplied by Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Program (AMAP), Québec, Canada. According to the accreditation requirements, all chemicals are routinely quality tested. 128

129 S3.2. Analysis of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs

The analytical method is based on Brevik (Brevik 1978) and Polder *et al.* (2014), with further modifications described herein. During the analytical procedure the samples were protected from daylight to avoid degradation of the BFRs. One gram of homogenized fat tissue (homogenized

using a T25 Ika Ultra-Turrax[®]) was weighed in centrifuge tubes. The following internal 133 134 standards were added: PCB-29, -112 and -207 (Ultra Scientific, North Kingstown, USA); and 135 brominated diphenyl ether (BDE)-77, -119 and -181 and 13C12-BDE-209 (Cambridge Isotope 136 Laboratories Inc., Tewksbury, USA). After adding solvents and distilled water, lipids were extracted twice with cyclohexane and acetone (3:2) using an ultrasonic homogenizer followed by 137 138 centrifugation and separation. The lipid determination was done gravimetrically using 1 mL 139 aliquot of the lipid extract. The removal of lipids was performed using > 97.5% H₂SO₄ (Sigma 140 Aldrich, Missouri, USA). All extracts were concentrated approximately with a factor 10 by 141 careful evaporation under N₂, before gas chromatography (GC) analyses.

142 Detection of the OCPs (p, p')-dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene [p, p')-DDE, hexachlorobenzene [HCB], α -chlordane, oxy-chlordane and *trans*-nonachlor, α -, β - and γ -hexachlorocyclohexanes 143 144 [HCHs] and dieldrin) and PCBs (IUPAC nos.: PCB-28, -52, -101, -118, -138, -153, -180,) were performed on a high resolution (HR) GC (Hewlett Packard HP 6890 Series, USA) with MS and 145 ECD detectors (Agilent Technologies, 5975c inert XL EI/CI MSD triple axis detector, USA). 146 147 The separation and identification of the compounds were performed on a DB-5 MS column (60 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness; J&W Scientific). The temperature program was: 90 °C 148 (2 min hold); 25 °C/min increase to 180 °C (2 min hold); 1.5 °C/min increase to 220 °C (2 min 149 hold); and 3 °C/min increase to 275 °C (12 min hold) and 25 °C/min increase to 300 °C (4 min 150 hold). The total run time was 71.6 min. The target ions are given in Table A3. 151

152 Table A3. Overview of target ions (m/z), lowest level of detection (LOD; ng/g wet weight) and relative

153 recovery (%) of PCBs, OPCs and BFRs in abdominal fat from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. All

154 compounds were analyzed in electron capture negative ionization (ECNI) in selected ion monitoring

155 (SIM) mode.

Compounds	Target ion	LOD	Recovery				
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)							
PCB-28	291.9	0.029	99				
PCB-52	291.2	1.47	83				
PCB-101	325.9	0.016	110				
PCB-118	325.9	0.008	98				
PCB-138	359.9	0.008	96				
PCB-153	359.9	0.008	98				
PCB-180	395.8	0.008	97				
Organochlorine pesticides (OCPs)							
<i>p,p'</i> -DDT	71	0.045	114				
<i>p,p'</i> -DDE	317.9	0.034	111				
<i>p,p'</i> -DDD	248	0.225	109				
HCB	283.8	0.008	96				
α-Chlordane	409.8	0.008	101				
Oxychlordane	351.8	0.016	60				
Trans-nonachlor	443.8	0.008	101				
α-HCH	71	0.015	113				
β-НСН	71	0.026	117				
γ-HCH (Lindane)	71	0.019	112				
Dieldrin		0.114	142				
Brominated flame retardants (BFRs)							
BDE-47	79/81	0.008	90				
BDE-99	79/81	0.011	96				
BDE-100	79/81	0.012	101				
BDE-153	79/81	0.016	98				
BDE-154	79/81	0.012	99				
BDE-209	495/497	0.045	131				
HBCD	79/81	0.114	231				

156

157 The detection of BFRs (BDEs -47, -99, -100, -153, -154 and hexabromocyclododecane [HBCD]), were performed on a HRGC (Agilent 6890 Series GC system, USA) coupled with a low 158 resolution (LR) mass spectrometer (MS; Agilent 5973 Network Mass Selective Detector, USA) 159 160 configured with a split/splitless injector (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The separation and identification of the compounds were performed on a DB-5 MS column (30 m, 161 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness; J&W Scientific). The temperature program was: 90 °C (1 162 min hold); 25 °C/min increase to 180 °C; 2.5 °C/min increase to 220 °C (1 min hold); and 20 163 °C/min increase to 320 °C (10 min hold). The total run time was 36.6 min. 164

For detection of BDE-209, 10 μL were injected on a HRGC–MS (Agilent 6890
Series/5973Network) configured with a programmable temperature vaporization (PTV) injector
(Agilent Technologies). The separation and identification were performed on a DB-5-MS column
(10 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.10 μm film thickness; J&W Scientific, Agilent Technologies). The
temperature program was: 80 °C (2 min hold); 30 °C/min increase to 315 °C (6 min hold). The
total run time was 15.83 min. Target ions for all analyzed BFRs are presented in Table A3.

171 S3.3. Analyses of PFASs

PFASs were analyzed in liver tissue as these compounds have a higher affinity to proteins than 172 lipids (Klevens and Ellenbogen 1954, Oin *et al.* 2010). The analytical procedure is described by 173 Grønnestad et al. (2017). In brief, 0.5 g of homogenized liver tissue were weighed in Falcon 174 centrifuge tubes (VWR International, LLC Radnor, USA) and spiked with internal standards 175 containing a ¹³C-labeled perfluoroalkyl mix (Wellington Laboratories). The samples were 176 extracted twice with methanol (MeOH). For lipid removal, active carbon (EnviCarb) was used. 177 178 Separation and detection of PFAS (PFHxS, PFOS, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA and PFUnDA) were 179 performed using a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with a Discovery C18 column, connected to a C18 pre-column (Supelco, Sigma-Aldrich, Oslo, Norway) and a liquid 180 181 chromatography (LC) tandem mass spectrometry (MS-MS) (API 3000, LC/MS/MS System). The target ions are given in Table A4. 182

183 Table A4. Overview of precursor and product ion (m/z), lowest level of detection (LOD; ng/g wet weight)

and relative recovery (%) of PFASs in liver tissue from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. All compounds

185	were analyzed in	electrospray	ionization	(ESI) a	ind negative	ionization mode.
-----	------------------	--------------	------------	---------	--------------	------------------

Compounds	Precursor/Product ion	LOD	Recovery
PFHxS	398.9/80	0.23	103
PFOS	498.9/99	0.15	113
PFOA	413/369	0.19	106
PFNA	463/419	0.15	113
PFDA	513/469	0.097	116
PFUnDA	563/519	0.066	118

187 S3.4. QA/QC PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs

For analyses of PCBs, OCPs and BFRs, the analytical batches included one non-spiked and two spiked samples of swine fat, three blanks (solvents), and one harp seal blubber (*Pagophilus groendlandicus*) as internal reference material (IRM). For analyses of PFASs, the analytical series included one non-spiked (blind) and two spiked swine liver samples and three blanks (solvents).

193 For PCBs, OCPs, BFRs, PFASs, the lowest level of detection (LOD) for individual compounds was defined as three times the noise level for each compound. The LOD (ng/g wet weight) and 194 relative recoveries are given in Table A3 and Table A4. If the relative recoveries were outside 195 196 the range of 70-130%, the compounds were corrected for recoveries (herein, this applied to oxychlordane, dieldrin, BDE-209 and HBCD). Positive procedural blanks were found for some 197 compounds. If the blank concentrations were consistent for all blank samples, results were 198 corrected for blanks. The analytical quality was approved by satisfactory quality control 199 200 measures, and results were within the accepted ranges for the analysed Certified Reference 201 Materials (CRM 2525: Fish containing PCBs, OCPs, BFRs (Cerilliant Corporation, Round Rock, USA) and CRM 350: Fish oil containing PCBs (Commission of the European Communities, 202 203 Belgium)) and interlaboratory tests (AMAP: human blood containing PCBs, OCPs, BFRs, 204 PFASs (Québec, Canada)).

The percentage of fat was used for adjusting the concentrations of the lipid-soluble PCBs, OCPs and BFRs (shown in Table A5). One sample from the Control group was lost during preparation and not analysed for PCBs, OCPs and BFRs. Thus, the Control group had 13 replicates for these analytes.

209 S4. Identification of intestinal lesions

As previously described by Sødring *et al.* (2016a) and Sødring *et al.* (2016b), flat aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF) were recognized by the difference in color when compared to surrounding epithelia. In addition, flat ACFs have compressed luminal openings and enlarged crypts (which gives them a gyrus-like presentation) and they usually lie flat against the surrounding epithelium. The gyrus-like pit patterns are important because of the similarity in coloration of flat ACFs with other structures, such as lymphoid aggregates, after MB staining.

- Colonic lesions were characterized as either flat ACF or tumors, with tumors being lesions containing more than 30 abnormal crypts (covering more than approximately 0.4 mm²), and usually prominent from the intestinal wall. The smallest size lesions had only 1-4 crypts, and one
- crypt has previously been measured to 0.002 mm² (Sødring *et al.* 2016b). Therefore, lesions with
- sizes ranging from 0.002 to 0.008 were identified as the first size class. Using a logarithmic scale,
- the remaining lesions were classified into four size classes; 0.009-0.064 mm², 0.065-0.512 mm²,
- 222 $0.513-4.096 \text{ mm}^2$, and $> 4.097 \text{ mm}^2$.

223 S5. Microbiota analysis

- The rarefaction curve from alpha and beta computing of gut microbiota is presented in Fig. A2.
- This curve showed that all feces microbiota samples from the A/J Min/+ mice reached satisfaction
- in terms of observed phylotypes (amplicon sequence variants [ASV]), and a sampling depth of
- 227 37838 was chosen for the alpha and beta diversity computing.



228

Figure A2. Rarefaction curves connecting the alpha diversity metric distribution (observed amplicon sequence variants) of each sample across the increasing sequencing depth. Bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequencing was conducted on feces from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels (n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively). Boxes extend from the 25th, through the median (50th), to the 75th percentile. The lower and upper whisker are at the 9th and 91st percentiles, respectively. Outliers are not shown.

- 237 S6. Statistical analysis
- Size and location distribution graphs (Fig. A4) were made using Excel 2013 (Microsoft Office,
- 239 Redmond, USA).
- 240
- 241 **Results**
- 242 S7. Chemical concentrations
- 243 Wet weight concentrations of PCBs, OCPs, BFRs and PFASs (ng/g) in 20-week-old A/J Min/+
- 244 mice are presented in Table A5.

245 Table A5. Median, mean, standard error (SE), minimum and maximum values of fat (%) and

246 concentrations (ng/g wet weight) of PCBs, OPCs, BFRs and PFASs in 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. The

247 mice were exposed maternally at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake

- 248 levels. PCBs, OCPs and BFRs were analyzed in abdominal fat while PFASs were analyzed in liver tissue.
- n = 13 (n = 14 for PFASs) and n = 24 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

	Median		Mean		SE		Min		Max	
Compounds	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed	Control	Exposed
Fat%	81.5	68.5	74.2	69.1	5.9	2.4	14.9	50.6	92.1	90.7
Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)										
PCB-28	0.308	0.208	0.291	0.290	0.035	0.059	0.036	0.153	0.510	1.609
PCB-52*							<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PCB-101	0.308	0.259	0.299	0.353	0.021	0.046	0.173	0.179	0.419	1.217
PCB-118	1.384	26.523	1.660	29.004	0.270	7.904	0.466	0.887	3.969	188.652
PCB-138	6.534	417.773	7.835	505.916	1.714	62.055	2.120	162.677	21.274	1636.696
PCB-153	7.021	424.317	8.522	516.092	1.759	60.499	2.597	204.662	22.951	1580.072
PCB-180	1.807	146.036	2.549	171.782	0.518	18.955	0.782	74.629	6.908	481.710
Σ 7PCBs	16.818	1014.634	21.186	1223.438	4.113	147.528	6.975	458.233	54.025	3889.957
Organochlorine p	esticides (OCPs)								
p,p'-DDE	1.967	2.366	2.228	4.835	0.550	1.289	0.398	0.512	8.289	28.00
HCB	44.119	84.150	46.797	87.019	2.915	7.184	36.130	38.199	70.255	227.043
α-Chlordane*							<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.026</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.026</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	0.026	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Oxy-chlordane	2.293	53.742	3.767	70.898	0.679	10.617	1.636	31.452	9.539	288.333
Trans-nonachlor	1.596	51.602	2.082	60.462	0.255	7.101	1.022	25.795	3.623	192.261
α-HCH	0.897	0.839	0.844	0.895	0.067	0.056	0.252	0.575	1.092	1.913
β-НСН	1.704	7.786	2.095	10.415	0.347	1.151	0.988	3.519	5.495	22.913
γ-HCH	0.111	0.120	0.116	0.139	0.005	0.013	0.095	0.093	0.142	0.391
Σ HCHs	2.644	8.706	3.054	11.449	0.367	1.194	1.561	4.225	6.570	25.217
Dieldrin	5.099	22.843	5.502	29.859	0.908	4.488	<lod< td=""><td>6.989</td><td>14.414</td><td>85.248</td></lod<>	6.989	14.414	85.248
Σ OCPs	57.883	232.631	63.429	264.521	4.681	28.023	46.164	112.041	104.869	819.857
$\Sigma \text{ OCPs} + 7PCBs$	71.001	1220.849	84.615	1487.959	8.075	173.646	53.139	570.275	147.137	4709.813
Brominated flame	e retardant	ts (BFRs)								
BDE-47	0.328	0.121	0.319	0.459	0.046	0.137	0.044	0.012	0.598	2.417
BDE-99	0.282	3.907	0.276	5.110	0.018	1.095	0.177	0.157	0.386	28.043
BDE-100	0.201	6.952	0.234	8.142	0.035	2.083	0.072	0.060	0.461	50.652
BDE-153	0.093	10.641	0.126	11.802	0.023	1.320	0.041	0.082	0.286	31.835
BDE-154	0.040	3.192	0.045	3.388	0.005	0.530	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.074</td><td>13.993</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.074</td><td>13.993</td></lod<>	0.074	13.993
BDE-209	0.453	2.281	0.654	2.525	0.202	0.259	0.164	0.699	2.893	6.232
HBCD*							<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>0.866</td><td>0.365</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>0.866</td><td>0.365</td></lod<>	0.866	0.365
Σ BFRs	1.376	29.803	1.600	32.593	0.244	4.811	0.658	11.043	4.091	132.260
Perfluoroalkylate	d substanc	es (PFASs)								
PFHxS	0.969	1.646	0.979	1.718	0.0741	0.11079	0.599	0.676	1.525	2.894
PFOS	4.276	62.620	5.359	58.993	0.66069	2.68653	3.093	31.852	10.575	77.429
PFOA	0.563	5.487	0.956	8.485	0.22128	1.09302	0.350	3.238	3.244	24.754
PFNA	0.961	47.378	1.713	55.795	0.31364	4.4478	0.636	29.437	3.893	105.595
PFDA	1.096	78.979	1.761	87.294	0.30322	6.09532	0.740	47.339	4.278	165.273
PFUnDA	0.510	22.163	0.659	25.844	0.09305	2.14293	0.278	12.658	1.308	54.136
Σ PFASs	8.334	217.618	11.426	238.130	1.427	13.482	6.370	153.665	22.176	409.969

250 *PCB-52 were not detected in any of the samples and replaced with 0 to be included in the Σ 7PCBs. α-Chlordane and HBCD were detected in

251 16% and 19% of the samples, respectively, and levels below LOD were replaced with 0 to be included in the Σ OCPs and Σ BFRs.

253 S8. Biometric measurements

254 Measurements including body weight, cecal and liver weight (relative to body weight), and length

of the small intestine and colon in A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to the mixture of POPs

are presented in Fig. A3. No significant differences were found between the Control and Exposed

257 groups in any of the parameters.



Figure A3. Biometric measurements of 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Cecal and liver weights, and small intestine and colon length, were divided by the body weight to obtain the relative values. 25^{th} , 50^{th} (median) and 75^{th} percentiles constitute the boxes. Whiskers extend to 1.5 interquartile range and outliers are displayed as open circles. n = 14 and n = 24 for Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

265

258

266 S9. Intestinal scoring

Figure A4 show the size and location distribution of the average number of lesions in the small intestine and colon of A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs. A slightly higher number of small intestinal and colonic lesions were evident in the control mice. In addition, morelesions were seen in the distal parts of the small intestine and colon.



Figure A4. Size (a and b) and location (c and d) distribution of average small intestinal (a and c) and colonic (b and d) lesions in 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Size categories are described in Sødring *et al.* (2016b). n = 14 and n = 24 for Control and Exposed groups, respectively.



276 S10. Metabolic profiles of cecal tissue and content

Figure A5. PCA scores plots of ¹H NMR spectra from cecal tissue extracts of control and dietary exposed A/J +/+ and A/J Min/+ mice. The mice were exposed through AIN-93G feed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. A/J +/+ mice (n = 23 in both groups) were exposed for 24 weeks and went through three periods of pregnancy and lactation. A/J Min/+ mice (n = 20 and n = 25 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively) were exposed for 10 weeks in the study by Hansen *et al.* (2018). The ellipse represents the Hotelling T² (multivariate generalization of the Student's t-test).

The PCA scores plots of metabolic profiles in dietary exposed A/J +/+ mothers (from the present study) and A/J Min/+ mice (from the study by Hansen *et al.* (2018)) are presented in Fig. A5

- 288 (cecal tissue extract) and Fig. A6 (cecal content). No categorization was visible between the
- 289 Control and Exposed groups in any of the plots.



Figure A6. PCA scores plots of ¹H NMR spectra from cecal content of control and dietary exposed A/J +/+ and A/J Min/+ mice. The mice were exposed through AIN-93G feed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. A/J +/+ mice (n = 26 and n = 25 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively) were exposed for 24 weeks and went through three periods of pregnancy and lactation. A/J Min/+ mice (n = 20 and n = 25 for the Control and Exposed groups, respectively) were exposed for 10 weeks in the study by Hansen *et al.* (2018). The ellipse represents the Hotelling T² (multivariate generalization of the Student's t-test).

Furthermore, Fig. A7 present the scores plots from the PCA and OPLS-DA models of the metabolic profiles in cecal tissue samples from maternally exposed A/J Min/+ mice sampled 17 weeks after ended exposure. No strong categorization of the two groups was visible in the PCA scores plot and only a slight separation along the first component (describing the between group variation) was seen in the OPLS-DA cross-validated scores plot.



304

Figure A7. PCA scores plot (left) and OPLS-DA cross-validated scores plot (right) of ¹H NMR spectra from cecal tissue extracts of control and exposed 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. The mice were maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. The ellipse in the PCA scores plot represents the Hotelling T² (multivariate generalization of the Student's t-test). The OPLS-DA model giving the values for the cross-validates scores plot had a predictive performance (Q²Y) of 0.1127 and p = 0.028 after 1000 permutation testing. n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

A heatmap of metabolites significantly altered by maternal exposure to the mixture of POPs is presented in Fig. A8. 3-hydroxyisobutyrate, isovalerate, phosphorylcholine and propylene glycol were elevated, while ethanolamine, glycerol, lactate and S-adenosyl homocysteine were depressed, in 20-week-old maternally exposed A/J Min/+ mice. Furthermore, the multiplicities and chemical shifts of the metabolites are presented in Table A6.



Figure A8. Heatmap of metabolites significantly ($p \le 0.05$) altered by maternal exposure to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Maximum correlation coefficients (R) were extracted from the significant OPLS-DA model constructed from ¹H NMR spectra of cecal tissue extracts from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice. n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

Table A6. Multiplicity and chemical shift (δ) of metabolites in cecal tissue from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice that were significantly altered by maternal exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations approximate to 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Metabolites included were identified in the coefficient plot from the (p \leq 0.05) OPLS-DA (model predictive performance [Q2Y] = 0.1127 and p = 0.028 from 1000 permutations). n (total) = 38, n = 14 and 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

Metabolite	Multiplicity	δ
Isovalerate	Doublet	0.92
Propylene glycol	Doublet	1.14
3-hydroxyisovalerate	Singlet	1.25
Lactate	Doublet	1.33
Ethanolamine	Triplet	3.15
Phosphorylcholine	Singlet	3.22
Glycerol	Doublet of doublets	3.58
S-adenosyl homocysteine	Singlet	8.27

No separation between the Control and Exposed groups was visible in the PCA scores plot of ${}^{1}H$

NMR spectra from cecal content in 20-week-old A/J Min/+ offspring maternally exposed to the
 mixture of POPs (Fig. A9).



Figure A9. PCA scores plot of ¹H NMR spectra from cecal content of control and maternally exposed 20week-old A/J Min/+ mice (offspring). The mice were maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. The ellipse in the PCA scores plot represents the Hotelling T² (multivariate generalization of the Student's t-test). n = 14 and n = 24 in the Control and Exposed groups, respectively.

340

334

341 *S11. Microbial diversity and composition*

All ASVs identified in fecal samples from 20-week-old maternally exposed A/J Min/+ mice are
presented in Table A7. The table shows ASVs that were exclusive or shared between the Control
and Exposed groups.

345 Table A7. Core amplicon sequence variants identified in the core microbiota analysis of fecal microbiota

- 346 from 20-week-old A/J Min/+ mice maternally exposed to a mixture of POPs at concentrations resembling
- 5000 times human estimated daily intake levels. Features found in both, only the Control (n = 14) or only
- 348 the Exposed (n = 24) groups are presented.

	Feature ID	Taxonomy
	acde4ca417d6579eb9ae519108c4fa59	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_Bacteroidaceae; g_Bacteroides; s_
	61b8b812e012774b26f2cc438d55502c	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_Rikenellaceae; g_; s_
	a423d39e55d929a9ec01b45c5e8da42c	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_Rikenellaceae; g_; s_
	113a8eaca2c6c0bf755aeb11f6922f79	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_S24-7; g_; s_
	56ed34c092b72745a44d40a7eebba299	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
	acaed66f38a8a35e3713608a56802310	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
	3c85c7b9193e15dcb202277fbad56654	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae; g_; s_
	fed9ad98a3240bafa2818e2fb6ae859a	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae; g ; s
	5a3910c1d965b1064ea4003c25c6259b	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
	f9c8ac317ce0569424c4402df8ccc4af	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f ; g ; s
	1ca53a7bd4854e158ec19e5056047689	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Ruminococcaceae; g Oscillospira; s
Core	0e0c7ed6bfd2d156f3cd3ee546c60521	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Bacilli; o Lactobacillales; f Lactobacillaceae; g Lactobacillus; s
features	7e8bfe047d1a698a8878004ae8ee2e09	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f ; g ; s
found both	40f97a1972cc12e3199e5d0dee0f49b3	k Bacteria; p Proteobacteria; c Deltaproteobacteria; o Desulfovibrionales; f Desulfovibrionaceae; g Desulfovibrio; s
IN	deb94462bf8466f08a62477d756ef2e5	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
CONTROL	544349ad01c94b2ee3da6971c4ff5098	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
and	647384be8fef33d612eb5ff0302dfa33	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Ruminococcaceae; g Oscillospira; s
EAPOSED	05f1992ceb34d275468fda5800e28e70	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae; g [Ruminococcus]; s gnavus
groups	bb758ffff346a4ec0cec367033f9a54a	k Bacteria; p Actinobacteria; c Coriobacteria; o Coriobacteriales; f Coriobacteriaceae; g Adlercreutzia; s
	9c5c71b3392880c4351feb7cf9241995	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f Porphyromonadaceae; g Parabacteroides; s distasonis
	20b29dca91c75af85d0b98d2125d02e8	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae
	8d1350959f1951200bea146d75dbd40e	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae; g Coprococcus; s
	f0c97db43fc284ba460db897f73db191	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae
	90f711377cee18160056656b5522ff75	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Oscillospira; s_
	8c32f8e471e76649379c3bd3a8848c34	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Oscillospira; s_
	a4f39fc8baaa588b9908e9ea01323c87	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_Porphyromonadaceae; g_Parabacteroides; s_distasonis
	4bca99987f10c19f27db86e43185fb0e	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae; g_Coprococcus; s_
	64c2105f03b8c317f4bc9fceaedc0520	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Ruminococcus; s_
	f1576641318ac3a1244d33096d335278	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Ruminococcus; s_
	d5dadfef917fb5f2e0d365da82be40c7	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_; s_
	3a414966a1ecc488c668ef1418a87eb5	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroida; o_Bacteroidales; f_S24-7; g_; s_
	92/05815111/3b9be980/82ca86db//9	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; t_Ruminococcaceae; g_Oscillospira; s_
	e1t6cct969d44/ed55cb1234832ad2e/	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroida; o_Bacteroidales; t_S24-/; g_; s_
Core		k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostrida; o_Clostridales; t_Kuminococcaceae; g_Oscillospira; s_
features	053ee5/41ca0a5090fc8e5a5af21f8d0	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostrida; o_Clostridales; t_Kuminococcaceae; g_Oscinospira; s_
found only	442-2-54042-240-52-52-52-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-50-	k_bacteria, p_rinnicutes, c_clostinia, o_clostiniales, i_lachnospiaceae
in	652c43a2ac9ba8a003805747357bad8f	k_Bacteria; p_Finincutes;Clostrida; o_Clostridales; f_Lachnospiraceae; g_; s
CONTROL	a2812a52910c5b7a8320f9b38a819770	k Bacteria n Bacterioidaes e Bacterioida o Bacterioidales f \$24.7 g - s
group	a406186b1356e8df3a20ed59874af46c	Bacteria p Eirmicutes c. Clostridia o Clostridiales f Ruminococcaceae g. Oscillospira s
	252e5a6d9e7f090d55b14b136476e7ab	K Bacteria: p Firmicutes: c Clostridia: o Clostridiales: f Lachnospiraceae
	712a4f92e1cb8d7078175cc978866df1	k Bacteria: p Firmicutes: c Clostridia: o Clostridiales: f Ruminococcaceae: g : s
	a377dd6a55492d46b98f1f5d35299d8f	k Bacteria; p Bacteroidetes; c Bacteroidia; o Bacteroidales; f S24-7; g ; s
	b3ff84690ee2235c0ffa6108e684545e	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae; g_; s_
	b6cf6b21e1173260963ae23c35c71d21	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_; g_; s_
	b4c586d63bf06ded3b499634dcebc3fe	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_; g_; s_
	36238d903b18d8517a53c1b53a1a8aca	k_Bacteria; p_Bacteroidetes; c_Bacteroidia; o_Bacteroidales; f_; g_; s_
	130026a7cee134ec54bd5c7ad7f67579	k_Bacteria; p_Proteobacteria; c_Deltaproteobacteria; o_Desulfovibrionales; f_Desulfovibrionaceae; g_Bilophila; s_
	e568867aacb3422f2db4e72db0349c81	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae
	ea66c71ebff642aa7b0b72918a0ea07a	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Ruminococcus; s_
	c094t3fbcd13007966e524bc8364d1fa	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_; g_; s_
	11937td34e32e795f57f57b5694223a5	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae
	1e0c47eeb2920d508ba4e44092abea2c	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Lachnospiraceae
Core	tcc/6311be406185at34t157853539c7	k_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; f_Ruminococcaceae; g_Oscillospira; s_
features	5018025e5a62eatec41082t08d161292	K_Bacteria; p_Firmicutes; c_Clostridia; o_Clostridiales; t_Lachnospiraceae; g_; s_
iound only	47020370400379431300703824830000	k_Dactoria, p_rinnoutos, c_Clostridia, o_Clostridialos, f_replococcaceae, g_, s_
EXPOSED	as87707523e26fb1/c220007c6952454	k_Bacteria: p_Firmicutes: c_Clostridia, o_Clostridiales: f_Lachnospiraceae
groun	24fee79167b4d1dd6e0e43ee1e7eb4ee	k Bacteria: p Firmicutes: c Clostridia, o Clostridiales: f Ruminococcaceaeae: a Ruminococcus: e
g. out	b776fbe642206fb6363e8506ca747aec	k_Bacteria: p_imiliates: c_Clostridia, o_Clostridiales: f_Ruminococcaceae: g_Cuminococcus, s
	92596279e2ae7b46cabaec4688d04073	k_Bacteria: p_iminutes: c_Clostridia, o_Clostridiales: f_Ruminococcaceae: g_Cocmospila, s
	339b7792798d6a6422e2eda159522387	k Bacteria: p Firmicutes: c Clostridia: o Clostridiales: f Lachnospiraceae
	9ce915d9cc17d47a97d433f6560b7d5e	k Bacteria: p Actinobacteria: c Coriobacteriaia: o Coriobacteriales: f Coriobacteriaceae: g Adlercreutzia: s
	3529269a68f52b1ab7d437c68ea8dac9	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae: g Coprococcus: s
	0dce37ac4051693cb2dc6bc0d7a010f9	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f [Mogibacteriaceae]; g ; s
	208fbec6e805a6273bdcf5f3b0a4e856	k Bacteria; p Actinobacteria; c Coriobacteria; o Coriobacteriales; f Coriobacteriaceae; g Adlercreutzia; s
	caf057aac39d52629b9bc710dd1d19c4	k Bacteria; p Firmicutes; c Clostridia; o Clostridiales; f Lachnospiraceae
	146149b9133c1ef774f8d1226365ab49	k Bacteria: n Firmicutes: c Clostridia: o Clostridiales

350 References

352

351 Berntsen, H. F., Berg, V., Thomsen, C., Ropstad, E. and Zimmer, K. E. (2017). The design of an

353 studies. J. Toxicol. Env. Heal. A 80: 1002-1016. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1354439

environmentally relevant mixture of persistent organic pollutants for use in *in vivo* and *in vitro*

Brevik, E. M. (1978). Gas chromatographic method for the determination of organochlorine
pesticides in human milk *B. Environ. Contam. Tox.* 78: 281-286.
https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01685799

Grønnestad, R., Villanger, G. D., Polder, A., Kovacs, K. M., Lydersen, C., Jenssen, B. M. and
Borgå, K. (2017). Maternal transfer of perfluoroalkyl substances in hooded seals. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 36: 763-770. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3623

Hansen, K. E. A., Johanson, S. M., Steppeler, C., Sodring, M., Ostby, G. C., Berntsen, H. F.,
Zimmer, K. E., Aleksandersen, M., Paulsen, J. E. and Ropstad, E. (2018). A mixture of persistent
organic pollutants (POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM) show potential synergistic effects on
intestinal tumorigenesis in the A/J Min/+ mouse model. *Chemosphere* 214: 534-542.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.126

Houde, M., De Silva, A. O., Muir, D. C. G. and Letcher, R. J. (2011). Monitoring of
perfluorinated compounds in aquatic biota: An updated review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45: 79627973. https://doi.org/10.1021/es104326w

Klevens, H. B. and Ellenbogen, E. (1954). Protein-fluoroacid interaction. Bovine serum
albuminperfluoro-octanoic acid. *Discuss. Faraday Soc.* 18: 277-288.
https://doi.org/10.1039/DF9541800277

371 Olsen, G. W. (2015). PFAS Biomonitoring In Higher Exposed Populations. Toxicological Effects

372 Of Perfluoroalkyl And Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. DeWitt, J. C. Cham, Springer International

373 Publishing: 77-125. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15518-0 4

- Polder, A., Müller, M. B., Lyche, J. L., Mdegela, R. H., Nonga, H. E., Mabiki, F. P., Mbise, T.
 J., Skaare, J. U., Sandvik, M., Skjerve, E. and Lie, E. (2014). Levels and patterns of persistent
 organic pollutants (POPs) in tilapia (*Oreochromis sp.*) from four different lakes in Tanzania:
 - 24

- Geographical differences and implications for human health. *Sci. Total Environ.* 488-489: 252260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.04.085
- 379 Qin, P., Liu, R., Pan, X., Fang, X. and Mou, Y. (2010). Impact of carbon chain length on binding
- 380 of perfluoroalkyl acids to bovine serum albumin determined by spectroscopic methods. J. Agr.
- 381 Food Chem. 58: 5561-5567. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100412q
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G. and Paulsen, J. E. (2016a). Detection and characterization of flat
 aberrant crypt foci (flat ACF) in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. *Anticancer Res.* 36: 2745-2750.
- Sødring, M., Gunnes, G. and Paulsen, J. E. (2016b). Spontaneous initiation, promotion and
 progression of colorectal cancer in the novel A/J Min/+ mouse. *Int. J. Cancer* 138: 1936-1946.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29928
- 387 UNEP. (2008). All POPs Listed In The Stockholm Convention.
 388 http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx (accessed 31
 389 August 2017).

Errataliste

Ph.d.-kandidat: Silje Modahl Johanson

Avhandling: Persistent organic pollutants and effects on developmental and functional

processes in mice

Dato: 16.09.2020

Side	Linje	Endret fra	Endret til
22	4	interaction may change with dose	interaction may change with the dose
28	19	2) when the mammary gland growth	2) when the mammary gland grows
		exponentially	exponentially
33	2	Structure of the small intestine (A)	Structure of the small intestinal (A)
38	4/5	of Wnt (wingless-type MMTV	of Wnt (wingless-type MMTV integration
		integration site family)	site family)
38	5	the oncogenes c-myc and cyclin D1	the oncogenes <i>c-myc</i> and <i>cyclin D1</i>
38	17	which leads to the truncated of	which leads to the truncation of
40	5	(scale bar = 10 μm)	(scale bar = 100 μm)
49	3	adapted to a 3 g mouse	adapted to a 25 g mouse
50	8	a reference diet was also created	a reference diet was created
51	4	produced large litters	produces large litters
51	15	National Institute of Public health	National Institute of Public Health
58	25/26	no a priori knowledge	no <i>a priori</i> knowledge
61	2	A mixture of Persistent Organic	A mixture of persistent organic pollutants
		Pollutants (POPs) and Azoxymethane	(POPs) and azoxymethane (AOM)
		(AOM)	
62	4	S. M. Johanson, J. R. Swann,	<u>S. M. Johanson</u> , J. R. Swann,
70	7	contribution of the Wnt/β-catenin	contribution of the Wnt/β -catenin
		pathway	pathway
71	26	the mixture of POPs could have	the mixture of POPs can induce hepatic
		induced hepatic carcinogenesis.	carcinogenesis.
96	11	polychlorinated biphenyls: A case-	polychlorinated biphenyls: a case-control
		control study	study
101	27/28	, p,p'-DDT, and p,p'-DDE,	, <i>p,p</i> '-DDT, and <i>p,p</i> '-DDE,
105	31	PIOS ONE	PLOS ONE
129	1	Appendix: Paper I-III	Appendix: Papers I-III
136	14	focused on the use single	focused on the use of single compounds
		compounds	
151	7	Scalebar = 2000 μm.	Scale bar = 2000 μm.
151	7	Ln = Nymph node.	Ln = Lymph node.

ISBN: 978-82-575-1710-6 ISSN: 1894-6402



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no